
 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
PUBLIC WORKS 

COMMITTEE 
Agenda and Reports 

for the meeting on  

Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

at 6.00 pm 

in the Colonel Light Room, Adelaide Town Hall 

 
© 2025 City of Adelaide. All Rights Reserved. 

 

Public Document Pack



 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 

Meeting Agenda, Tuesday, 15 April 2025, at 6.00 pm 
 
 

 Members – The Right Honourable the Lord Mayor, Dr Jane Lomax-Smith 
Chair – Vacant – Council to appoint 

Deputy Chair – Vacant - Council to appoint 
Councillors Abrahimzadeh, Couros, Davis, Giles, Martin, Dr Siebentritt and Snape 

 
  

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

  
1.   Acknowledgement of Country 

At the opening of the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee meeting, the Chair 
will state: 

‘Council acknowledges that we are meeting on traditional Country of the Kaurna 
people of the Adelaide Plains and pays respect to Elders past and present.  We 
recognise and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationship with the land. 
We acknowledge that they are of continuing importance to the Kaurna people living 
today. 
And we also extend that respect to other Aboriginal Language Groups and other First 
Nations who are present today.’ 

 

 
2.   Apologies and Leave of Absence 

Nil 

 

 
3.   Confirmation of Minutes - 18/3/2025 

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee 
held on 18 March 2025, be taken as read and be confirmed as an accurate record of 
proceedings. 

View public 18 March 2025 Minutes. 

 

 
4.   Declaration of Conflict of Interest    
 
5.   Deputations 

Nil 

 

 
6.   Workshops 

Nil 

 

 
7.   Reports for Recommendation to Council    
 
 7.1   E-Scooter Trial Extension and State Government Review update 4 - 10 
 
 7.2   Integrated Transport Strategy - Draft Strategy for Public Engagement 

(Stage 2) 
11 - 248 

 
 7.3   Capital Works Monthly Project Update - March 2025 249 - 263 
 
8.   Reports for Noting 

Nil 

 

 
9.   Exclusion of the Public 

In accordance with sections 90(2), (3) and (7) of the Local Government Act 1999 
(SA) the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee will consider whether to discuss 
in confidence the reports contained within section 10 of this Agenda. 

264 - 266 

 

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g1071/Printed%20minutes%2018th-Mar-2025%2019.30%20Infrastructure%20and%20Public%20Works%20Committee.pdf?T=1


10.   Confidential Reports for Recommendation to Council    
 
 10.1 Assignment of Lease and Sublease [S90(3) (b), (d)] 267 - 310 
 
11.   Closure    

 
 



Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

 

Tuesday, 15 April 2025 
Infrastructure and Public 
Works Committee 

E-Scooter Trial Extension and State 
Government Review update 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Places 
Program Contact:  
Mark Goudge, Associate Director 
Infrastructure 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Tom McCready, Director City 
Infrastructure 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council endorsement for the continuation of the e-scooter trial beyond the 
current 30 April 2025 expiry.  

The City of Adelaide (CoA) has been operating an e-scooter trial since February 2019. The current trial period is 
set to expire on 30 April 2025.  

The trial is approved by the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport under the Road Traffic Act, 1961 as 
regulations around the use of shared e-scooters and other personal mobility devices (PMD) in South Australia has 
not been formally enacted, with specific operators authorised to operate within CoA via the issue of a business 
permit.  

A total of five e-scooter trial extensions have taken place over the last six years to maintain shared e-scooter 
operations as an alternative mode of travel within the CoA, with the last extension from 30 April 2024 to 30 April 
2025. 

On 5 March 2025, the Lord Mayor wrote to the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport, urgently seeking an update 
and timeframe on the new regulations.  

On 1 April 2025, the advice from DIT is that the anticipated new PMD framework and regulations will be in place 
mid-year with an education period to be conducted prior to that. This will likely include arrangements about what 
parts of the road environment PMDs can access and the speed at which they can travel.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 
The following recommendation will be presented to Council on 22 April 2025 for consideration 

THAT THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL  

1. Approves the continuation of the e-scooter trial for an additional 6 months, ending on 31 October 2025, for 
the two current operators, Neuron Mobility and Beam Scooters.  

2. Authorises the Lord Mayor to write to the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport to request an extension 
to the e-scooter trial for a further 6 months until 31 October 2025 or until such time that the State 
Government finalise the regulatory framework. 

3. Notes that the Administration will: 

3.1. Continue to work collaboratively with the Department for Infrastructure and Transport and inform 
Council Members by way of an E-news on the progression of new regulatory framework and 
timeframes on the implementation of new legislative changes when received.  

3.2. Continue to review and amend the permit conditions as necessary to improve safety and 
efficiency of the e-scooter operations should e-scooter operations continue. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 7.1



Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

 

3.3. In preparation, documentation will be prepared to assist Council in its deliberations, should it wish 
to undertake an Expression of Interest (EOI) process for micromobility operators to align with new 
legislative changes once made. 

 

 

 

Page 5



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
City of Adelaide 
2024-2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Places 

Community assets are adaptable and responsibly maintained - the Strategic Plan 2024-
2028 includes a key action to increase active and diverse transport measures. 

Policy 

City Plan 2036 identifies Transport Diversity as a Key Priority (Priority 2). 

The Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 notes that transport emissions account for about 
45% of the community’s carbon footprint and that increasing the range and uptake of low 
carbon transport options in the city is essential to meeting carbon targets and community 
expectations, and for creating liveable neighbourhoods. 

Supporting transport options including active transport and micromobility is a key 
component of the draft Integrated Transport Strategy currently under development. 

Consultation Not as a result of this report. 

Resource Not as a result of this report. 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

In 2024, the Statutes Amendment (Personal Mobility Devices) Bill 2024 passed 
parliament and was approved on 21 November 2024 to allow the use of privately-owned 
personal mobility devices on public roads and paths without requiring registration.  

However, until such time as the regulations are introduced, the use of e-scooters within 
CoA requires ministerial approval as per the existing trial conditions with the e-scooter 
operators. 

The current Road Traffic (Electric Personal Transporters) Notice No 1 of 2024 ceases 
operation on 30 April 2025. 

Opportunities Not as a result of this report. 

24/25 Budget 
Allocation 

Not as a result of this report. 

 

Proposed 25/26 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report. 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative or 
(Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Not as a result of this report. 

24/25 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs (eg 
maintenance cost) Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources E-scooter operators pay a permit fee to operate in the City of Adelaide. 

 

Page 6



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

DISCUSSION 
CoA e-scooter trial - Background 

1. The City of Adelaide (CoA) has been operating an e-scooter trial since February 2019. For e-scooters to 
operate, ministerial approval is required under the Road Traffic Act 1961 (the Act) after which CoA can issue 
business permits to e-scooter fleet operators. 

2. Currently business permits have been issued to two fleet operators, Beam and Neuron, following an 
Expression of Interest (EOI) process undertaken in 2019.  

3. Shared e-scooters were introduced as part of a broader effort to explore micro-mobility options, promote 
active transport and reduce car dependency in the city. E-scooters provide city residents, workers and 
visitors with another transport choice for short trips and in combination with public transport. 

4. Transport diversity is a key pilar within our City Plan 2036, including a focus on improving pedestrian and 
walkable experiences, complemented by improvements to support active transport, such as cycling and e-
mobility.  

5. E-scooters play a part in our Strategic Plan to lead as low carbon emissions city by working with partners to 
increase active and diverse transport measures and prioritising sustainability in our decisions for the future. 

6. E-scooters are considered a future mobility that form part of the draft Integrated Transport Strategy as a city 
living strength. They are also considered a pivotal transport option for people moving around the city, 
especially when traversing from precinct to precinct i.e. from the East End to the West End. Thus, enabling 
the streets to be less congested with vehicles during high impacted times of the year. 

7. A total of five e-scooter trial extension have taken place over the last six years to maintain shared e-scooter 
operations as an alternative mode of travel within the CoA. 

8. A report was presented to the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee at its meeting on 20 February 
2024 (Link 1) seeking an extension of the e-scooter trial. At its meeting on 27 February 2024 Council 
authorised the Lord Mayor to write to the Minister to seek an extension to the e-scooter trial (which was set 
to expire on 30 April 2024) until 30 April 2025 (Link 2). 

9. The Minister for Infrastructure and Transport issued the e-scooter trial extension, published in the 
Government Gazette, Notice No. 30 of 2024, 26 April 2024 (Link 3). This enables the operation of e-
scooters until 30 April 2025, in accordance with Council’s Business Permit under the Act. 

State Government Review of e-scooters - Background 
10. As part of the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee Report on 20 February 2024 Council was advised 

that a Select Committee of the Legislative Council had been established to inquire into, and report on Public 
Transport and Active Travel. Its report was laid on the table of the Legislative Council on 7 February 2023 
(Link 4). 

11. A state-wide consultation was undertaken between 11 April 2023 and 21 May 2023 by the State Government 
seeking views on whether the South Australian Government should enable the use of e-scooters, 
skateboards and other personal mobility devices (PMDs) on the road network in South Australia.   

12. On 18 December 2023, the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport, Tom Koutsantonis MP, announced the 
outcomes of the state-wide consultation and is now considering any future regulatory or legislative changes 
relating to the use of e-scooters and other PMD in South Australia. Support for e-scooter use was 87% (Link 
5). 

State Government Review of e-scooters - Update 

13. In 2024, the Statutes Amendment (Personal Mobility Devices) Bill 2024 passed parliament and was 
approved on 21 November 2024 (Link 6) to allow the use of privately-owned PMDs on public roads and 
paths without requiring registration. However, until such time as the regulations are introduced, the use of e-
scooters within CoA requires ministerial approval as per the existing trial conditions with the e-scooter 
operators. 

14. On 9 December 2024, the Department for Infrastructure and Transport (DIT) hosted an engagement session, 
gathering stakeholder feedback on new regulations, with particular focus on PMD types and specifications, 
access and authority, speed limits, and rider age and rules.  

15. DIT advised the feedback from the engagement session, alongside research and expert advice, will shape 
the final regulatory framework with the laws expected to commence in late February / early March 2025, 
pending government approval. 

Page 7

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s16279/E-Scooter%20Trial%20Extension.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s16781/Recommendations%20of%20the%20Infrastructure%20and%20Public%20Works%20Committee%20-%2020%20February%202024.pdf
https://www.governmentgazette.sa.gov.au/2024/April/2024_030.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_20_February_2024_E-Scooter_Link_3.pdf
https://yoursay.sa.gov.au/personal-mobility-device-use
https://yoursay.sa.gov.au/personal-mobility-device-use
https://www.legislation.sa.gov.au/__legislation/lz/v/a/2024/statutes%20amendment%20(personal%20mobility%20devices)%20act%202024_51/2024.51.un.pdf


 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

16. The State Government has also committed to a comprehensive review of the new e-scooter laws after the 
first year of completion (Link 7) to ensure that the regulations are effective, safe, and align with public 
expectations. 

17. On 5 March 2025, the Lord Mayor wrote to the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport, urgently seeking an 
update and timeframe on the new regulations (Link 8).  

18. On 1 April 2025, the advice from DIT is that the anticipated new PMD framework and regulations will be in 
place mid-year with an education period to be conducted prior to that. This will likely include arrangements 
about what parts of the road environment PMDs can access and the speed at which they can travel.  

19. Details about the new framework are currently subject to Government approval processes, with further 
information to be available about the new framework over the coming months. 

20. Confirmation of an e-scooter trial extension requirement in the form for a letter to the Minister was also noted 
from DIT.  

E-Scooter Trial – Usage in City of Adelaide 
21. In 2024, there were over 543,000 e-scooter trips (average over 1,300 trips a day) that started within CoA, 

covering over 688,000 km travelled. (Rider trips peak during the Adelaide festival session and leading up to 
Christmas and New Year (Link 9). 

22. E-scooter rider usage for 2024 is summarised per month in the table below. 

Total per month 
and average per 

day for 2024 

Total 

Trips 

per month 

Average 

 trips 

per day 

Total 

trip distance 
(km) 

per month 

Average 

trip distance 
(km) 

per day 

Total 

e-scooters 
deployed 

per month 

Average 

e-scooters 
deployed  

per day 

January 48,785 1,574 62,640 2,021 38,293 1,235 

February 53,121 1,832 67,130 2,315 40,132 1,384 

March 76,285 2,461 93,096 3,103 45,876 1,480 

April 54,165 1,806 69,573 2,319 41,908 1,387 

May 40,768 1,315 48,860 1,576 43,074 1,389 

June 32,030 1,068 36,671 1,222 37,635 1,255 

July 31,653 1,021 39,627 1,278 29,714 959 

August 33,629 1,085 41,816 1,349 28,767 928 

September 34,840 1,161 43,624 1,454 30,032 1,001 

October 39,003 1,258 49,566 1,599 35,798 1,155 

November 47,504 1,584 61,758 2,059 37,371 1,246 

December 51,337 1,656 70,547 2,276 38,541 1,243 

TOTAL   543,120 1,485 684,908 1,881 447,141 1,223 

E-Scooter Incidents  

23. From January 2024 to December 2024, a total of 73 incidents were reported between both fleet operators, 
noting the services was utilised by 447,431 users. Further details can be viewed in Link 10. 

E-Scooter Trial - Permit Operations and Fees  
24. Fleet operators must pay the relevant permit fees as set out within the permit conditions of operations 

(Link 11). Fleet operators are charged a surplus fee (per surplus scooter) if found to be operating beyond the 
agreed standard limit. 

25. Fleet operators must monitor the location of all e-scooters daily and collect e-scooters when required to 
avoid clutter or clustering of e-scooters in any one location. 

Page 8

https://www.premier.sa.gov.au/media-releases/news-archive/government-commits-to-review-of-e-scooter-laws-after-first-year-of-operation
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_Escooter_Link_8.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_Escooter_Link_9.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_Escooter_Link_10.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_Escooter_Link_11.pdf


 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

26. During the peak season of October to April, each operator may deploy up to a maximum of 700 e-scooters 
(450 in Adelaide and 250 in North Adelaide) for a fee of 50 cents per e-scooter per day. If an operator 
chooses to deploy additional e-scooters, they can do so up to a maximum of 800 e-scooters per day in total. 
The fee for each surplus e-scooter is $1 per e-scooter per day. 

27. During the Off-peak season of May to September, each operator can deploy up to a maximum of 500 e-
scooters (350 in Adelaide and 150 in North Adelaide) for a fee of 50 cents per e-scooter per day. If an 
operator chooses to deploy additional e-scooters, they can do so up to a maximum of 600 e-scooters per 
day in total. The fee for every surplus e-scooter is $1 per e-scooter per day. 

28. Fleet operators are invoiced quarterly and charged based on actual deployment figure as outlined in the 
below table.  

29. From 1 July 2024 to 31 December 2024, fleet operators have paid a total of $101,179 in permit fees to CoA. 

October to April 

(Peak) 

 212 days 

May to September  

(Off-peak)  

153 days 

Locations 

 

Standard  

(50c) 

Surplus-inclusive 

($1) 

Standard  

(50c) 

Surplus-inclusive 

($1) 

Event 

@ 50c 

per event day 

per E-Scooter 

Adelaide  

(across both operators) 
900 1000 700 800 1400 

North Adelaide 

(across both operators) 
500 600 300 400 600 

Total   

E-Scooters 

(across both operators) 

1400 1600 1000 1200 2000 

Total 

E-Scooters  

Per Operator 

(assuming 2 operators) 

700 800 500 600 1000 

 

30. Both fleet operators include insurance coverage that responds to incidents affecting innocent third parties, 
even in situations where the rider is riding illegally or against the terms and conditions. Under each of the 
policies, payments to the affected third party would not be voided by the rider’s action. Depending on the 
action of the rider, the insurer may seek compensation for the claim from the rider. This means that the 
liability for injuries to an innocent third party is transferred from the third party to the insurer and/or the rider. 

31. This level of insurance was not in place when the e-scooter trial first began, however was activated by both 
operators in CoA from December 2023. 

E-scooter Trial – Lessons Learnt 
32. Over the last six years, the Administration has continually collaborated with the fleet operators to review and 

improve the operations and services provided. Improvements to the service to reduce potential impacts to 
the community include: 

32.1. Geo-fencing: restricting access into certain places and areas. 

32.2. Slow-go zone: reducing the speed of e-scooters in certain places and areas during specific times 
where increase in pedestrian movements are known. 

32.3. No parking/ designated parking zones: a rider’s trip will continue until the e-scooter is parked within a 
designed parking area or not parked within certain areas and places. 

32.4. Changes to rider’s accountability with warning and penalties applied for poor behaviour and breach of 
conditions of use. 

Page 9



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

33. The Administration has also identified future opportunity to review e-scooter technology that reduces 
incidents and prevent e-scooters lying flat on the ground, such as free-standing e-scooters or other 
technological improvements, which will form part of any future EOI process.  

E-scooter Trial – Next steps 
34. Following the State Government decision about the future of shared e-scooters and PMDs and any 

legislative changes, tender preparation would commence, and subject to Council approval, CoA will go out to 
the market for micromobility operators. This way the operators that best meet the operating environment and 
State Government requirements can be sought. 

35. However, noting the details of the State Government’s new regulatory framework and timeframes for 
implementation, it is recommended that the Lord Mayor write to Minister for Infrastructure and Transport to 
request an extension to the e-scooter trial for a further 6 months until 31 October 2025 or until such time that 
the State Government finalise the regulatory framework.  This will provide certainty to e-scooter operators 
and the community regarding on-going use and availability of e-scooters within CoA. 

36. Alternatively, Council could choose to suspend the current trial on 30 April 2025, ceasing all shared e-
scooter operations within CoA, and reconsider the provision of shared e-scooters and micromobility within 
CoA once the State Government has finalised the regulatory framework. 

37. Note this option would result in reduced revenue of approximately $200,000 based on the current permit fee 
structure fleet operators pay to operate within the City of Adelaide. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 - Infrastructure and Public Works Committee Report, 20 February, 2024  

Link 2 – Council Meeting Minutes, 27 February 2024 

Link 3 – The South Australian Government Gazette, 29 April 2024 (Notice No 30 of 2024)  

Link 4 – Report of the Select Committee on Active and Public Transport  

Link 5 – YourSAy page for State Government consultation on personal mobility device use in South Australia 

Link 6 – The Statutes Amendment (Personal Mobility Devices) Bill 2024 

Link 7 – Media Release, Hon Tom Koutsantonis MP, 13 November 2024 

Link 8 – Lord Mayor Letter to Hon Tom Koutsantonis MP, 5 March 2025  

Link 9 – E-Scooter Usage Data Graph  

Link 10 – Reported Incidents January 2024 to December 2024 

Link 11 – CoA E-Scooter Permit Conditions 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 

 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 10

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=193


 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday 15 April 2025 

 

Tuesday, 15 April 2025 
Infrastructure and Public 
Works Committee 

Integrated Transport Strategy - Draft 
Strategy for Public Engagement (Stage 2) 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Places 
Program Contact:  
Mark Goudge Associate Director 
Infrastructure 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Tom McCready Director City 
Infrastructure 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City of Adelaide Strategic Plan 2024-2028 has an objective to facilitate and activate our places in a safe and 
accessible way for our community.  

An Integrated Transport Strategy (ITS) for the City of Adelaide (CoA) is being developed to supersede the Smart 
Move, Transport and Movement Strategy 2012-2022. The ITS will provide a clear principle position for transport 
and streets within the CoA with strategic directions, policies, network maps and an assessment framework to 
facilitate effective, evidence-based decision-making and ongoing action and evaluation.  

The purpose of this report is to seek Council endorsement of the Draft Integrated Transport Strategy (the Strategy), 
and the supporting Draft Integrated Transport Network Report, which will be used as key materials for Stage 2 of 
community and stakeholder engagement.   

The draft strategy vision statement is, Our Streets: Full of Life reflecting CoA’s ongoing commitment to creating a 
transport network that prioritises people, safety, and sustainability and ensures the city is accessible for all as CoA 
moves towards growing our resident population to 50,000 by 2036, achieving net zero by 2035, and increasing 
visitor numbers to 2.5 million by 2028. 

The draft strategy focuses on four themes: Movement and Access, Experience and Place, Health and 
Sustainability, and Safety and Comfort. 

Stage 2 Engagement will be undertaken over a three-week period, commencing in mid-late April 2025 and will 
present back what was heard in Stage 1 and demonstrate how it has been captured into the Strategy, with the 
opportunity for the community to provide further feedback. The engagement will include an online ‘Our Adelaide’ 
engagement page as well as face-to-face engagement methods.  

Following Council, stakeholder and community feedback through Stage 2 engagement, a Stage 2 engagement 
report will be developed to summarise further feedback received and the Strategy and supporting Draft Integrated 
Transport Network Report will be reviewed with consideration of the feedback. These updated documents will be 
presented to Council when presenting the Strategy for formal adoption in mid-2025. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL 

1. Notes the Draft Integrated Transport Strategy Attachment A and supporting Draft Integrated Transport 
Network Report Attachment B to Item 7.2 on the Agenda for the meeting of the Infrastructure and Public 
Works Committee held on 15 April 2025. 

2. Endorses the Draft Integrated Transport Strategy as contained in Attachment A to Item 7.2 on the Agenda 
for the meeting of the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee held on 15 April 2025 for the purpose of 
public consultation. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.2



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday 15 April 2025 

3. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer or delegate to make typographical, syntactical and technical 
amendments to Attachment A to Item 7.2 on the Agenda for the meeting of the Infrastructure and Public 
Works Committee held on 15 April 2025, for the purposes of finalising the documents for public 
consultation. 

4. Notes that the Stage 2 engagement report and the final draft of the Integrated Transport Strategy will be 
presented back to Council for adoption in mid-2025. 

 

 

 

Page 12



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday 15 April 2025 

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2024-2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Places  

The Integrated Transport Strategy (ITS) will provide strategic direction to activate our 
places in a safe and accessible way for our community. 

Policy Smart Move Transport and Movement Strategy 2012-2022 will be superseded by the 
Integrated Transport Strategy. 

Consultation 

The Stage 2 - Engagement for the Integrated Transport Strategy will be open for a three-
week period from late April to mid-May 2025. The results of the engagement feedback and 
analysis will be reported to Council in July 2025, together with the final Integrated Transport 
Strategy. 

Resource 
Face-to-face community engagement activities are being led by URPS as part of the ITS 
consultancy. In addition to this, CoA staff will be coordinating and undertaking an online 
Our Adelaide engagement. No additional resources are required as a result of this report. 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative Not as a result of this report 

Opportunities The Integrated Transport Strategy will identify a series of initiatives that will help deliver 
upon Council’s Strategic Plan objectives. 

24/25 Budget 
Allocation $200,000 

Proposed 25/26 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Not as a result of this report 

24/25 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday 15 April 2025 

 

DISCUSSION 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update on the Integrated Transport Strategy (ITS) 

project, present the draft documents to Council, including the draft Integrated Transport Strategy (the 
Strategy) and seek endorsement to progress into Stage 2 of community and stakeholder engagement for a 
three-week period in late April to mid-May 2025. 

2. The strategy seeks to provide a transport vision (Our Streets: Full of Life), commitments, goals and actions 
that integrate with Council’s existing strategies and plans, and to provide direction to the City of Adelaide in 
achieving Council’s bold ambitions.   

3. The engagement will present back what was heard in Stage 1 (Link 1) and demonstrate how it has been 
captured into the draft strategy, with the opportunity for the community to provide further feedback. 

Background 
4. The strategy is being developed to supersede Smart Move, The City of Adelaide Transport and Movement 

Strategy 2012-2022. 

5. Smart Move aimed to make the city more accessible by accommodating greater travel choices to meet the 
needs of all users. The Strategy’s key priority was to create a people-friendly City by improving conditions for 
pedestrians, cyclists and those using public transport. It strived to achieve the right balance for 
accommodating these priority users, while also addressing the needs for parking, loading and car 
accessibility. 

6. While many of Smart Move’s objectives are still relevant today and have in part been delivered (Link 2), 
recent planning frameworks such as Movement and Place and Healthy Streets together with the Safe 
System approach have established new ways of thinking about our streets and transport systems. 

7. The strategy is being developed to reflect contemporary transport thinking and frameworks, including 
Healthy Streets, Movement and Place and the Safe Systems approach. Considering these evidence-based 
frameworks, the strategy will enable improved identification and prioritisation of transport projects, through a 
systematic and strategic approach. 

8. Additionally, it aspires to create a transport system that considers all modes of movement (into and around the 
city) and enable people to adopt a healthier, more sustainable lifestyle and to result in a greener, more 
beautiful, equitable and liveable City of Adelaide. 

9. The strategy will provide a clear principle position for transport networks and streets within the City of 
Adelaide. It will include strategic directions, policies, network maps, an assessment framework to facilitate 
effective decision-making as well as a high-level Implementation Plan. 

10. The strategy will sit under City of Adelaide’s suite of Strategic Management Plans (i.e. Strategic Plan, Long 
Term Financial Plan, Asset Management Plans and City Plan) and will provide line-of-sight for new transport- 
related initiatives that support delivering upon our Strategic Plan’s objective to facilitate and activate our 
places in a safe and accessible way for our community. 

11. The strategy is being developed in alignment with key City of Adelaide strategies and planning documents, 
including the recently endorsed City Plan and Integrated Climate Strategy as well as several key strategic 
transport initiatives (Citywide Speed Limit Review, Traffic Signal Optimisation Review and School Safety 
Review) and design principles for our Main Street Revitalisation projects.  

12. The project is being developed in two key stages as shown in Link 3. 

13. The Infrastructure and Public Works (IPW) Committee was presented a high-level overview of the Integrated 
Transport Strategy on 17 September 2024 [Link 4] 

14. Key themes discussed were: 

14.1. Historic and future mode shifts. 

14.2. Future levels of car use and car parking availability with consideration of City Plan and 
growth ambitions. 

14.3. Reducing motor vehicle traffic through the city. 

14.4. Ensuring comfort and safety for people walking and wheeling. 

14.5. Benchmarks and comparative safety for cycling in Adelaide when compared to other cities. 

14.6. Establishing a comprehensive and connected cycling network. 

Page 14

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_ITS_Link_1.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_ITS_Link_2.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_ITS_Link_3.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=1067&Ver=4


 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday 15 April 2025 

14.7. A continuous active travel city loop (for transport and tourism). 

14.8. Increasing the uptake of public transport (including better stop waiting experience and new routes). 

14.9. Ensuring businesses are appropriately engaged through the development of the strategy. 

15. At the IPW  Committee on 15 October 2024, eight discussion papers and associated Discussion Paper 
Summary Documents were presented as the primary engagement materials for the Stage 1 community 
consultation (Link 5) which were subsequently endorsed by Council on 22 October 2024 (Link 6). 

Community and Stakeholder Engagement - Background 
16. The objectives of the Engagement Processes for the project are to: 

16.1. Deliver well-planned, fit for purpose engagement activities that encourage participation from a broad 
range of transport experiences  

16.2. Ensure engagement is designed to elicit feedback that is targeted to and useful for the development of 
the strategy.  

16.3. Accurately and faithfully report feedback to the project team and to the public in order to close the 
loop.  

17. Engagement on this project is being delivered in two stages.  

17.1. Stage one focused on generating feedback on eight technical discussion papers developed by 
AECOM and the CoA, which has been completed. 

17.2. Stage two will ask for feedback on the draft strategy, to check and validate the strategy and to assess 
have we captured (were practical) community feedback. 

18. The IPW Committee was presented with the Outcomes of the Integrated Transport Strategy Stage 1 
Community and Stakeholder engagement on 18 March 2025 (Link 7).  

Draft Integrated Transport Strategy Development 
19. The formal development of the draft strategy commenced following the conclusion of the Stage 1 community 

and stakeholder engagement, including the development of the City of Adelaide Integrated Transport 
Strategy – Attachment A. 

20. The draft strategy has been developed based on the detailed AECOM (external consultant) Draft Integrated 
Transport Network Report - Attachment B whilst also considering CoA strategies and is structured around 
four themes that have been developed following the Stage 1 Engagement outcomes (Link 8). 

21. The draft strategy vision statement is, Our Streets: Full of Life, reflecting CoA’s ongoing commitment to 
creating a transport network that prioritises people, safety, and sustainability and ensures the city is 
accessible for all as CoA moves towards growing our resident population to 50,000 by 2036, achieving net 
zero by 2035, and increasing visitor numbers to 2.5 million by 2028. 

22. The draft strategy themes are: 

22.1. Movement and Access: Creating inclusive, people-friendly streets, and enabling more people to use 
active travel and public transport. 

22.2. Experience and Place: Integrating transport with planning, development and infrastructure to enhance 
the liveability and the city’s economic and cultural vitality. 

22.3. Health and Sustainability: Healthy streets and healthy people in a climate resilient city. Cool, calm and 
connected streets and paths 

22.4. Safety and Comfort: A proactive safety approach for safer, greener, quieter, cleaner streets for all. 

23. Each theme has identified Goals and Key Projects and Services with specific Measures of Success.  How 
the City of Adelaide will achieve the draft strategy’s vision using the four themes is shown in the Strategy 
Map (Link 9). 

24. The draft strategy also includes aspirational network maps and case studies that present the future vision for 
the City’s streets and details of the Strategy Implementation and Delivery to inform future planning, 
development and infrastructure. These maps reflect the work undertaken by consultants AECOM, with the 
research and data underpinning these maps contained within the Draft Integrated Transport Network Report.  

25. The purpose of the Draft Integrated Transport Network Report is to synthesise the Discussion Papers / 
Background Reports, Stage 1 Community Feedback and supporting assessments undertaken by AECOM, 
and set recommended overall, integrated directions and policies which supported the development of the 
draft strategy. 

Page 15

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=1068&Ver=4
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g949/Public%20minutes%2022nd-Oct-2024%2018.00%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=1071
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_ITS_Link_8.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/IPW_15_April_2025_ITS_Link_9.pdf


 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday 15 April 2025 

26. The Draft Integrated Transport Network Report includes key information such as: 

26.1. Strategic Context (Section 1) 

26.2. Current Conditions and Challenges, Issues and Opportunities (Section 2) 

26.3. Integration of Stage 1 community feedback (Section 3) 

26.4. Review of Discussion Paper Topics (Section 4 and 5) 

26.5. Integrated Transport Frameworks and Network Maps (Section 6 and 7) 

26.6. Implementation Plan, and Measures of Success (Section 8 and 9) 

26.7. Street Case Studies (Section 10)  

Community and Stakeholder Engagement – Stage 2 
27. The purpose of Stage 2 engagement is to provide an update to our community on what we heard during the 

Stage 1 Engagement and hear the community’s feedback on the draft ITS documents. 

28. Stage 2 community and stakeholder engagement is proposed to occur over a three-week period, from late 
April to mid-May 2025, and include: 

28.1. Three documents, the draft strategy, Draft Integrated Transport Network Report and Stage 1 
Engagement Reports published online via Our Adelaide.  

28.2. An online engagement campaign, including feedback via Our Adelaide. 

28.3. Two open in-person community engagement sessions in two different locations and times, planned 
and scheduled to ensure sessions are accessible and convenient for different stakeholders and 
people in the community (e.g. business owners and operators, people with disability and parents and 
carers). 

28.4. One stakeholder engagement session. 

29. Notification of community engagement will be provided through the following avenues: 

29.1. Promotional advertisements on all Customer Service points including the digital screens that Council 
operates, our Libraries and Community Centres. 

29.2. Social Media posts via City of Adelaide social media channels. 

30. Our Adelaide - the community will be encouraged to engage and make written submissions through the 
Our Adelaide newsletter and through City of Adelaide’s website linking to detailed information on the Our 
Adelaide platform. 

31. Submissions and feedback will also be able to be sent in writing or through e-mail. 

32. Hard copy submission forms will be available inside Consultation Packs from City of Adelaide’s 
Customer Service Centre, libraries and community centres. 

33. The community will have the opportunity to have their questions answered by City of Adelaide project 
staff over the phone or book an appointment to chat to staff in person. 

34. Direct consultation with key internal and external stakeholders will continue through the Stage 2 community 
and stakeholder engagement period. 

Next Steps 
35. Subject to Council endorsement, the Stage 2 community and stakeholder engagement will commence and 

be undertaken between late April to mid-May 2025. 

36. Following this three-week public engagement, feedback will be formally collated into a Stage 2 Engagement 
Report that will be presented to Council in conjunction with the final Draft Integrated Transport Strategy in 
June 2025. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – Stage 1 Community Engagement Report 

Link 2 – Smart Move Achievements Overview 

Link 3 – Integrated Transport Strategy Project Stages 

Page 16



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday 15 April 2025 

Link 4 – September 2024 Infrastructure and Public Works Committee Workshop Presentation 

Link 5 – October 2024 Infrastructure and Public Works Committee Report 

Link 6 – October 2024 Council Minutes 

Link 7 – March 2025 Infrastructure and Public Works Committee Report 

Link 8 – Strategy Themes Overview 

Link 9 – Strategy Map 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Draft City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Attachment B – Draft AECOM Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

 

- END OF REPORT - 

 

Page 17



 

 
 
 

 
City of Adelaide 

Integrated  
Transport 
Strategy 

 
Our Streets: 
Full of Life  

 

Image by  local primary school 
student.

Page 18

Attachment A



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Kaurna 
Acknowledgement 
 

City of Adelaide tampendi, ngadlu Kaurna 
yertangga banbabanbalyarnendi (inbarendi). 
Kaurna meyunna yaitya mattanya Womma 
Tarndanyako. 

Parnako yailtya, parnuko tappa purruna, 
parnuko yerta ngadlu tampendi. Yellaka Kaurna 
meyunna itto yailtya, tappa purruna, yerta kuma 
burro martendi, burro warriappendi, burro 
tangka martulyaiendi. 

Kumarta yaitya miyurna iyangka yalaka ngadlu 
tampinthi. 

 

City of Adelaide acknowledges the traditional 
Country of the Kaurna people of the Adelaide Plains 
and pays respect to Elders past and present. 

We recognise and respect their cultural heritage, 
beliefs and relationship with the land. We 
acknowledge that they are of continuing importance 
to the Kaurna people living today. 

And we also extend that respect to other Aboriginal 
Language Groups and other First Nations 

 

  

Page 19



 
Page 3  o f  47  

Contents 
 

Integrated Transport Strategy Summary                 4 

Our Vision      5 

Our City       8 

Our Opportunity      9 

Our Commitments     10 

Our Plan       11 
Guiding Principles     13 
Community Engagement Summary   14 

Movement & Access     16 

Experience & Place     19 

Health & Sustainability     23 

Safety & Comfort     26 

Our Street Network     30 
Network maps      31 
Case studies      38 

Our Implementation and Delivery   41 
Council Role      41 
Partnerships      41 
Strategic alignment     42 
Planning approach     43 

Footnotes and Refences    44 

  

Page 20



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Integrated Transport Strategy Summary | Our Streets: Full of life 

Our guiding principles that underpin this Strategy: 

Social justice                       Efficiency of asset use and maintenance           Partnerships and 
advocacy 

Adaptability and resilience                     Governance and accountability 

Movement 
& Access 

Experience 
& Place 

Health 
& Sustainability 

Safety 
& Comfort 

Creating inclusive, 
people-friendly 
streets, and enabling 
more people to use 
active travel and 
public transport. 

Integrating transport 
with planning, 
development and 
infrastructure to 
enhance the 
liveability and the 
city’s economic and 
cultural vitality. 

Healthy streets and 
healthy people in a 
climate resilient city. 
Cool, calm and 
connected streets 
and paths 

A proactive safety 
approach for safer, 
greener, quieter, 
cleaner streets for all. 

Goal 1.1 
Healthy streets to enable 
everyone to move. 
 
Goal 1.2 
Efficient mass movement 
of people. 
 
Goal 1.3 
Better travel choices for a 
more liveable city. 

Goal 2.1 
City growth with 
increased liveability and  
safe, creative and joyful 
spaces for people of all 
ages.  
 
Goal 2.2 
Integrated transport and 
land use planning. 
 
Goal 2.3 
New visitor and resident 
experiences and 
business. 
 
Goal 2.4 
Resilient and adaptable 
street design and 
management. 
 
 

Goal 3.1 
Cool, calm and connected 
streets and paths 
 
Goal 3.2 
Healthy Streets and 
healthy people: support 
improved physical and 
mental health outcomes 
through active travel and 
connection to open 
space. 

Goal 4.1 
Implement the Safe 
System approach 
 
Goal 4.2 
Reduce risks and 
negative impacts from 
motor vehicles 
 
Goal 4.3 
Create gender accessible 
and inclusive streets 

 

Our Street Network 

Implementation and Delivery 

 

  

Page 21



 
Page 5  o f  47  

Our Vision 
 

Our streets: full of life. 

 

Transport is central to achieving the City 
of Adelaide’s bold ambitions.  Whether it 
is growing our resident population to 
50,000 by 2036, achieving net zero by 
2035, or increasing visitor numbers to 2.5 
million by 2028, this Integrated Transport 
Strategy plays a key role in shaping every 
aspect of the form and function of the 
city.  

The City’s transport future is one where streets 
are vibrant, healthy, and accessible spaces that 
enhance community life, support economic 
vitality, and contribute to environmental 
sustainability. Our vision, “Our streets”: full of life, 
reflects our ongoing commitment to creating a 
transport network that prioritises people, safety, 
and sustainability and ensures the city is 
accessible for all.  Extensive community 
feedback has told us this is what people who 
participate in city life want. 

We recognise that motor vehicle ownership and 
use will continue to be part of daily life for some. 
Our strategy accommodates this reality while 
recognising that a transport plan designed 
primarily for cars leads to increased congestion, 
reduced liveability, and less freedom of choice, 
especially for children. Instead, we are joining the 
State Government and other great cities around 
the world in committing to enhancing transport 
choices, making it easier, safer, and more 
attractive for people to move through the city in 
ways that are sustainable, efficient, and 
enjoyable. 

At the heart of this strategy is the creation of 
Healthy Streets—streets that prioritise people’s 
well-being by reducing pollution, encouraging 
active travel, and fostering social interaction. 

We will implement the Safe System Approach to 
ensure that our transport network protects all 
road users, particularly the most vulnerable. This 
means designing streets that minimise harm 
through lower speeds, better infrastructure, and 
safer crossings. 

Our strategy also tackles the urgent need to 
reduce carbon emissions by improving 
infrastructure for walking/wheeling and cycling, 
incorporating more urban greening in our street 
design, and promoting the use of public 
transport. An active and cleaner transport 
network will help address climate change, 
improve air quality, and contribute to a healthier 
population. 

Tackling the city’s growing traffic congestion 
problem is a key priority. We will achieve this by 
shifting travel demand towards more space-
efficient modes, such as public transport, cycling, 
and walking/wheeling, and by managing road 
space more effectively. Smart planning, better 
use of technology and optimising street space 
will mean people can move around the city 
conveniently and efficiently. 

  

Page 22



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

 

 

 

Our strategy is about providing better transport 
choices—ensuring that people travelling to and 
across the city have reliable, safe and accessible 
options. The growing City of Adelaide residential 
population will support local businesses and 
mean more people avoid a car commute by both 
living and working in the city. Better public 
transport and safe, comfortable and connected 
cycle routes between the city and suburbs will 
also reduce dependence on car driving. 

By embracing bold, transformative policies, we 
will shape a future where our streets are full of 
life -places where people can connect, 
businesses can thrive, and movement is safe, 
sustainable, and equitable for all. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

People walking/wheeling across O'Connell Street, North 
Adelaide and people walking/wheeling across King William 
Street at Rundle Mall. 'Walking/wheeling' is an inclusive 
term to describe people moving by, walking or wheeling 
unaided or using an aid to mobility, including walking aids, 
wheeled aids, personal assistants or support animals. 

 

  

Page 23



 
Page 7  o f  47  

About the Integrated Transport Strategy 
This Integrated Transport Strategy has been developed to 
guide decisions about how better transport will help 
achieve the vision set out in our Strategic Plan. 

The Integrated Transport Strategy works alongside other key City of 
Adelaide documents such as our City Plan 2036, Integrated Climate 
Strategy 2030 and Economic Development Strategy to form an 
integrated approach to the planning, funding, delivery, and evaluation 
of Council infrastructure and services. 

Reflecting our role as a Capital City, the Integrated Transport 
Strategy is also purposefully aligned to the Government of South 
Australia’s vision for a transformative transport system that enables 
South Australia's prosperity, sustainability and connectivity.  There is 
a shared aspiration with the State Government to address the city’s 
congestion challenges, improve transport options, and prioritise 
healthy transport. 

This Strategy outlines the vision, goals, and actions required to 
deliver a bold, innovative and aspirational future transport network 
that ensures sustainable, equitable, and efficient movement of people 
and prioritisation of place.   

This Strategy will: 

▪ Provide a unified, long-term vision for transport planning and 
development within the City of Adelaide. 

▪ Address critical challenges in accessibility, equity, and 
sustainability across various modes of transport. 

▪ Promote a shift towards healthier, more active transport modes 
while reducing reliance on private vehicles. 

▪ Ensure that transport infrastructure supports increasing 
population growth and development within the city. 

▪ Foster stronger connections between transport, place-making and 
community wellbeing. 

▪ Establish clear priorities and actions for transforming Adelaide’s 
transport network, with measurable targets and evaluation 
frameworks. 

▪ Guide Council and stakeholders in making informed decisions 
about transport investments, improvements and policy 
adjustments. 

▪ Ensure alignment with broader state and national climate action 
and sustainability goals. 

The Strategy is also informed by extensive research, community and 
stakeholder engagement, and five Guiding Principles, which align 
with City of Adelaide’s broader values to guide actions and decision-
making, as detailed in the “Our Plan” section of this document.  

Page 24



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Our City 
The City of Adelaide is the heart of the 
state’s civic, cultural and commercial life. 
First shaped by the Kaurna People of the 
Adelaide Plains, then by Colonel William 
Light, Adelaide is known for being 
progressive, resilient, bold, trailblazing 
and enterprising. 

As a Capital City, we recognise that we must 
plan for our growing residential and daytime 
population. Currently there are 26,000 residents 
and 390,000 people who come into the city 
everyday – to work, study and visit. 

The Adelaide Park Lands and the grid of streets 
– including many wide streets - mean Adelaide is 
in a unique and advantageous position, with 
space on many streets for active travel and 
public transport, greening, outdoor dining and 
other elements that bring life to the city.  

Colonel William Light planned Adelaide as a city 
grid with wide streets for principal routes and 
terraces, and Park Lands to reflect and maximise 
appreciation of the natural landscape. Light 
incorporated the ring of Park Lands and city 
squares as open spaces to improve public 
health. The Adelaide Park Lands are now 
Nationally Heritage listed and contribute 
significantly to city liveability and community 
wellbeing.  

The city has culturally diverse neighbourhoods 
and unique precincts, with year-round events and 
activations, a vibrant outdoor dining scene, and 
international recognition as a UNESCO City of 
Music.  The city has a growing resident, 
business, and visitor population. 

The city is a unique mix of places to explore and 
spend time: from vibrant main streets to heritage 
neighbourhoods and biodiverse open spaces. 
The many streets already with established trees 
and public art, show the potential for the city to 
be a positive experience to move through and 
spend time in. 

Our thinking has been shaped by our city’s 
unique profile:   

▪ Over 130,000 people work in the city and almost 
30,000 people live in the city – and City of 
Adelaide’s strategies seek significant 
employment and residential growth. 

▪ Approximately 350,000 people live within a 7km 
radius of the amenities, services and 
experiences available in the city. Currently 
almost 400,000 people come into the city daily 
from the wider metropolitan area and this 
daytime population is growing.  

▪ More than 95% of the city’s workforce reside 
outside the City of Adelaide 

▪ Of the 12,600 city residents who are employed, 
more than half (55%) work in the city. 

▪ The metropolitan public transport network is city 
centric – with all trains, trams and most buses 
starting/ending in the city 

▪ Our city is home to 12,717 businesses, two 
public hospitals, four universities, and 16 
schools 

▪ 43% of our city residents are aged 20 – 34, 
compared to 20% in the rest of Metropolitan 
Adelaide 

▪ While couples without children are as likely to 
live in the city as the rest of the metropolitan 
Adelaide (25% of the population), the city has a 
greater share of lone person households (41% 
compared to 27%). 

▪ Almost 90% of dwellings in the city are medium 
or high density 

▪ Around 9,000 children attend city-based schools 
▪ We are an event centric city, drawing millions of 

visitors every year – from the Adelaide 500, 
Adelaide Festival, Adelaide Fringe, 
WOMADelaide, Dream Big, Feast, Cabaret 
Festival, OzAsia, Tour Down Under and more. 

▪ We are the sporting and culture capital of South 
Australia – with major venues such as the 
Adelaide Central Market, Adelaide Oval, Festival 
Centre, Botanic Gardens, City Skate Park, 
Aquatic Centre, Art Gallery and more. 

▪ On-road transport emissions are increasing and 
accounted for 45% of the community 
greenhouse gas emissions in 2024 

▪ Just over 2,400 crashes were recorded in the 
City of Adelaide between 2019-2023, with four 
deaths and 211 serious injuries and 658 minor 
injuries. 

Page 25



 
Page 9  o f  47  

Our Opportunity 
Adelaide’s urban form has 
been fundamentally shaped by 
transport planning decisions 
of the past.  Early horse drawn 
trams and later electric trams 
shaped the busy Main Streets 
and lower density early 
suburbs, while the railway 
enabled urban settlement 
further out.  In the mid to late 
twentieth century, Adelaide’s 
urban form evolved to 
complement the trend to 
increasing car ownership with 
relatively easy driving and 
parking.  
This Integrated Transport Strategy 
creates the opportunity to shape 
Adelaide’s evolving urban form and 
take advantage of Adelaide’s wide 
city streets and planned grid 
network and relatively flat 
topography to provide twenty-first 
century transport solutions to 
changes in our population, climate, 
technology  
and lifestyles. 

Reducing Congestion: Increasing city congestion is 
impacting productivity, liveability, human health and climate.  
Unless we make changes, these impacts will increase as 
Greater Adelaide grows in size and population.  As highlighted 
in the State Transport Strategy and the State Infrastructure 
Strategy, congestion is an increasing challenge but “we 
cannot continue to build our way out of congestion”.   By 
reducing car dependence and integrating public transport with 
active travel options the city can efficiently accommodate 
more people and increase freedom of movement.   

Increased Benefits of City Living: A key advantage of city 
living is being close to jobs, shops, services and amenities. 
Connecting city neighbourhoods through infrastructure and 
streetscapes that make it safe, convenient and enjoyable to 
walk/wheel cycle or use public transport means that daily 
needs can be met without a car trip.  City businesses will 
benefit from this increased foot traffic and better accessibility. 
Our ambition to achieve a city population of 50,000 people by 
2036, along with our focus on growing the city economy, will 
reduce daily commuter car trips and enable more people to 
enjoy the benefits of city living.  

Managing Climate Risks:  Transport emissions account for 
around 45% of community’s carbon footprint and are growing 
(City of Adelaide, 2024).  Sustainable transport solutions will 
help mitigate climate change and achieve the City of 
Adelaide’s carbon reduction targets. Adaptive planning will 
also help our transport network remain resilient to more 
extreme weather events, reducing disruptions and 
safeguarding essential mobility services. 

Improving Safety and Access:  Enhancing road and 
streetscape design, implementing safer speed limits, and 
investing in better active travel infrastructure reduce traffic 
crashes, injuries, and fatalities.  For many people, a trip to or 
from the city is a distance that could be cycled, and more 
people would cycle if they felt safe to do so.  Safer streets with 
more transport options are better for everyone, and 
particularly more inclusive for children, older adults, and 
people with a disability. 

Creating Great Places for People:  Encouraging active 
travel improves physical and mental health. Streets that are 
designed for people foster social connections, community 
engagement and boost economic vitality.   With healthier 
streets, which are safer, greener, quieter, and cleaner, more 

Page 26



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

people will want to live, visit, and work in the city – helping to 
realise our growth aspirations.   

  

Page 27



 
Page 11 o f  47  

Our Commitments 
 

Our commitment to achieving our transport vision - Our streets: full of life - is embedded across our 
strategic planning framework. The City of Adelaide is progressively developing a series of integrated 
plans that ensure the whole of Council, and our partners, are working together to achieve shared goals. 
The commitments we have made in our long-term planning underpin how we will implement, measure 
and evaluate the goals set out in this strategy. 

 

M
ov

em
en

t &
 

 A
cc

es
s We will: 

▪ Increase the proportion of people in the city using 
active and sustainable travel modes 

▪ Improve gender parity in cycling participation 
▪ Reduce the proportion of city households that own a car 
▪ Support an increase in the number people using 

public transport services 
▪ Improve accessibility by installing compliant 

pedestrian ramps and crossings on high use routes 

Ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
&

 
 P

la
ce

 

We will: 
▪ Provide more accessible on-street car parking 

spaces across the city 
▪ Optimise street and kerbside space 
▪ Increase foot traffic in emerging economic precincts 
▪ Reduce car through traffic 
▪ Increase the number of people travelling to city 

events by active and public transport 

H
ea

lth
 &

 
Su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y We will: 

▪ Increase availability of public EV charging stations 
▪ Reduce noise and improve air quality 
▪ Increase levels of community physical activity 
▪ Improve access to nature 

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
C

om
fo

rt
 

We will: 
▪ Reduce lives lost and serious injuries on city streets 
▪ Increase perceptions of safety on our streets 
▪ Improve footpath service levels 

These commitments are 
aligned to the goals or success 
measures of City of Adelaide 
Plans: 
 
▪ Strategic Plan 2024 - 2028 
▪ City Plan 2036 
▪ Economic Development 

Strategy 
▪ Integrated Climate Strategy 

2030 
▪ Adelaide Park Lands 

Management Strategy 
▪ Disability Access and 

Inclusion Plan 2024-2028 
▪ Asset Management Plans  
  
And our partner’s plans: 
 
▪ State Planning Policies 
▪ Greater Adelaide Regional 

Plan  
▪ South Australia’s Transport 

Strategy 
▪ State Infrastructure Strategy 

2025 
▪ South Australia’s Road 

Safety Strategy 
▪ Urban Greening Strategy for 

Metro Adelaide 
 

  

Page 28



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Our Plan 
 

For Councillors For Stakeholders 
and Community 

For Administration 
and Councillors 

 
▪ Guides decision making    
▪ Provides direction about the 

change and level of 
investment needed 
 

 
▪ Provides clear information 

about transport strategy and 
desired outcomes 

▪ Sets expectations about 
how Council will address 
issues and deliver projects 

 
▪ Informs the new project and 

renewal / upgrade pipeline, 
with clarity about facilities to 
meet different people’s 
needs and achieve our 
strategic objectives 

 

The City of Adelaide Smart Move Transport and Movement Strategy was developed over 
a decade ago. A new Integrated Transport Strategy is needed to incorporate new 
approaches and directions in transport planning such as Healthy Streets and the Safe 
System approach. 

This Strategy has a stronger focus on accessibility, including gender and child-friendly city 
considerations. It provides greater clarity about transport networks and the associated infrastructure 
requirements on the different routes that will meet people’s needs. 

To achieve the required mode shift and make it easier for people to choose active and sustainable 
transport we need to know where and how to deliver better streets and transport systems. The strategy 
is key to planning and achieving the objectives and targets set by Council, such as for liveable city 
growth, street greening and transport decarbonisation. 

This Strategy articulates how we will focus our efforts into bringing these opportunities to life. It is where 
we articulate our commitments, our goals and the key projects and services that will keep us moving in 
the right direction. 

  

Page 29



 
Page 13 o f  47  

 

 

 

Healthy Streets Approach 

Our streets play a big role in our health and 
wellbeing. Too many cars lead to pollution, noise, 
safety risks, and barriers that make it harder for 
people to move around. Walking/wheeling, cycling 
and using public transport help people stay active 
and connected, improving both individual health 
and community life. 

The Healthy Streets approach makes streets safer, 
more welcoming, and easier for everyone to use. 
By reducing congestion and supporting active 
travel, it helps create cleaner, greener, and more 
inclusive places. It focuses on what people need to 
move around easily—especially those who are 
most vulnerable—so that everyone can access 
services, visit friends, and enjoy their city. 

 

Safe System Approach 

Creating safe streets for everyone is a priority. The 
Safe System approach recognises that people make 
mistakes, and roads should be designed to prevent 
these mistakes from causing serious harm. 

This means setting safer speed limits, improving 
crossings, and designing streets that protect people, 
especially those walking/wheeling and cycling. 

Road safety is a shared responsibility, but 
governments and road designers have the biggest 
role in making roads and speeds safer. When roads 
are built with safety in mind and have Safe System 
speeds, crashes are less likely—and when they do 
happen, they cause less harm. 

 

 

  

Road authority is responsible for 
the level of safety within the system

Road users are 
responsible for 
following the 

rules and layout 
set.

If user 
compliance, or 
death / injury, 

issues, the 
system designer 

must take 
additional steps

Page 30



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Guiding Principles 
 

Our Plan has been underpinned by five Guiding Principles: 

 

Social Justice: 
  

 

Social justice covers issues of rights, participation, access and equity. The City of 
Adelaide will consider how our transport systems and streets can increase 
accessibility: enable more people to reach places (including services, employment, 
education, leisure) and people as they wish. Increased accessibility means 
increased participation. We need to consider ‘trips not made’ when people face 
barriers that prevent them from moving to/from or within the city. When planning and 
making project decisions, we need to consider the rights and voices of groups such 
as people with disability, older adults and children. Equity includes considering how 
investment improves access for, and external costs (such as crash risk and pollution 
exposure) on groups such as children, older adults and people in lower 
socioeconomic groups. 

 

Efficient asset use 
and maintenance 

 

Space in the city is valuable and finite. Street space is public space and needs to be 
used and maintained efficiently. The City of Adelaide will consider ‘highest and best 
use’ of our street space and how we move more people, more safely and efficiently, 
using less space.  

 

Adaptability and 
Resilience 

 

With a changing climate and with planned and unplanned events and disruptions on 
the transport network and streets, it is important that the system can adapt and 
recover, so the City of Adelaide can maintain suitable levels of accessibility.  

 

Partnerships and 
Advocacy 

 

The City of Adelaide will work with state government agencies, businesses, and key 
stakeholders to deliver transport initiatives that require shared responsibility. These 
actions often rely on external funding, cross-agency coordination, or collaboration 
with industry groups. The City of Adelaide will advocate for policies and funding from 
higher levels of government and industry to align with its transport objectives. 
Advocacy is essential for transport initiatives that fall outside the City of Adelaide’s 
direct control but impact its transport system. 

 

Governance and 
Accountability 

 

The City of Adelaide will make decisions based on the policy directions in a 
consistent, evidence-based way through use of the Healthy Streets and Safe 
Systems approaches.  The City of Adelaide will be accountable and report on the 
measures of success annually, which will be tied to management KPIs. 

 

  

Page 31



 
Page 15 o f  47  

Community Engagement Summary 
To understand the transport needs and aspirations 
of our diverse city stakeholders, anyone with an 
interest was invited to provide their input on what 
was important to them. This engagement centred 
around eight evidence-based discussion papers on 
important transport themes: 

▪ Street Space and Kerbside Management 
▪ Cycling and Cycle Parking 
▪ Public Transport 
▪ Motor Vehicles and Parking 
▪ Walking and Wheeling 
▪ Shared Micromobility 
▪ Events, Works and Transport Disruptions 
▪ Urban Freight, City Servicing, Waste Transport 

and Deliveries 

While some participants are seeking actions to make 
commuting to/from and through the city by car more 
convenient (such as more and cheaper parking and 
increased road capacity), the overwhelming sentiment 
from city stakeholders is one of change towards 
prioritising other transport modes and redesigning 
streets to improve accessibility, safety, comfort and 
experience for all users. 
What we heard is: 
▪ Improved public transport with greater reliability,  
▪ efficiency, connectivity, and user comfort is 

needed. 
▪ The need for improved cycling infrastructure, 

including separated east-west cycle lanes. 
▪ Negative impacts of vehicle traffic, particularly 

through traffic. 
▪ The management and balance of street space 

(including car parking) for different uses and 
users. 

▪ Making streets safe, healthy and connected for all 
users. 

A comprehensive overview of how this engagement 
was undertaken and the contributions received has 
been published in a separate Engagement Summary 
Report. 

“RAA supports further 
investment in public 
transport, including 

integration with active 
transport modes, to reduce 

the reliance on private 
vehicle journeys to and 

within the City of Adelaide.”  
 

- RAA written submission 

 

We received 797 
contributions to this 
engagement including: 

429 community 
survey responses 

84 youth 
survey responses 

133 child ‘Better Street’ 
activity submissions 

30 attendees 
at a panel session 

63 conversations 
at community drop in sessions 

42 stakeholders at  
collaborative planning workshops 

16 written submissions 

 

Page 32



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

 

  

Page 33



 
Page 17 o f  47  

Movement 
& Access 
Creating inclusive, people-friendly streets, and enabling more 
people to use active travel and public transport. 
 

Measures of Success 

1.1. More children using active travel and public transport 
to school  

1.2. Double the number of people walking / wheeling to 
work by 2030, with 48% of local residents choosing to 
walk to work (from a baseline of 24%) by 2035. 
(Source: Integrated Climate Strategy 2030) 

1.3. Triple the number of people cycling to the City of 
Adelaide area by 2030 with 10% of city workers 
choosing to cycle or use micromobility to work (from a 
baseline of 2.6%) and 20% by 2035 (Source: 
Integrated Climate Strategy 2030) 

1.4. Improve gender parity in cycling participation from 
30% (2021 baseline) to 40% by 2036. 

1.5. Reduce the proportion of city households that own a 
car, from a baseline of 64% of city households with 
one or more cars in 2021, to 55% in 2031 and 40% in 
2036. 

1.6. Support an increase in the number people using 
public transport services. Develop a measure for 
public transport, such as number of implemented 
public transport priority routes, reduction in delays to 
services within CoA, public transport services 
patronage increase on City Connector - City Loop 
Services by 2030.  
 

1.7. Improve accessibility by installing compliant 
pedestrian ramps and crossings on high use routes 
through pedestrian and cyclist priority crossings or 
actuated crossings on access points to the Adelaide 
Park Lands and the City Squares by 2036 (Source: 
City Plan 2036).  

Accessibility is the ease with 
which different people can 
reach other people and places 
at their chosen time. 
Accessibility can be assessed 
spatially based on distance; 
however, it also depends on 
what modes (e.g. bus, car, 
cycle) are available, personal 
circumstances, quality of the 
infrastructure or time of the 
day or week. For example, a 
trip may be cycleable based 
on distance, but a person has 
to be able to cycle, have 
access to a cycle, and have a 
route they feel safe using – for 
actual accessibility.  

The City of Adelaide needs to 
help reduce reliance on private 
motor vehicles by creating 
networks where people are 
encouraged to make active travel 
and public transport choices 
rather than drive. Maintaining 
streets dominated by vehicles or 
expanding roads and 
intersections in an effort to meet 
future demands is unsustainable 
and conflicts with Council and 
State Government strategic 
directions. Car dependence 
comes with high costs while 
walking/wheeling and cycling 
bring economic benefits 
including to local businesses, 
health, reduced congestion, 
sustainability, and place 
activation1.  

Page 34



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Improved public transport to, from and within 
the City of Adelaide is a key opportunity, as 
public transport provides for sustainable, 
efficient, mass movement of people, including 
children and other people who cannot or choose 
not to drive. A good public transport network, 
integrated with active travel, is vital for 
liveability. 

As the population of Greater Adelaide grows, it is 
important that new housing is near public transport 
(existing or new). Adelaide will need more railway 
lines but there are capacity restrictions with the 
configuration of Adelaide Railway Station. 

Improvements including an underground railway 
loop or link through the City of Adelaide must be 
considered for expansion of the rail network linking 
to and from the city. The City of Adelaide supports 
the State Government undertaking a planning study 
to identify possible solutions.  

Concerns are often expressed about reducing car 
parking because public transport and cycle 
networks are seen to be inadequate. Improving 
public transport coverage, frequency, reliability and 
experience will build business and community 
confidence in changing our streets, with more 
people choosing to use public transport rather than 
driving from the suburbs. The increasing City of 
Adelaide residential population will also help 
support local businesses and provide a resident 
worker population without so many people driving (if 
there are network improvements to support active 
travel and public transport).  

South Australia’s 20-Year State Infrastructure 
Strategy notes the challenge to get more people to 
use public transport rather than drive, when – 
although having good spatial coverage – public 
transport is often uncompetitive compared with 
driving for convenience and travel time. Increasing 
high capacity on-road public transport to connect 
with neighbouring suburbs is important, as is 
frequency and reliability of existing services and the 
accessibility of public transport interchanges. The 
City of Adelaide will advocate to the State 
Government on these issues. 

When too many people seek to drive and park in 
cities, it causes congestion and impacts people 

trips to/from and within the City of Adelaide 
are distances that could be undertaken by 
active travel, if people felt safe to do so. The 
community has highlighted that more people 
will cycle with safe, connected, convenient, 
comfortable and attractive cycling routes but 
also the need for more cycle parking which is 
secure and caters for different types of cycles, 
including cargo cycles. If more people use 
active travel and public transport, it means it is 
easier for people who really need to drive or 
be driven to move around and find car 
parking. 

 

Method of travel to work (resident workers) 

Mode (%) 2016 
census 

2021 
census 

Car 38.3 35 

Public 
Transport 11.9 12.6 

Cycling 3.7 2.8 

Walking 26.9 24 

Census Resident Worker Data Indicates Many 
People Driving Short Distances within CoA 

 

 

Safe Cycle Routes Enable More People to 
Cycle 

Page 35



 
Page 19 o f  47  

using active travel and public transport, and place 
outcomes. Many  

Goal 1.1: Healthy 
streets to enable 
everyone to move 

Goal 1.2: Efficient mass 
movement of people 

Goal 1.3: Better travel 
choices for a more 
liveable city 

Enable people of all ages and 
abilities to participate in city 
life and move around the city.  

Achieve more efficient and 
sustainable mass movement 
of people through better 
public transport.  

Implement effective 
interventions that favour 
active travel and public 
transport. 

Key Projects and Services: Key Projects and Services: Key Projects and Services: 

Create healthy, child-friendly 
streets around schools and 
residential areas to enable 
active travel to school and local 
walkability/wheelability. [lead] 

Develop a prioritised program 
for schools across City of 
Adelaide, and for intersections 
and crossings in 2025 [lead]:  
▪ Implement Safe System 

aligned speeds around 
schools and in residential 
areas, with traffic calming as 
needed.  

▪ Implement Safe System 
compliant crossings and 
intersections, focussing on 
active travel routes. 

Trial an open street (school 
street) and implement modal 
filters on residential streets 
(reflecting the traffic circulation 
plan). [lead] 

Implement behaviour change 
programs for schools and 
residents. [lead] 

Bus priority measures, such as 
bus lanes and traffic signals 
priority implemented on public 
transport routes by 2036, to 
improve service quality (achieve 
or exceed target minimum 
performance levels). [partner] 

Advocate for more public 
transport services during off-
peak times and for the City 
Connector, more services 
earlier in the day and later into 
the evening [advocate] 

Work with the Department for 
Infrastructure and Transport to 
review the City Connector 
routes (2025). [partner] 

Undertake bus stop audit in 
conjunction with Goal 4.3 and 
building on existing Department 
for Infrastructure and Transport 
stop audits, to assess need for 
waiting space and stop access 
(e.g. crossing) improvements, 
and opportunities for better 
public transport and active travel 
and shared micromobility 
interchange. [partner] 

Intersection upgrades, and other 
traffic calming measures on 
active travel routes. [lead] 

A network of cycle lanes, safe 
cycle routes and cycle parking 
[lead]. 

Prepare an Infrastructure 
Australia submission for a 
package of inner Adelaide cycle 
routes [partner] 
▪ Install additional and secure 

cycle parking: at least 40 
new cycle hoops and three 
secure cycle parking 
facilities per year. [lead]. 

▪ Implement quick build cycle 
lanes (lead), including on 
Peacock Road in 2025/26 
and Morphett Road-
Montefiore Road in 2026/27. 
[lead] 

Seek Healthy Streets upgrade 
options on key street renewal 
projects. [lead]  

 

Page 36



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Experience 
& Place 
Integrated transport and urban development to enhance the 
liveability and the city’s economic and cultural vitality. 
 

Measures of Success 

2.1 At least one (1) accessible on-street Parking 
Space per 50 on-street parking spaces across 
the City of Adelaide by 2036.  

2.2 Develop a measure to tell us about the 
optimisation of street and kerbside space, in line 
with strategic outcomes.  

2.3 Increase foot traffic in key and emerging precinct 
year on year by 1.5% Source: Economic 
Development Strategy. 

2.4 Develop a measure for the reduction of through 
car travel on key identified CBD routes such as, -
10% by 2030 and -20% by 2035 based on 2025 
levels.  

2.5 Develop a measure to increase the number of 
people attending events by active and public 
transport.  

As Jan Gehl said, “…today the 
best cities in the world offer 
their citizens something more 
than traffic capacity” and that 
in a globalised, highly 
mobilised society, “it is only 
the cities that are the most 
attractive, healthy, safe, 
vibrant and liveable that will 
compete in the global market.” 

Walking/wheeling and cycling 
improvements to main streets 
and town centres increase retail 
spend. Walkable/wheelable 
streets encourage people to 
linger for longer, adding vibrancy 
to our places and boosting 
productivity throughout our city. 
Walkability/wheelability is valued 
by visitors to our city and is good 
for businesses. High levels of 
‘foot traffic’ are key to successful 
main streets and creating 
walkable/wheelable 
neighbourhoods, and as outlined 
in City Plan 2036, will help 
achieve successful growth. 

Our strategic outcomes include 
to lead as a low carbon 
emissions city and to create 
safe, inclusive and healthy 
places for our community.  

  

Page 37



 
Page 21 o f  47  

Space on our streets and kerbside (often where 
cars are parked) is valuable and finite, and we need 
to allocate it for users and uses to achieve socially 
just, adaptable, resilient and efficient outcomes. It is 
important to have wider and clearer footpaths, 
especially for the safety and comfort of people with 
disability, children and older adults. People 
recognise that more space for elements such as 
greening, kerbside dining and for public seating will 
enhance the city’s liveability and create streets that 
people want to walk/wheel and spend time on, 
supporting greater economic activity.  

We need to allocate space fairly and consistently, 
and to support our strategic objectives and 
outcomes. 

We need to implement parking management 
approaches that discourage non-essential car 
ownership and driving, while providing convenient 
parking for people who need it. 

 

 

“RAA supports City of 
Adelaide investigating 

opportunities to optimise 
footpath/lane space 

allocation for effective 
movement and place 

purposes (e.g. outdoor 
dining) noting the longer-

term community benefits this 
may provide” 

 
- RAA written submission 

 

 

 

A Modal Filter in Unley.  

Modal filters manage through motor vehicle 
traffic while improving conditions for 
walking/wheeling and cycling, with 
opportunities for greening. They have been 
identified as one of the most cost-effective 
measures to increase active travel. 

 

 

Bicycle Pedestrian Actuated Crossing (BPAC) 
with a raised safety platform on Hutt Road. 
This is an example of a primary Safe System 
aligned crossing outcome. 

 

  

Page 38



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Goal 2.1: City growth with increased 
liveability 

Goal 2.2: Integrated transport and 
land use planning 

Create age friendly streets that are safer, 
greener, quieter and cleaner. With fewer motor 
vehicles, more people will want to live, work 
and play in the city. 

Connect social infrastructure with street 
improvements, more efficient developments, 
lower car ownership and higher use of shared 
mobility. 

Key Projects and Services: Key Projects and Services: 

Design and implement priority Green Streets and 
Active Transport Routes. [lead] 

Implement mobility hubs (with shared vehicles, 
cycle share and shared e-scooters) at railway 
stations, on or near the Currie-Grenfell public 
transport corridor, and at selected locations 
across our neighbourhoods, to support reduced 
car ownership and driving in the city. [partner] 

Develop key Healthy Street masterplan projects 
to support city growth, including West Terrace, 
Sturt Street and Halifax Street. [lead]  

Implement modal filters to create community 
public spaces and support people to make more 
active and sustainable travel choices. [lead] 

Develop a prioritised program to create safer, 
more comfortable walking/wheeling and cycling to 
libraries, childcare and community centres, play 
spaces, grocery shops and main streets: crossing 
upgrades, more water fountains, seating and 
cycle parking. [lead] 

Seek planning code amendments, including for 
positive changes to car ownership levels, active 
frontages/no or limited driveways on higher 
classification walking/wheeling routes, and 
contributions to street outcomes. [advocate] 

Work with the Department for Infrastructure and 
Transport to develop the City Loop tram/bus and 
underground city railway loop/link to reflect City 
Plan 2036 development potential. [advocate] 

 

  

Page 39



 
Page 23 o f  47  

Goal 2.3: New visitor and resident 
experiences and business growth 

Goal 2.4: Resilient and adaptable 
street design and management 

Improve the experience of people in our City, 
with healthy, safe and green streets, that 
encourage people to walk/ wheel and cycle 
around the city and that become drawcards 
for tourists. 

Create a network of high-quality active travel 
routes for network resilience and choice, 
prioritised kerbside management and efficient 
use of spaces and uses of our streets. 

Key Projects and Services: Key Projects and Services: 

Implement green grid and Park Lands Trail 
crossings (with Safe System outcomes) to 
improve access to and use of the Park Lands, 
including the squares. [lead] 

Delivery of wayfinding, interpretative boards 
(incorporating Kaurna history and voices) and 
public art along key routes, including routes to 
visitor destinations, schools, libraries and to open 
spaces. [lead] 

Permit, manage and promote cycle share and 
shared e-scooter schemes. Incorporate 
micromobility corrals on key routes, and mobility 
hubs (with car share, cycle share and shared e-
scooters) at railway stations, on or near the Currie 
/ Grenfell public transport corridor, and at 
selected locations across our neighbourhoods 
[partner] 

Develop a Kerbside and Parking Management 
Policy in 2025/2026. [lead]  

Seek active travel routes to provide network 
resilience during events: Bartels Road cycle route 
[lead], Botanic Road footpath [lead], Dequetteville 
Terrace crossing to Kensington cycle route 
[advocate], Fullarton Road-Dequetteville Terrace 
route [advocate].  

  

Page 40



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Health 
& Sustainability 
Healthy streets and healthy people in a climate resilient city. 
 
 

Measures of Success 

3.1 Develop Public EV charging infrastructure that is 
available for all users, including micromobility, 
catalysing the update of EVs in Adelaide. 
(Source: Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 / EV 
Charging Infrastructure Transition Roadmap) 

3.2 Transitioning our corporate fleet to zero 
emissions by 2030 in accordance with our 
targets. (Source: Integrated Climate Strategy 
2030) 

3.3 Develop a measure for improved access to 
nature by delivering a green grid (making it safe, 
easy and comfortable to walk/wheel and cycle to 
the Park Lands and Squares via shaded routes) 
by 2036. Source: City Plan 2036 

3.4 Develop a measure for reduced noise and better 
air quality within City of Adelaide Streets.  

3.5 Develop a measure for levels of physical activity 
and community connection within City of 
Adelaide Streets. 

As set out in the Strategic 
Plan, Integrated Climate 
Strategy 2030 and City Plan 
2036, the City of Adelaide will 
lead as a sustainable, low 
emissions city. Currently, 
transport emissions are a 
significant proportion of 
carbon emissions and without 
significant measures to 
increase mode share of active 
travel and public transport use 
to, from and within the city, 
they will continue to grow. 

Transport also plays a significant 
role in people’s health and 
wellbeing. We need healthy 
streets to address the health 
impacts of transport: air quality, 
noise, air pollution, road safety 
and severance. Through 
application of the Healthy Streets 
approach, our streets will 
become a better environment for 
people to enjoy 
walking/wheeling, cycling and 
spending time relaxing and 
connecting. Creating better 
streets that enable people to use 
active travel means we are 
enabling people to build physical 
activity into their day. Better 
streets give people the freedom 
to make better, more active 
travel choices, to increase levels 
of physical activity, benefit 
physical and mental health, and 
increase community cohesion. 

  

Page 41



 
Page 25 o f  47  

As defined in City Plan 2036, the green grid is the 
grid of streets and laneways with enhanced tree 
canopy and other shade cover, to contribute to 
cooling, climate resilience, biodiversity and comfort 
to users of the city. Cool, calm, and connected 
routes will mean our community and city visitors will 
be encouraged to have a more active lifestyle and 
can enjoy an enhanced walking/wheeling and 
cycling experience. With residential growth in the 
city, making it easier for people to connect to open 
spaces such as the Park Lands and Squares 
becomes increasingly important.  

 

The City Plan 2036 Green City Grid 

 

 

  

Page 42



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Goal 3.1: Cool, calm and connected 
streets and paths 

Goal 3.2: Healthy Streets and 
healthy people 

Enhance greening on city streets to make our 
city more resilient to the impacts of climate 
change while creating opportunities for 
people to walk / wheel and cycle through 
better connections along our streets to our 
Park Lands and Squares. 

Our streets will be welcoming, safe, attractive 
and comfortable places, and allow for more 
people to choose active travel, connect to 
open space, and spend time in public spaces 
to connect with other people. 

Key Projects and Services: Key Projects and Services: 

Delivery of the green grid (on high and medium 
priority streets) by 2036, with Healthy Street 
assessments used to inform street designs and 
greening outcomes. [lead] 

Use of Healthy Streets Design Checks (Healthy 
Streets, 2025) on all our street renewal/upgrade 
and new projects. Output will be a key 
consideration in project options assessment and 
project prioritisation. [lead] 

 

  

Page 43



 
Page 27 o f  47  

Safety 
& Comfort 
A proactive safety approach for safer, greener, quieter, cleaner 
streets for all. 
 

Measures of Success 

4.1 Reduce lives lost and serious injuries on city 
streets with at least a 50% reduction in lives lost 
by 2031 and zero lives lost on our streets by 
2050 and at least a 30% reduction in people 
being seriously injured by 2031. (Source: 
Strategic Plan and South Australia’s Road Safety 
Strategy to 2031 and National Road Safety 
Strategy 2021–30) 

 
4.2 Increase perceptions of safety on our streets with 

at least 60% strongly agreeing by 2036 that ‘The 
city has public spaces I feel safe to use’ and at 
least 70% agreeing by 2036 that they ‘Feel safe 
in the city’ between 8pm and 1am.  

 
4.3 Develop a measure for footpath service levels 

such as increase in footpaths with width 
(walking/wheeling space) meeting target level of 
service.  

4.4 Decrease in average peak hour wait times for 
people walking/wheeling, scootering and cycling 
at signalised pedestrian crossings to 40 seconds 
by 2030 and 30 seconds by 2035. 

Adelaide is a growing city with 
a need for greener and cooler 
streets, where more people 
can choose to walk/wheel or 
cycle. In line with the principle 
of social justice, we need to 
create streets that are 
welcoming for all, including 
for children, older adults and 
people with disability. People 
need to feel safe to choose 
active travel. Consistent with 
research, our community has 
told us how safety concerns 
(including lack of protected 
cycle lanes) deter many 
people from cycling. 

As highlighted in South 
Australia’s Road Strategy to 
2031, “In urban areas, safer, 
lower speed environments can 
provide environmental, health 
and access benefits by making 
roads feel safe and choose more 
active transport”. Safer speeds 
are a pillar of the Safe System 
and Austroads Guide to Traffic 
Management 4 (2020) states, 
“Reducing vehicle speeds in 
urban areas where pedestrians 
and cyclists are expected is a 
fundamental prerequisite to 
improving safety and comfort for 
these users” and that speed 
reductions are the most effective 
measure to improve pedestrian 
safety. 

More are people suffering serious injuries on our streets. We need to get this trending down to meet 
road safety targets by taking more effective actions. A reactive approach, looking at black spots, is not 

Page 44



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

enough. We need to be proactive, with safety, through the implementation of the Safe System approach, 
being the priority for our streets. 

30km/h is the internationally accepted “Safe System” speed for urban areas. Many cities have reduced 
the speed limit on their streets. This means safer, greener, quieter and cleaner cities: 
▪ A review of 40 cities with reduced speed limits found it reduces emissions and improves air 

quality2.  
▪ Reduced speeds in urban areas can reduce congestion and delays. In urban areas, there will be no 

to negligible travel time difference and traffic can flow more smoothly3. There are also fewer, and 
less severe crashes – so there are fewer disruptions on the network. 

▪ Reduced speeds are good for local living and businesses. Streets are quieter4, more cycleable 
and walkable5. Reduced speeds also mean we can have greener streets with more trees (with 
reduced requirements for sight distances, the slower the speed). Greener, calmer and more walkable 
streets mean people can enjoy walking and activities like outdoor dining. Footfall and street activities 
are great for business. 

▪ More children can use independent active travel to school and to be active participants in city life. 
Safety along the entire active travel trip (not just a school zone) is key5.  

As reported in the City of Adelaide Traffic Signal Review (2024/25) there are road safety issues created 
by the delays faced by people at crossings. The City of Adelaide Gender & Safety Focus Groups 
Summary Report 2023 and Integrated Transport Strategy Stage 1 Engagement highlights the issue of 
discomfort and potential harassment for women, girls and gender diverse people when waiting at 
crossings (and public transport stops). Other common concerns for women and gender diverse people 
are lack of appropriate lighting and passive surveillance, and comfortable space for movement that 
provides personal space to avoid unwanted interactions. 

 

Increasing trend for serious injuries on CoA streets 

“Nearly half of all casualty crashes within the City of Adelaide involve a pedestrian 
or a cyclist, increasing to almost 60% of fatalities and serious injuries (FSI’s) that 
occur. Given the unacceptably high number of crashes involving vulnerable road 

users in the last five years including 209 cyclists and 192 pedestrians, RAA 
supports a review of motor vehicle use and road infrastructure in City of Adelaide” 

- RAA written submission 

Page 45



 
Page 29 o f  47  

Goal 4.1: Implement the 
Safe System approach 

Goal 4.2: Reduce risks 
and negative impacts 
from motor vehicles 

Goal 4.3: Create gender 
accessible and 
inclusive streets 

Create safer roads and safer 
speeds to reduce the number 
of people being killed and 
seriously injured on our 
streets. 

Facilitate vehicle-based 
access to the city and enable 
more people to use active 
travel and public transport. 

Making our streets welcoming 
and inclusive places for 
people to enjoy. 

 

Key Projects and Services: Key Projects and Services: Key Projects and Services: 

Implement reduced speeds on 
Park Lands roads and West 
Terrace. [lead] 

Implement reduced speeds on 
main streets and streets with a 
single lane of traffic in each 
direction. [lead] 

Ensure that appropriate speeds 
are considered as part of all 
infrastructure street projects. 
[lead] 

Create a program of intersection 
upgrades to support Safe 
System outcomes.  [lead] 

Use Safe System assessments 
on all street upgrade and new 
projects. [lead] 

Trial one-way streets on key 
routes to achieve outcomes 
identified in City Plan 2036 and 
the traffic circulation plan [lead] 

Develop a program to 
implement the traffic circulation 
plan. [lead] 

Audit footpath widths (clear 
walking/wheeling space) to 
identify performance gaps and 
prioritise footpath upgrades. 
[lead] 

Implement the 
recommendations of the Traffic 
Signal Review, including auto-
green and reduced signal phase 
lengths, to reduce delays for 
people walking/wheeling at 
intersections. [lead] 

Support programs such as Ride 
Her Way (Bicycle SA, 2025) and 
develop behaviour change 
programs to support more 
women and families to learn to 
cycle or get back into cycling. 
[partner/lead] 

  

Page 46



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

  

Page 47



 
Page 31 o f  47  

Our Street Network 
 

The City Plan 2036 is the City of Adelaide’s spatial plan for sustainable growth 
and development of our city. It supports the Council’s aspiration to almost double 
the resident population to 50,000 by 2036 and increase the number of people 
employed in the city from 130,000 in 2021 to over 150,000 by 2036. Both City 
Plan 2036 and this Integrated Transport Strategy align with high level objectives 
such as climate action, sustainable development and urban growth management 
with liveability. 

This Street Network section includes principle-based network maps for the 
different transport modes and places within our city, which reflect the 
development set out in City Plan 2036. These network maps will help the City of 
Adelaide undertake integrated transport planning, urban planning and urban 
design 

Using the network maps, we can assess existing levels of service and how well 
they meet the needs of the community and the street and network outcomes in 
terms of strategic alignment. By identifying operating gaps between the current 
state and where we want our streets and transport networks to be, we can 
identify and prioritise improvements. 

 

The following pages present aspirational future state 
maps for these key areas: 
 
▪ Public Transport  
▪ Walking and Wheeling  
▪ Cycling  
▪ General Traffic 
▪ Traffic Circulation Plan 
▪ Place Classification  
▪ Healthy Corridors 

 
These maps have been included in this Draft Strategy for 
consultation purposes only. They reflect the work 
undertaken by the City of Adelaide consultants AECOM, 
who have supported the development of this Strategy. 
AECOM have developed a support document that contains 
the research and data underpinning these maps and this 
separate document is available to download during 
consultation on the Our Adelaide engagement website. 

 

  

Page 48



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Network Maps  
Public Transport - future state  
Public transport provides for sustainable, efficient, mass movement of people, including children and 
other people who cannot or chose not to drive. The public transport map shows different public transport 
classifications, with the classifications reflecting different level of service and priority provided for public 
transport along the street. The classifications also reflect the needs of people making these journeys, 
including elements such as footpath width, and proximity and safety of crossings near a stop. The 
walking/wheeling and cycling network mapping has also been prepared with public transport integration 
in mind.  

The public transport network map has been developed with alignment to the State Transport Strategy 
and the vision for the future of services. Improved connectivity of public transport to and within the CBD 
is a key opportunity, to be realised through:  
• An underground rail connection  
• The growth of high capacity on-road public transport to connect with neighbouring suburbs.  

 
  

Page 49



 
Page 33 o f  47  

Walking / Wheeling - future state 
Principles based mapping has been used to develop a walking / wheeling network. Classifications are 
based on the adjacent place value, proximity to public transport, retail, educational facilities and 
community uses (social infrastructure). Different walking / wheeling classifications have different 
walking/wheeling space requirements (effective footpath widths: footpath width excluding obstructions 
and buffers). 

 

  

Page 50



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Cycling (Micromobility) - future state 
To achieve mode shift, we must enable more people to cycle, feeling safe and having route options, door 
to door. Network cohesion is a key requirement for cycling, as discussed in Austroads (2025) and 
international best practice (CROW, 2016), with a dense grid of cycle routes at about 250m spacing. A 
grid of protected cycleways forms the core of a well-planned city with high levels of inclusive cycling.  

Different route classifications, forming the dense grid, must have appropriate typologies for ‘all ages and 
abilities’ cycling. It is also important to plan with key destinations such as social infrastructure (such as 
schools and libraries) and shopping destinations in mind.   

   

Page 51



 
Page 35 o f  47  

General Traffic - future state 
Informed by the assessment of priority vehicle routes within the City of Adelaide and through traffic 
travel, the general traffic network map has been developed to identify preferred access by general traffic. 

The future general traffic network focuses on providing for localised access to the CBD and North 
Adelaide and key off-street parking locations. Actions to support this include the use of modal filters, 
traffic calming design and speed limit reduction. Instead, roads such as Princes Highway, Greenhill Road 
and South Road serve the function to cross Greater Adelaide without travelling through the Adelaide 
CBD / North Adelaide. Access by freight vehicles supporting city servicing and economic functions will 
be maintained.  

To meet the goals of this Strategy and the City of Adelaide and ensure the liveability of our city, street 
space will need to be optimised. This means that some of this space will be reallocated to people 
walking / wheeling, cycling and using public transport. 

 

 

 

Page 52



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Traffic Circulation Plan - future state 
Traffic circulation plans are a strategy used for cities to manage vehicle traffic and associated congestion 
and negative impacts of vehicles. Plans seek especially to limit the negative impacts of through traffic. 
Better management of motor vehicles travelling through the city centre can create more space for people 
walking/wheeling and cycling, public transport and places for people and greening. A good circulation 
plan maintains access to properties and helps to reduce congestion impacts on essential deliveries and 
servicing.  

 

Page 53



 
Page 37 o f  47  

 
 

Page 54



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Healthy Corridors - future state 
The Healthy Corridor network map incorporates City Plan 2036 principles and priorities. City Plan 2036 
has a vision to create a sustainable, liveable, and connected city, and in doing so has identified actions 
for implementation, which align with Healthy Streets principles. The Healthy Streets map has 
incorporated the relevant City Plan 2036 maps that achieve key Healthy Streets principles and combined 
the priority links to define high priority healthy corridors. 

 

 

  

Page 55



 
Page 39 o f  47  

Place Classifications  
City Plan 2036 City Wide Strategies and Local Area Zones mapping has been used to inform the Places 
network map. City Plan 2036 responds to the future residential and employment population growth within 
the LGA and considers the role that Place plays within this including locations such as “strategic sites 
and places” and “place anchors” at both a city-wide and a neighbourhood scale. 

 

 
  

Page 56



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Case Studies 
Three street case studies have been developed for three typical street types within the City of Adelaide 
to illustrate the scale of change needed to improve Healthy Street Outcomes and minimum service levels 
to achieve our vision, “Our streets: full of life”. 

 

Local Activity Retail Streets 

Retail streets provide a direct connection to 
diverse street uses such as modern retail 
and hospitality. These connections make 
them dynamic in nature with various types of 
social and commercial exchange, but they 
can also be intimate in scale, varied, busy 
and active. Retail streets provide a low-
speed environment to support greater place 
function through lower emissions and noise 
pollution and a reduced kerbside traffic 
buffer zone. 

Traffic calming interventions, street greening 
and furniture make them attractive and 
inclusive places for people and economically 
successful. A variety of transport modes are 
accommodated including separated cycle 
lanes; however, pedestrian movement and 
comfort is a priority. Safe, convenient and 
easy crossing points bring the two sides of 
the street together catering for the variety of 
functions / land uses which retail streets 
support. 

Flexi zones cater for kerbside uses including 
loading zones and cycle parking. 

 

 

  

Page 57



 
Page 41 o f  47  

 

 

 

 

City Streets 

Streets from the primary typology within the 
City of Adelaide, making up most of the 
movement network. A variety of transport 
modes are accommodated along streets. 
There is a high to moderate movement 
function for pedestrians and cyclists, 
however the movement function for vehicles 
is lower through strategies such as reduced 
speeds and traffic calming interventions. 
They cater for localised traffic circulation but 
do not serve a through traffic function. 
City street design strategies support a 
variety of place functions and cater to the 
adjacent land uses which can vary from 
commercial, retail to residential. Limited 
parking is provided to allow for localised 
access; however the majority of the flexi-use 
kerbside is dedicated to people (pedestrians 
/ cyclists), including dedicated pedestrian 
infrastructure and cycle parking, and street 
greening. City streets should create a 
welcoming space for people to interact and 
participate in the street experience. 

 

 

 

 
  
  

Page 58



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

 
 
 
 

Boulevards 

Boulevards are key gateways to the City of 
Adelaide. They are corridors that cater for 
both high functions of movement and place; 
balancing the needs of various users within 
and functions that support our city. Transit 
boulevards within our city include greater 
space for movement of people by all modes. 
Street space for public transport is optimised 
with priority measures included. They cater 
for localised traffic circulation but do not 
serve a through traffic function.  
Transit boulevards provide convenient 
connections between cultural and 
educational institutions, shopping 
destinations and businesses. Street greening 
and footpath activity are encouraged to 
increase the place function and associated 
environmental, health and economic 
outcomes. Kerbside use is flexible and 
varies across the street, with it being 
allocated for city functions such as bus stops 
and aligned to local land use priorities. 

 

 

 

 
  
 

  

Page 59



 
Page 43 o f  47  

Our Implementation and Delivery 
Council’s role 
The State Government’s transport strategy covers all State Government transport related issues, such 
as public transport and arterial roads. The City of Adelaide is responsible for all the streets within the 
metropolitan Adelaide inner ring road, which is a State owned (arterial) road. This Strategy focuses on 
issues that the City of Adelaide has care and control over and outline those it might influence or 
advocate for, such as improved public transport. 

While this City of Adelaide strategy focuses on our street and path networks, as a Capital City, it is vital 
that we work with the State Government, via the Department for Infrastructure and Transport, to 
determine how we efficiently, safely and sustainably help people move between the city and suburbs of 
Adelaide. Liveability within City of Adelaide is important, and the Department for Infrastructure and 
Transport and City of Adelaide collaborate on improving active travel and public transport to/from and 
within the City of Adelaide.  

Within this Strategy roles for City of Adelaide are defined as: 

Lead: Council is the primary owner and will develop clear policies, plans, projects and services to deliver 
for our community 

Partner: Council will work with others to deliver services, programs or project outcomes 

Advocate: Council will represent the interest of our community to influence issues / opportunities that 
impact our City 

Partnerships 
To ensure that we can deliver on this Strategy, we need to be outward looking and work collaboratively 
with Federal, State and Local Governments to demonstrate excellence, innovation and exceptional 
service provision. We will continue to advocate, build strong partnerships and leverage our relationships, 
to seek co-investment, grants and contributions for the benefit of the city and our community. 

Key partnerships include those with the Federal, State and Local Government sectors and strategic non-
government (private sector, community groups and not-for-profit) organisations. 

Our partnerships include: 

Capital City Committee: The Capital City Committee is the main forum for the City of Adelaide and the 
State Government of South Australia to progress the strategic development of our city. 

Council of Capital City Lord Mayors (CCCLM): The Lord Mayor works with other leaders on the 
CCCLM to represent the special roles and interests of each Australian Capital City in relation with other 
spheres of government. 

Local Government Collaboration: These collaborations typically support the delivery of sector-wide 
policies and best practice, improved community services, greater Council efficiency and sharing of 
resources. 

Strategic Partnerships: While government partnerships provide a means for Council to jointly work on 
and fund major projects and address regional issues, strategic partnerships provide a greater opportunity 
for Council to work with the private sector, community and not-for-profit organisations 

  

Page 60



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

 

Strategic Alignment  
This Integrated Transport Strategy is one of a series of principal policy and spatial documents that 
collectively advance the City of Adelaide’s long-term vision to be bold, aspirational and innovative.  
Transport has a key role in achieving the commitments made in each of these documents. 

▪ Strategic Plan 2024 – 2028 - our roadmap for the future outlining what we want to achieve, the 
steps we need to take, and the direction we are heading 

▪ City Plan Adelaide 2036 - an urban design framework to guide planning for growth to achieve our 
target for a population of 50,000 residents by 2036.  Embeds improved transport systems and mode 
shift as a key enabler of population growth. 

▪ Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 - our vision for a resilient, protected and sustainable city where 
people can live, work, study and play and adapt to changes in the climate that bring social and 
economic opportunity and disruption. Highlights the importance of healthy streets and urban 
greening initiatives. 

▪ Economic Development Strategy 2024 - 2028 - sets out how we will achieve our vision of a thriving 
economy for all.  Considers the positive economic impacts of increased footfall and improved 
accessibility and amenity for people moving through the city. 

▪ Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy: Towards 2036 – a plan for the protection and 
enhancement of the Park Lands as a globally recognised park system which surrounds and 
permeates the city, and which are central to its identity.  Emphasises ease of access and enhancing 
connection points for residents and visitors. 

▪ Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2024 – 2028 – a plan to ensure the City of Adelaide is a city 
for everyone. Focusses on increasing transport choice and equity of access.  

 

The City of Adelaide also works alongside the State Government where the City of Adelaide has a role to 
play in progressing objectives of regional or state significance.  Our Integrated Transport Strategy aligns 
with key strategies for Greater Adelaide and South Australia. 

▪ State Planning Policy 11 – sets out the State’s strategic land use directions relating to transport 
infrastructure and promotes the use of a wider variety of transport modes 

▪ Greater Adelaide Regional Plan – 30-year plan identifying the land use changes and infrastructure 
needed to support forecasts for the region’s future population, economy and environment.  Supports 
planned population growth within the city to promote a ‘living locally’ concept where daily needs can 
be met within an accessible walking or cycling distance. 

▪ South Australia’s Transport Strategy – 30-year plan for a transport system that transforms South 
Australia by enabling prosperity, sustainability and connectivity.  Outlines a strategic intent to reduce 
city congestion, invest in major city rail network improvements, and support mode shift for city visits. 

▪ State Infrastructure Strategy 2025 - actions that support a South Australia that is prosperous, 
liveable, sustainable and a good place to do business.  Highlights the need to increase the capacity 
of Adelaide Railway Station to support increased public transport travel to the city, which would 
reduce car dependence and city land consumption for car parking. 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



 
Page 45 o f  47  

Planning approach 
Under the Local Government Act (SA) 1999, the City of Adelaide is legislatively required to establish a 
suite of Strategic Management Plans, which guide Council’s future planning, asset management and 
financial sustainability. 

The Strategic Plan is supported by a suite of long and short-term strategies and action plans including 
the Integrated Transport Strategy as well as a Resource Plan. The Resource Plan will provide a four-
year view of the projects, resources, and budgets required to deliver our Strategic Plan objectives. It 
informs the Long-Term Financial Plan and acts as the key link between the Strategic Plan and Annual 
Business Plan & Budget, providing transparency between our vision and the key projects we deliver.  

Integrated delivery planning ensures that prudent and efficient decisions are made, with line-of-sight 
between Council’s Strategic Plan objectives and the projects and services City of Adelaide deliver.   

The Integrated Transport Strategy and supporting Integrated Transport Network Report includes an 
implementation plan to assist identifying financial forecasts associated recommended longer-term action 
and projects for the Long Term Financial Plan, and the resourcing of shorter-term projects and actions 
through the annual Business Plan and Budget process.  These processes will ensure the actions and 
projects are aligned with City of Adelaide’s suite of long and short-term strategies and action plans. 

 

  

Page 62



 
C i ty  Of  Ade la ide  DRAFT In tegra ted  Transpor t  S t ra tegy  

Footnotes and References 
1 Badawi, Y, Maclean, F, and Mason, B, (2018). The economic case for investment in walking, Victoria Walks, 
Melbourne https://www.victoriawalks.org.au/Economics-of-Walking/ 

Eckermann S, Crisp M and Willan AR (2020) Active Lives South Australia Health Economic Analysis – an evidence 
base for potential of health promotion strategies to reduced public health costs with meeting of adult physical 
activity guidelines. A report prepared for SA Office of Recreation, Sport and Racing and SA Health. Centre for 
Health Service Development, Australian Health Services Research Institute, University of Wollongong. 

Tolley, R. (2011). Good for Busine$$ discussion paper. National Heart Foundation of Australia 

Transport for London. Walking and cycling: the economic benefits https://content.tfl.gov.uk/walking-cycling-
economic-benefits-summary-pack.pdf 

Walking and cycling: latest evidence to support policy-making and practice. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for 
Europe; 2022. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/354589 
2 Review of City-Wide 30 km/h Speed Limit Benefits in Europe https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/16/11/4382 From 
40 cities reviewed, numerous environmental benefits were found with 30km/h, including reduction in noise pollution 
levels by 2.5dB, plus emissions decreasing on average by 18% and fuel consumption by 7%, indicating enhanced 
fuel efficiency and reduced environmental impact. 
3 “For arterial roads within urban environments, reduced speed limits would have no appreciable effect during times 
of congestion.” “Speed limit reductions remain one of the single most cost-effective countermeasures available to 
practitioners for reducing death and serious injury on the road system.” Austroads (2021) Guide to Road Safety 
Part 3: Safe Speeds, reporting on Austroads (2010)  Impact of lower speed limits for road safety on network 
operations, AP-T143-10, Austroads, Sydney, NSW.  
4 A review of speed limits in Europe found that noise pollution decreased by 18% on average with 30km/h (Yannis, 
G. & Michelaraki, E. (2024) Review of City-Wide 30 km/h Speed Limit Benefits in Europe. Sustainability 16(11), 
4382; https://doi.org/10.3390/su16114382). Road traffic noise impacts child development, adult concentration, 
cardiovascular health, sleep quality, mental health, community cohesions, indoor air quality and general annoyance 
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0146280623003559. A study in Zurich 
(https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107651) study found resident annoyance and sleep disturbances were lower 
at 30 km/h than at 50 km/h.  
5 Safe speeds promote safe walking and cycling: https://www.victoriawalks.org.au/Assets/Files/Safe%20Speed% 
20Report%20Dec%20202008.pdf and are key to enabling more active travel to school: 
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/513508/Walking_riding_or_driving_to_school-
_what_influences_parents_decision_making-Literature_Review_.pdf "it is likely that more extensive reduced speed 
areas (ideally ≤ 30km/h in all residential areas) are required to increase safety, perceived safety and walking and 
cycling for transport within neighbourhoods. This is likely to be particularly important for increasing children’s 
cycling trips to schools for intermediate trip distances..."  Lessons on how to get people cycling from the 
Netherlands, Germany, and Denmark: Achieving high levels of cycling is associated with the provision of separate 
cycling facilities along heavily trafficked roads and at intersections, combined with slow traffic of most residential 
neighbourhoods. http://www.cycle-helmets.com/irresistible.pdf  

Bicycle SA. (2025). More opportunities in Adelaide for women and girls to cycle. Retrieved from Bike SA: 
https://bikesa.asn.au/advocacy-and-media/f/more-opportunities-in-adelaide-for-women-and-girls-to-
cycle#:~:text=Bike%20SA%20will%20use%20the,scheme%20and%20the%20development%20of 

City of Adelaide. (2023). City Facts and Figures. Retrieved from City of Adelaide: 
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/docs/Attachment-A-State-of-the-City-Report-2023.pdf 

City of Adelaide. (2024). Integrated Climate Strategy to 2030.  

Committee for Adelaide. (2023). 2023 Benchmarking Adelaide Report. Retrieved from Committee for Adelaide: 
https://committeeforadelaide.org.au/publications/2023-benchmarking-adelaide-report/ 

Commonwealth of Australia. (2023, July). T5 Distributional and equity effects of transport initiatives. Retrieved from 
Australian Transport Assessment and Planning Guidelines: 
https://www.atap.gov.au/sites/default/files/t5_distributional_equity_effects.pdf 

Healthy Streets. (2025). Healthy Streets Design Check. Retrieved from Healthy Streets: 
https://www.healthystreets.com/resources#design-check 

Page 63

https://www.victoriawalks.org.au/Economics-of-Walking/
https://content.tfl.gov.uk/walking-cycling-economic-benefits-summary-pack.pdf
https://content.tfl.gov.uk/walking-cycling-economic-benefits-summary-pack.pdf
https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/354589
https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/16/11/4382
https://doi.org/10.3390/su16114382
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0146280623003559
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107651
https://www.victoriawalks.org.au/Assets/Files/Safe%20Speed%25%2020Report%20Dec%20202008.pdf
https://www.victoriawalks.org.au/Assets/Files/Safe%20Speed%25%2020Report%20Dec%20202008.pdf
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/513508/Walking_riding_or_driving_to_school-_what_influences_parents_decision_making-Literature_Review_.pdf
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/513508/Walking_riding_or_driving_to_school-_what_influences_parents_decision_making-Literature_Review_.pdf
http://www.cycle-helmets.com/irresistible.pdf


 
Page 47 o f  47  

Infrastructure SA. (2025). 2025 Strategy. Retrieved from Infrastructure SA: 
https://www.infrastructure.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/1139735/ISA-20-Year-State-Infrastructure-
Strategy-2025-Web.pdf 

Pearson, L. R. (2023, April). . What a girl wants: A mixed-methods study of gender . Retrieved from Transportation 
Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2023.03.010 

Phillip Boyle & Associates. (2018, May). Transport Strategy Discussion Paper - Bicycles for Everyday Travel. 
Retrieved from City of Melbourne: https://participate.melbourne.vic.gov.au/download_file/4287/1349 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Adelaide 
DRAFT Integrated Transport Strategy 
For consultation purposes only. 

Consultation is open from the 
28 April 2025 to the 18 May 2025 

Visit www.ouradelaide.sa.gov.au  

Page 64



   

 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

 

 

Draft Integrated Transport 
Network Report 

 

04-Apr-2025 

City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Prepared for 

City of Adelaide 

ABN: 20 903 762 572 

 

DRAFT 

 

Page 65

Attachment B



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

AECOM

  

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

 

 

Client: City of Adelaide 

ABN: 20 903 762 572 

 

Prepared by 

AECOM Australia Pty Ltd 

Wurundjeri and Bunurong Country, Tower 2, Level 10, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC 3008, Australia 

T +61 1800 868 654  www.aecom.com 

ABN 20 093 846 925 

 

 

04-Apr-2025 

 

 

 

AECOM in Australia and New Zealand is certified to ISO9001, ISO14001 and ISO45001. 

 

© AECOM Australia Pty Ltd (AECOM). All rights reserved. 

AECOM has prepared this document for the sole use of the Client and for a specific purpose, each as expressly stated in the document. No other 

party should rely on this document without the prior written consent of AECOM. AECOM undertakes no duty, nor accepts any responsibility, to any 

third party who may rely upon or use this document. This document has been prepared based on the Client’s description of its requirements and 

AECOM’s experience, having regard to assumptions that AECOM can reasonably be expected to make in accordance with sound professional 

principles. AECOM may also have relied upon information provided by the Client and other third parties to prepare this document, some of which 

may not have been verified. Subject to the above conditions, this document may be transmitted, reproduced or disseminated only in its entirety. 

 

Page 66



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

AECOM

  

Quality Information 

Document Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

Date 04-Apr-2025 

Originator Damon Rao, Britt Simmons, Harry Fleming, Jerryn Zwart, Akira Ode-Smith, Josh 
Brydges, Fraser Brown 

Checker/s James Warfe 

Revision History 

Rev Revision Date Details 

Approved 

Name/Position Signature 

1 17-Jan-2025 Sections 5 and 6 James Warfe, Associate 
Director - Transport 
Planning & Advisory  

 

2 07-Feb-2025 Sections 1-3 and 6 James Warfe, Associate 
Director - Transport 
Planning & Advisory 

 

3 18-Feb-2025 Sections 7 to 10 James Warfe, Associate 
Director - Transport 
Planning & Advisory 

 

4 21-Mar-2025 Draft ITNR James Warfe, Associate 
Director - Transport 
Planning & Advisory 

 

5 28-Mar-2025 Draft ITNR v2 James Warfe, Associate 
Director - Transport 
Planning & Advisory  

 

6 04-Apr-2025 Draft ITNR v3 James Warfe, Associate 
Director - Transport 
Planning & Advisory  

 

 

Acknowledgement of Country  

AECOM acknowledges that the City of Adelaide is located on the traditional Country of the Kaurna 
people of the Adelaide Plains and pay respects to Elders past, present and emerging.  

We recognise and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationship with the land. We also extend 
that respect to visitors of other Aboriginal Language Groups and other First Nations. 

Page 67



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

AECOM

  

Table of Contents 

1.0 Introduction 2 
1.1 Purpose of this Document 2 
1.2 Why are we developing a new Integrated Transport Strategy? 2 

Evaluation of Smart Move 2012-2022 3 
1.3 Strategic Context 3 
1.4 Guiding Principles 4 

Social Justice 4 
Efficient Asset Use & Maintenance 4 
Adaptability & Resilience 4 
Partnerships & Advocacy 4 
Governance & Accountability 4 

1.5 Strategy Themes 5 
Movement & Access 5 
Experience & Place 5 
Health & Sustainability 5 
Safety & Comfort 5 

1.6 Strategic Alignment  6 
City of Adelaide 6 
Strategic Plan 2024-2028, City of Adelaide 7 
Long-Term Financial Plan, City of Adelaide 7 
Asset Management Plans, City of Adelaide 7 
City Plan 2036, City of Adelaide 7 
Integrated Climate Strategy 2030, City of Adelaide 7 
Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy - Towards 2036, Kadaltilla, Adelaide 

Park Lands Authority 8 
Disability Access & Inclusion Plan, City of Adelaide 9 
State Government 9 
Transport Strategy, Department for Infrastructure & Transport 9 
Greater Adelaide Regional Plan, Department for Housing & Urban Development 10 
South Australian 20-Year State Infrastructure Strategy, Infrastructure SA 11 
South Australia’s Road Safety Action Plan 2025–2027, Government of South 

Australia 12 
Draft Cycling Strategy for South Australia 2022-2032, Department for 

Infrastructure & Transport and Office for Recreation, Sport and Racing 12 
Federal Government 13 
Other Agencies and Authorities 13 
South Australian Walking Strategy 2022-2032, Wellbeing SA and Heart 

Foundation 13 
2.0 Stakeholder Engagement and Integration 14 

2.1 Engagement Approach 14 
2.2 Phase 1 Engagement 16 

3.0 Vision & Objectives 20 
4.0 City of Adelaide Context  22 

4.1 Current Conditions 22 
4.2 Key Transport Challenges and Opportunities 47 
4.3 Gender Impact Assessment and Social Impact Considerations 54 

4.3.1 What does the research and evidence tell us? 55 
4.4 Investment Logic Mapping 64 

5.0 Discussion: City Operations & Transport Modes 65 
5.1 Land Use 65 
5.2 City Operations 66 
5.2.1 Street Space and Kerbside Management 66 
5.2.2 Urban Freight, City Servicing, and Waste Transport and Deliveries 71 

Community Feedback Highlights 72 
5.2.3 Events, Works, and Transport Disruptions 73 

Community Feedback Highlights 73 
5.3 Transport Modes 76 
5.3.1 Transport Choice 76 

Page 68



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

AECOM

  

 

 

 

D R A F T 

5.3.2 Walking & Wheeling 76 
5.3.3 Cycling & Cycle Parking 80 
5.3.4 Public Transport 83 
5.3.5 Motor Vehicles & Parking 86 
5.3.6 Shared Micromobility 95 

6.0 Integrated Transport Framework 98 
6.1 Movement and Place Framework 98 
6.2 Safe System Approach 99 
6.3 Healthy Streets 100 
6.4 City of Adelaide Framework 101 

7.0 Network Integration and Mapping 103 
7.1 Mapping Principles 103 
7.2 Future Transport Network Maps 112 
7.3 Cycling 113 
7.4 Walking & Wheeling 117 
7.5 Public Transport 121 
7.6 General Traffic 125 
7.7 Place 133 
7.8 Healthy Corridors 137 

8.0 Implementation Plan 139 
8.1 Governance Structures 139 
8.2 Funding Strategies and Delivery Timelines 140 
8.3 Policy Directions 141 
8.4 Delivery Approaches 141 
8.5 Delivery Mechanisms 142 
8.6 Project Assessment Tools 144 
8.7 Performance Measures and Targets 147 
8.8 Recommended Actions  150 
8.9 Prioritising Actions 162 

9.0 Monitoring, Evaluation, Reporting and Review 172 
9.1 Monitoring and Evaluation 172 
9.2 Reporting 173 
9.3 Review and Update Mechanism 173 

10.0 Street Type Case Studies 174 
Local Activity Retail Streets 176 
City Streets 177 
Transit Boulevards 178 

 Appendix A 
Stage 1 Engagement Report A 

 Appendix B 
Discussion Papers B 

  

Page 69



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

2 AECOM

  

1.0 Introduction  

1.1 Purpose of this Document  

This Integrated Transport Network Report synthesises the Discussion Papers which were the basis for 
the first stage of public engagement for the Integrated Transport Strategy (Strategy). It sets out the 
methodology used to develop the Strategy, including the analyses and framework used to identify and 
prioritise projects and services. 

The new Integrated Transport Strategy (the Strategy) for the City of Adelaide (the City) serves as a 
comprehensive framework to guide the planning, implementation, and ongoing evaluation of transport 
and movement initiatives within the city. Designed to replace the previous Smart Move Transport and 
Movement Strategy, this document aims to provide a clear and evidence-based policy direction for 
transforming how people move around and interact with the urban environment.  

The Strategy is informed by extensive community and stakeholder engagement, as well as key strategic 
City policies such as City Plan 2036. It outlines the vision, goals, and actions required to deliver a bold, 
innovative and aspirational future transport network that ensures sustainable, equitable, and efficient 
movement of people and prioritisation of place.  

The objectives of this Strategy are to: 

• Provide a unified, long-term vision for transport planning and development within the City of 
Adelaide. 

• Address critical challenges in accessibility, equity, and sustainability across various modes of 
transport. 

• Promote a shift towards healthier, more active transport modes while reducing reliance on private 
vehicles. 

• Ensure that the transport infrastructure supports increasing population growth and development 
within the city. 

• Foster stronger connections between transport, place-making, and community wellbeing. 

• Establish clear priorities and actions for transforming Adelaide’s transport network, with measurable 
targets and evaluation frameworks. 

• Guide Council and stakeholders in making informed decisions about transport investments, 
improvements, and policy adjustments. 

• Ensure alignment with broader state and national climate action and sustainability goals. 

This Strategy provides the foundation for creating a more sustainable, inclusive, and accessible 
transport network for Adelaide, supporting the city’s growth while reducing carbon emissions and 
improving public health outcomes. 

1.2 Why are we developing a new Integrated Transport Strategy? 

The development of a new Strategy reflects the City of Adelaide’s commitment to adapting to a rapidly 
changing urban landscape while building on the solid foundation established in previous planning 
efforts.  

The previous City of Adelaide Transport & Movement Strategy, Smart Move 2012-2022, played a 
valuable role in setting the stage for future progress, and its contributions are recognized as we evolve 
our approach. The timeframe for Smart Move 2012-2022 was through to the end of 2022. The Smart 
Move Strategy Interim Action Plan 2016-2018 identified the opportunity for a new Transport & 
Movement Strategy in 2018/2019. Based on these timeframes, it is time to review our vision for the 
future of transport in line with new influences in our city such as forecast population growth, interfacing 
strategies and what we have heard from our community as part of the new Integrated Transport 
Strategy.  

  

Page 70



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

3 AECOM

  

Approach to developing the Strategy 

The Integrated Transport Network Report (this document) has been prepared by AECOM for the City of 
Adelaide as part of the development process of the Integrated Transport Strategy.  

In developing the Strategy, the City of Adelaide have drawn on strategic insights that help balance 
established practices with the demands of modern transport systems. The approach has been informed 
by comprehensive analysis, community engagement, and transport planning frameworks that provide 
guidance for the future. This balanced methodology ensures that we build on the legacy of earlier 
efforts and position ourselves to meet the City of Adelaide’s future needs. By integrating contemporary 
innovations and forward-thinking planning principles, this new Strategy aims to address emerging 
trends and challenges while enhancing connectivity and sustainability. 

This Strategy is a proactive step towards creating a more resilient and responsive transport system that 
benefits all members of the community. It builds on the strengths of past initiatives like Smart Move 
2012-2022, enabling us to innovate and adapt in the face of evolving economic, technological, and 
environmental conditions. The result is a Strategy and accompanying Implementation Plan designed to 
support long-term growth and improved liveability, ensuring that our transport network remains people 
focused and forward-looking. 

Evaluation of Smart Move 2012-2022 

The purpose of Smart Move 2012-2022 was to outline Council’s desired transport and movement 
outcomes for the City and the strategies to achieve these over the ten year period. To do this, the 
following eight outcomes were identified with supporting targets and strategies:  

1. Easy Walking 

2. Safe Cycling 

3. Quality Public Transport 

4. Green Travel 

5. Efficient Services 

6. Smart Parking 

7. Calm Traffic 

8. Great Streets.

Smart Move 2012-2022 looked to support the vision for the City as ‘Adelaide: One City, Many Places’ 
and achieve second outcome of the City of Adelaide Strategic Plan 2012-2016:  

• A City of well-connected places that’s easy to get to and around  

• Streets are for people with cyclists and pedestrians taking priority  

• A readily available public transport system, that links City destinations and beyond, day and night  

• Low emission and other sustainable travel options prevail.  

In response, the Strategy looked to find the best balance between movement and placemaking needs. 
This was done through the establishment of the future role of all City streets through a series of maps. 
To achieve this future network and state of transport in the City of Adelaide, a series of strategies were 
identified for implementation noting the short, medium and long-term timeframes for delivery.  

Smart Move forecasted a 42% increase in daily trips by 2038, with an additional 100,000 people 
travelling to and around the city daily. Without interventions such as improved walking, cycling, and 
public transport infrastructure, the strategy projected that 35% more road space would be needed to 
accommodate this growth, leading to increased congestion. The strategy aimed to avoid this by 
reallocating road space, prioritising sustainable transport, and improving public spaces. In addition to 
what was forecast in Smart Move 2012-2022, further residential and employment growth is expected 
within the City of Adelaide in the coming years. As such, similar principles apply to this Strategy of 
needing to move more people but in a more efficient way. This highlights the importance of sustainable 
transport modes such as walking/wheeling, cycling and public transport play to the future of our city. 
Without interventions such as those outlined in Smart Move 2012-2022 – particularly road space 
reallocation to walking/wheeling, cycling and public transport – more land would be required for roads 
and vehicles to avoid significant congestion in the future. This is not a feasible nor sustainable option for 
the City of Adelaide. By supporting the tactics of Smart Move 2012-2022 such as road space 
reallocation, there are greater opportunities for placemaking and street greening on our city’s streets. 

The overall vision and intent of Smart Move 2012-2022 focused on creating a highly connected 
pedestrian and cycle network, a high-quality public domain that encourages walking and cycling, and 
extensive public transport availability. While this strategic direction remains relevant as we develop the 

Page 71



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

2 AECOM

  

new strategy, the full intended outcomes were not fully realised. However, key principles such as road 
space reallocation, sustainable transport prioritisation, and improved public spaces continue to provide 
valuable insights for shaping future transport and movement initiatives in the City of Adelaide. 

In 2016 a Smart Move Strategy Interim Action Plan 2016-2018 was prepared to consider new 
influences to transport within Adelaide and new strategic directions. This included the newly elected 
Council, revised interfacing strategies such as the Strategic Plan and 30 Year Plan for Greater Adelaide 
2016 Update, and investment in infrastructure such as rail, tram, bus and bike networks as well as the 
redeveloped Adelaide Oval and new Royal Adelaide Hospital.  

 

Figure 1-1 Smart Move achievements from 2012 to 2016 

Source: Smart Move Strategy Interim Action Plan 2016, City of Adelaide  

The Smart Move Strategy Interim Action Plan 2016 included a list and map of achievements from 2012-
2016 as well as actions to be undertaken from 2016-2018.  

Following the identification of the actions for delivery between 2016 and 2018, a number had been 
completed or commenced (refer to Figure 1-1). 

• Traffic: Improved Central Market Access, implement intersection safety improvements, Traffic 
Signal Optimization Plan (ongoing) and Speed Limit Review (ongoing) 

• Parking: Smart city parking implementation  

• Walking and Great Streets: Galwer Place Streetscape Improvements, Riverbank to Market Link, 
North Terrace West Masterplan  

• Cycling: North-south Bikeway, and participation in ride to work events and programs such as Cycle 
tune-ups and cycle training sessions. 

• Public Transport: Free City Connector Bus, work with DIT on real time bus stops, work with DIT on 
tram extensions 

• Green Travel: Electric Vehicle charging stations and increase Council’s electric vehicle purchasing. 

  

Page 72



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

3 AECOM

  

1.3 Strategic Context  

The City of Adelaide is the capital of South Australia and is located on the traditional lands of the 
Kaurna people, known as Kaurna Yarta. Situated on the Adelaide Plains between the Mount Lofty 
Ranges and the Gulf St Vincent, the city plays a critical role as the economic, cultural, and educational 
centre of South Australia. 

Covering a total land area of 15.6km2, the City of Adelaide sits at the core of the Greater Adelaide 
region that spans 11,000km2 and has a population of 1.5 million people. There is an approximate 
population of 350,000 people within the seven adjoining councils of City of Prospect, Corporation of the 
Town of Walkerville, City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters, City of Burnside, City of Unley, City of 
West Torrens and City of Charles Sturt (within an approximate 7km radius of the City of Adelaide).  

Surrounding the City is the City of Adelaide is characterised by its unique Park Lands, which include 29 
parks and six squares, providing a vital green space for both residents and visitors. These spaces, 
along with the city's compact urban form, contribute to its high liveability ratings. 

The city plays a critical role as the economic, cultural, and educational centre of South Australia, with:  

• 26,120 residents, estimated 315,000 daily city users (residents and visitors), and 157,498 jobs1 

• Events of State significance such as the Adelaide Fringe Festival, Tour Down Under and the 
Adelaide Festival, and locations such as the Adelaide Oval and Festival Theatre 

• Two public hospitals, four universities 

• Four main rail lines, three light rail lines and many bus routes service the city 

• 14,660 private dwellings requiring access and servicing2 

• Ten carparks operated by the City of Adelaide (UPark) with over 6,000 spaces3.  

The City of Adelaide continues to support the wider Greater Adelaide region through vital transport 
connectivity and infrastructure. As the region's Central Business District (CBD), the city drives economic 
activity while also being a key destination for the state's workforce, students, and tourists. 

As the population of Adelaide grows, particularly in the central and surrounding suburbs, the demand 
for better transport systems and more accessible city services is becoming increasingly evident. With a 
projected growth in both population and employment, particularly by 2036 when the population of the 
city itself is expected to increase significantly, there will be greater pressure on the transport network, 
infrastructure, and land use. This growth, while contributing to the vitality of the city, presents a number 
of challenges related to housing, transport, sustainability, and liveability. 

The Draft Greater Adelaide Regional Plan (GARP) acknowledges that careful planning is needed to 
accommodate the growing population and the expansion of urban areas, particularly by increasing the 
efficiency of transport systems and enhancing connectivity between the city and the wider metropolitan 
area. For Adelaide to remain a liveable and sustainable city, both the City Plan and the Greater 
Adelaide Regional Plan stress the need to foster sustainable urban growth, improved transport options, 
and the careful management of urban spaces. 

The City of Adelaide has the capacity and potential to contribute to and support future residential and 
employment growth in the future. Documents such as City Plan guide this growth to a target population 
of 50,000 residents by 2036, forming part of the 300,000 homes needed across metropolitan Adelaide 
by 20514. This growth in populations means more people, and more trips. Therefore, transport within 
the City of Adelaide has a significant role to play in supporting this growth while maintaining liveability.  

The strategic context for the City of Adelaide and State Government, is outlined in Section 1.2 and 
focuses on how to sustainably manage this forecast growth.  

  

 

1  
2 City of Adelaide: Dwelling Type, ProfileID, 2021 
3 City of Adelaide UPark, 2025, Retrieved from https://www.upark.com.au/corporate-parking/  
4 Greater Adelaide Regional Plan Discussion Paper, 2023  

Page 73

https://www.upark.com.au/corporate-parking/


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

4 AECOM

  

1.4 Guiding Principles 

The Strategy has been underpinned by the following five Guiding Principles.  

Social Justice 

Social justice covers issues of rights, participation, access and equity. The City of Adelaide will consider 
how our transport systems and streets can increase accessibility: enable more people to reach places 
(including services, employment, education, leisure) and people as they wish. Increased accessibility 
means increased participation. We need to consider ‘trips not made’ when people face barriers that 
prevent them from moving to/from or within the city. When planning and making project decisions, we 
need to consider the rights and voices of groups such as people with disability, older adults and 
children. Equity includes considering how investment improves access for, and external costs (such as 
crash risk and pollution exposure) on groups such as children, older adults and people in lower 
socioeconomic groups. 

Efficient Asset Use & Maintenance  

Space in the city is valuable and finite. Street space is public space and needs to be used and 
maintained efficiently. The City of Adelaide will consider ‘highest and best use’ of our street space and 
how we move more people, more efficiently, using less space.  

Adaptability & Resilience  

With a changing climate and with planned and unplanned events and disruptions on the transport 
network and streets, it is important that the system can adapt and recover, so the City of Adelaide can 
maintain suitable levels of accessibility.  

Partnerships & Advocacy  

The City of Adelaide will work with state government agencies, businesses, and key stakeholders to 
deliver transport initiatives that require shared responsibility. These actions often rely on external 
funding, cross-agency coordination, or collaboration with industry groups. The City of Adelaide will 
advocate for policies and funding from higher levels of government and industry to align with its 
transport objectives. Advocacy is essential for transport initiatives that fall outside the City of Adelaide’s 
direct control but impact its transport system. 

Governance & Accountability  

The City of Adelaide will make decisions based on the policy directions in a consistent, evidence-based 
way through use of the Healthy Streets and Safe Systems approaches.  The City of Adelaide will be 
accountable and report on the measures of success annually, which will be tied to management key 
performance indicators (KPIs). 

  

Page 74



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

5 AECOM

  

1.5 Strategy Themes  

The new Strategy will support the realisation of the following key themes. 

Movement & Access 

To achieve accessibility, which is the ease with which different people can reach other people and 
places at their chosen time. Have an inclusive and accessible transport network and streets for people 
of all ages and abilities. 

• Reduce congestion and impact of motorised traffic to the city. 

• Prioritise people using active travel and public transport. 

• Improve the quality of cycling conditions (safe, convenient and connected infrastructure with 
resilient route options). 

• Make walking/wheeling comfortable and accessible for all. 

• Support improved public transport service quality. 

• Manage the provision of parking to support ongoing access to businesses and balance this with 
space for other required strategic outcomes. 

• Manage motor vehicle traffic circulation with modal filters and one-way streets while maintaining 
access to off-street parking. 

Experience & Place 

To achieve city growth, with increased liveability, streets need to contribute to experience and place 
outcomes. Better manage transport disruptions and prioritise opportunities to increase active travel and 
public transport and long-term behaviour change. 

• Support social infrastructure elements for greater street activity and community experience. 

• Support safe, creative and joyful spaces for people of all ages. 

• Create resilient networks to minimise active travel impacts during disruptions (such as events and 
works). 

• Promote active travel and public transport use during disruptions and prioritise infrastructure 
improvements during prolonged road closures. 

Health & Sustainability 

To lead as a sustainable, low-emissions city, with healthy streets and people. 

• Make streets heat and climate resilient places. 

• Support improved physical and mental health outcomes through active travel and connection to 
open space. 

Safety & Comfort 

To implement the Safe System approach to reduce the number of people dying and being seriously 
injured on our streets. 

• Create a network where people feel comfortable on the street: safe, healthy and connected streets 
for all users. 

• Make networks gender accessible and inclusive. 

  

Page 75



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

6 AECOM

  

1.6 Strategic Alignment  

The key State Government and City of Adelaide document that direct the future change to both the City 
of Adelaide and the Greater Adelaide region and inform the Transport Strategy are as follows: 

City of Adelaide  

Under the Local Government Act (SA) 1999, the City of Adelaide is legislatively required to establish a 
suite of Strategic Management Plans, which guide Council’s future planning, asset management and 
financial sustainability. An overview of these strategic management plans are shown below in Table 
1-1.  

Table 1-1 Suite of City of Adelaide Strategic Management Plans 

Strategic Plan 
Community 

Long-term with a four-year delivery focus. Planning for the vision and 
aspirations of the Adelaide Capital City.  

Long-Term Financial Plan 
Financial 

Ten-year plan, revised annually to ensure a ten-year view is 
maintained. Planning for the long-term financial sustainability of the 
City of Adelaide.  

Asset Management Plans 
Infrastructure 

Suite of ten-year plans. Planning for the sustainable renewal and 
maintenance of Council assets.  

City Plan  
Development / Built Form 

Ten-year spatial plan. Planning for the future land uses and built form 
of the Adelaide Capital City.  

 

The Strategic Plan is supported by long- and short-term strategies, including the Transport Strategy and 
Resource Plan. The Resource Plan outlines a four-year view of projects, resources, and budgets, 
linking the Strategic Plan to the Annual Business Plan and Budget. Integrated Delivery Planning 
ensures alignment between strategic objectives and the projects and services delivered.  

The Transport Strategy and Integrated Transport Network Report include an Implementation Plan to 
guide financial forecasts for long-term actions and short-term projects. These processes ensure that 
actions and projects align with City of Adelaide’s broader strategies and plans.  

 

Figure 1-2 Integration of the Transport Strategy with the suite of City of Adelaide strategies and action plans 

Page 76



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

7 AECOM

  

 

The suite of long and short-term strategies and action plans includes 

Strategic Plan 2024-2028, City of Adelaide  

The Strategic Plan 2024-2028 sets out Adelaide’s vision, goals, and priorities, including a target of 
50,000 residents by 2036. While focused on long-term community outcomes, it is implemented over 
four years.  

Key transport-related actions include expanding public electric vehicle charging to support emissions 
reduction, partnering with stakeholders to enhance precincts and attract visitors, and ensuring 
community assets are adaptable and well-maintained. 

 

Long-Term Financial Plan, City of Adelaide  

On 25 October 2024, Council adopted the 2024-2025 to 2033-2034 Long Term Financial Plan (LTFP),  
The LTFP is the City of Adelaide’s guiding document which helps balance the budget and plan for the 
city’s future. The LTFP is a key strategic management document, reviewed and updated annually. It 
outlines the financial strategy for the ten-year period from 2024/25 to 2033/34. 

 

Asset Management Plans, City of Adelaide  

Under South Australia’s Local Government Act 1999, the City of Adelaide is required to develop Asset 
Management Plans for a period of at least ten years detailing how the City’s assets are managed into 
the future.  

The City of Adelaide has six Asset Management Plans that were adopted by Council over April, May 
and June of 2024, which include Transportation, Urban Elements, Buildings, Park Lands and Open 
Space, Lighting and Electrical, and Water Infrastructure.  

 

City Plan 2036, City of Adelaide  

City Plan 2036 sets the overarching vision for transport in the City of Adelaide, focusing on creating a 
sustainable, liveable, and connected city. It envisions a shift away from car dependency, prioritising 
active transport modes like walking, cycling, and public transport to reduce congestion, improve air 
quality, and enhance the overall quality of life. The plan aims to double the city’s resident population to 
50,000 by 2036 and increase the workforce to 150,000, which will drive the need for more sustainable 
transport solutions. To accommodate this growth, City Plan outlines the need for expanded pedestrian 
networks, improved cycling infrastructure, and better public transport connectivity to ensure a seamless, 
efficient, and multimodal transport system. 

The Strategy will build on the direction set by City Plan and provides the detailed actions required to 
meet these goals. While City Plan establishes the broader vision of a walkable, cycle friendly, and well-
connected city, this Strategy focuses on how to make this vision a reality. This includes specific 
initiatives such as reducing car use, supporting improved public transport networks and services, and 
enhancing infrastructure to support sustainable transport options. The Strategy will also address 
challenges such as congestion, limited cycling infrastructure, and gaps in public transport coverage, 
aligning with the growth targets and the overarching sustainability goals of City Plan.  

By focusing on integration, innovation, and implementation, the Strategy will ensure that Adelaide’s 
transport network and systems are ready to support the city’s growth and contribute to its ongoing 
transformation into a more sustainable, connected urban centre. 

 

Integrated Climate Strategy 2030, City of Adelaide  

The City of Adelaide has developed an Integrated Climate Strategy to set the vision for a resilient, 
protected and sustainable city where people can live, work, study and play and adapt to changes in the 
climate that bring social and economic opportunity and disruption. The strategy documents the City of 
Adelaide’s ongoing progress towards five key goals: 

Page 77



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

8 AECOM

  

• A climate resilient city 

• A net zero city 

• A city where nature thrives 

• Transition to a decarbonised city 

• A climate leading capital city.  

The strategy brings forward the target for ‘net zero’ from 2050 to 2035, guiding action to achieve this 
target to: Halve climate impact by 2030 and make it nil by 2035. 

The strategy recognises the significant role that transport plays in climate change response, with 45% 
of community carbon emissions being from transport in 2022. A number of opportunities have been 
identified to respond to this, with a strong emphasis on dramatically increasing walking, wheeling and 
cycling uptake by: creating calmer, more pleasant and shady streets, creating a network of protected 
cycle lanes and intersections, and increasing priority at intersections for pedestrian and cyclists. 

The following priority areas align with transport and movement objectives within the City of Adelaide 
and this Strategy:  

• Triple the number of city workers who cycle to work, and double the number of local residents who 
walk to work 

• Public EV charging infrastructure is available for all users, including micro-mobility, catalysing the 
uptake of EVs in Adelaide 

• A cool city with no urban heat island effect. 

An example of the outcomes from addressing these priorities include the shading of shared trails in the 
Park Lands, new charging points for electric vehicles including e-bikes, and an extra 10,000 people 
cycling per day (city workers) and 6,000 people walking per day (local residents).  

Council endorsed the Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 in June 2024.  

 

Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy - Towards 2036, Kadaltilla, Adelaide Park 
Lands Authority 

The Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy (APLMS) outlines a long-term vision for managing and 
protecting Adelaide’s open spaces over the next decade. Jointly owned by the State Government and 
the City of Adelaide, it is managed by Kadaltilla and requires Ministerial approval in early 2025. 
Covering 760 hectares, the Park Lands include 29 parks and six city squares, with 80% managed by 
the City of Adelaide and 20% by the State Government. The area serves as a key location for events, 
recreation, and community sport, while also functioning as a major transport corridor between the 
suburbs and city. However, challenges such as safety, accessibility, and connectivity—particularly for 
vulnerable groups and those travelling after dark—have been highlighted through community feedback. 
The strategy prioritises enhancing walking and cycling links, wayfinding, and public transport integration 
while ensuring the Park Lands remain a welcoming and sustainable space. 

Key elements of the APLMS relevant to transport include: 

• The 18km Adelaide Park Lands Trail and 75km of shared paths for walking and cycling. 

• Community concerns about accessibility, particularly for vulnerable users and travel after dark. 

• A focus on improving active and public transport connections to and through the Park Lands. 

• Enhancements to safety, wayfinding, and universal design to improve connectivity. 

• Specific upgrades, including: 

• Expanded east-west walking and cycling links along Greenhill Road. 

• More regular and safe pedestrian and cycling crossings. 

• Improved path lighting balanced with environmental considerations. 

• Additional bike parking and hire facilities. 

Page 78



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

9 AECOM

  

• Integration of smart technology such as pedestrian counters. 

• Ongoing wayfinding and interpretive signage installations, including expressions of Kaurna culture. 

These improvements align with broader transport and accessibility goals, ensuring the Park Lands 
continue to support movement, recreation, and liveability across the city. 

Table 1-2 Park Lands targets for Connections & Networks 

Indicator Target Baseline 

Clear path hierarchy 
across Adelaide Park 
Lands 

Provide clear path hierarchy for all new 
projects from 2024 

Adopt an Adelaide Park Lands 
path and trail asset hierarchy 

Safe road and path 
crossing points 

Undertake safety upgrades to all road 
crossings by 2036 

Prioritise crossings with the 
highest traffic volumes over 
20,000 vehicles per day 

Active transport Increase number of active transport 
users by improving Adelaide Park Lands 
pathways, lighting and signage 

1,342 movements (2022 Super 
Tuesday counts) 

Car parking Reduce existing car parking on council 
managed land based on precincts usage 
and asset renewals each year. 
Investigate long stay Adelaide Park 
Lands parking and define reduction 
targets to 2036. 

2,346 car parking spaces (2022 
Audit) 

Connectivity with 
surrounding bicycle 
networks 

Ensure connections are maintained and 
where possible improved with all 
surrounding bicycle networks with a 
preference for off-road connections 

River Torrens Linear Path 
Marino Rocks Greenway/ Mike 
Turtur Bikeway Rugby/Porter 
Bikeway Outer Harbor 
Greenway 

 
A series of precinct plans have been developed as part of the APLMS for Parks and Squares within the 
Park Lands. The precinct plans denote a variety of movement types, including active transport 
connections, access roads and path type / hierarchy. These precinct plans align with the aspirational 
networks for the City of Adelaide, as captured in Section 6.0. 

The Strategy supports the vision for greater active transport connectivity to/from and within the Park 
Lands. The growth of active transport and the ongoing proactive management of the Park Lands play a 
critical role in role in supporting the City of Adelaide’s climate resilience goals. 

 

Disability Access & Inclusion Plan, City of Adelaide 

The City of Adelaide Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2024-2028 (DAIP) outlines the City's 
commitment to creating an accessible and inclusive environment for people with disabilities. It focuses 
on removing barriers to participation, improving accessibility in public spaces, and enhancing transport 
options to support mobility and independence. The plan aligns with the Integrated Transport Strategy by 
promoting universal design in transport infrastructure, ensuring safe and accessible pedestrian routes, 
and advocating for inclusive public transport services. 

 

State Government  

The State Government also has a suite of long and short-term strategies and action plans which have 
been considered in the development of the Transport Strategy and supporting Integrated Transport 
Network Report. These documents include: 

Transport Strategy, Department for Infrastructure & Transport 

The State Transport Strategy (in development) will outline the 30-year vision for the state’s transport 
network and transform how people and goods move around the state. The state’s transport network 
faces several key challenges and opportunities, both now and in the future. The state strategy will 

Page 79



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

10 AECOM

  

provide a future plan understanding that transport plays a crucial role in creating social, economic and 
environmental benefits for South Australians. It will guide decisions on which projects to prioritise and 
invest in. The strategy will cover all forms of transport, from cycling, driving and walking to public 
transport and freight.  

Five draft key focus areas have been identified for the strategy:  

• Connectivity and accessibility: How do we make it easier for people to get to their jobs, homes, 
schools, important services and leisure activities, and for freight to get from its origin to destination?  

• Safety: How do we build a transport network which protects people’s lives and keeps them safe 
while travelling?  

• Prosperity: How does our transport system improve productivity and help the economy grow?  

• Liveability: How do we make transport more inclusive and encourage healthier travel, to better 
support our wellbeing and quality of life?  

• Sustainability and resilience: How do we build an environmentally-friendly and financially 
sustainable transport network that future-proofs our state?  

Strategic responses were presented to the public through consultation in late-2024. Those which most 
align with this Strategy include:  

• Enabling an integrated multimodal network; Integrating transport with land use planning and growth 
trends 

• Providing a safe transport system working towards zero lives lost 

• Ensuring people are safe and confident when travelling 

• Supporting inclusive travel for all 

• Enabling local living and placemaking 

• Transitioning the transport system towards net zero; Providing a resilient network that is adaptable 
to change.  

The state strategy remains in development in early-2025. Although the City of Adelaide owns and 
manages all of the streets within the LGA, alignment with the State is a key factor for success of the two 
respective strategies. Ongoing engagement with the Department for Infrastructure & Transport 
throughout the development of the Strategy ensured alignment between the City of Adelaide and the 
State Government.  

A state Public Transport Strategy will be developed following the completion of this document.   

 

Greater Adelaide Regional Plan, Department for Housing & Urban Development  

The Greater Adelaide Regional Plan (GARP) (in development) is the State Government’s strategy for 
the region for the next 30 years. It will identify long-term urban land and infrastructure needs to 
sustainably support growth over a 15 to 30 year timeframe, investigating and guiding:  

• Where houses and employment land will go 

• How housing and population will be serviced 

• Which areas need conservation and protection 

• What major infrastructure is needed and how it will be provided. 

A Draft Plan was presented to the community in late-2024.  

A number of key elements relevant to the Strategy interface with the Draft GARP:   

• Walkability and active travel, public transport options and safer streets and spaces were noted as 
key attributes to support local living as part of the outcome of liveable, accessible and inclusive 
communities. Living locally means locating housing, jobs and services closer together so people 
can meet most of their daily needs within a comfortable walk, ride or public transport journey from 
home. It aims to create connected, convenient, cohesive and climate-smart communities by 

Page 80



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

11 AECOM

  

reducing the need for long-distance car travel and increasing physically active travel to reduce 
carbon emissions and transition to a net-zero emissions future. 

o Encourage the design of local transport networks to promote the use of public transport and 
active travel, such as walking and cycling.  

o Facilitate the enhancement of pedestrian and cycling comfort, security and amenity along 
local transport connections though appropriate design. 

o Create walkable neighbourhoods and increase the number of dwellings close to public 
transport nodes.  

• Connecting people with nature and places, increasing Greater Adelaide’s climate resilience and 
increasing tree canopy cover, with a target of 30% tree canopy cover (excluding industrial and 
infrastructure areas) across metropolitan Adelaide by 2051.  

• Opportunities to provide significant infill in the form of mid to high rise apartments and mixed-use 
development, in collaboration with City of Adelaide. 

• Infill development within inner ring suburbs in Adelaide, located in close proximity to the City of 
Adelaide such as Kent Town, Glenside and Thebarton. Areas with efficient public transport options 
encourage households to have lower proportions of car ownership, leading to less demand for 
parking which can add significant cost to a home, particularly in higher density areas. Strategic infill 
sites near established transit corridors seek to maximise the use of public transport, as well as 
walking and cycling. 

The following support for transport was noted in the Engagement Report on the Draft GARP: “We need 
to think more about better options for getting around and reducing our dependence on cars. This 
includes providing quality public transport and encouraging active travel, such as walking and cycling.” 

The GARP has been informed by the City Plan with priorities and strategies being both evidence-based 
and aligned that recognise the role Adelaide plays in the broader metropolitan context and overall 
sustainable growth. 

 

South Australian 20-Year State Infrastructure Strategy, Infrastructure SA 

Infrastructure SA is now preparing the next 20-Year State Infrastructure Strategy, which will be released 
in early-2025. The new strategy will look at state-wide infrastructure needs to 2045, with a focus on 
infrastructure planning and investments that drive a growing economy aligned to the State’s economic 
vision of a smart, sustainable and inclusive economy.  

The development of the new strategy has been informed by a public engagement period between 
October 2023 and November 2023 for comment on a discussion paper. The most frequently raised 
topic across public and community advocacy group submissions was public and active transport:  

• Improved connectivity between active transport and public transport options is needed 

• We need more frequent and prioritised services to growth areas 

• Many respondents would like to see a focus on planning for public transport and active transport as 
an alternative to private car use 

• Respondents also raised a desire to see a completely electrified rail system and an extended rail 
and tram network.   

The discussion paper posed consultation questions focused on key infrastructure types, with two 
sections / engagement lines of enquiry focused specifically on transport:   

• Public and active transport options reduce congestion and emissions. 

• Transitioning transport to net zero requires a concerted effort. 

The previous 20-Year State Infrastructure Strategy was released in May 2020 and set out a statewide, 
long-term strategic direction and initial priorities for infrastructure development in South Australia. 
Transport is one of a number of infrastructure types included in the strategy. The previous strategy 
outlined the need for more travel demand to be shifted to public transport, the opportunity for increasing 
of residential density along key public transport corridors, zero-emission transport, and the role of active 

Page 81



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

12 AECOM

  

transport for connection between residential and employment areas for the CBD and inner suburban 
ring suburbs.  

 

South Australia’s Road Safety Action Plan 2025–2027, Government of South Australia  

The South Australia’s Road Safety Action Plan 2025–2027 identifies actions that will contribute to the 
target of at least a 50% reduction in lives lost and a 30% reduction in serious injuries on South 
Australian roads by 2031. The Plan identifies the path towards realising the vision of zero lives lost and 
zero serious injuries on South Australian roads by 2050. 

The plan is underpinned by both Movement and Place and the Safe System Approach:  

• Movement and Place recognises that a road performs two functions: as a conduit for people and 
goods, and as a destination in its own right. The consideration of both of these functions is captured 
in the Plan.  

• The Safe System Approach adopts a holistic view of the road transport system and the interactions 
between people, vehicles, and the road environment. It recognises that people will always make 
mistakes and may have road crashes – but those crashes should not result in death or serious 
injury. There are four overarching pillars under the Safe System approach that influence road safety 
outcomes. These are safe road infrastructure, safe vehicles, safe speed and safe road user 
behaviour. 

Aligning key actions under this Strategy with South Australia’s broader safety objectives will be support 
meaningful improvements in road safety outcomes. 

 

Draft Cycling Strategy for South Australia 2022-2032, Department for Infrastructure & 
Transport and Office for Recreation, Sport and Racing 

This Cycling Strategy for South Australia 2022-2032 presents the current state of riding in South 
Australia and related trends, the barriers to riding, and the strategic priorities needed to help us 
increase participation in riding.  

The strategy outlines the vision, objectives, initiatives and actions along with six priority projects to 
increase participation, improve physical and mental wellbeing and improve community outcomes 
(environment and economy). Four objectives guide the strategy:  

• Inclusive Cycling: Cycling for everybody, every day 

• Accessible Cycling:  A modern, convenient cycling network 

• Integrated Cycling: Land use, transport and public transport planning working together 

• Enjoyable Cycling: Cycle tourism and recreation opportunities. 

Actions, such as those outlined below, align with the intent of the Strategy to support safer and more 
accessible movement through greater active transport use, including cycling and require interface with 
Local Government: 

• Continue to work with community organisations and Local Government to support the use of local 
streets for cycling, physical activity and movement 

• Identify and prioritise completion of critical infrastructure gaps in the cycle network 

• Deliver priority projects for the inner suburban bicycle boulevards, including: Partner with Councils 
on a prioritised program to improve cycling connections between inner suburbs and the city. 

 

South Australian Planning System  

The planning system for South Australian plays a key role in shaping transport infrastructure, services, 
and urban mobility. Its influence is felt through policies, land-use planning, and development strategies 
which determine how transport systems are planned, delivered and integrate with communities.  

Page 82



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

13 AECOM

  

Zoning of land use through the planning system then determines how land is developed (e.g., 
residential, commercial, industrial), which directly influences transport demand, as well as what that 
development may look like through the application of controls.  

An integrated approach to transport and land use planning is required to cater for the growing and 
changing communities within the state.   

 

Federal Government 

The Federal Government plays a key role in shaping transport policy and investment at the national 
level, which influences the City of Adelaide’s Transport Strategy. Key initiatives such as the National 
Urban Policy, National Road Safety Strategy, and Infrastructure Investment Program provide funding 
and strategic direction for transport projects that support economic growth, sustainability, and safety.  

The Australian Government’s Infrastructure Investment Program supports major transport infrastructure 
projects, including urban public transport upgrades, road safety improvements, and active transport 
networks, all of which align with the City of Adelaide’s objectives. 

 

Other Agencies and Authorities 

South Australian Walking Strategy 2022-2032, Wellbeing SA and Heart Foundation 

The South Australian Walking Strategy 2022-2032 is a 10-year blueprint, accompanied by a separate 
action plan. The delivery of the Strategy through the action plan will fulfil the vision of more South 
Australians walking more often; all ages, all abilities. Understanding the benefits of walking, the strategy 
identifies opportunities for more South Australians making short trips, accessing green open space and 
improving their health and wellbeing through walking.  

Three priorities have been outlined as part of the strategy, with each aligning to the Strategy.  

Plan walkable 
neighbourhoods, 
towns and cities 

Build connected, safe and 
pleasant walking 
environments for all 

Create a South Australian 
walking culture 

• Plan for walkable places  

• Plan for integrated public 
transport and walking  

• Plan for universally 
accessible walking facilities 
for all ages and abilities 

• Create connected and 
pleasant walking networks  

• Balance the needs for all 
travellers on our roads and 
footpaths  

• Reinvigorate our main 
streets and local 
neighbourhoods  

• Enhance our walking tracks 
and trails 

• Educate, market and 
promote walking  

• Realise the economic and 
tourism value of walking in 
South Australia 

 

 

  

Page 83



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

14 AECOM

  

2.0 Stakeholder Engagement and Integration 

This section outlines the approach to engagement during the development of the Integrated Transport 
Strategy for the City of Adelaide and an overview of the outcomes from this process.  

There are a number of supporting documents to this section of the document which provide further 
information including the Engagement Plan and Phase 1 Engagement Summary Report.  

2.1 Engagement Approach 

The City of Adelaide engage regularly with their diverse community. In the 2022/2023 financial year 
alone, the City of Adelaide delivered more than 65 online engagement programs – many supported by 
face-to-face engagement activities. One of these engagement programs was on the City Plan. The City 
Plan was one of the City of Adelaide’s most ambitious engagement programs and showed how well 
planned and executed engagement that is designed to be convenient, interesting, and meet the needs 
of community, can lead to successful outcomes.  

The Engagement Plan developed for the Strategy acknowledged much of the engagement that was 
pioneered or refined through the City Plan process, borrowing key tactics that were effective in sharing 
information and gathering feedback. As well as this, the Plan acknowledged that the recent and 
comprehensive engagement program did include a range of discussions and lines of enquiry relating to 
how people move to, from and within the City of Adelaide. This feedback was carefully analysed by the 
project team to avoid repetition in the engagement process, and that engagement didn’t commence 
from a ‘blank slate’.   

Engagement on the Integrated Transport Strategy has been delivered in two phases:  

Phase 1: Discussion Papers 

Over several years, the City of Adelaide has engaged with the community on values, needs and 
behaviours when it comes to transport. This information was used to develop a series of discussion 
papers focused on city operational and modal themes.  

Phase 1 of this engagement program focused on generating feedback on the eight technical discussion 
papers. Based on key themes of the discussion papers, the purpose of this phase was to verify the 
content of the papers, to seek feedback on the issues and opportunities identified and to understand 
what is of most importance to the community.  

The engagement was open for a period of four weeks, commencing Monday 4 November 2024 and 
concluding on Monday 2 December 2024.  

In preparing for the development of this Strategy, the City of Adelaide also engaged directly with key 
stakeholders to better understand challenges, opportunities and identify priorities. Refer to 
‘Collaborative Planning Stakeholder Workshops’ in Table 2-1 below and Appendix A for further 
information.  

Table 2-1 outlines the engagement activities undertaken as part of the Phase 1 engagement period, 
with the following promotional and engagement tools utilised:  

• OurAdelaide webpage 

• Promotion through Council social media channels (Facebook, Instagram and LinkedIn) 

• EDM to OurAdelaide database and other internal City of Adelaide mailing lists  

• Digital display advertising  

• Communications with schools with a cover letter and the youth survey.  

 

  

Page 84



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

15 AECOM

  

Table 2-1 Engagement activities undertaken  

Details Target Audience 

Community Survey  

An online survey was developed to capture feedback on the issues 
and opportunities identified within the discussion papers. 

Acknowledging that the community were unlikely to have read the 
discussion papers, the survey was designed to obtain meaningful 
input without prerequisite understanding of the 8 discussion papers. 

All audiences who move in 
the City of Adelaide – 
residents, businesses, 
workers, visitors, commuters. 

Youth Survey 

A specific youth survey was developed to capture views of the  

students and younger residents of/visitors to City of Adelaide. 

This was sent schools with a covering letter encouraging schools to 
ask their students to complete the survey. 

Young people aged 5-17 
years. 

Collaborative Planning Stakeholder Workshops 

A series of six stakeholder workshops were held based on different 
user groups and experiences of moving in the City. These comprised: 

• Active Travel 

• Future Mobility 

• Supporting Business 

• City Living 

• Events  

• Inclusive Transport.   

These invite-only sessions curated attendance from representative 
groups and subject matter experts to ensure perspectives were 
gathered from relevant voices. They provided an opportunity to dive 
deeper and work with stakeholders on interdependencies, and 
complexities that the Strategy needs to resolve. 

Key stakeholders mapped 
and identified with the City of 
Adelaide in alignment to the 
discussion paper themes 

Community Drop-in Sessions 

Four open community drop-in sessions were held, with key 
information about strategy and the eight discussion papers presented. 
This provided interactive ways for the community to speak to a project 
team member and provide feedback. The sessions were delivered at 
different times and locations to increase accessibility and participation 
(attendees only need to attend one session) 

All audiences who move in 
the City of Adelaide – 
residents, businesses, 
workers, visitors, commuters 

Panel Session  

A panel session was held with key speakers to share their thoughts 
on the directions of the strategy and key elements of the discussion 
papers to create interest and conversation. This was followed by a 
facilitated Q&A with the audience. 

All audiences who move in 
the City of Adelaide – 
residents, businesses, 
workers, visitors, commuters 

 

Phase 2: Draft Integrated Transport Strategy  

Phase 2 of engagement presented back what was heard from the community and stakeholders in 
Phase 1 and demonstrate how it was captured in the development of the Draft Integrated Transport 
Strategy (this document).  

Additional lines of enquiry were presented to the community in Phase 2 to seek feedback on the content 
of the Draft Integrated Transport Strategy itself.  

Page 85



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

16 AECOM

  

2.2 Phase 1 Engagement  

2.2.1 Who We Heard From  

Figure 2-1 provides a snapshot of the engagement with both the community and key stakeholders as 
part of Phase 1 of the strategy development.  

A total of 429 responses were received on the Integrated Transport Strategy survey, accessible via 
OurAdelaide, with an additional 84 responses to the survey targeted to young people.  

Over 90 people engaged with the project in-person, with 30 people attending the panel discussion and 
93 attending a community drop-in session with the URPS team.  

Refer to the respective Phase 1 Engagement Summary Report included in Appendix A for further 
information on the demographics of the people who participated in the engagement period.  

Figure 2-1 Phase 1 engagement summary 

  

In addition to community engagement, we also reached out directly to key stakeholders during the 
preparation of this Strategy to better understand key challenges, opportunities and identify priority 
actions and partnerships for our city. This was through the process of direct engagement with 
stakeholders, through respective governance channels including the Project Reference Group and 
Project Steering Group as well as a series of six workshops.5 These workshops were focused on 
different user groups and experiences of moving in the city, with 42 stakeholders in attendance: 

• Active transport  

• Future mobility 

• Supporting business 

• City living 

• Events 

• Inclusive transport.  

We also engaged directly with the Department of Infrastructure & Transport to ensure alignment with 
their respective Transport Strategy which was in development alongside this Strategy. The South 
Australian Transport Strategy will outline the 30-year vision for the state's transport network.  

 

What We Heard: Community  

 

5 Attendance at these workshops included representatives from Department for Transport and Infrastructure and SAPTA, RAA, 
Transport Action Network, Bike Adelaide, Unley BUG, SA Active Living Coalition, SA Health, Department of Premier and Cabinet, 
Beam, Hello Ride, and Committee for Adelaide, Green Adelaide, Main Streets SA, Renewal SA, Australian Institute of 
Conveyancers SA, South East City Residents Association, North Adelaide Society Inc., SA Tourism Commission, Adelaide Oval, 
Adelaide Festival Centre, Commissioner for Children and Young People, Hutt Street Centre, Purple Orange, Guide Dogs 
Australia, Office for Women, South Australian Council of Social Service, Council on the Ageing SA, City of Adelaide 
Reconciliation Committee, Care Park, Adelaide Economic Development Agency, and business associations including City South 
Association, Adelaide Central Market, North Adelaide Precinct. 

Page 86



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

17 AECOM

  

Figure 2-2 outlines the number of responses received to the OurAdelaide survey, broken down by 
discussion paper topic. The topics of most interest through the survey were sustainable transport 
modes: public transport, cycling and cycle parking, and walking and wheeling.  

Survey respondents were asked to confirm if the opportunities and challenges identified for each of the 
topics, informed by the discussion papers, aligned with their experience. There was space for additional 
input regarding the opportunities and challenges by topic to be added by respondents.  

Figure 2-2 highlights the top opportunities and challenges noted by the community and the overarching 
key themes observed.  

Figure 2-2 Key findings from the Phase 1 engagement survey  

 

2.2.2 What We Heard: Key Stakeholders  

A series of six stakeholder workshops were held, based on different user groups and experiences of 
moving in the City. These comprised Active Travel, Future Mobility, Supporting Business, City Living, 
Events, and Inclusive Transport. The activities for each workshop focused on Strengths, Opportunities, 
Aspirations, and Results (SOAR) and deep dive mapping. The following questions were posed to the 
workshop attendees:  

• Strengths: What already works well for future mobility in the City of Adelaide? 

• Opportunities: What are the opportunities right now? What could happen now to make future 
mobility more effective in the City of Adelaide? 

• Aspirations: What are your aspirations for future mobility in the City of Adelaide (vision, goals, 
objectives)? 

• Results: What measurable outcomes could we include to track improvements for future mobility in 
the City of Adelaide? What does success look like? 

Page 87



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

18 AECOM

  

The following tables provide a summary of the inputs from stakeholders as part of the SOAR activities. 
Refer to Appendix A for a breakdown of the input received as part of the SOAR and deep dive mapping 
activities within the Phase 1 Engagement Summary Report.  

Table 2-2 Outcomes of the SOAR analysis from stakeholder workshops   

SOAR Analysis 

Active Travel 

Strengths • Existing cycling infrastructure 

• City design, including: wide streets, a grid-based street network, and flat 
topography 

• Amenities such as: existing awnings, verandas and tree canopy 

• Transport infrastructure including: the CBD tram network and pedestrian 
scramble crossings 

• Particular locations including Hutt Street, North Terrace as a key boulevard and 
30km/h section of Hindley outside of the University of South Australia  

Opportunities • Improving amenity for cyclists and pedestrians  

• Additional cycling infrastructure including east-west protected cycleway, 
Southern Park Lands bike trail (Greenhill Road), and contra flow bike 
infrastructure on one-way streets  

• Priority at crossings and intersections 

Aspirations • Reducing vehicle dominance and greater use of public and active transport 

• Integration of active transport with public transport  

Results • Optimised street space and use 

• Improved public and active transport mode share and gender / age breakdown 

Future Mobility 

Strengths • City design: Park Lands, grid network, flat and wise streets, tree canopy 

• Tram network to build from  

Opportunities • Digital mapping to demonstrate options for simple / connected journeys 

• Infrastructure and technology to influence behaviour change  

• More e-scooter options and use in bike lanes  

Aspirations • Street design: green, walkable, safe and multi-use streets  

• Inclusive transport: more choice for people of all ages and abilities 

• Network planning: public transport connectivity and hierarchy of CBD road uses 

Results • Using social, economic and environmental outcome-based metrics 

• Transport impacting on social cohesion with cultural / values shift  

Supporting Business 

Strengths • Centrality and ease of access to businesses from the transport network  

• Benefits to businesses through events in Adelaide  

Opportunities • Managing parking: mix of timed on-street parking, tailoring parking / loading to 
the business type, first and last mile access from carparks 

• Public transport services and pricing: expansion of the free tam zone outside of 
the Park Lands, expansion of the tram network, electrification of buses 

• Property and business: people exploring through main street works, protection 
of business pace such as kerbside dining from vehicles 

• Communication during disruptions  

Aspirations • Providing convenient and easy transport options  

• Kerbside parking, loading and deliveries: adding flexibility to loading zones for 
better utility 

• Increase of the population in the city  

Results • Evaluation of the business impact of main street upgrades. Understand the 
impact of the removal of parking. Look at results at one, two, ten years later.  

City Living 

Page 88



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

19 AECOM

  

SOAR Analysis 

Strengths • Easy to get around: 10-minute city, permeable, intuitive grid layout, walkable 

• Transport assets and services: free tram and City Connector bus, e-scooters, 
car share, laneways, Linear Park 

• Liveability, diversity of dwelling types and needs 

• Road closures / modal filters to support social use of streets 

Opportunities • Less free parking along Park Lands roads, dynamic on-street parking 

• Improved public transport for access to / from CBD, removal of on-street for 
greater public transport efficiency, express bus services, underground rail 

• Enabling walkability with priority at crossings, greater cyclability and 
infrastructure solutions to support this 

• Improving safety: lighting on pathways / footpaths, CPTED design 

• Amenity and activation of spaces, canopy cover  

• Slowing traffic to 30-40km/h, growth of car share, improved signage   

Aspirations • Street design: more pedestrianised streets, a place for community 

• Development: contributions to create new active transport routes and public 
realm, car-free separated cycle routes, ready for residential growth  

• Public transport: night-time services for events / economy, priority corridors 

• Transport catering for different types of residents / users – diversity  

• Reduction of vehicle access to the CBD, lowering of speed limits 

Events  

Strengths • Free public transport for events, and organisation and numbers of events 

Opportunities • Use of events to pilot transport changes, precinct level coordination  

• Expansion of initiatives such as the City Connector for events  

• Using technology: dynamic signage, signal programming 

Aspirations • Communication to be proactive, positive approach  

• More public transport, mode capacity  

• Interchanges / access infrastructure to support major events and locations  

Results • More happy customers, more people using public and active transport 

Inclusive Transport 

Strengths • City design with proximity to green space, wide streets and flat topography  

• Variety of public transport options and availability of free services  

• Inclusive pedestrian infrastructure and active travel design guide adoption 

• Affordable parking 

• Campsite for remote (Indigenous) visitors in Park 23 

Opportunities • Public transport service, reliability technology and DDA access improvements 
and integration with active transport 

• Optimising parking by moving to off-street / consolidated locations  

• More pedestrian crossing opportunities  

• Improving accessibility such as wayfinding, audio navigation, ride sharing and 
micromobility interface 

• Communication of disruptions  

Aspirations • Safer, affordable, accessible public transport with improved summer services 

• Less footpath clutter, more cycle paths, access to the city for young people 

• Making the city a place for people, not vehicles and parking 

Results • More young people in the city 

• More people using public transport and active transport – a city for people  

• More people including women, people with disabilities feeling safe  

  

Page 89



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

20 AECOM

  

3.0 Vision & Objectives 

Vision 

The vision of the Integrated Transport Strategy is to: Create a connected, sustainable, and inclusive 
transport system that enhances the liveability of the City of Adelaide. 

The strategy prioritises sustainable transport, reduces car dependency, and fosters healthier 
communities to support the city’s growth. It reflects City Plan’s focus on transport diversity, accessibility, 
and integration with land use planning, ensuring that walking, cycling, and public transport are viable 
and attractive options for all residents, workers, and visitors. In line with the goals outlined in City Plan, 
the Strategy strives to build a more resilient transport system that contributes to a cleaner, greener, and 
more sustainable Adelaide by 2036. 

Objectives 

The objectives of the Strategy are to: 

• Promote the adoption of sustainable transport modes, such as public transport, walking / wheeling, 
and cycling. 

• Create safe, efficient, and connected networks for active transport, ensuring that all users— 
regardless of age or ability—can move freely and comfortably throughout the city. 

• Integrate transport with urban development to enhance the liveability of the city and support its 
economic and cultural vitality. 

• Optimise the use of public space, focusing on shared mobility and multifunctional streets that serve 
both transport and community needs. 

• Reduce transport-related greenhouse gas emissions and mitigate climate change impacts through 
the promotion of low-emission vehicles and sustainable transport infrastructure. 

• Improve road safety, particularly for vulnerable road users, and ensure that public transport, cycling, 
and pedestrian infrastructure are safe and accessible. 

• Enhance transport resilience, especially in light of growing city demand and ongoing construction 
and events, ensuring that Adelaide's transport system can adapt to changing needs. 

• Align and leverage existing Council Strategies in relation to transport. 

These objectives have been informed by the Discussion Papers and outcomes from the Stage 1 
Engagement with both the community and key stakeholders.  

Building a positive narrative for change 

It is essential to create a narrative that frames changes in a positive, community-oriented light. Values-
based messaging6 suggests that focusing on shared community values, such as freedom, access, and 
equity, can help build support for walking, cycling, and other more efficient transport measures. Rather 
than framing parking changes as a loss, it is more effective to frame it as opening up opportunities for 
more accessible and enjoyable streets that benefit everyone. This can shift the conversation from an 
individualistic mindset such as parking spaces to a collective one such as shared streets. 

Building a strong narrative also requires positioning transport changes as beneficial to businesses, not 
just neutral or harmful. Research from various transport studies13, shows that street changes, such as 
reallocating car spaces for protected cycle lanes or wider footpaths can enhance business outcomes by 
attracting foot traffic, which often translates into increased sales. The Committee for Adelaide27 further 
supports this, suggesting that cities with more pedestrian-friendly environments have more vibrant local 
economies. It is vital to include this kind of evidence in the discussion to assure businesses that these 
changes can lead to economic benefits. 

Another important consideration is addressing trip feasibility and correcting the perception that driving is 
the only viable option, particularly in Adelaide, where driving is often viewed as a necessity. Studies on 
transport economics highlight that many trips, particularly within city centres, are short and could easily 
be done by walking, cycling, or using public transport. It is important to make the case that many 

 

6 Glenn, E. (2021). Framing walking and bike riding: Message guide. VicHealth. 

Page 90



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

21 AECOM

  

transport modes are not only feasible but often more efficient for short distances, countering 
misconceptions that cars are always the fastest or most convenient option. 

A robust decision-making process is needed to prevent indecision and over-consultation from derailing 
funded and committed projects. This requires creating clear, evidence-based narratives that align with 
broader economic and community objectives, including research on the economic benefits of more 
sustainable transport systems. Decision-makers should be guided by a transparent framework that 
weighs the long-term community benefits against short-term resistance. It is important to engage the 
majority by showing them a vision of what is possible and how these changes align with their values 
and daily lives. 

Values based messaging 

It is important not to use loss-oriented language, which can provoke a defensive reaction, and instead 
focus on positive outcomes. For example, rather than discussing the reduction of parking spaces, talk 
about how these changes will open up streets for everyone, making them more accessible and vibrant 
for pedestrians and cyclists alike. Safety, community, and environmental benefits that come with 
reconfigured streets will ensure that changes highlight what people gain rather than what they lose. 

By combining a values-driven narrative with evidence on the economic and social benefits of 
sustainable transport, it is possible to build broader support and ensure that proposed projects in the 
Integrated Transport Strategy succeed with broad public support. The key lies in consistently framing 
the conversation around shared benefits, equity, and a positive vision for Adelaide's future. 

 

  

Page 91



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

22 AECOM

  

4.0 City of Adelaide Context  

4.1 Current Conditions  

This section presents an overview of the current conditions of the transport network and associated 
travel behaviours within the City of Adelaide; summarised from the Discussion Papers developed for 
Stage 1 Engagement. It outlines both the transport modes and city operations.  

4.1.1 Population & Travel Behaviour  

Adelaide’s current travel patterns comprise a mix of transport modes for accessing and navigating the 
city. The City of Adelaide serves as the central hub for daily commuters, residents, and visitors, with 
over 321,500 daily trips recorded7. Current travel patterns are characterised by a strong reliance on 
private vehicles, with significant volumes of daily trips made by car to, from, and within the city. Public 
transport, including buses, trains, and trams, also plays a vital role, although usage remains lower 
compared to private vehicles due to limited coverage and frequency gaps, particularly during off-peak 
hours. Active transport options such as walking, wheeling, and cycling are common for short-distance 
trips, with key pedestrian and cycling routes serving major destinations within the city. 

Adelaide’s population growth is expected to increase the demand for diverse transport modes. The 
city’s resident population is forecast to nearly double by 2036, reaching 50,000, while continued 
employment growth and tourism are anticipated to contribute further to daily travel demand. The influx 
of new residents and workers will place pressure on the city’s existing transport infrastructure, 
particularly in areas where congestion and connectivity challenges already exist. As a result, the current 
travel landscape reflects a dynamic environment where high car dependency coexists with opportunities 
to enhance active and public transport networks to accommodate future growth. 

The 2022 City User Profile (CUP) survey provides some key insights on city residents, workers, 
students and visitors travelling to and from the City. Out of the 2,028 city users surveyed, a large 
proportion were visitors who do not live in the city (46%), followed by city workers (20%), students 
(18%), tourists (13%) and city residents (9%). Analysis of the survey results shows that work, shopping, 
leisure or entertainment and having a night out are the main reasons for visiting the city for discreet 
trips. Overall, the survey reveals that convenience is the primary factor influencing people’s choice of 
transportation to visit the city. Key findings were as follows: 

• The majority of city users (44%) were found to have caught public transport (bus, train, tram, O-
Bahn). Students (59%), city visitors (50%), people aged under 40 (49%), and females (47%) were 
more found to be more likely to travel by public transport. Price (77%) was the main reason for 
choosing public transport. 54% of city users who used public transport cited it being the only 
available option as the reason for their choice. 

• Public transport remains the preferred mode of commuting to the city. However, the proportion of 
city commuters cycling to the city has remained steady at approximately 2% since 2017. Public 
transport services are sometimes adjusted for major events, including increased services and free 
travel for certain ticketed events. These arrangements influence travel behaviour and accessibility 
and should be considered when evaluating future transport initiatives. 

• Second to public transport, travel by car either as a driver or passenger was cited by 34% of city 
users. Main reasons for choosing to drive were personal preference (45%) and speed (45%). 

• 19% of city users walked into the city, a majority of which were city residents (65%) and tourists 
(44%). The main reasons for walking were personal preference (22%) and convenience (21%). 

• A small fraction of city users (2%) travelled to the city by bicycle or another mode of travel (6%) 
such as Uber, taxis, skateboards, or scooters. 

City of Adelaide residents’ travel to work 

When compared to Greater Adelaide, City of Adelaide residents have differing travel patterns. The 
following was found:  

• A smaller percentage of persons travelled by car (as driver) (31.3% compared to 63.3%) 

 

7 (City of Adelaide – City User Profile Survey, 2023) 

Page 92

https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/media-centre/help-us-develop-the-citys-new-transport-strategy/


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

23 AECOM

  

• A larger percentage of persons walked to work (24.0% compared to 1.9%)  

• A larger percentage of persons worked at home (12.9% compared to 9.8%)  

• A larger percentage of persons travelled by bus (9.4% compared to 4.5%). 

This indicates that generally, City of Adelaide residents have a lower reliance on private vehicles to 
travel to work, instead using public and active transport for commuting. 

4.1.2 Walking & Wheeling 

Walking is integral to Adelaide. Everyone walks or wheels: it is the main way people experience the City 
of Adelaide and connect with each other. Everyone is a pedestrian, even if it is only for the start or end 
of the journey.  

Walking and wheeling are essential for short journeys and access to key destinations within the city. 
The compact grid layout of Adelaide supports efficient walking and wheeling, with most destinations 
within the city accessible within a short and comfortable walking distance. The City User Profile Survey 
indicates that 17% of city users report walking to the city regularly, and the majority of residents live 
within a walkable distance to key services and amenities. 

As noted in Section 4.1.1, the Census indicates that a significant proportion of resident workers drove to 
work, despite these trips being distances that most people could walk, or cycle.  

It is known that there is a significant mode shift opportunity for people undertaking short trips and trips 
within the City of Adelaide by car8 9. Just because a distance can be walked or wheeled, does not mean 
that people do. A number of factors influence the way someone travels. But we know that many of 
these short trips can be walked or wheeled, (or by cycling or public transport) with a significant 
opportunity for behaviour change to support the growth of our city and to maintain liveability.  

City Plan, the City of Adelaide’s endorsed plan for the sustainable growth and development of our city, 
forecasts a significant increase in residential and worker populations by 2036. It is expected that there 
will be an increase from 26,000 residents in 2022 to 50,000 residents by 2036, with over a thousand 
dwellings added per year, and from 130,000 workers in 2021 to 150,000 workers by 2036. City Plan has 
a priority of transport diversity with improved walkable experience, setting out objectives for cooler and 
greener streets and residents being able to walk/wheel to services and amenities they require for their 
health and wellbeing.  

A note on terminology: This document uses the terms ‘walking’ which includes all people moving on the 
footpath including walking, running or jogging, people using a cane / walker or pram / pusher; and 
‘wheeling’ which includes all people using wheelchairs and motorised scooters.  

4.1.3 Cycling & Cycle Parking 

The City of Adelaide boasts some of the best weather and geography for cycling in Australia, with 
comfortable summer and winter temperatures, and minimal rainy days (Adelaide is the driest of all 
Australian capital cities). This is proven by the popularity of recreational cycling clubs, criterion bike 
racing, and the Tour Down Under, which is set in South Australia. Cycling numbers in the City of 
Adelaide have fluctuated over the years, influenced by factors such as weather, infrastructure changes, 
and the COVID-19 pandemic. The 2024 Super Tuesday bicycle count showed a 17% increase in 
cycling levels compared to 2023, attributed to favourable weather conditions. However, cycling numbers 
remain below pre-pandemic levels, reflecting long-term shifts in commuting habits, work-from-home 
trends, and infrastructure developments. The biggest decline was in 2022 (24%), the steepest drop 
recorded, coinciding with post-pandemic changes. Since then, numbers have rebounded but have yet 
to fully recover.10 The City of Adelaide’s cordon count11 for 2023 also indicated a growth in cycling, with 
4,152 bicycles recorded entering the city, marking a 4.8% increase from the previous year. Similarly, 
3,958 cyclists were counted exiting the city, a 9.4% rise from 2022. Despite this growth, female cyclists 
remain a minority, comprising only 23.9% of inbound bicycles and 23.6% of outbound bicycles, 
highlighting a continued gender disparity in cycling participation. 

A number of factors can be attributed to this, with a 2023 Committee for Adelaide benchmarking report 
highlighting that Adelaide has an inefficient level of car dependence, which could become permanent 

 

8 Method of Travel to Work, 2016 Census, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
9 Method of Travel to Work, 2021 Census, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
10 Bike Adelaide & City of Adelaide. (2019-2024). Super Tuesday bicycle counts. 
11 City of Adelaide. (2023). Cordon bicycle count: Annual monitoring of cycling trends. City of Adelaide. 

Page 93



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

24 AECOM

  

without stronger alternatives and incentives.12 Similarly, there is mixed feedback from residents and the 
wider community about how cycling-friendly the City of Adelaide is for recreational users and 
commuters.  

The current environment is comfortable for confident cyclists, but existing conditions mean that people 
who are interested in cycling do not feel like they can safely.  

 

Figure 4-1 Four types of bicycle riders in South Australia and relative proportion of the population 13 

 
The city cycling network, part of the BikeDirect network, includes on-road bicycle paths as well as off-
road trails and paths. These routes are interconnected and offer a variety of route options for people 
riding bicycles. Cycling rates in the City of Adelaide have seen a decline in recent years. According to 
Census data, the proportion of city commuters cycling to work decreased from 3.7% in 2016 to 2.8% in 
2021. Despite investments in protected bike lanes and improved cycling infrastructure, these changes 
have not yet translated into significant growth in cycling mode share.  

Public engagement has indicated that safety, connectivity, and infrastructure quality play a critical role 
in encouraging active travel. Barriers such as inadequate crossings, concerns about vehicle traffic, and 
the need for further investment in cycling infrastructure continue to impact the uptake of cycling. 

Our Cycle Network 

The City’s current cycle network (Figure 4-2) includes on-road cycle lanes as well as off-road trails and 
paths within the Adelaide Park Lands. These routes are somewhat interconnected and offer a variety of 
route options for confident cyclists. However, there are gaps in this network and the infrastructure type 
and quality varies. This reduces the appeal and accessibility of routes for most users, and influences 
cycling take-up (modal shift). A 2023 Committee for Adelaide benchmarking report14 highlighted that 
Adelaide has an inefficient level of car dependence, which could become permanent without stronger 
alternatives and incentives. A key driver to cycling uptake is the quality and connectedness of routes 
within the City.   

 

12Benchmarking Adelaide (2023), Committee for Adelaide 
13 Source: Adapted from the Transport for NSW Active Transport Strategy, 2020 with information from the Cycling Strategy for 
South Australia 2022 – 2032, Department for Infrastructure & Transport 
14 Benchmarking Adelaide (2023), Committee for Adelaide 

Page 94

https://committeeforadelaide.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/CFA-Benchmarking-Report_FINAL-DIGITAL_compressed-1.pdf
https://committeeforadelaide.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/CFA-Benchmarking-Report_FINAL-DIGITAL_compressed-1.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

25 AECOM

  

Figure 4-2 Existing City of Adelaide Cycling network 

 

4.1.4 Public Transport  

Adelaide has a multi-modal public transport network underpinned by a strong reliance on bus services, 
including the O-Bahn high-speed bus system. The network is radial in nature, meaning most services 
connect to or through the City of Adelaide. The public transport network within the Adelaide CBD, part 
of the City of Adelaide, is shown in Figure 4-3.  

Page 95



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

26 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-3 Adelaide CBD Public Transport network stops  

Source: Adelaide Metro  

 

Most City of Adelaide residents have above average access to public transport services, but public 
transport mode share in the City of Adelaide for journeys to work was 12.4% at the 2021 Census. The 
share of people using public transport is increasing15. Additionally, the majority of public high school 
students in CoA catch public transport to and from school.16  

17 

Figure 4-4 Comparison of mode of travel to the City from 2021 to 2023 from the City User Profile 

Totals exceed 100% as survey permitted multiple trip responses for one journey, e.g. public transport, drive, Park and Ride (both) 

 
The CoA City User Profile18 reports that public transport is the most used mode of transport to the city, 
followed by driving and walking. The most frequently used modes differ by user type:   

 

15 Adelaide Economic Development Agency & City of Adelaide (2024). Retrieved from: 
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/AEDA-Activity-Report-Q2-2024.pdf 
16 City of Adelaide. (2024). School travel safety reviews.  
17 City of Adelaide. (2023). City User Profile 2023. 
18 City of Adelaide. (2023). City User Profile 2023. 

Page 96

https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/AEDA-Activity-Report-Q2-2024.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

27 AECOM

  

 

“Visitors” does not include those who live, work or study in the CoA. Total exceeds 100% because survey permitted multiple trip 

responses for one journey, e.g. public transport, drive, Park and Ride (both) 

 

Greater Adelaide has a low mode share of public transport for journey to work overall and ranks below 
its peer cities for network performance.  

This is significantly lower than comparable cities, with the 2023 Committee for Adelaide benchmarking 
report19 highlighting that Adelaide’s public transport ranks 10th out of 15 peer cities when considering 
the speed and reach of public transport. 

 

 

4.1.5 Motor Vehicles & Parking 

 

In 2021, 64% of households in the City of Adelaide owned at least one car. Contrastingly, 29.2% of 
households did not own a motor vehicle. Car ownership in the City of Adelaide is lower when compared 
to Greater Adelaide where 88.9% households owned at least one motor vehicle.  

 

19 Benchmarking Adelaide (2023), Committee for Adelaide 

Page 97

https://committeeforadelaide.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/CFA-Benchmarking-Report_FINAL-DIGITAL_compressed-1.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

28 AECOM

  

20 

Figure 4-5 Ownership of vehicles in the City of Adelaide compared to Greater Adelaide  

 
The City of Adelaide's road network is based on a grid pattern, with major and minor roads, wide 
streets, and town squares that is bordered by Park Lands. An Inner Ring Route, a collection of main 
roads, surrounds the City of Adelaide, running along the perimeter of the Park Lands to allow traffic to 
bypass the city. There is a series of connecting Park Lands Roads that connect the Inner Ring Route 
and surrounding suburbs to the city road network.  

The existing speed limits for the road network are shown in Figure 4-6. Speed limits within the City of 
Adelaide are mainly 50 km/h, which exceeds the internationally accepted Safe System urban default 
speed of 30 km/h, as endorsed by the Stockholm Declaration21 and supported by Austroads22. 
Australia's peak professional bodies, practitioners, and academics are calling on Australian 
Governments to adopt 30 km/h as the urban default speed limit, with strong advocacy from 
organisations such as the Australian Institute of Traffic Planning and Management (AITPM) and 
Engineers Australia (EA), as well as academic bodies through open letters and position papers. 

 

 

20 (Id Consulting, City of Adelaide 2024 from ABS Census 2021) 
21 Stockholm Declaration (2020). 3rd Global Ministerial Conference on Road Safety: Achieving Global Goals 2030. 
22 Austroads. (2020). Safe System Roads for Local Government. 

Page 98



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

29 AECOM

  

23 

Figure 4-6 Existing speed limits within the City of Adelaide  

 

23 City Wide Speed Limit Review, Stantec, 2024 

Page 99



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

30 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-7 Analysis of traffic volumes roads within the City of Adelaide and in close proximity (AADT) 

 

  

Page 100



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

31 AECOM

  

Traffic passing through the City of Adelaide reduces transport efficiency 

The analysis of through traffic within the Adelaide City Local Government Area (LGA) reveals varying 
proportions of trips categorised as ‘through traffic’. This describes vehicles passing through the LGA 
without stopping or originating within it. The map highlights that major roads around the LGA experience 
higher through traffic percentages, some over 50%, while some key routes within the LGA also exhibit 
moderate to significant through traffic levels. 

Through Traffic and the Inner Ring Road 

Greater Adelaide is served by an Outer Ring Road and an Inner Ring Road. These are the preferred 
traffic routes for motor vehicle trips around the centre of Adelaide. The inner ring road system is 
designed to facilitate through traffic around the core of the City of Adelaide. 

The percentage of through traffic is determined by analysing vehicle trips passing through the LGA. 
Through traffic is measured by identifying trips that enter and exit the LGA without meaningful stops, 
such as destinations, visits or deliveries. The data from February 2024 to January 2025, encompassing 
8,385 travel survey records, forms the basis of the analysis. By mapping this flow, we can distinguish 
through routes from roads primarily serving local traffic. 

Several key roads within the city reported high rates of through LGA traffic, despite not being part of the 
designated ring road. Roads like West Terrace, Port Road, and Anzac Highway, which are within the 
City of Adelaide’s boundary, are often used as alternatives to the inner ring road system. This leads to 
inefficiencies in traffic circulation, as these roads were not designed to handle the volume of through 
traffic they currently accommodate. 

The high percentages of through traffic on these routes suggest that many drivers are bypassing the 
ring road system, further contributing to congestion and limiting the capacity of roads intended to serve 
local traffic and urban activities. This situation compromises the transport efficiency of the city, resulting 
in longer commute times, higher emissions, and increased wear on infrastructure not designed for 
heavy through traffic. 

Encouraging more appropriate use of the designated through routes, such as James Congdon Drive 
and Richmond Road, and redirecting through traffic away from local roads like West Terrace and Port 
Road, the city could enhance overall transport efficiency. This approach would help reduce congestion 
in the city centre, improve accessibility, and align with the strategic objectives of the City Plan 2036, 
including better integration of sustainable transport options, improved public health outcomes, and 
enhanced economic productivity. Reducing the strain on local roads by directing through traffic to the 
ring road system would contribute to a more balanced, sustainable transport network that serves both 
the city’s immediate and long-term needs. 

Table 4-1 Proportion of through traffic on key routes 

Road Name Through Traffic 

King William Street (North-South) 31% 

Wakefield Road (East-West) 44% 

Grote Street (East-West) 47% 

Dequetteville Terrace (North-South) 64% 

Port Road (East-West) 46% 

Anzac Highway (East-West) 53% 

 
Traffic congestion is generally limited to peak periods, and is contributed to by:  

• The CBD being a major hub for employment, entertainment and shopping, which results in a 
significant traffic movements to, from and within the city, especially during peak hours. 

• Some of Adelaide's key road network routes, including sections of Main South Road, Port 
Wakefield Road, and Anzac Highway, have shown increased congestion primarily affecting car 
traffic, with multiple intersections nearing their vehicle capacity limits. Since 2019, vehicle hours lost 
to congestion in Greater Adelaide have increased by approximately 16%, indicating growing strain 

Page 101



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

32 AECOM

  

on road infrastructure and signalling the need to prioritise sustainable transport alternatives to 
mitigate these issues2425. 

26 

Figure 4-8 Inner and Outer Ring Routes of Adelaide 

 
Causes of through traffic 

Through traffic is primarily attracted to shorter travel times due to direct and fast connections and a lack 
of alternative infrastructure for bypassing city centres. In cities like Adelaide, major arterial roads (e.g., 
Dequetteville Terrace, Fullarton Road) attract high proportions of through traffic because they provide 
convenient direct between suburban and regional areas at no additional cost (time or otherwise). 

Historically traffic planning has prioritised motor vehicle access and travel time with little differentiation 
of trip type, meaning that efforts to improve local car access inadvertently attracts through trips that 
directly consume network capacity and undermine local network function. City centres that are 
optimised for car traffic make convenient routes for through traffic without a destination within the LGA. 

 

24 Infrastructure Australia. (2019). Urban Transport Crowding and Congestion. Infrastructure Australia 
25 INRIX, 2022 Global traffic scorecard 
26 Department for Infrastructure and Transport, 2025, Retrieved from 
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/infrastructure/completed_projects/adelaide_inner_and_outer_ring_routes  Department for Infrastructure 
and Transport, 2025, Retrieved from 
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/infrastructure/completed_projects/adelaide_inner_and_outer_ring_routes  

Page 102

https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/infrastructure/completed_projects/adelaide_inner_and_outer_ring_routes
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/infrastructure/completed_projects/adelaide_inner_and_outer_ring_routes


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

33 AECOM

  

Table 4-2 Overview of road types, role and indicative through traffic levels 

Road Type Example Roads Role 
Observed Through 
Traffic Level 

Major arterial roads on 
periphery 

Fullarton Road, 
Greenhill Road, 
Dequetteville Terrace, 
Port Road 

Facilitate cross-city 
movement and 
bypassing of the city 
centre. 

High 

Transit corridors Anzac Highway, 
James Congdon Drive 

Connect suburbs to 
key areas within the 
LGA; mix of through 
and local traffic. 

Moderate to high 

Inner LGA connectors Grote Street, 
Wakefield Road 

Support both through 
traffic and local access 
to commercial areas. 

Moderate 

Local or mixed-use 
roads 

Hutt Road, King 
William Street, various 
internal streets 

Primarily serve local 
traffic, deliveries, and 
pedestrian 
movements. 

Low to moderate 

 

Analysis of Key Roads and Routes 

The following routes have been identified for their varying roles in the city's transport network, ranging 
from major roads with high levels of through traffic to lower-traffic streets serving local access. This 
highlights key corridors based on their traffic volumes and functions, providing insight into their 
contributions to overall traffic circulation and city access.  

The following roads play key roles in the city's transport network, however their capacity to serve city 
transport functions is affected by levels of through traffic with figures drawn from the analysed data: 

• Goodwood Road (67%) and Mann Road (67%) – Major corridors handling significant non-local 
traffic. 

• West Terrace (41%) and Port Road (41%) – Though within the CoA boundary, their through-traffic 
percentages suggest they function as key alternatives to arterial routes on the formal inner ring 
road. 

• Wakefield Road (45%) and Grote Street (48%) – Central city roads experiencing extremely high 
levels of cross-city through traffic movement. 

• King William Road (32%) and King William Street (31%) – Important CBD routes with a third of all 
traffic as through traffic. 

• Hutt Road (32%), North Terrace (32%), and Victoria Square (37%) – High-profile streets primarily 
serving local and mixed-use functions but still experiencing notable levels of  through traffic. 

Page 103



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

34 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-9 Through Traffic in the City of Adelaide  

Source: AECOM / ComPass IoT 

Data Note– Through Traffic Map: This map provides an overview of through traffic volumes across the City of Adelaide. It is 

designed to illustrate broader traffic circulation patterns rather than serve as a precise measure of vehicle movements at the 

street level. The dataset is derived from vehicles equipped with telematics systems and is therefore informed by newer vehicles 

from participating manufacturers and commercial operators. While the map highlights key through traffic routes, variations in 

sample size and data aggregation may result in anomalies or inconsistencies at the individual street level. This analysis should 

not be used in isolation for detailed street-level interventions without further validation. Additional data collection, including manual 

traffic counts, site observations, and engagement with stakeholders, is recommended to verify findings and support localised 

transport planning decisions. 

Page 104



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

35 AECOM

  

Car Parking in Adelaide 

Car parking remains a significant issue, particularly in dense urban areas. The Committee for 
Adelaide27 has stressed the need to rethink car parking provision where parking demand often 
competes with other land uses. San Francisco (SF) has implemented the SF Park system which is 
based on dynamic parking pricing28, This adjusts charges based on real-time demand to manage 
parking availability. SF Park provides a valuable example of how cities can use data-driven pricing to 
improve parking efficiency and reduce congestion. Adelaide could implement similar dynamic pricing 
models for parking, ensuring that spaces are used efficiently, and that the revenue generated is 
reinvested in public transport and active transport infrastructure. 

Car parking within the city is a mix of the following:  

• On-street parking: there are approximately 9,300 free time limit spaces and 3,000 paid ticket parking 
spaces across the city 

• On-street servicing and loading: The City of Adelaide permits 30-minute loading for commercial 
vehicles in designated ‘no parking’ areas, supporting business and freight operations. There are 
606 Loading Zones, 105 of those are full time loading zones.29 

• Off-street parking: Adelaide City Council owns and operates nine UPark off-street parks 
representing approximately 6,000 off-street paid car parking spaces. 

The full extent of the off-street parking supply in the City of Adelaide is unknown but includes 
commercial, institutional, residential and other off-street parking. 

Analysis of Parking Trends in the City of Adelaide: UPark Usage and Capacity 

The City of Adelaide, as the municipal authority, owns and operates a network of UPark commercial off-
street car parks across the city. These car parks are provided to support local businesses, residents, 
and visitors, ensuring convenient access to key destinations while also generating revenue that can be 
reinvested into city services and infrastructure. UPark facilities are strategically located near major 
retail, commercial, and cultural precincts, including Gawler Place, Topham Mall, Pirie-Flinders, Frome 
Street, Light Square, and Grote Street, among others. In addition to UPark, several private operators 
manage off-street parking in the city, including Wilsons Parking, Secure Parking, Care Park, KPark, and 
Park Fast, which offer a mix of multi-level and open-air car parks. These private operators primarily 
cater to commuters, shoppers, and office workers, with many of their facilities concentrated in the CBD, 
around Rundle Mall, Hindley Street, and key business districts. The mix of publicly and privately 
operated car parks helps to balance parking supply, providing a range of pricing options and locations 
for different users. 

The City of Adelaide’s ownership of UPark facilities provides a unique advantage in monitoring parking 
trends and managing supply to better align with the City’s transport and planning objectives. Unlike 
private operators, who operate commercial enterprises, the City can adjust pricing, availability, and 
operations to support sustainable transport goals, reduce congestion, and encourage sustainable and 
more space efficient travel modes. This means UPark facilities can be managed to complement public 
transport, active travel, and kerbside space priorities, ensuring that parking policies support rather than 
compete with the city’s long-term vision for accessibility, sustainability, and economic activity. 

City of Adelaide held parking data indicates significant variation in UPark usage across different 
locations, highlighting potential inefficiencies in parking distribution. Grote Street and Wyatt Street 
UParks consistently operate below capacity, suggesting either low demand in these areas or an 
oversupply of parking spaces. This contrasts with high turnover rates at Central Market UPark, which 
sees significant use by shoppers. The low patronage at Grote Street suggests that despite its proximity 
to the market, shoppers prefer parking at more immediate and accessible locations. This could point to 
a need for better wayfinding signage or incentives to encourage the use of underutilised UPark facilities. 

Conversely, Light Square and Andrew UParks frequently exceed capacity, particularly during peak 
periods such as December. This indicates a mismatch between parking supply and demand in these 
areas, with demand outstripping available spaces. This suggests an opportunity to review pricing 
structures, introduce dynamic pricing, or improve alternative transport options to ease congestion at 

 

27 Committee for Adelaide. (2023). Benchmarking report. Committee for Adelaide. 
28 SF Park. (2014). SFpark pilot project evaluation: Summary report. San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency. 
29 City of Adelaide. (2025). GIS (Geographic Information System) data. 

Page 105



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

36 AECOM

  

these high-demand locations. Encouraging greater use of public transport, active travel modes, or 
redirecting demand to underutilised car parks may improve overall efficiency. 

 

Figure 4-10 Volume to capacity assessment of Frome Street UPark 
 

  

Figure 4-11 Volume to capacity assessment of RundleStreet UPark 

Page 106



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

37 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-12 Volume to capacity assessment of Central Market UPark  

 
Topham Mall and Gawler Place UParks, both multilevel car parks servicing retail-heavy areas, 
experience more stable usage patterns. Their central locations and multi-level capacity likely provide 
greater resilience against fluctuating demand. Meanwhile, Frome and Pirie-Flinders UPark remain at 
half capacity for most of the year, reinforcing the trend that some areas may have oversupplied parking 
relative to demand. A detailed study on travel behaviour, pricing competitiveness, and accessibility 
improvements could inform future adjustments to parking provision across the city. 

Residential and Visitor Parking Permits 

Permit data suggests that demand for residential permits is influenced by location, accessibility, and 
eligibility criteria. The low uptake of Category 4 permits, which provide discounted parking for residents 
in post-1976 properties, this correlates with the reduced population who are eligible for this permit 
category. The pensioner and full-time student criteria attract fewer applicants masking the actual 
demand. A reassessment of eligibility criteria to include a demand based measure, particularly for 
younger residents and lower-income groups, may help better target the needs of permit holders. 

Permit Category Description 

Category 1 – Residential 
Parking Permit for Properties 
Built Prior to or in 1976 

Issued to residents of properties developed on or before 1976. 
Eligibility depends on the availability of on-site parking: up to two 
permits if no on-site parking exists; one permit if there is one on-
site space; none if there are two or more on-site spaces. Multi-
dwelling properties are typically not eligible. 

Category 2 – Residential 
Parking Permit for Properties 
Built After 1976 

Applicable to residents of properties developed after 1976. Eligible 
for one permit if no on-site parking is available; not eligible if one or 
more on-site spaces exist. Multi-dwelling properties are typically 
not eligible. 

Category 3 – Daily Care 
Parking Permit 

Available to residents (meeting Category 1 or 2 criteria) requiring 
daily medical treatment. Permits are issued for use by approved 
care providers, such as medical practitioners or accredited carers. 
The total number of permits must not exceed the maximum allowed 
under Category 1 or 2. 

Page 107



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

38 AECOM

  

Permit Category Description 

Category 4 – Concession on 
Category 2 Fees 

Offers a fee concession on Category 2 permits for eligible residents 
holding a Pensioner Health Benefit Card or full-time Student Card. 
Eligibility and permit allocation mirror Category 2 criteria. 

Visitor Parking Permit Allows residents to obtain temporary parking permits for their 
visitors or service providers. These permits provide additional 
parking allowances and are subject to specific conditions and 
usage guidelines. 

 

 

Figure 4-13 Permit categories and distribution of use 

 
By contrast, Residential College Permits see higher demand, especially among students living on 
campus rather than local full-time students. This highlights the transport challenges faced by students 
relocating to Adelaide who may not have access to viable alternative transport options. It also suggests 
that many students from outside Adelaide may prefer using private vehicles over public transport due to 
concerns about reliability, cost, or convenience. Addressing these barriers through targeted public 
transport initiatives, better cycling infrastructure, and improved student concessions could reduce 
reliance on private vehicles and permit-based parking. 

  

Category 1
87.0%

Category 2
1.4%

Category 3
0.2%

Category 4
0.6%

Category 5
0.8%

Employed Disability 
Permit
0.1%

Event Permits
3.1%

Cental Market
3.5%College Permits

3.3%

87% of permits holders are owers of properties built prior 
to or in 1976  

Page 108



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

39 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-14 Distribution of permit types within the City of Adelaide  

 
Visitor permits and residential permits could be examined in relation to transport connectivity and 
accessibility. In areas where public transport is frequent and reliable, parking permit demand is likely 
lower. However, in locations where services are less frequent or connections are poor, the demand for 
permits increases. The City of Adelaide can examine permit policies to ensure they align with public 
transport investment and urban development strategies. 

Commercial and On-Street Parking Trends 

The distribution of commercial and on-street parking spaces across Adelaide reveals a complex 
interplay between private operators, council-run parking, and on-street availability. The presence of 
multiple commercial operators, including Secure Parking, Wilsons Parking, and Care Park, highlights a 
highly competitive parking market in the city. Wilsons Parking dominates off-street paid parking, 
suggesting that price variations, operating hours, and location accessibility influence consumer choice. 
The City of Adelaide’s U Park network competes within this landscape, requiring a strategic approach to 
pricing and customer incentives to remain competitive. 

The majority of parking in the City of Adelaide is off-street and the total supply is unknown.  

 

Figure 4-15 Assessment of on-street to off-street parking spaces within the City of Adelaide  

       
            

      

      

                  

                                  

 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

                      

 
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  
 

                                                             

                        
                 

                     

Page 109



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

40 AECOM

  

There are 20,220 on-street parking bays in the City of Adelaide, this includes 2,757 ticketed parking 
spaces and free time limited spaces as well as loading zones, permit spaces, taxi ranks and accessible 
parking. There are parking sensors in 2,729 of these parking spaces. There are also 24,787 known 
commercially operated off street spaces available to the public. However, available data does not 
capture the full extent of private and shopping centre car parks, which is generally greater in supply 
many times over in Australian capital cities 30. This significantly to overall parking supply. The spread of 
available parking suggests that some areas face oversupply while others face shortages, reinforcing the 
need for flexible parking allocation strategies. 

The presence of on-street disability parking and loading zones within the sensor-based parking dataset 
suggests an opportunity to analyse utilisation patterns for accessibility users and freight operations. If 
loading zones experience high occupancy, businesses may struggle with last-mile deliveries, impacting 
economic activity. Likewise, underutilised disability parking bays could signal a need for relocation, 
reallocation, or better accessibility design. Future policies should consider demand-responsive parking 
solutions, particularly in high-traffic commercial zones, to optimise space use across different parking 
categories. 

These insights can inform the City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy by guiding parking supply 
adjustments, pricing strategies, and overall transport investment. A coordinated approach between 
public and private parking operators, better integration with public transport, and innovative demand 
management strategies will be essential in shaping a more accessible, efficient, and sustainable City of 
Adelaide transport network. 

Traffic noise 

In Adelaide, particularly in the CBD, traffic noise significantly impacts the acoustic environment, with 
marked variations between day and night31. During the day, the busiest periods coincide with rush 
hours, leading to elevated noise levels, especially in areas near major arterial roads such as King 
William Road and West Terrace. Traffic volumes decrease substantially after 10pm, leading to quieter 
conditions at night, although noise from entertainment venues and public events can still be noticeable. 
Traffic noise has negative impacts on residents' health and well-being, contributing to issues such as 
sleep disturbances, increased stress levels, and reduced quality of life. However, even during quieter 
periods, the cumulative noise impact remains a concern, with the northern CBD experiencing the 
highest levels of discomfort due to its dense traffic and infrastructure.  

 

30 City of Hobart. (2024). Hobart transport strategy 2024: Delivering transport choice for Hobart. City of Hobart. 
31 Lenchine, V., & Song, J. (2017). Adelaide CBD strategic noise monitoring. Environment Protection Authority. 

Page 110



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

41 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-16 Day time noise levels for Adelaide CBD  

Source: EPA, 2024 

 

Current road safety situation 

Adelaide faces ongoing challenges in road safety related to motor vehicles and parking. The high 
reliance on private vehicles has not only contributed to congestion but also led to an increased risk of 
road accidents and fatalities. According to Engineers Australia's Road Safety Policy Advice Paper 
(2023), road fatalities in Australia remain significantly higher than in other comparable countries, with a 
stagnation in improvements despite national road safety strategies. The City of Adelaide has 
experienced a similar plateau, with motor vehicles being a dominant factor in road crashes. Vulnerable 
road users, such as pedestrians and cyclists, are particularly at risk in car-dominated environments, 
especially in areas with inadequate parking management and infrastructure that prioritises vehicles over 
active transport modes. 

Furthermore, poorly managed parking can contribute to unsafe conditions for all road users. When 
parking is not efficiently planned or monitored, it can result in dangerous behaviours such as illegal 
parking in pedestrian zones or at crossings, creating additional hazards for pedestrians and cyclists. 
Efforts to improve road safety in Adelaide need to address these factors, emphasising better parking 

Page 111



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

42 AECOM

  

management, speed reductions in critical areas, and improvements in infrastructure to protect 
vulnerable road users. 

4.1.6 Shared Micromobility  

The city has embraced micromobility and share schemes with a growing network of shared device and 
vehicle programs. The following shared schemes are in place: 

• Shared e-scooter scheme: The City partnered with commercial operators Beam and Neuron to 
provide electric scooter rentals. Trials of shared e-scooters in Adelaide commenced in February 
2019. The trial was set to end on 30 April 2024. However, the trial may be extended until the State 
Government introduces legislation on e-scooters.  

• Shared car schemes: Flexicar provides a range of vehicles that can be rented on an hourly or daily 
basis. Uber Carshare provides peer-to-peer carsharing services.  

We know that shared micromobility operations, particularly e-scooters, across Adelaide largely depend 
on access to the City of Adelaide, as this is the destination of most users within the trial areas. As such, 
the City of Adelaide is uniquely placed to influence the shape and success of shared micromobility in 
South Australia. 

Shared micromobility also supports our events and economies. In 2023, there were almost 640,000 e-
scooter trips (on average over 1,750 trips per day) that started within the City of Adelaide, and over 
804,000km travelled. Rider trip data shows that e-scooters play an important role transporting people to 
and from events, key city destinations and supports the night-time economy32. Data shows a correlation 
between the time and location of trips to events and night-time economy locations; providing 
alternatives to driving and public transport in the evenings. Options such as e-scooters also increase 
the participation of women in the night-time economy as they offer a mode with a greater sense of 
personal safety and flexibility to better suit their trips by minimising time waiting and associated risk33. 
Modes like e-scooters are also a convenient way for tourists to travel around our city.  

Currently, e-scooters are only legal for use on public roads and paths in South Australia when they are 
part of a shared e-scooter scheme in a State Government approved trial area. Therefore, commercially 
operated shared e-scooters are the only type of scooters permitted to be used on public assets in South 
Australia. There have been a number of trials of shared e-scooters in Adelaide since February 2019. 
Active trial areas are in the City of Adelaide, the City of Charles Sturt and the City of Norwood, 
Payneham and St Peters. Shared e-scooters can now operate within and between the Adelaide and 
North Adelaide trial area and the Norwood, Payneham and St Peters trial area. The City of Unley trial 
ended in January 2024, after Councillors voted to discontinue the trial due to the ongoing uncertainty 
about the State regulatory framework.  

Around Australia there are differing rules for e-scooters, including about where e-scooters are allowed 
to be used and speed limits on footpaths. While media reporting and perception may be that e-scooters 
present a significant danger, there are few reported crashes and even fewer involving third parties. 

There are currently no cycle share operators in the City of Adelaide, in the past operators have 
deployed standard and electric cycles, via a permit. 

4.1.7 Street Space and Kerbside Management  

The City of Adelaide is renowned for its vibrant public spaces and streets, which play a crucial role in 
the city's liveability and economic vitality. As the city continues to grow, managing limited street space 
becomes increasingly important. Prioritising street space to support a variety of users and travel modes 
is crucial for achieving our vision of a city where everyone enjoys safe, healthy, effective and 
sustainable ways to travel and connect. We know that the use of street space and kerb space needs to 
be balanced to support both the critical movement and place elements a city requires (see Section 6.1).  

 

32 Economic Benefits of Cycling in Urban Environments, Urban Future Exchange SA, 2019 
33 City of Adelaide Gender and Safety Focus Groups, 2023 

Page 112



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

43 AECOM

  

Street space includes kerbside space 
which is the area immediately 
adjacent to footpaths. Kerb space 
serves a variety of critical functions 
such as loading zones, accessible 
parking, and pick-up/drop-off points for 
passengers and goods. Effective 
kerbside management ensures that 
this valuable space supports the city's 
diverse needs, from facilitating vehicle 
movement to enhancing pedestrian 
safety and accessibility. 

But we know that across Australian 
cities, people are not allocated their 
fair share of space, with more space in 
our cities given to vehicles than to 
people34. 

4.1.8 Urban Freight, City Servicing and Waste Transport 

Adelaide's transport logistics network underpins the city’s role as a thriving metropolitan hub. Efficient 
freight, delivery, city servicing, and waste transport are essential for supporting economic activity while 
reducing environmental impact. These systems enable the timely and sustainable movement of goods 
and services, ensuring businesses, residents, and visitors have access to what they need. The 
overarching vision is to establish a logistics framework that is not only functional but also sustainable, 
fostering a connected and liveable city. 

Urban logistics form the backbone of Adelaide’s daily operations, providing critical support for its 
economy and community. Efficient systems ensure that retail shelves are stocked, waste is managed 
effectively, and deliveries are handled seamlessly. However, rising demands driven by e-commerce and 
urban growth challenge the city’s infrastructure, exacerbating congestion, increasing emissions, and 
straining kerbside usage. To address these pressures, Adelaide aims to implement forward-thinking 
strategies such as dynamic kerbside management, low-emission vehicle adoption, and innovative 
delivery and waste systems. These measures align with the city’s goals of sustainability, accessibility, 
and resilience, ensuring a balance between economic growth and liveability. 

Urban freight and deliveries are important to Adelaide’s economy, providing the foundation for business 
continuity and community well-being. They ensure that shops are stocked, restaurants are supplied with 
fresh ingredients, and essential services operate without disruption. This logistics network sustains not 
only the local economy but also Adelaide’s reputation as a vibrant and accessible city, meeting the 
needs of both residents and visitors. 

The City of Adelaide seeks to create a logistics network that is resilient, sustainable, and efficient. 
Improving Adelaide’s urban logistics presents an opportunity to balance economic activity with 
environmental responsibility. By embracing dynamic kerbside management, leveraging technological 
innovation, and promoting freight consolidation hubs, the city can reduce inefficiencies and 
environmental impacts. Additionally, sustainable waste practices and low-emission delivery options 
further enhance Adelaide’s efforts to maintain a liveable and forward-looking urban environment. This 
vision aligns with broader goals to minimise environmental impacts, enhance accessibility, and ensure 
Adelaide remains a thriving and liveable city. 

Explainer. What is: 

Urban Freight • Urban freight involves the movement of goods through the city to supply 
businesses, retailers, and consumers. It ensures that essential items like food, 
clothing, and materials reach their destinations efficiently. While this is often 
made up of deliveries it can also include larger vehicles in urban areas prior to 
the last stage of delivery. 

 

34 City of Sydney Walking Strategy and Action Plan 

Page 113



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

44 AECOM

  

Explainer. What is: 

City Servicing • City servicing includes activities that support the city’s infrastructure, such as 
maintenance, cleaning, and utility operations. It ensures the smooth functioning 
of public spaces, transport networks, and essential services. goals. 

Waste 
Transport 

• Waste transport focuses on collecting and transferring waste from homes, 
businesses, and public spaces to disposal or recycling facilities. It plays a key 
role in keeping the city clean and supporting environmental goals through 
sustainable waste management practices. 

Deliveries • Deliveries are the last-mile transport of goods directly to consumers, 
businesses, or collection points. They are essential for meeting the growing 
demand from e-commerce and daily business operations. While there is some 
overlap with urban freight, deliveries also include the significant growth in 
parcels and food deliveries to households generated by changes in the way the 
City of Adelaide transact online. 

 

City servicing 

City servicing includes the variety of operational and maintenance functions that are required to keep a 
city functioning. It includes trades such as air conditioning or elevator repair or maintenance. These are 
often city functions that require vehicle access and parking across all times that is not necessarily suited 
to loading zones. Therefore, reliable access to suitable parking nearby respective work locations is 
important. 

Adelaide’s transport policies related to urban freight and deliveries have evolved over recent decades. 
In the past the focus has been on expanding road capacity and increasing loading zone availability to 
support the growing number of delivery and service vehicles. There is a need to shift towards a more 
integrated strategy that addresses the needs of urban freight, city servicing, waste transport, and 
deliveries. This new direction aims to enhance the efficiency and sustainability of these logistics 
functions while reducing their environmental impact and improving the overall quality of urban life.  

  

Page 114



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

45 AECOM

  

4.1.9 Events, Works and Transport Disruptions  

Events and infrastructure works are integral to Adelaide’s urban life, supporting cultural vibrancy and 
essential maintenance. Managing these activities effectively ensures a balanced approach that 
minimises disruptions while maintaining access for residents, visitors, and businesses. 

This includes prioritising sustainable and active transport modes during high-activity periods, ensuring 
equitable access, and maintaining key cycling and pedestrian connections. By aligning event and work 
planning with broader transport objectives, the city can support its growth while enhancing liveability 
and resilience. 

The effective coordination of events, works, and transport disruptions is important to the economic, 
cultural, and social success of Adelaide. Signature events like the Adelaide 500, Tour Down Under, and 
the Adelaide Fringe bring global attention, stimulate the local economy, and enhance Adelaide’s 
reputation as a world-class destination. 

Infrastructure works, while occasionally disruptive, ensure that the city’s transport systems and urban 
spaces remain safe, modern, and capable of supporting future growth. 

For a city like Adelaide, maintaining the balance between activity and accessibility is critical. Properly 
managed disruptions preserve community confidence and maintain Adelaide’s liveability. By ensuring 
alternative routes, public transport provisions, and effective and well communicated detour plans, the 
city mitigates inconvenience while safeguarding equitable mobility. This inclusive approach reflects 
Adelaide’s commitment to ensuring all transport users can access the city’s vibrant offerings with 
minimal disruption, reinforcing its vision as a sustainable and liveable urban hub. 

The City of Adelaide manages a range of events, infrastructure works, and associated transport 
disruptions as part of its urban operations. These activities are essential to maintaining a vibrant city 
while ensuring the upkeep and development of its transport infrastructure. However, they often lead to 
disruptions that require careful planning and management to minimise impacts on accessibility and 
mobility. 

Not all disruptions are felt equally 

City transport disruptions can impact the daily lives of commuters, with the perception of these 
disruptions often varying based on their nature and communication. Research indicates that delays of 
unknown duration are perceived as more stressful and frustrating than known delays because they 
create uncertainty and hinder effective planning for the affected individuals. Commuters exhibit 
heightened anxiety and dissatisfaction during indefinite delays compared to those with a specified 
time frame. Moreover, unplanned disruptions, such as sudden road closures or unexpected 
breakdowns, tend to exacerbate the negative perception compared to planned but unexpected 
events. This is largely due to the lack of preparedness and the sudden alteration of daily routines, 
further compounding the stress and inconvenience experienced by commuters. 

Transport disruptions affect mobility and the city in various ways. Traffic congestion can however act 
as a valuable limiting factor on induced traffic. Conversely, disruptions that deter public transport, 
walking/wheeling or cycling trips can undermine objectives for sustainable and efficient transport 
systems. It is important to differentiate between transport disruptions and user frustrations. 
Frustrations, like congestion or parking availability due to ineffective management of demand, do not 
have the same strategic impact as disruptions, such as missing links in transport networks, which 
hinder city accessibility and efficiency. 

Disruptions affecting walking/wheeling and cycling 

Walking/wheeling and cycling routes are uniquely susceptible disruptions from construction works or 
civic events compared to other modes of transport. This is due to several factors: there are often 
fewer standards and requirements specifically addressing the needs of walking/wheeling and cycling 
routes, leading to their needs being overlooked in planning and execution stages. These modes of 
transport typically use the side of road reserves and parks, areas that are more susceptible to 
occupation and obstruction during such activities. Additionally, unlike motor vehicles which tend to 
accumulate visibly when disrupted, pedestrians and bicycles disappear from disrupted areas, making 
the impact less noticeable but significantly affecting their mobility and safety. This invisibility can lead 
to underestimations of the disruption’s extent and a lack of prioritisation in mitigation efforts. 

Page 115



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

46 AECOM

  

Events organised directly by the City of Adelaide follow 
specific guidelines to minimise disruption. The City of 
Adelaide requires that events include effective 
communication and the provision of detours for 
pedestrians and bicycles. The aim is to ensure smooth 
operations and minimal inconvenience to the public.  

The City of Adelaide promotes sustainable events, with 
the Sustainable Events Guideline and Sustainable 
Transport Checklist used in organisation to encourage 
more walking/wheeling, cycling and public transport 
use for travel to and from events.  

Figure 4-17 City of Adelaide Sustainable Event Guidelines 

City works guidelines 

The City of Adelaide has developed comprehensive guidelines to manage construction and 
maintenance activities within public spaces, ensuring minimal disruption and maintaining safety. These 
guidelines are encapsulated in several City Works Guides, which include detailed instructions on road, 
footpath, and parkland occupation, managing pedestrian raceways, hoarding, and parking 
requirements. The guidelines also cover the impact on city assets such as trees, roads, and footpaths, 
and provide a framework for managing demolition and construction activities. 

A City Works Permit is mandatory for works completed by commercial companies or construction works 
in public areas (with exception of utilities and local/state government works). The permit process 
requires submitting detailed plans that outline the scope of work, impact assessments, and traffic 
management strategies. The guidelines emphasise the importance of timely and effective 
communication with the public to ensure awareness of potential disruptions. The City also engages in 
regular reviews and updates of these guidelines to incorporate feedback and improve service delivery, 
ensuring that the evolving needs of the city's infrastructure and community are met.  

Events 

Adelaide hosts major events such as the Adelaide 500, Adelaide Fringe, and Tour Down Under, which 
are significant for the local economy and cultural identity. These events often necessitate road closures, 
detours, and adjustments to public transport schedules, impacting access and movement across the 
city. 

Infrastructure Works 

Regular maintenance and upgrade works, including road resurfacing, utility installations, and urban 
redevelopment projects, are critical for preserving and improving Adelaide’s infrastructure. These works 
frequently intersect with transport networks, creating temporary disruptions that affect different road 
users.  

Figure 4-18 presents an overview of the scale of development across the City of Adelaide, denoting 
developments which have been approved in green and commenced in orange. This is reflective of the 
growth aspirations for the LGA as outlined in City Plan.  

Page 116



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

47 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-18 Graphic mapping representation of the developments within the City of Adelaide and neighbouring suburbs 
that have been approved and commenced construction  

Source: PlanSA 3D Development Activity Tracker, 2025 

 

Transport Disruptions 

Temporary road closures, detours, and service changes during events and works impact various 
transport modes. These disruptions can disproportionately affect vulnerable users, such as pedestrians, 
cyclists, and public transport patrons, highlighting the need for targeted mitigation and communication 
strategies. 

Challenges 

Managing events, works, and transport disruptions is a complex task that requires careful coordination 
to balance the needs of different users and minimise impacts on the city's transport network. 

Key challenges to improve transport for events and disruptions include: 

• Coordinating event logistics and transport operations: Avoiding conflicts and ensuring smooth 
integration of events with ongoing transport activities. 

• Minimising impacts on walking and cycling networks: Maintaining safe and accessible routes 
for pedestrians and cyclists during disruptions. 

• Providing clear and timely communication: Keeping businesses, residents, and transport users 
informed about changes to access and travel conditions to help them plan effectively. 

4.2 Key Transport Challenges and Opportunities 

Transport challenges and opportunities usually do not sit neatly within a single transport mode or a city 
operational function. Respective modes and operations influence each other, as noted in the themes of 
this Report (Section 0). This section highlights these overarching challenges and opportunities.   

4.2.1 How we travel influences our health 

Trips undertaken by walking and riding improve our health by increasing our physical activity compared 
to car trips, which are a sedentary activity. In metropolitan South Australia, 63.1% of adults and 33.1% 
of children are considered overweight or obese35, which is a top five cause of death in Australia. The 

 

35 Preventative Health SA (2023). South Australian Population Health Survey, 2023 Summary Report. Government of South 
Australia https://www.preventivehealth.sa.gov.au/assets/downloads/SAPHS/SAPHS-Summary-report-2023.pdf 

Page 117



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

48 AECOM

  

more trips that Adelaide residents undertake by walking or riding can reduce the percentage of people 
overweight or obese, and therefore improve our mortality rates. 

Car trips in the city centre impact our health in a number of ways. Trips by car not only contribute 
towards greenhouse gas emissions, they also create air and noise pollution. Air pollution can 
cause/impact diseases such as asthma and other respiratory conditions. Noise pollution impacts urban 
amenity, liveability, and the quality of our mental health. Wide road corridors to support increased car 
use results in community severance and can cause social isolation. Locations with higher car traffic 
volumes and speeds can also increase the risk of injuries, and death, caused by crashes. In 2022 there 
was 71 lives lost in South Australia, with over half occurring on metropolitan roads in Adelaide36. Speed 
was a contributing factor in 44% of these crashes37. 

Improving our street environment by reducing air and noise pollution, making it safer to cross the road, 
and upgrading facilities for all people including children, older people and those with diverse needs, can 
make our streets healthier and more attractive. Healthier streets provide people with the opportunity to 
ride, walk and catch public transport more regularly in a safe environment with less space dedicated to 
cars. Creating an environment where people are comfortable to spend time in include features such as 
wide paths, cycleways, shade, shelter and places to stop and rest combined with many activities to see 
and do. 

4.2.2 Economic benefits and costs of how we travel 

Adelaide is reaching a tipping point where the economic costs of car dependency are becoming 
unsustainable. The 2019 Australian Infrastructure Audit38 highlighted the significant toll congestion 
takes on the city’s economy, estimating a cost of $1.44 billion in 2016, with projections indicating this 
could rise to $2.6 billion by 2031 if no action is taken. This growth in congestion is primarily driven by 
the city’s reliance on private vehicles for commuter traffic. As the population grows and urban sprawl 
continues, the demand for private car use has intensified, leading to increased traffic congestion, longer 
commute times, and higher emissions. 

City Plan acknowledges that a more sustainable and efficient transport network is crucial for mitigating 
the rising costs of congestion and improving the overall economic health of the city. The plan stresses 
that reducing car dependency and prioritising public transport, cycling, and walking will not only help 
alleviate traffic congestion but also create a more vibrant, accessible, and liveable urban environment. 
By enhancing public transport infrastructure—such as buses, trams, and trains—and improving active 
transport facilities, the city can offer residents, workers, and visitors more convenient, affordable, and 
sustainable travel options. This shift is essential for improving productivity, reducing travel time, and 
lowering transport-related emissions, which in turn support long-term economic growth and 
sustainability. 

To avoid the escalating economic costs associated with car dependency, Adelaide must diversify its 
transport options and encourage a shift toward public and active transport. Expanding and improving 
public transport infrastructure, including more reliable bus and tram services, as well as creating safer 
and more convenient cycling and walking networks, can reduce congestion and decrease the strain on 
roads. By addressing these transport inefficiencies, Adelaide can not only improve quality of life for its 
residents but also support business growth and economic productivity.  

How to Reduce Economic Costs of Congestion: 

• Expand and enhance public transport networks, including frequency, coverage, and accessibility39. 

• Develop and implement more pedestrian and cycling infrastructure to encourage active transport. 

• Invest in technologies that optimise traffic flow, such as smart traffic management and demand-
responsive transport services. 

• Prioritise mixed-use developments near transport hubs to reduce car dependency and improve local 
accessibility. 

 

36 Government of South Australia(2022). 2022 Lives Lost in South Australia. 
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/1349052/2022-Lives-Lost-in-South-Australia.pdf 
37 Government of South Australia(2022). 2022 Lives Lost in South Australia. 
https://www.dit.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/1349052/2022-Lives-Lost-in-South-Australia.pdf 
38 Infrastructure Australia. (2019). 2019 Australian Infrastructure Audit. Infrastructure Australia 
39 Infrastructure SA. (2020). 20-year state infrastructure strategy. Government of South Australia. 

Page 118



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

49 AECOM

  

Investing in space efficient transport will also help reduce the financial strain caused by traffic delays, 
saving billions each year. A more efficient transport network, focused on providing better connectivity, 
reduced congestion, and increased mobility, will support the city’s growing population and economy. 
This will allow Adelaide to remain a competitive, attractive, and prosperous city, fostering job creation, 
business growth, and improved quality of life for all its residents. Ensuring that the transport system 
aligns with the city’s long-term vision for urban development is key to achieving these goals while 
safeguarding the economic, environmental, and social wellbeing of the city. 

4.2.3 Car dependency to and within the City is high 

Adelaide is heavily dependent on car travel, with approximately 85% of daily trips taken using motor 
vehicles. Operations are characterised by pronounced but relatively short peak periods in the mornings 
and evenings, with many of the daily trips being to and from the City of Adelaide. This high number of 
cars and motorbikes in the city contributes to noise pollution, and increased emissions and is likely to 
increase with in line with residential population growth. Infrastructure Australia expects daily car trips 
across Adelaide to increase by 26% by 2031—that is up to 6.2 million car trips each day, with the cost 
of road congestion to increase to $7.6 million per weekday.40 

There were 3,170 additional household cars reported in the census between 2016 and 2021. 

This can be partially attributed to user preference, historically low levels of congestion and the fact 
Adelaide has the greatest availability of car parking in the CBD of all capital cities (25.2 parking spots 
per 100 workers) and the second lowest daily parking price41. 

Infrastructure SA's 20-Year State Infrastructure Strategy42 highlights the evolving role of car parking 
within urban areas and the need to adapt infrastructure to changing transport behaviours. The Strategy 
discusses the importance of optimising land use by reducing the dependence on large, underutilised car 
parks, especially in city centres. It recommends integrating smart parking systems and supporting 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure to meet future demand. By shifting parking priorities and 
improving access to public and active transport options, the strategy aims to alleviate congestion, 
improve sustainability, and ensure that parking infrastructure contributes to the efficient use of urban 
space. 

Despite the increase in car ownership across Greater Adelaide, the 2021 Census car ownership data 
demonstrated that City households have much lower car ownership compared to households in Greater 
Adelaide. The percentage of City households without a car has remained at approximately 30% since 
2011.43  

Size of City of Adelaide  

The Census indicates that a significant proportion of resident workers drove to work, despite these trips 
being distances that most people could walk, or cycle. 

The City of Adelaide is only 15.5km2 in size. There is an opportunity for more people to choose to 
walk/wheel, use micromobility or public transport for their relatively short trips.  

4.2.4 Our transport choices can reduce emissions and help us respond to climate change 

Our transport choices play a crucial role in reducing emissions and addressing climate change in the 
City of Adelaide. During community engagement, participants highlighted the importance of shifting 
away from private vehicle use toward low-emission alternatives such as walking, cycling, public 
transport, and electric vehicles. Transport accounts for a significant share of the city’s carbon 
emissions, but despite a growth in city users and associated emissions from transport44, Adelaide is 
well-positioned to lead the transition to sustainable mobility. The city's compact layout, short commuting 
distances, and ongoing investments in protected cycleways, pedestrian infrastructure, and public EV 
charging provide a strong foundation for reducing reliance on fossil fuels. Encouraging more residents 

 

40 Infrastructure Australia (2019) Urban Transport Crowding and Congestion – Australian Infrastructure Audit 2019 – 
Supplementary report, June 2019 
41 Farren, N, Milou, C, et al (2015). The evolution of car parking – technology creating risk and opportunity. Colliers International. 
42 Infrastructure SA. (2020). 20-year state infrastructure strategy. Government of South Australia 
43 Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2021). 2021 Census of population and housing. 
44 City of Adelaide (2025) Tracking greenhouse gas emissions. Retrieved from https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/about-
adelaide/our-sustainable-city/tracking-greenhouse-gas-emissions/  

Page 119

https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/about-adelaide/our-sustainable-city/tracking-greenhouse-gas-emissions/
https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/about-adelaide/our-sustainable-city/tracking-greenhouse-gas-emissions/


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

50 AECOM

  

and workers to walk, wheel, or use public and active transport could significantly cut emissions while 
promoting healthier and more vibrant streets. 

The City of Adelaide’s Integrated Climate Strategy45 outlines the importance of prioritising electrified 
transport and expanding the city’s EV charging infrastructure as key steps toward achieving net-zero 
emissions. Supporting the transition to electric vehicles, particularly in residential areas with limited off-
street parking, will enhance access to low-emission travel options while aligning with the city’s 
renewable energy targets. When combined with enhanced active transport networks and public 
transport upgrades, these efforts will help create a more sustainable and liveable city, ensuring long-
term emissions reductions and greater resilience to the impacts of climate change. 

4.2.5 Streets and footpaths are congested with all modes and create barriers to movement 

Our streets and footpaths serve a number of uses, from bicycle parking to outdoor dining and public 
transport stops to key movement corridors. Adelaide is the only city among its peers where the number 
of hours lost to traffic congestion has increased since 2019, showing a 16% rise, while other cities 
experienced a 27% decrease46. This is more likely to lead to conflicts between modes and can act as a 
deterrent for people to travel to and move within the city.  

Roads within the City of Adelaide support a number of modes and often have small delineations 
between different modes (e.g. bicycle lanes, bus lanes, parking and motor vehicles) creating safety 
hazards and increasing the potential for conflicts.  

In addition, footpaths often serve a number of uses, impacting businesses and people and freight 
movements. Currently, outdoor dining, freight and deliveries, micromobility and cycle parking all occupy 
space on footpaths, reducing the overall function of these streets. coordination with complex regulatory 
frameworks overseen by a number of different authorities making changes more challenging.   

By untangling regulatory frameworks and supporting all movements by optimising our road spaces 
people are more likely to travel to the city and feel more comfortable moving within our city.  

4.2.6 Networks within and around the City are incomplete 

In addition to the congested nature of our streets and footpaths, many of our networks within the City 
are incomplete or disjointed, particularly for cycling and public transport. This makes it hard for people 
to navigate the City and discourages people from using more sustainable modes such as bikes and 
public transport.  

Key routes for walking and wheeling can be interrupted by disconnected pathways, or temporary 
construction projects, events, and closures, making travel inconsistent and challenging particularly for 
vulnerable users such as people with disabilities, older adults, and families with young children. The 
cycling network faces similar barriers, with bike lanes that can end abruptly or merge with high-traffic 
areas, reducing both safety and useability. 

Public transport users encounter delays and disruptions due to detours and limited connectivity, 
particularly during major events and construction activities. The lack of a comprehensive network 
undermines efforts to promote sustainable transport and exacerbates car dependency, contributing to 
increased congestion and emissions. Addressing these gaps by enhancing connections between key 
cycling, walking, and increasing the coverage of public transport routes, can encourage greater uptake 
of active and public transport and support Adelaide’s broader transport and climate goals. 

  

 

45 City of Adelaide. (2024). Integrated climate strategy. City of Adelaide. 
46 Committee for Adelaide, The Business of Cities. (2023). Benchmarking Adelaide Report. 

Page 120



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

51 AECOM

  

4.2.7 High vehicle speed limits undermine safe transport and healthy streets 

The issue of speed limits presents a significant challenge in shaping a sustainable and safe transport 
network for the City. One of the primary barriers is the desire to balance traffic flow with pedestrian and 
cycling safety, as higher speed limits increase the risk of severe crashes, particularly for vulnerable 
road users.  

Current speed limits across the city range from 10 km/h to 60 km/h, with some roads in key areas 
exceeding the Safe System speed for pedestrian and cycling safety. This disparity complicates the 
creation of a cohesive, user-friendly transport network that accommodates both vehicle traffic and 
active transport users. According to the Citywide Speed Limit Review47, implementing lower speed 
limits would align with international best practices, reduce traffic-related injuries, and enhance the 
overall safety and liveability of Adelaide’s streets. 

However, there are challenges in reducing speed limits across the city. While research consistently 
shows that lower speed limits lead to fewer and less severe accidents, implementing these changes 
can face resistance, particularly from drivers who may perceive longer travel times or restrictions in 
road use as a disadvantage. A citywide speed reduction also requires significant infrastructure 
investment to reinforce these changes, such as signage and road treatments that encourage slower 
speeds.  

The strategic alignment of these changes with the City’s broader sustainability and health goals, 
including the Integrated Climate Strategy and the Wellbeing Plan, highlights the importance of reducing 
emissions and noise, improving road safety, and creating a more walkable and bike-friendly city. For 
these benefits to be fully realised, the city must effectively communicate the advantages of reduced 
speed limits and work closely with stakeholders to ensure smooth implementation. 

4.2.8 Balancing competing transport needs with road safety priorities 

Road safety remains a complex challenge in the City of Adelaide due to the varied transport demands 
placed on urban streets. Vulnerable road users, including pedestrians and cyclists, face risks from both 
infrastructure limitations and vehicle-dominated street designs. Insufficient pedestrian crossings, poorly 
designed intersections, and limited cycling infrastructure exacerbate safety concerns, often forcing 
these users to navigate areas without adequate protection. Improving road safety requires a 
combination of measures, such as enhancing pedestrian crossings with shorter wait times, increasing 
the visibility of intersections, and expanding separated cycling paths to reduce conflicts with vehicles. 

In addition to concerns about the speed of vehicle traffic, feedback from the community has highlighted 
additional safety priorities, including better lighting on paths and streets to improve nighttime safety and 
improved wayfinding to help users navigate safely. Adelaide's Safe System approach acknowledges 
that strengthening all aspects of the road environment—such as road design, user education, and 
vehicle safety—can significantly reduce fatalities and injuries. Complementary measures such as 
increased traffic calming, road user education, and investments in public transport infrastructure also 
play a crucial role in enhancing road safety and encouraging a shift toward active and sustainable 
transport options. These interventions aim to create a safer, more inclusive urban transport system for 
all users. 

The South Australian Road Safety Strategy 2020–203048 reinforces these goals by prioritising safer 
road infrastructure and speed management as critical interventions to reduce deaths and serious 
injuries. The strategy emphasises the importance of creating a "Safe System," where road design, 
vehicle safety, and speed limits are coordinated to protect road users. Speed limit reductions, 
particularly in high-risk zones such as intersections, residential streets, and key transport corridors, are 
critical to achieving the state’s target of reducing road trauma by 50% by 2030. Combined with 
improved pedestrian crossings, reduced vehicle dominance, and infrastructure upgrades, Adelaide’s 
speed limit review presents an opportunity to align local strategies with state and national goals for 
safer, more inclusive streets 

  

 

47 City of Adelaide. (2024). Citywide speed limit review. City of Adelaide. 
48 South Australian Government. (2020). South Australian road safety strategy to 2031: Towards zero together. South Australian 
Department for Infrastructure and Transport. 

Page 121



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

52 AECOM

  

4.2.9 Events are a priority for the City but can also cause transport disruptions 

Adelaide’s identity as a vibrant events city offers substantial economic benefits but also presents 
challenges to the function of its transport network. Major events, such as the Adelaide Fringe Festival, 
Tour DownUnder, Adelaide 500, the Christmas Pageant, and WOMAdelaide, attract hundreds of 
thousands of visitors and generate significant local spending, job creation, and business growth. The 
2024 Impact Report for the Fringe Festival identified that the event generated a significant economic 
impact, including $121M in new money to South Australia and 13,553 direct and indirect jobs created.49 
In addition to economic benefits, major events offer an opportunity for the City to encourage Travel 
Behaviour Change as private vehicle transport becomes less desirable due to decreased parking 
availability and road closures.  

However, the scale of these events often necessitates extensive road closures, public transport 
diversions, and detours for people walking, wheeling, or cycling, leading to congestion and disruptions 
to daily commutes. These disruptions impact access to businesses, public spaces, and essential 
services, highlighting the importance of strategic transport planning to balance the city’s economic 
vitality with liveability and accessibility. 

Managing transport disruptions during events must also consider the South Australian Major Events Act 
2013, which allows some major events to bypass local regulations. This limits the City of Adelaide’s 
ability to enforce local measures to mitigate disruptions, making coordination with state authorities 
essential. During community engagement, concerns were raised about the unpredictable nature of 
detours, particularly for active transport users, and the lack of safe, accessible alternatives.  

To address these challenges, the City must continue promoting sustainable transport options during 
events, such as enhancing public transport services, improving signage and wayfinding for detours, and 
leveraging closures as opportunities to redesign streets that prioritise walking, wheeling, and cycling. By 
integrating these strategies, Adelaide can maintain its status as an events capital while fostering a more 
resilient and inclusive transport network. 

4.2.10 The City depends on parking revenue and changes to cost structures are not popular 

The City of Adelaide is renowned for its vibrant public spaces and streets, which play a crucial role in 
the city's liveability and economic vitality. As the city continues to grow, managing limited street and 
kerbside space becomes increasingly important. Kerb space serves a variety of critical functions such 
as loading zones, accessible parking and general parking, and pick-up/drop-off points for passengers 
and goods.  

Currently, the city relies on parking revenue to support operations, with 2024/25 income from paid (on-
street and off-street) parking and compliance projected to represent about 20% of Council’s total 
income, which is a significant revenue source required to support Council’s service delivery and 
projects. Whilst this parking revenue represents a significant portion of income, the spread of paid 
parking is not uniform throughout the city, which leads to confusion for drivers, an income loss for the 
City, and spaces where value is not maximised. Free on-street parking within the city costs ratepayers 
and diverts resources from being allocated to essential services and infrastructure projects.  

The City of Adelaide’s reliance on parking revenue presents a challenge as the city seeks to shift 
towards a more sustainable transport model. With on- and off-street parking generating a substantial 
portion of municipal revenue, adjustments to parking fees or availability are often met with public 
resistance. This has resulted in a long-standing expectation among drivers for low-cost, abundant 
parking options. However, this expectation conflicts with the city’s goal of reducing car dependency to 
address congestion, emissions, and liveability issues. Managing this balance requires careful 
communication and policy design to minimise public dissatisfaction while pursuing long-term 
sustainability goals. 

Maintaining parking affordability and availability comes with opportunity costs that affect the broader 
urban environment. Excessive parking supply contributes to inefficient land use, discourages the 
adoption of active and public transport, and perpetuates congestion as drivers circulate in search of free 
or low-cost spaces. Shifting the cost structure of parking, whether through dynamic pricing, emissions-
based fees, or reallocating parking spaces for other urban uses, has the potential to generate 
substantial benefits. The entire community must remain at the centre of any decisions around changes, 

 

49 2024 Impact Report (2024). Adelaide Fringe.t 

Page 122

https://adelaidefringe.com.au/adelaide-fringe-impact


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

53 AECOM

  

emphasising the importance of engaging stakeholders and building community support to successfully 
implement progressive parking reforms. 

This Strategy looks to address the discrepancy between kerbside value and function without impacting 
revenue from parking through an integrated parking management approach.   

4.2.11 Children want to travel sustainably but parents are concerned about traffic safety 

Supporting children’s independence requires streets and paths that enable them to walk, wheel or cycle 
safely to destinations such as schools, parks, libraries, and shops. Streets designed to prioritise safety, 
comfort, and direct connectivity are essential to fostering a child-friendly environment where children 
can travel freely without needing constant supervision. Walking and cycling offer more than just a 
means of transport, they provide opportunities for social interaction, cognitive development, and the 
building of life skills, making them an important aspect of a child’s development. Children often express 
a strong desire to walk or wheel to school, valuing the sense of freedom, adventure, and social 
interaction it provides. Walking with friends or siblings allows them to experience their surroundings in 
ways that are engaging and fun, fostering a connection with their community. During community 
engagement, many children highlighted that walking or riding to school makes them feel more 
independent and gives them a chance to be active and explore their environment. However, their ability 
to do so is often limited by concerns about traffic safety and poorly connected paths, underscoring the 
importance of creating child-friendly infrastructure that enables their preferred way of travelling. 

Data from recent school travel reviews50 highlight how the current reliance on private vehicles 
significantly reduces the uptake of walking and cycling among students. Limited safe crossings, high 
vehicle speeds near schools, and the lack of connected pedestrian networks often leave parents with 
few alternatives Many parents opt to drive their children due to concerns about road safety, inadequate 
pedestrian infrastructure, and unsafe traffic conditions. Addressing these concerns through well-
designed infrastructure—such as improved crossings, lower vehicle speeds, and shaded, accessible 
paths—can help increase the uptake of walking and wheeling. By supporting active travel, the city can 
promote healthier, more independent mobility for children while reducing congestion and reliance on 
private vehicles. 

4.2.12 There is a lack of shade and rest facilities in the City, reducing the appeal of travelling 
independently 

The need for shade and rest facilities across the City presents a challenge for both residents and 
visitors, particularly during hot weather or for those with limited mobility. Many footpaths lack adequate 
tree canopy coverage, leaving pedestrians exposed to extreme temperatures that are expected to 
worsen due to climate change. This is especially important for people with disabilities, older adults, and 
families with young children, who may require frequent rest breaks and protection from the elements. 
Hot surfaces, including handles and seats, exacerbate the discomfort and pose a barrier to those 
attempting to travel independently through the city. Without shaded walking paths and well-placed rest 
amenities, the city risks discouraging walking and wheeling as viable transport options, impacting 
liveability and access. 

Addressing this issue will require significant investment in greening the city through the planting of 
shade-providing trees and the addition of built structures such as awnings or covered rest areas along 
key walking routes. This is consistent with the Integrated Climate Strategy and the City Plan 2036 goal 
of “greening public spaces, streets, and key transport corridors” to create cooler, more comfortable 
environments. Strategic initiatives could link greening efforts with improved wayfinding, ensuring that 
walking routes to major destinations, such as transport hubs, shops, and parks, are pleasant and 
accessible. The integration of shaded pathways and frequent rest spots with drinking fountains and 
benches could improve comfort, particularly for longer journeys or during peak heat periods. By 
prioritising these interventions, Adelaide can foster a more inclusive environment, encouraging walking 
and wheeling while mitigating the health and comfort challenges posed by inadequate shade and 
resting spaces. 

  

 

50 City of Adelaide. (2024). School travel safety review surveys. Tonkin Consulting. 

Page 123



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

54 AECOM

  

4.2.13 Night-time safety is a challenge in the city, particularly for women and gender diverse 
people 

Night-time safety in the City of Adelaide presents a challenge, particularly for women and gender 
diverse people who report feeling vulnerable when navigating public spaces after dark. During 
community engagement, participants highlighted that poor lighting, limited passive surveillance, and the 
isolating nature of certain areas such as the Park Lands contribute to heightened safety concerns. The 
lack of frequent and reliable public transport options at night further exacerbates this issue, often forcing 
people to walk longer distances or rely on personal vehicles, which can lead to exposure to harassment 
and unsafe environments. This concern is amplified during major events, when the risk of harassment 
and incidents is perceived to be higher due to increased crowds and insufficient security. 

Many women and gender diverse people described altering their travel behaviour at night, often 
avoiding specific areas or opting for costly ride-share services to ensure their safety. Unsafe or poorly lit 
bus stops and intersections were identified as particular hotspots for vulnerability, especially for non-
binary individuals who frequently experience harassment while waiting for transport. Addressing these 
challenges will require a multi-faceted approach, including improved street lighting, targeted safety 
infrastructure at key locations, increased transport options at night, and public messaging campaigns 
focused on bystander intervention. Together, these measures can help foster a safer and more 
inclusive city environment.  

4.3 Gender Impact Assessment and Social Impact Considerations 

We know that diversity in gender, ability, cultural identity, age, sexual orientation and / or religion can 
have an influence on the way people travel, perceive safety and shape their lived experiences in public 
spaces. Therefore reviewing Strategy objectives and outcomes though a gender lens will ensure a more 
inclusive and accessible system for all users.  

Guidance has been taken from the Victorian Government’s Gender Impact Assessment Toolkit & 
Template to prepare this section. The section consolidates findings based on lived experiences 
collected through a number of sources, by both women but also people with disabilities, or from 
different cultural identities, ages, gender identities, sexual orientations or religions, for consideration in 
the development of the Strategy.  

Table 4-3 Key gender impact assessment discussion points  

Key Question Discussion Points  

Are the people who are targeted 
and impacted by the policy 
included in the decision-making? 

• Yes – key stakeholders have been engaged with throughout 
the development of this Strategy, in addition to two public 
consultation periods.  

How does gender influence the 
use and experience of the City of 
Adelaide?  
 
Do you think that people of 
different genders access this 
policy, program or service at the 
same rate? 
 
Does everyone who accesses 
the City of Adelaide have the 
same needs from it? 

• No – it is acknowledged that people use and travel 
to/from/within the City of Adelaide very differently and as such, 
there is also diversity in people’s needs. This may be due to 
mode, trip purpose, time of trip, number of locations to visit, 
which can be related to diversity in gender, ability, cultural 
identity, age, sexual orientation and / or religion.  

• “Research shows that the experience of public space is 
individual and unique. People of different racial backgrounds 
and of different genders, ages, sexuality, disabilities and 
socio-economic staus have very different experiences and 
perceptions of safety in public spaces.” 51 

• Behavioural responses occur based on lived experiences and 
perceptions of safety. 

Do the different social roles and 
responsibilities that people take 
on affect the way people access 
and use this policy, program or 
service? 

• Yes – the roles and responsibilities which people take on can 
have an impact on their travel needs and how / why / when 
they travel and access the City of Adelaide   

 

51 Gender, urban space, and the right to everyday life. Yasminah Beebeejaun, 2017 

Page 124



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

55 AECOM

  

Key Question Discussion Points  

• “Women are more likely … to have extra domestic and care-
giving responsibilities, but fewer transport options. This affects 
their travel patterns. Women are more likely to move between 
multiple destinations throughout their daily commute.” 52 

• “Research suggests that women and men use public transport 
differently, which is linked to their employment patterns and 
family and household responsibilities. Women are less likely 
to have access to a car and are more likely to walk and use 
public transport. When travelling on public transport, women 
are often carrying shopping and accompanied by small 
children. Women collecting children from school and childcare 
usually travel outside of peak hour and across towns and 
cities. However, most public transport is designed for people 
who travel in and out of city and town centres, at peak hour 
and without children, prams and shopping.” 53 

• It is noted that there is a significant diversity of land uses 
across the City of Adelaide, and the type of service being 
accessed can influence a person’s way of travel.  

4.3.1 What does the research and evidence tell us? 

4.3.1.1 City of Adelaide Gender & Safety Focus Groups 

To understand the experience of women who come to the city at night, the City of Adelaide’s Social 
Planning Team coordinated two gender and safety focus groups in June 202354. The sessions aimed to 
understand how women and gender diverse people plan their night out, how they navigate the city at 
night and what they feel would improve their experience.  

A note on terminology: Perceptions of safety or perceived safety refers to an individual’s subjective level 
of comfort or safety and their perception of risk/danger. 

The focus group included a mapping exercise, where participants identified locations where they feel 
safe or unsafe. The maps showed clear patterns regarding participants perceptions and experiences of 
safety around areas with high pedestrian traffic, well-lit paths of travel and familiarity through regular 
use (where people work or where they catch public transport). For areas participants identified as 
unsafe, reasons included that an area felt isolated/deserted, that the area felt hypermasculine, and 
areas where lighting was poor or required waiting, such as car park lifts or bus stops.  

Qualitative data was also shared by participants about their experience as using the city as consumers, 
workers, students and visitors. The following key findings have been considered throughout the 
development of this Strategy and align with other sources of feedback:  

• E-Scooters are a useful tool for moving across and through the city – moving fast gives a greater 
sense of safety because it’s harder to be stopped 

• Public transport after dark is seen as riskier. No security on trams or buses. Trains are seen as a 
safer option to get on due to security guard presence, but suburban stops differ in perceptions and 
experiences of safety. After Midnight Bus Stops need to be easier to identify, including where they 
are going and would benefit from security presence to increase sense of safety at these sites.   

• Provide clearly identified ride collection zones. These zones should be well lit, have CCTV 
coverage/monitoring and regular police patrols.  

• Crossing points need to provide pedestrian priority so women aren’t waiting with people they don’t 
want to wait with. Wider footpaths help to reduce congestion and the chance for altercations 
between city users at peak times.  

• Carparks need to be well maintained in terms of signage/wayfinding, lighting, and cleanliness.  

 

52 Gender makes a world of difference for safety on public transport. Nicole Kalms & Hannah Korsmeyer, 2017 
53 Ten ways local government can advance gender equity: Infrastructure. Gender Equity in Local Government Partnership, 2012 
54 Gender And Safety Focus Groups Summary Report, City of Adelaide, 2023 

Page 125



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

56 AECOM

  

• Women avoid the city during certain major sporting events due to an increase in harassment from 
male patrons. Note this isn’t the same for arts events, with participants saying they attract a more 
diverse and inclusive crowd.   

• The role of better lighting design and maintenance to enhance feelings of safety.  

• The Park Lands are seen as a barrier to access, are considered too dark and dangerous at night 
and current transport options such as paid e-scooters and trams finish at the edges. There is an 
opportunity for designated paths of travel through the Park Lands which are lit.  

 

Figure 4-19 Map of Adelaide city square mile with green dots representing places where participants feel safe 

Source: City of Adelaide, 2023  

Page 126



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

57 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-20 Map of Adelaide city square mile with red dots representing places where participants feel unsafe 

Source: City of Adelaide, 2023  

 

2021 Census 

Table 4-4 outlines key population and demographics data from the 2021 Census for the Adelaide Local 
Government Area (LGA). The following information has been considered as part of this GIA:   

• Just under half of the population in Adelaide LGA identify as female  

• Over a third of people residing in the Adelaide LGA were born overseas (45%), with a third of 
residents speaking a language other than English at home  

• A total of 3% of people residing in the Adelaide LGA require a carer for core activities.   

Table 4-4 Adelaide LGA demographics data (2021) 

Description Number Percentage  

Population 

Estimated resident population 25,026 - 

Estimated resident population - males 12,770 51.0% 

Estimated resident population - females 12,259 49.0% 

Median age - persons (years) 32 - 

People 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples 341 1.4% 

Total born overseas 13,133 52.5% 

Page 127



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

58 AECOM

  

Description Number Percentage  

Religious affiliation - 49.2% 

Speaks a language other than English at home 4,311 38.8% 

Health & Disability 

Persons who have need for assistance with core activities 850 3.4% 

Source: Region Summary: Adelaide. Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2021 

 

4.3.1.2 City User Profile 2023 

The City User Profile assesses how, when and by whom the city is used. Most recent data for analysis 
was collected in 2023 by NewFocus55. The survey considers transport, safety and city experience.  

The primary reasons that people visit the City of Adelaide is for employment, shopping and education, 
however the frequency which people visit the city has decreased in recent years. Public transport and 
private vehicle are the primary mode of travel. Workers and students rely more on public transport for 
travel, while residents prefer walking.  

People generally feel safe in the city during the day (97%) but are concerned at night (83% to 23% 
dependent on time). This is a consistent pattern by each type of city user. For those who visited the city 
at night, 64% reported feeling safe between 8pm and 1am, however 46% reported feeling safe between 
1am and 8am.  

Community safety was noted as the Council service of greatest importance (91%) followed by streets 
and transportation (90%). However, there was a perception that these did not completely meet the 
expectations of the community.  

4.3.1.3 YourGround Victoria 

Although the YourGround Victoria Report56 is focused on experiences and data from Victoria, there are 
a number of key learnings from this study by Monash University XYX Lab & CrowdSpot that can be 
considered for this Strategy. The following findings of the crowd sourced survey and summary report 
are of note to understand the lived experiences of diverse people and their feelings of safety. 

A number of reasons were outlined for places to feel safe and to lack safety. Figure 4-21 outlines the 
reasons why respondents felt safe and the proportion of survey responses. The top three reasons for 
safety were that the location was well-maintained, that people could see ahead of where they were 
travelling, and that the pathway was safe. 

 

55 City User Profile 2023 Presentation, New Focus, 2024 
56 YourGround Victoria Report, Monash University XYX Lab & CrowdSpot, 2021 

Page 128



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

59 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-21 Reasons for a place feeling safe 

 
Figure 4-22 outlines the reasons why respondents did not feel safe and the proportion of survey 
responses. The top four reasons for a lack of safety were poor lighting, the behaviour of others, a lack 
of people around and difficulty in seeing what and who was ahead.   

When assessed by time of day, poor lighting is the top reason for dawn / dusk and after dark times, 
while the behaviours of others was the primary reason for a lack of safety during daylight.   

The YourGround Victoria Report outlines the impact the time of day has on feelings of safety: it may 
amplify some reasons for a lack of safety with some places changing from safe to unsafe based on the 
time of day.   

With the impact of their experience in a space, 40% of survey respondents now only go with other 
people to the location and 12% never went back to the location. In addition, 42% of survey respondents 
reported a behaviour change and provided the following responses outlined in Table 4-5.   

Page 129



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

60 AECOM

  

 

Figure 4-22  Reasons for lack of safety  

Table 4-5 Behavioural responses to incidents or conditions 

 
 

Figure 4-23 outlines the reasons for why respondents did not feel safe in a public transport context. The 
top reasons for a lack of safety were the behaviour of others, poor lighting and a lack of people around.   

  

Figure 4-23 Reasons for lack of safety by environment – public transport 

  

Page 130



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

61 AECOM

  

More than any other location, women and gender-diverse people changed their journey plans and 
routes, and minimised their use at certain times of the day while using or accessing public transport. 

Table 4-6 and Table 4-7 outline the reasons for a lack of safety for LGBTIQ+, gender non-conforming 
and minoritised groups, including First Nations, people living with a disability and migrant / refugees, in 
comparison to all participants. Lighting and the behaviour of others remain the most common reasons.  

Table 4-6 Unsafe pins, reasons for lack of safety for LGBTIQ+ and gender non-confirming participants 

 

Table 4-7 Unsafe pins, reasons for lack of safety by minoritised groups 

 

The YourGround Victoria Report outlines a number of suggestions made by survey participants for 
public transport locations; focused on lighting and CCTV:   

• Participants did not often suggest CCTV as a solution for making a place feel safer. 

• Good lighting can improve women’s experiences of places and allow them to feel safe when alone 
after dark. A night-time strategy and considered lighting design are important to improving 
perceptions of safety, and creating more inclusive experiences whilst balancing environmental and 
technical requirements.57 

• Good lighting is not the same as more or brighter lighting, as overlit areas can make women as 
thought they are hypervisible and therefore more vulnerable.58 “The analysis showed that 

 

57 Designing better lighting fact sheet. Community Crime Prevention & Victorian State Government, 2020 
58 Perceptions of Safety Lighting Study. Arup, 2019 

Page 131



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

62 AECOM

  

consistent and layered lighting – where there are multiple light sources and where surfaces with 
different reflective values are taken into consideration – makes women feel most safe. This kind of 
lighting reduces the “floodlit effect”, the sharp drop-off of light beyond the path, and the potential for 
glare and contrast to blind and disorientate.” 59 

4.3.1.4 Personal Security Survey: Feelings of General Safety  

The ABS Personal Safety Survey60 in 2016 asked respondents about their feelings of general safety, 
with a number of questions focused on public transport and travelling during the day and after dark. The 
following findings from the survey are of note to this Strategy to understand the lived experiences of 
people:   

• 41% of men and only 27% of women reported waiting for and using public transport alone after dark  

• 2.8% of men and 14% of women reported not using public transport after dark due to feeling unsafe  

• One in thirteen women (7.7%) felt unsafe walking in their local area alone after dark, compared to 
one in twenty men (5.1%)  

• One in four women (26%) did not walk in their local area alone after dark because they felt unsafe 
compared to one in twenty-four men (4.2%). 

4.3.1.5 Transport, Children & Gender Equity   

Active school travel is important to children’s health, wellbeing and development, and studies suggest it 
improves children’s ability to learn. Creating streets that enable children’s independent mobility is an 
important consideration. This is because parent-accompaniment travel is mostly associated with driving 
and not active travel to school. Trip-chaining, a series of trips that start and end at home or another 
origin, and involve multiple destinations and purposes, is often associated with school travel and in 
vehicles. Active travel to school helps to reduce this. 

As a gender stereotype, women are more likely to accompany children to and from school. There are 
benefits to both children and women by creating environments for children’s independent mobility  

We also know that there are intersectionality issues associated with children’s travel, including that girls 
are less likely to be allowed independent mobility and that single mothers are less likely to allow CIM61 .  

Starting school is a significant life event, which is often considered a key opportunity for the 
establishment of new and healthy travel habits, such as active and independent travel to school.  

Research by the Department for Infrastructure & Transport Way2Go Program and recent surveys of 
City of Adelaide school students as part of the School Travel Safety Reviews found that a significant 
number of children who are currently being driven would like to use active travel or public transport.  

Creating better and safer streets that enable children to walk/wheel is key to creating a child friendly 
city: providing children with an ability to be active participants in public life. When parents/carers do not 
think that streets are safe, they limit their children’s freedom and development. This then impacts 
parent/carer time and can reduce the available time to work or study. 

4.3.1.6 Consultation  

As part of the development of this Strategy, the City of Adelaide Gender Equality Streeting Group and 
Access & Inclusion Advisory Panel have been engaged with to better understand people’s lived 
experience and the diversity of uses of our city. Key outcomes from these sessions have been 
integrated throughout the transport challenges and opportunities, and responding future actions.  

Further stakeholder and community engagement will occur as part of Stage 2 (see Section Error! 
Reference source not found.).  

  

 

59 More lighting alone does not create safer cities. Look at what research with young women tells us. Nicole Kalms, 2019 
60 Personal Safety Survey, Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016 
61 Crawford, Sharinne; Bennetts, Shannon; Cooklin, Amanda; Hackworth, Naomi; Nicholson, Jan; D'Esposito, Fabrizio; et al. 
(2015). Parental fear as a barrier to children’s independent mobility and resultant physical activity: final report 2015. La Trobe. 
https://doi.org/10.26181/5c3d64c04f071 

Page 132



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

63 AECOM

  

Key transport, gender and social impact considerations 

• People of different genders, ages, sexuality, disabilities, racial background and socio-economic 
status have very different experiences and perceptions of safety in public spaces. Lived 
experiences can influence our behaviour responses and the way / if we travel. Sometimes these 
experiences can deter people participating in public life or restrict the ways in which they do.  

• How our city is designed and managed influences our perception of safety. Elements such as 
lighting, wayfinding, line of sight, width of footpaths, crossing locations, and passive surveillance 
can make a space feel safe or their absence can make it feel unsafe.  

• People generally feel safe in our city, however they are concerned at night.  

• Public transport is a location where women and diverse groups commonly feel unsafe. There are 
a number of points in a public transport journey where people can feel vulnerable as well as 
interface with the risk of other people’s behaviours. It is common for women and gender-diverse 
to change their journey plans, and minimise public transport use at certain times of the day.  

• A city and transport network that is designed with the needs of women, children and diverse 
groups in mind, improves the liveability, connectivity and inclusion of all people.  

 

  

Page 133



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

64 AECOM

  

4.4 Investment Logic Mapping 

Figure 4-24 presents an overview of the investment logic framework for this Strategy, identifying the key 
problems, benefits and responses for the future of transport within the City of Adelaide. The map below, 
a tool to outline the case for investment in a program, has been informed by the Investment 
Management Standard from the Department of Treasury & Finance (Victoria). This presents the 
considered approach for this Strategy in achieving the vision outlined:  

• The problems identified outline the reasons for the investment in both this Strategy and its delivery  

• By responding to the problems, the City of Adelaide and its community will realise the benefits   

• The responses are possible strategic interventions that could be delivered to address the problems, 
and deliver the benefits and associated KPIs.  

Refer to Section 8.0 for an overview of the proposed policies and actions for delivery, and supporting 
implementation and governance arrangements.  

Figure 4-24 Investment Logic Map  

  

Page 134



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

65 AECOM

  

5.0 Discussion: City Operations & Transport Modes  

The following sections outline the key city operational functions within the City of Adelaide including 
street space, urban servicing and transport disruptions. The vision, benefits, challenges and 
opportunities for these operations are noted; informing the actions included within the Implementation 
Plan for delivery to shape the future of our transport network.  

5.1 Land Use 

Figure 5-1 below indicates the land development zoning plan for the future of the City of Adelaide. This 
zoning will guide the future growth of the LGA, and can be primarily characterised as: 

• Heritage: North Adelaide and the south-eastern portion of the Adelaide CBD 

• Commercial: North of Gouger Street within the Adelaide CBD with pockets  

• Residential: South of Gouger Street and east of Hutt Street 

• Community Facilities: Between North Terrace and River Torrens 

• Environmental Constraint / Recreation: the Park Lands.  

Land use factors such as density, accessibility, mix and connectivity affect travel behavior62. These 
factors have modest individual impacts but are cumulative and synergistic. Land use zoning also has an 
influence on the demand that is generated for these locations both as an origin and as a destination. 

The type of land use shapes factors influencing travel behaviour (e.g., time, cost and convenience) and 
therefore contributes to decisions such as mode choice and time of day. Demographic and economic 
trends (ageing population, rising fuel prices, increasing health and environmental concerns, changing 
consumer location preferences, etc.) tend to increase demand for more accessible, multi-modal 
locations. This then has an influence on the level of activity along a street.  

Decisions about land use planning and transport planning must consider current and future needs of the 
transport system. Alignment between land use and transport planning is critical to providing efficient, 
safe and sustainable movement for people and goods. 

 

62 Land Use Impacts on Transport: How Land Use Factors Affect Travel Behavior, 2024, Victoria Transport Policy Institute, 
Retrieved from https://www.vtpi.org/landtravel.pdf  

Page 135

https://www.vtpi.org/landtravel.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

66 AECOM

  

 

Figure 5-1 Land development zoning within the City of Adelaide  

Source: City Wide Speed Limit Review, Stantec, 2024 

 

5.2 City Operations  

5.2.1 Street Space and Kerbside Management 

The strategic management of this limited space can enhance the efficiency and productivity of our city 
and bring a number of benefits to residents, businesses and visitors. Providing more space for people: 

• Improves the accessibility of our city for people of all ages and abilities, supporting inclusion 
(leading to better public health and mental wellbeing outcomes), equitable access and independent 
movement in the city while accommodating the growing demand from an ageing population (which 
includes a diversity of different physical, sensory, and cognitive abilities that need mobility options) 

• Along with a reduction in footpath clutter can create safer, more pleasant streets, encouraging 
greater use of our streets as places and social interaction / connection.  

• Boosts patronage at local businesses, supporting greater economic activity, while street space for 
outdoor dining, markets, and public activities can stimulate local businesses and create lively 
neighbourhoods. 

• Helps to reduce the amount of travel by private vehicle and associated emissions, contributing to 
better air quality and less noise pollution. Road space optimisation (including the repurposing of on-
road parking spaces) has been shown to be one of most effective methods of increasing walking / 
wheeling and cycling63. 

• That integrates progressive design principles, such as street greening from the Healthy Streets 
Framework, contributes to climate resilience and enhances the city's environmental quality, 

 

63 United Kingdom Chief Medical Officer’s Annual Report 2024 Health in Cities  

Page 136

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6756e67b43b2de5fee8dae87/cmo-annual-report-2024-health-in-cities.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

67 AECOM

  

providing a more comfortable environment for people walking / wheeling, cycling and using public 
transport services. 

• And optimising the amount of space on our roads for vehicles helps to reduce congestion, improve 
traffic flow and the reliability of on-road transport modes.  

While we know that finding the right balance enhances the efficiency and productivity of our city, the 
City of Adelaide does face a number of key challenges in managing the use of our kerbside and 
allocation of our street space:  

• Kerbside parking is often provided at little or no cost. Space is subsidised by the City of Adelaide 
and ratepayers, leading to increased car dependency and therefore congestion.  

• The true value of kerbside space is not recognised. Kerbside areas are often undervalued and 
underused, missing opportunities to improve urban mobility, local businesses and city experience.  

• Visual and physical clutter on footpaths hinders pedestrian movement, safety and urban aesthetics. 
This impacts accessibility and inclusion for people of all ages and abilities and the overall walking 
environment.  

• The City of Adelaide heavily depends on parking revenue. About 24% of City income is sourced 
from parking which is a vital stream for funding municipal services and infrastructure.  

• Proposing modifications to existing kerbside arrangements can lead to community concerns, 
particularly when reallocating parking spaces for other uses is proposed.  

• Footpaths are contested spaces. The space on a footpath is required for multiple uses and users, 
and can result in conflicts between the needs of people, public transport facilities, street greening 
and businesses.  

• Multiple authorities have separate authority over the kerbside space. This can lead to conflicts and 
inefficiencies in street configuration and management.  

• Kerbside space is disproportionately allocated to low-value uses. Extensive on-street parking limits 
the potential for dynamic public spaces and contributes to congestion. 

Street Space & Transport Reliability  

In 2009 significant changes were made to 
Market Street in San Francisco to remove 
cars and reallocate street and kerb space to 
public transport services and people.  

These changes improved public transport 
reliability for 75,000 daily users with minimal 
impact on surrounding car traffic, as nearby 
roads experienced little or no reductions in 
travel speeds, and freed up valuable space 
for pedestrians and the community.     

The street is now car-free, but still allowing 
taxis, paratransit and commercial vehicles. 
Every day, half a million people use Market 
Street as a pedestrian with over 650 cyclists 
an hour during peak hour. Further 
improvements are being made as part of the 
Better Market Street Project.64                     

Image Source: Diane Bentley Raymond (Getty Images) and Lauryn Hill via 

Wired 

 

64 San Fransisco Department of Public Works 

Page 137



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

68 AECOM

  

 
There was strong support from the community and stakeholders during engagement that these 
challenges align with their daily experiences when travelling to, from and within the City of Adelaide.  

The street space does not meet the needs of different people within our community 

The City of Adelaide has heard from our community and know that clutter and obstructions on 
footpaths are a critical issue and impact people’s safety, particularly for people with mobility 
requirements and low vision. The overprovision of both street and kerbside space to vehicles (and 
parking) throughout our city means less space for people walking and wheeling, cyclists and public 
transport. This has resulted in insufficient footpath widths and then footpaths becoming contested; 
requiring a number of uses to be located in a small space such as space for people to walk / wheel 
and linger, greening and shade, public transport facilities, street and outdoor dining furniture, 
signage, and poles.  

Kerbside Management Principles 

Through integrated planning and collaboration among stakeholders, Adelaide can manage kerbside 
spaces more effectively. By fostering partnerships between government, industry, and the community, 
strategies can address deliveries, servicing, waste management, and competing kerbside demands. 

City Servicing 

Dynamic kerbside management systems allow real-time adjustments to loading zones based on 
demand, ensuring efficient service vehicle access. Integrating smart parking solutions with features like 
real-time availability and reservations streamlines operations and reduces traffic impact. 

Real-time kerbside management could improve efficiency for CoA maintenance and cleaning teams by 
ensuring better access to loading zones when needed. However, its implementation would require 
careful planning, including clear communication strategies, protocols for vehicles already in the space 
when control changes, and mechanisms to notify users in advance to avoid conflicts. 

Technological Innovation 

Adopting technological advancements like smart logistics platforms, real-time tracking, and automated 
delivery systems can transform freight and servicing operations in Adelaide. Cleaner and smaller 
vehicles, such as micromobility freight options, further enhance efficiency and reduce costs. 

Urban Freight Consolidation Hubs 

Freight consolidation hubs aggregate goods for distribution using smaller vehicles like electric vans or 
e-cargo bikes. These hubs reduce city-centre congestion and emissions, particularly when direct 
deliveries are less viable. Off-peak delivery scheduling can also optimise operations. 

Urban freight consolidation hubs could be located on the periphery of the city or within underutilised 
spaces rather than in roadways, ensuring they do not impact traffic flow. The City of Adelaide’s role 
could involve identifying suitable locations, facilitating partnerships with logistics providers, and 
supporting policy measures that encourage off-peak deliveries and the use of low-emission vehicles. 

Waste Transport 

Sustainable waste management involves recycling, composting, and smart collection systems. Smart 
bins with sensors and compactors reduce the need for frequent collection trips. Electric or hybrid 
collection vehicles further minimise environmental impacts. 

The feasibility of sustainable waste management depends on whether it applies to existing 
developments or future planning, as each would require different implementation strategies. The City of 

Page 138



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

69 AECOM

  

Adelaide may need to assess past trials or initiatives related to smart waste bins and electric or hybrid 
collection vehicles to determine effectiveness, costs, and potential expansion opportunities. 

Emission Delivery Vehicles 

Transitioning to low-emission vehicles, including electric and hybrid options, cuts urban logistics 
emissions. Incentives like grants and tax benefits can encourage adoption. Low-emission zones further 
promote environmentally friendly technologies, aligning with Adelaide’s sustainability goals and 
improving public health. 

The feasibility of low-emission delivery vehicles in Adelaide depends on infrastructure readiness, 
financial incentives, and regulatory support. The City of Adelaide’s role could include advocating for 
state and federal incentives, supporting charging infrastructure, and exploring low-emission zones, but 
costs would vary based on the scale of implementation and required infrastructure upgrades. 

Greener and More Space-Efficient Deliveries 

Adelaide can support greener delivery practices by promoting smart locker systems, electric cargo 
bikes, and route optimisation software. These initiatives improve delivery efficiency, reduce emissions, 
and enhance the use of urban space. 

Transition to low-emission waste collection vehicles 

Reducing the environmental impact of freight and waste management is a significant challenge. The 
City of Adelaide’s Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 sets the goal to halve the City’s climate impact by 
2030 and make it nil by 2035. This requires a 50% emission reduction from 2020 levels by 2030. 

The transport sector is a major contributor to greenhouse gas emissions, and there is a need to adopt 
cleaner technologies and practices. Initiatives such as electric delivery vehicles, cargo bikes, and low- 
emission zones are critical to achieving sustainability goals. The City of Adelaide is already doing some 
of these things. 

Adopting low-emission or electric waste collection vehicles is another crucial step towards more 
sustainable waste management. These vehicles produce fewer pollutants compared to traditional 
diesel-powered trucks, contributing to improved air quality and reduced greenhouse gas emissions. By 
transitioning to a fleet of low-emission collection vehicles, Adelaide can minimise the environmental 
impact of its waste management operations, aligning with broader sustainability goals. 

Urban freight and deliveries are vital to the functioning and liveability of Adelaide. To support the growth 
of the city and our future strategic objectives, key strategic moves have been identified for the City of 
Adelaide: 

• Reallocate kerbside space for high-value uses by ensuring public land is prioritised for community 
benefits such as active transport infrastructure, public space enhancements, and greening 
initiatives, rather than private servicing needs. 

• Require private developments to accommodate essential functions on-site by strengthening City of 
Adelaide policies and advocating for Planning and Design Code amendments to ensure waste 
collection, servicing areas, and freight loading zones are within property boundaries, reducing 
reliance on public kerbside space. Support the transition to low-emission delivery vehicles by 
advocating for state-level incentives, integrating Intelligent Transport Systems for efficiency, and 
exploring the feasibility of local loading zones prioritising low-emission freight. Foster partnerships 
among local businesses to create collaborative delivery systems that share resources, optimise 
vehicle / freight hubs use, and enhance stakeholder engagement by organising regular forums and 
workshops with key stakeholders to foster a collaborative approach towards logistics 
improvements. 

• Implement  a traffic circulation plan to maintain access to properties while discouraging through 
traffic so essential deliveries and servicing are not impacted by vehicle congestion. 

• Evaluate the feasibility and cost-benefit of flexible kerbside management systems by assessing 
infrastructure requirements, technology needs, and operational impacts. This should include pilot 
programs in high-demand areas to measure congestion reduction, business efficiency, and public 
benefit before considering wider implementation.  

Page 139



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

70 AECOM

  

Melbourne’s Swanston Street redevelopment65, Sydney’s George Street pedestrianisation66, and the 
redesign of 9th Avenue and Union Square in New York City67 are projects that have enhanced 
environments, improved pedestrian safety, boosted economies with fewer vacancies and an increase 
in retail sales, and created vibrant public spaces. 

 
As Adelaide’s population grows, the City of Adelaide must balance the needs of residents, businesses, 
and visitors. Adelaide faces significant challenges as noted above, but the City also has many 
opportunities to create a more sustainable, efficient, and equitable transport system:  

• Establish a hierarchy of kerbside uses: Prioritise kerbside space allocation for different street types 
utilising a hierarchy that considers space efficiency and sustainable transport modes as well as 
CoA's strategic objectives which include greening, activation, accessibility (e.g. accessible car 
parking) and transport decarbonisation.  

• Demand-based kerbside management systems: Manage kerbside space efficiently, adjusting 
allocation based on day and/or time of day demand.  

• Reallocate kerbside space for high-value uses by ensuring public land is preserved for activities 
that provide broad community benefits for productive activities such as loading, city servicing, public 
transport, street activation, pedestrian and cycling space. Rather than being occupied by private 
functions such as waste collection, servicing, or vehicle access, strong and clear direction through 
City of Adelaide policies and the Planning and Design Code is needed to prevent ad-hoc 
encroachments that limit future opportunities for better public space use. There are opportunities for 
street space and kerbside reallocation along key corridors including North Terrace, King William 
Street, Grote – Wakefield Street and Sturt – Halifax Street to support greater walking / wheeling 
and cycling while maintaining public transport and low volume local vehicle access.   

• Require private developments to accommodate key functions within their sites by allocating space 
for bike parking, waste and servicing areas, and vehicle crossovers. Without clear policy direction, 
developments may continue to shift these elements onto public land, reducing CoA’s ability to 
manage kerbside space effectively and limiting future opportunities for sustainable transport, 
greening, and public amenity improvements. 

• Prevent and reduce footpath clutter: Prevent and reduce visual and physical obstacles on footpaths 
to protect and improve accessibility, user safety, and the overall experience of urban areas.  

• Establishing a hierarchy of kerbside uses informed by Level of Service and mapping classifications 
would provide a structured approach to balancing competing demands while ensuring strategic 
alignment with transport and planning objectives. 

• Ongoing community engagement and collaboration: Undertake regular community and stakeholder 
engagement such as Neighbourhood Parking Reviews68 to ensure the kerbside space allocation on 
our streets considers the evolving needs of residents, businesses and the city visitors. 

Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to street space and 
kerbside management within the City of Adelaide.  

 
  

 

65 City of Melbourne. (2012). Swanston Street redevelopment project overview 
66 City of Sydney. (2021, April 12). George Street to become destination boulevard 
67 New York City Department of Transportation. (2014). Measuring the street: New metrics for 21st century streets 
68 City of Melbourne. (2025). Neighbourhood parking reviews. Retrieved from 
https://participate.melbourne.vic.gov.au/neighbourhood-parking-reviews  

Page 140

https://participate.melbourne.vic.gov.au/neighbourhood-parking-reviews


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

71 AECOM

  

5.2.2 Urban Freight, City Servicing, and Waste Transport and Deliveries 

Current Challenges 

Kerbside 
Management 

• Kerbside space is often underutilised or allocated to low-value activities such 
as parking, limiting its potential for freight and servicing. This leads to 
inefficiencies and conflicts among different transport users, including 
pedestrians, cyclists, and public transport. 

Congestion 
and 
Environmental 
Impact 

• Increasing demand for deliveries, particularly during peak hours, has resulted in 
significant congestion in Adelaide’s streets. Diesel-powered delivery vehicles 
are a major contributor to greenhouse gas emissions and air pollution, 
undermining the city’s sustainability goals. 

Waste 
Transport 
Constraints 

• Kerbside clutter from traditional waste collection systems reduces accessibility 
and disrupts pedestrian flow. Service vehicles also face difficulties accessing 
properties, particularly in dense urban areas, which impacts the efficiency of 
waste management operations. 

 
Community and stakeholder engagement highlights the importance of mitigating negative impacts of 
freight activity, such as noise, pollution, and disruption to active transport routes. Urban freight 
strategies must consider equity by ensuring all areas, including underserved communities, benefit from 
improved servicing while minimising adverse effects. Sustainable practices, such as electric delivery 
vehicles and consolidated waste removal, resonate with public concerns about environmental 
sustainability. Transparent communication and ongoing dialogue are critical in addressing perceived 
challenges, such as reduced parking availability, while providing evidence-based benefits, like improved 
air quality and reduced traffic. Such approaches align freight and servicing activities with the evolving 
priorities of urban communities. 

Business and Consumer Needs 

Ultimately, the success of urban logistics depends on the collaboration between all stakeholders, 
including the businesses that rely on timely deliveries and the consumers who benefit from efficient 
logistics services. Businesses in various sectors, from retail to hospitality, depend on reliable logistics to 
maintain their operations and meet customer demands. Consumers, on the other hand, expect quick 
and reliable delivery of goods, particularly in the age of e-commerce. The City of Adelaide can facilitate 
this by engaging with businesses and consumers to understand their needs and challenges, and by 
implementing policies that promote efficient and sustainable logistics practices. 

There is a significant opportunity to enhance the efficiency of urban freight, city servicing and deliveries 
at the kerbside through the use of dynamic systems and emerging technologies. 

Opportunities 

Dynamic 
Kerbside 
Management 

Real-time adjustments to loading zones can ensure kerbside space meets the 
needs of freight, public transport, and pedestrians. By using demand-responsive 
pricing, Adelaide can prioritise efficient deliveries, reduce congestion, and optimise 
the use of limited urban space 

Sustainable 
Urban 
Logistics 

Encouraging electric and low-emission vehicles through incentives and designated 
low-emission zones is key to reducing environmental impacts. Urban consolidation 
hubs for last-mile deliveries, including the use of micromobility like cargo bikes, will 
streamline operations and enhance sustainability. 

Technological 
Innovation 
 

Smart lockers and underground waste systems present transformative 
opportunities for Adelaide’s logistics. These innovations reduce failed deliveries and 
minimise kerbside clutter, improving efficiency and liveability across the city. 

Integrated 
Waste 
Management 
 

Shifting to low-emission waste vehicles and consolidating bin collections can 
significantly enhance the efficiency of waste transport. These measures also 
support Adelaide’s broader environmental goals by reducing visual and physical 
clutter on streets. 

  

Page 141



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

72 AECOM

  

Community Feedback Highlights 

Residents have expressed concerns over noise, congestion, and inefficient kerbside management 
caused by delivery and waste vehicles. The lack of infrastructure to support efficient waste transport 
and accessible kerbside space further complicates daily urban operations. 

Stakeholders suggest using smart logistics platforms to optimise delivery routes and implementing 
consolidated waste collection systems. Transitioning to low-emission delivery and waste vehicles can 
significantly reduce noise and air pollution, improving quality of life for residents and workers alike. 
 

 
Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to city servicing 
within the City of Adelaide.  

Table 5-1 highlights specific collaboration and implementation opportunities for city servicing, noting the 
unique nature that stakeholders play with this City of Adelaide function.  

Table 5-1 Opportunities for implementation and collaboration to delivery city servicing initiatives  

Implementation and Collaboration 

Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Collaboration with logistics providers, waste management companies, and local 
businesses is essential for creating a shared vision for sustainable logistics. 
Regular forums can align priorities and foster innovation. 

Data and 
Monitoring 
 

Adopting real-time data collection and analytics will help optimise logistics 
operations and evaluate the effectiveness of implemented strategies. Periodic 
reviews ensure continuous improvement and adaptability. 

Pilot Projects 
 

Trailing green logistics zones and advanced waste systems in high-demand areas 
can serve as a model for broader implementation. Partnering with private sectors to 
test technologies like autonomous vehicles will further advance Adelaide’s logistics 
capabilities. 

Stakeholder 
Engagement 
 

Collaboration with logistics providers, waste management companies, and local 
businesses is essential for creating a shared vision for sustainable logistics. 
Regular forums can align priorities and foster innovation. 

 
The City of Adelaide can measure the effectiveness of these initiatives by tracking: 

• Kerbside utilisation rates to evaluate the impact of dynamic management systems. 

• Emission reductions achieved through the adoption of low-emission vehicles and technologies. 

• Efficiency improvements in freight and waste operations, including reduced service delivery times. 

  

Page 142



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

73 AECOM

  

5.2.3 Events, Works, and Transport Disruptions 

 

 
To support sustainable transport outcomes during events and disruptions, the City of Adelaide can 
implement strategic measures that address immediate challenges while fostering long-term benefits for 
the community. These measures focus on improving communication, prioritising pedestrian and cycling 
safety, leveraging opportunities for sustainable travel promotion, and enhancing urban planning through 
street redesigns. Establishing clear permit guidelines and creating a resilient active travel network are 
also key components to effectively managing disruptions and supporting accessible, liveable streets. By 
adopting these strategies, the city can minimise the negative impacts of disruptions while promoting a 
shift towards more sustainable and inclusive transport options. 

• Increasing the use of technology to optimise traffic and disruption management. 

• Developing strategies to improve coordination between events and essential works. 

• Promoting active transport and public transport alternatives during disruptions. 

Disruptions as travel behaviour change opportunities 

Many of the City of Adelaide strategies seek higher levels of active and public transport. However, 
people can often get into the habit of driving. Major life events, like moving house or job, and disruptions 
in travel patterns through, for example, construction activity, can help people to reconsider how they 
travel. Major events and prolonged road closures present an opportunity to promote and support 
sustainable travel behaviour choices. Research indicates that ‘responses to planned major disruptions 
show that significant shifts in behaviour can be managed and are not as painful or problematic to 
travellers as is often feared.’ 69 

There is an opportunity to change the way the City of Adelaide meets our strategies and targets for 
decarbonisation, public health and wellbeing, and visitor and employment growth, and to be a more 
inclusive and accessible city. Disruptions demonstrate that change is possible, and that the City needs 
a more resilient transport system that supports change. 

This behaviour change principle can be carried through to efforts to reduce car ownership and increase 
active and public transport use within residential populations in the City of Adelaide. Moving house, and 
perhaps into the city, can be a key point of time to engage with community members to support journey 
planning; highlighting the walking/wheeling, cycling and public transport choices. 

The City of Adelaide can adopt strategies to improve the management of events, works, and transport 
disruptions. A key proposal is to enhance planning and coordination across stakeholders, including 
event organisers, contractors, and transport planners, to better align activities and minimise conflicts. 
Improved scheduling practices and the use of real-time traffic management technologies are also 

 

69 Marsden, G., Docherty, I. (2013). Insights on disruptions as opportunities for transport policy change. Transportation Research 
Part A: Policy and Practice, 51, 46-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2013.03.004 

Community Feedback Highlights 

Community engagement highlighted several critical concerns and opportunities: 

Challenges Identified: 

• Inconsistent detours for active transport users. 

• Lack of clear, timely communication about disruptions. 

• Limited accessibility during events and works. 

Opportunities Proposed: 

• Develop safe and legible detours for walking/wheeling and cycling routes. 

• Use events to promote public and active transport options. 

• Prioritise sustainable transport infrastructure improvements during prolonged road closures. 

Page 143



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

74 AECOM

  

suggested to help maintain the efficiency and adaptability of the transport network during times of 
increased demand. 

A key principle is to place greater emphasis on supporting walking, cycling, and public transport as part 
of a broader commitment to sustainable urban mobility. This includes maintaining connected networks, 
ensuring safe and accessible detours, and incorporating active transport needs into planning 
processes. These measures will reduce the impact of disruptions on people walking, cycling, and using 
public transport. Clear communication with the community is also an important aspect of these 
proposals, helping to build understanding and support for the changes while ensuring transport remains 
accessible for all. 

Events and construction works are critical to Adelaide's economic growth and cultural vibrancy, but they 
also present challenges to the city’s transport network. The Draft Integrated Transport Strategy seeks to 
address these disruptions by identifying opportunities to enhance coordination, minimise negative 
impacts, and leverage disruptions as a chance to promote sustainable transport behaviours. This 
section focuses on understanding the issues, barriers, and opportunities associated with managing 
events, works, and transport disruptions. 

The City of Adelaide can transform the challenges posed by events and works into opportunities to 
strengthen its transport network. By adopting resilient infrastructure, improving communication, and 
promoting sustainable travel behaviours, Adelaide can balance the economic and cultural benefits of 
events with a seamless and inclusive transport experience. The strategy highlights the need for 
collaborative planning, leveraging disruptions to drive long-term improvements for a connected and 
liveable city. 

Implement Comprehensive Communication Strategies 

• Develop extensive communication plans for major events and construction activities, including early 
dissemination of detailed information and real-time updates via social media and apps. Include 
detailed information provided well in advance, real-time updates through social media and apps, 
and public awareness campaigns. 

• Strengthen engagement by establishing Community Liaison Panels, in coordination with City of 
Adelaide place managers and the events team, to provide regular updates, address public 
concerns, and ensure timely communication during major events and disruptions. These panels can 
complement existing engagement such as “Your transport guide to Fringe 202570” by offering a 
more structured platform for feedback and issue resolution. 

• Develop a centralised, real-time public map of roadworks, events, and temporary traffic impacts, 
integrated with DIT messaging. This would improve accessibility to up-to-date transport information 
and build on initiatives like the online Fringe transport guide. 

• Travel behaviour change messaging already occurs as per the Sustainable Event Guidelines, however 
this should be enhanced and regularly reviewed to further encourage sustainable transport options 
during disruptions. 

Develop and Enforce Tailored Detour Guidelines Focusing on Pedestrian and Cycling Safety and 
Access 

• Create detailed detour guidelines that prioritise pedestrian and cycling safety with clear signage and 
accessible routes for people with disabilities. 

• Ensure detours are well-signposted, with clear signage. Conduct regular reviews and incorporate 
feedback to ensure detours remain effective and safe throughout the disruption period. 

Leverage Major Events and Disruptions for Sustainable Transport Promotion 

• Use events as an opportunity to promote sustainable transport options by increasing public 
transport services, enhancing cycling infrastructure, and creating pedestrian-friendly zones. 

• Implement community engagement and education campaigns to encourage long-term shifts 
towards sustainable travel behaviour. 

 

70 City of Adelaide. (2025). Your transport guide to Fringe 2025. Retrieved from https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/your-
transport-guide-to-fringe/ 

Page 144

https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/your-transport-guide-to-fringe/
https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/your-transport-guide-to-fringe/


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

75 AECOM

  

Redesign Streets Post-Closure for Improved Urban Planning 

• Transform prolonged road closures into opportunities to redesign streetscapes, focusing on 
pedestrian and cyclist safety while reducing car dominance. 

• Introduce wider sidewalks, dedicated bike lanes, and enhanced public transport access to create 
more liveable and resilient urban spaces. 

Establish Clear Guidelines and Revenue Structures for Permits and Fees 

• Review and standardise permit processes and fee structures for public space use by developers 
and event organisers, ensuring fairness and transparency. 

• Align fees, such as construction occupation fees and development contributions, with the goal of 
maintaining and improving public spaces. 

Develop a Resilient Network for Active Travel 

• Build a permanent network of high-quality walking/wheeling and cycling paths, lanes, and crossing 
points to ensure active travel remains accessible year-round. 

• Enhance resilience by ensuring continuity of these networks during major events and disruptions, 
reducing reliance on inaccessible areas like the Park Lands during such periods. 

• Design the network to provide reliable alternatives during disruptions, addressing the impact of 
detours on key areas such as the Park Lands and associated trails. 

Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to events, works and 
transport disruptions within the City of Adelaide.  

  

Page 145



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

76 AECOM

  

5.3 Transport Modes 

People use multiple modes of transport and for different purposes across Adelaide each day. This 
represents travel to/from, within, and through the city.  

An integrated transport network is important for meeting the diverse needs of the community, with 
different modes of transport playing specific roles in ensuring accessibility for everyone. People rely on 
various forms of transport across each day, week or year. People's use of different transport modes is 
influenced by factors such as weather, life stages, and major life events like moving or economic 
changes. 

5.3.1 Transport Choice  

People’s choice to travel and their mode of transport depends on a range of considerations. This can 
vary across the day, week or year. Similarly, people’s transport needs vary with life circumstances. It is 
important that the role of vehicle traffic and the relative car driving proposition (including user needs or 
level of service / costs) is considered as it has a significant impact on the choices available to people. 

With system thinking, strategies to increase choices like walking will need to manage car use, while 
creating conditions for walking, plus cycling and public transport to be modes of choice. This means that 
as the quality of these modes increase, people will prefer to use a range of transport modes, and 
reduce their dependence on the private car. 

This highlights the need for a transport system that provides real choice. Feedback from community 
engagement showed that while some people in Adelaide see driving as a necessity, they often have 
limited awareness or access to other options. Studies and community input indicate that many trips, 
particularly in city centres, are short and could be easily undertaken by walking, cycling, or public 
transport if viable alternatives were more available and convenient. 

To support this shift, a structured approach such as green travel plans for new developments should be 
considered. While not currently a requirement of the Planning and Design Code, integrating this into 
future planning frameworks could help ensure that new developments prioritise active and public 
transport from the outset. Requiring green travel plans for developments above a certain size or 
resident threshold would assist in reducing car dependency, improving accessibility, and supporting 
sustainable transport outcomes. Addressing misconceptions about driving and promoting viable 
alternatives through policy and infrastructure improvements will help create a more efficient and 
accessible transport network for all.  

As noted in Section 4.1.7, currently, the primary mode of travel by City of Adelaide residents to their 
workplace is by private vehicle. 

The following sections outline the key transport modes within the City of Adelaide. The vision, benefits, 
challenges and opportunities are noted; informing the actions included within the Implementation Plan.  

5.3.2 Walking & Wheeling 

As the city grows, health, sustainability and liveability become more critical. Creating a more walkable 
city through providing improved pedestrian facilities will give people safer and more equitable choices 
about how they travel to, from, and within Adelaide. It will contribute to improving the overall liveability of 
the city for everyone.  

This is reflected in both what the City of Adelaide’s strategies includes and what has been heard from 
the community: creating walkable environments in Adelaide is important because it is an easy, 
enjoyable, fast and flexible way to travel, with lifestyle, physical and mental wellbeing benefits. 

More people walking and wheeling in Adelaide will create numerous benefits for us as a city: 

Public health and wellbeing  

The South Australian Walking Strategy identifies that South Australians are not sufficiently active to 
meet the Australian Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines71. Initial estimates suggest 
that during an adult’s lifetime, insufficient physical activity has the potential to cost the South Australian 

 

71 Department of Health | Australia's Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines and the Australian 24-Hour Movement 
Guidelines, 2021 

Page 146



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

77 AECOM

  

public health system an additional $86,36672. In Australia, physical inactivity is a leading preventable 
cause of ill health and premature death. In 2024, physical inactivity contributed to 4.5% of total deaths 
in Australia73. Walking and wheeling support better physical health outcomes and reduces the risk of 
serious illnesses by encouraging greater physical activity day to day. By increasing walkability and 
providing safe and accessible areas for pedestrians, the City of Adelaide can contribute to improving 
opportunities for people to be more physically active74. 

How individuals travel also contributes to social connectedness and mental wellbeing. Walking and 
wheeling offer us more opportunity to connect with others. This can improve the mental health of people 
of all ages by boosting happiness and self-esteem, and reducing stress levels and the risk of anxiety 
and depression75.  

South Australia’s Road Safety Strategy to 2031 and the Road Safety Action Plan 2023-2025 seek to 
reduce the number of people killed and seriously injured on South Australian Roads. These documents 
identify actions to improve the safety of road users including people walking and wheeling through 
changes to intersections, reduced speed zones, and separated crossing facilities.   

Liveability and sustainable growth  

Noting the growth expected for Adelaide in the coming years, walking and wheeling will be an essential 
form of transport to ensure that the City maintains the liveability as a city. Walking and wheeling are 
space efficient transport modes which help to reduce the congestion on the transport network, creating 
safer and more walkable streets.  

Environmental  

Transport is a major source of carbon emissions and noise pollution. By increasing the number of 
people walking and wheeling, the City of Adelaide can reduce the emissions and the level of noise 
pollution within our city. The reduction of these two environmental impacts also significantly improves 
the place value of our city; people are more likely to then walk / wheel and spend time on the street, 
creating comfortable and liveable neighbourhoods that support social interaction and connection. Our 
Integrated Climate Strategy supports this need to reduce emissions.  

Economic  

Walking encourages people to linger for longer, adding vibrancy to our places and boosting productivity 
throughout our city. Research has shown that people staying, means people spending. And more 
people walking on our streets means more customers for local businesses. Walkability is valued by 
visitors to our city and is good for business76. High levels of ‘foot traffic’ are key to successful main 
streets and creating walkable/wheelable neighbourhoods, as outlined in City Plan, will help achieve 
successful growth.  

Transport for London highlights the economic benefits to main streets and town centres, reporting an 
increased retail spend by up to 30% with walking and cycling improvements77. Businesses can 
overestimate their customers’ car use, thinking that the majority drive. Customer surveys instead found 
that most people walked and used public transport. Surveys in Australia have found this over-estimation 
of driving and under-estimation of the role of walking and the issue that walking is often, ‘invisible’78.  

For each kilometre travelled by a person walking, there is a $6.52 benefit to the economy79. This 
accounts for, for example, the reduction in costs operating vehicles, maintaining infrastructure, to the 
public health care system, emissions and noise pollution and congestion / productivity. The South 
Australian Walking Strategy 2022-2032 identifies that there is a need to invest in walking for economic 
benefits, a stronger local economy and city attractiveness for tourism and visitation. 

 

72 Eckermann S, Crisp M and Willan AR (2020) Active Lives South Australia Health Economic Analysis – an evidence base for 
potential of health promotion strategies to reduced public health costs with meeting of adult physical activity guidelines. A report 
prepared for SA Office of Recreation, Sport and Racing and SA Health. Centre for Health Service Development, Australian Health 
Services Research Institute, University of Wollongong 
73 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2024 
74 Population Health Data, Local Government Association of South Australia, 2021 
75 Healthy Minds, Walking for Health, 2018 
76 Good for Busine$$ discussion paper. National Heart Foundation of Australia, R. Tolley, 2011 
77 Economic benefits of walking and cycling, Transport for London, 2013 
78 The economic case for investment in walking, Victoria Walks, 2018 
79 Active Transport Strategy, Transport for NSW, 2022 

Page 147



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

78 AECOM

  

Equity, access and inclusion  

Walking and wheeling are most accessible transport mode to people. Creating streets which support 
more walking and wheeling improves the equity of our city and enables greater transport choice for 
people of all ages and abilities. It has been found that more walking and wheeling within a city leads to 
improved community connection and cohesion. 

Active travel to school supports improved health, wellbeing and development of children. Streets which 
enable the independent mobility of children supports more walking and wheeling within a community 
reducing travel to school by private vehicle.  

The City of Adelaide know that mobility isn’t a one size fits all approach for people walking and 
wheeling. Travelling between two points varies by age and gender, as noted in Figure 5-2. By 
understanding these differences in how people walk / wheel, our network and spaces can be truly 
inclusive that consider everyone’s pace. 

 

Figure 5-2 Assessment of average time to walk approx. 1.2km by age and gender 80 

Open Streets & Active Travel to School 

Open streets, or school streets, are streets adjacent to 
schools which have times at the start and end of the day 
where motor vehicle traffic cannot use them or where 
streets are permanently pedestrianised. This is being 
used in Melbourne and internationally to address the 
risks that motor vehicles present to children’s safety, 
physical and mental health, and to create public spaces 
which encourage active travel to school. During the 
Open Streets trial in Merri-bek City Council, on average, 
63% of students travelled actively to school.81                                   Image Source: Bicycle Network 

 

80 Architectresses and Honorata Grzesikowska, 2025 
81 Open Streets Trials 2022, Bicycle Network & Merri-bek City Council  

Page 148



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

79 AECOM

  

 

 

Figure 5-3 Pedestrians walking / wheeling at a signalised crossing point  

 
Although every trip involves walking and wheeling, it is clear that people walking or wheeling are not 
always prioritised in a transport network. The current conditions vary greatly across the City of Adelaide. 
The following key challenges were supported by the community through Phase 1 of our engagement:  

• Some streets do not have enough space for comfortable walking/wheeling with obstructions and 
potential hazards including light poles, outdoor dining, bins, poles, A-frames and e-scooters left on 
footpaths. Lack of infrastructure for wheelchair users including a lack of ramps, narrow and uneven 
footpaths and inaccessible crossings. Lack of shade and rest amenities like seats can detract from 
user experience.  

• It can be uncomfortable, especially for people with disability, mixing with people cycling/scootering 
on footpaths and shared paths.  

• Long waits at intersections and crossings cause delay and discomfort. There are often large 
distances between crossings, uncoordinated signal times for people walking and wheeling, and a 
lack of direct crossings to some bus stops. Busy roads create severance: they are barriers to 
movement and access as they are difficult to cross.  

• The presence of motor vehicles including noise, emissions and speeds, and associated safety 
concerns are a key barrier to walking/wheeling, especially for children, older adults and people with 
disability.  

• Some people, especially women and gender diverse people, feel unsafe walking at night on some 
streets and within the Park Lands, and during male sports events, with low-levels of light. 

These factors contribute to how individuals experience walking or wheeling in the city, and how likely 
they are to continue choosing walking and wheeling as a transport mode for other trips.  

The City of Adelaide have heard from our community and know that the provision of seats, trees, 
safer crossings and more space for people are key factors that would encourage people to visit more 
frequently and for longer. By widening footpaths, the City can create comfortable space for people 
walking and wheeling, and allow space for amenities like these. 

 
This strategy provides a blueprint for achieving safer, healthier and greener streets supporting more 
walking and wheeling in our city through implementation of the following key enablers:   

• Optimise our streets to create more comfortable spaces for people walking/wheeling. Establish 
principles for prioritising the use of our street space for different purposes, including walking, 
cycling, parking, greening, on-street dining, street amenities such as seating, and shared 
micromobility parking. Improve the maintenance of footpaths.  

Page 149



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

80 AECOM

  

• Implement safer speed limits with Safe System alignment to make streets are more comfortable 
and enjoyable for people walking/wheeling as well as quieter with reduced vehicle emissions.  

• Reduce vehicle priority over people walking and wheeling by introducing more traffic calming 
measures and trailing car-free zones during events / in high-activity areas.  

• Create safer pedestrian crossings which aim to slow down motor vehicles, reduce pedestrian wait 
times at new and existing sites, and align sequencing; prioritising people walking and wheeling.  

• Establish walking/wheeling networks that outline associated infrastructure requirements, based on 
place value and proximity to destinations such as schools, supermarkets and public transport.  

• Enhance and promote walking/wheeling routes to increase tourist and visitor potential and 
community enjoyment of our streets and places. Increase greening, wayfinding and points of 
interest/public art. Increase pedestrian-only streets to enable vibrant public spaces.  

• Create healthier, child-friendly streets around schools and adjacent residential areas to support 
local walkability and active travel to school.  

• Develop travel behaviour change programs for schools and for new residents, to establish and 
maintain active travel habits.  

There is strong support from both the community and stakeholders for these opportunities to support 
more people to walk and wheel to, from and within the City of Adelaide.  

Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to walking and 
wheeling within the City of Adelaide.  

5.3.3 Cycling & Cycle Parking 

A city where people choose to cycle has numerous benefits, including reduced traffic congestion, lower 
greenhouse gas emissions, and decreased demand for car parking. Public health is improved through 
increased physical activity and transport costs are reduced for individuals. This results in a more 
liveable city for all.  

As noted in Section 4.1.3, the current environment for cycling is comfortable for confident cyclists, but 
existing conditions and the connectivity of the network mean that people who are interested in cycling 
do not feel like they can safely. This results in people defaulting to driving because it is perceived to be 
more comfortable for them. The city’s current cycle network has the following characteristics:  

• Most on road cycle lanes are unprotected, creating safety issues on high speed and volume roads.  

• Minimal CBD cycle routes resulting in a disconnected network.  

• Higher-quality shared paths in surrounding parkland.  

These result in a challenging and unsafe environment for people who cycle and deters people who 
would otherwise be interested in cycling to/from and within the City of Adelaide.  

The City’s current cycle network includes on-road cycle lanes as well as off-road trails and paths within 
the Adelaide Park Lands. These routes are somewhat interconnected and offer a variety of route 
options for confident cyclists. However, there are gaps in this network and the infrastructure type and 
quality varies. This reduces the appeal and accessibility of routes for most users, and influences cycling 
take-up (modal shift).  

Page 150



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

81 AECOM

  

 

Figure 5-4 Park Lands pathways for both walking / wheeling and cycling  

Melbourne Pop-up Bike Lanes 

As part of the COVID-19 response, the City of Melbourne 
and associated inner-city councils reallocated on-road 
parking space to deliver 94.6km of pop-up bicycle lanes. 
This resulted in an increase in rider diversity, bike 
volumes, and safer routes for cyclists. The program also 
found that reductions in vehicle speeds created safer 
environments for cyclists, and improvements to local 
networks resulted in more short trips (for groceries, 
errands etc.).82                                   Image Source: City of Melbourne 

The quality of the city’s current cycle network was a key issue highlighted by the community, with 65% 
of respondents selecting to provide feedback on cycling and cycle parking. Respondents highlighted the 
need for a safe, convenient and interconnected cycling network. There was a particular focus on:  

• Safer and easier east-west connections across the city.  

• The lack of interconnected cycle routes within the city.  

• Most cycle lanes within the city are on-road, which makes people feel unsafe.  

When asked if there were any other cycling and cycle parking challenges that should be considered, 
respondents raised the following: 

• Lack of connected and continuous cycling infrastructure, including disappearing bike lanes, 
abrupt transitions to regular roads, and poorly integrated cycle paths, forcing people on bikes to 
navigate unsafe conditions, such as sharing lanes with vehicles or narrow lanes alongside 
parked cars. 

• Poor driver behaviour, with vehicles cutting into bike lanes or failing to yield at intersections.  

• Painted bike lanes were criticised for providing insufficient protection, with calls for more 
separated, protected cycling paths.  

• Inadequate secure bike parking, resulting in concerns and experiences with theft. 

• The broader cultural challenge, with negative perceptions of cyclists and cycling, hostile attitudes 
from other road users, and a lack of public education about cyclist safety and rights, creating an 
unsafe and unwelcoming environment for people on bikes.  

• A lack of end-of-trip facilities, such as secure bike parking, shower facilities, and storage options 
discourage cycling as a primary mode of transport, particularly for commuters. 

 
 

  

 

82 Pop-up bike lanes program reflections and lessons learned. (2023) Department of Transport and Planning Victoria 

Page 151

https://www.mav.asn.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/32829/PUBL-DTP-MAV-Pop-up-Bike-Lanes-Program-reflections-and-Lessons-Learned-Jul-2023.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

82 AECOM

  

When prompted to raise suggestions for cycling and cycle parking opportunities that should be 
considered, suggestions included:  

• Creating dedicated East-West routes, integrating cycling paths with Park Lands and train lines, and 
enhancing and expanding the existing high-quality routes along Frome Road. Using this model as a 
blueprint for future works was well received.  

• Reducing vehicle dominance by converting road space into protected bike lanes and implementing 
city wide speed limits of 30 or 40 km/h. 

• Improved end-of-trip facilities including secure bike parking, shaded parking areas with CCTV, and 
bike cages near public transport hubs.  

• Improved signage, water stations, and lighting along cycling routes. 

• Driver education campaigns to improve respect and safety for cyclists. 

• Public education campaigns to humanise cyclists and promote shared road responsibilities to 
improve relationships between cyclists, drivers, and pedestrians. 

This strategy provides a blueprint for achieving a more sustainable mode split in our city through 
implementation of the following key enablers:   

Street optimisation  

Safe, efficient movement of all users is critical to enable the uptake of cycling. By optimising street 
space within the city, the City of Adelaide will be able to support safe, separated and free movements 
for all users. Ensuring legibility of movements, reducing conflicts between modes, and providing 
opportunities for rest are all critical considerations.  

Our stakeholders have told us that the existing grid-based street network in the city, combined with 
wide streets and flat topography is a strength. If street spaces are optimised to support separated 
movements, this is likely to significantly increase the appeal of cycling for recreation or commuting. 

 
Infrastructure upgrades  

High quality infrastructure is key to incentivise cycling in the city by creating spaces and corridors where 
people feel confident.  

Cycle lanes: The city lacks a continuous network of low stress (protected or off-road) cycle lanes, 
particularly along east-west routes. By mapping the desired cycle network to support uninterrupted 
movements, the City of Adelaide will create a blueprint that leverages existing high-quality connections 
and programs, and separates modes. The Frome Street Bikeway and West Terrace Shared Use Path 
were noted during engagement as high-quality connections that are valued by the community. 

Cycle parking: As cycling demand is created from other enabling projects (bike lane upgrades etc), 
additional cycle parking must be constructed to support uptake. Parking must be convenient, secure, 
and accessible for all users. 

Intersection priority and safety: Conflicts between vehicles and bicycles are most prominent. Key 
intersections within and around the city, mapped to align with strategic corridors, must be upgraded to 
prioritise bicycle movements, particularly in peak periods. 

The City of Christchurch, New Zealand has invested significantly in cycling infrastructure, resulting 
in a significant increase in popularity. Investment in cycleways began in the aftermath of the 2011 
earthquakes, with the City promising to build 13 arterial cycleways connecting the city’s central 
suburbs. Cycleways are high-quality, separated, and direct. The council undertook significant 
engagement with stakeholders to: 

• Mitigate reductions in car parking for local businesses, 

• Ensure legibility of interfaces with other modes (pedestrians, vehicles etc.), and;  

• Add seats/cycle repair kits to enable socialisation and provide opportunities to repair kits. 

Page 152



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

83 AECOM

  

This has created a cycling environment that enables users who traditionally didn’t cycle to feel 
comfortable on the high-quality cycleways.83 

 

Photo Source: Christchurch City Council 

 
Culture and education 

Trip integration: Opportunities exist to enhance connectivity between modes in Adelaide, by providing 
trip integration options for users. This will support mode shift and climate related targets, and enable 
mode choice for users. 

Travel behaviour change: Encouraging mode shift through enhancing existing City of Adelaide travel 
behaviour change programs, supported by infrastructure and parking initiatives, will support an increase 
in cycle mode share within the city. 

Public education: Engagement told us that poor driver behaviour and negative perceptions around 
cyclists are a significant deterrent to people wanting to cycle. Changing driver perceptions.  

Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to cycling within the 
City of Adelaide.  

5.3.4 Public Transport 

Cities with high public transport mode share are inclusive, accessible and reduce barriers for all 
residents. These cities are more likely to have improved access to employment, services and 
entertainment. Similarly, higher public transport usage also means less private motor vehicles on our 
roads, with lower noise and travel time lost to congestion. 

Public transport is vital for social inclusion and accessibility. The public transport system needs to cater 
for an ageing population, people with disability, and for children to get to and from school, and for 
recreation and social purposes. 

The public transport network was the most popular topic during community consultation, with 68% of all 
participants responding to the public transport section. The community told us that service frequency, 
reliability challenges, and transfer times/distances between services were the most challenging barriers 
to use of the network, along with the following challenges:  

• High cost of public transport, with the price of a round trip often comparable to or more expensive 
than driving and parking. 

• Poor stop and station infrastructure, including a lack of shade and shelter, unsafe and poorly lit 
footpaths near stops, and limited accessibility for mobility-impaired users. 

 

83  

Page 153



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

84 AECOM

  

• Safety on public transport, particularly on buses, because of antisocial behaviour, overcrowding, 
and insufficient security presence. 

• Limited tram and train networks that are unable to serve key areas effectively.  

• Slow speed of trams within the city, insufficient peak-time capacity, and a lack of coverage from the 
train and tram network for most suburbs.  

When asked about opportunities identified, advocating for improvements to existing routes and 
creating new light-rail or tram connections was the most popular option, with 90% agreement. 80% of 
respondents also supported making public transport faster and more reliable. Respondents also 
raised the following additional opportunities for the Adelaide Public transport network:  

• More frequent, reliable services, particularly during peak times, late evenings, and weekends.  

• Enhancing cross-city routes, creating ring networks, and expanding services to under-served 
suburbs.  

• Ensuring short wait times and predictable schedules. 

• Reduced or free fares to encourage greater use, such as free travel within the CBD, low-cost flat 
fares (such as 50 cents per trip), and concessions for families and low-income users.  

• Improvements to infrastructure, such as shaded stops, better lighting, and accessible facilities for 
mobility-impaired users. 

Greater priority for buses and trams through measures such as dedicated lanes, priority at 
intersections, and reducing private vehicle access on key corridors like Currie, Grenfell, and King 
William Streets. 

 
Many of the opportunities suggested above require a nuanced approach to achieve change, as the city 
must consider the breadth and coverage of the network into other jurisdictions, the requirements of 
operators, and strategic planning undertaken by the State Government. As a result, this strategy 
proposes the following key strategic moves to support the City of Adelaide vision. They are a mix of 
direct change for opportunities controllable by the city, and advocacy by the city for opportunities that 
require significant collaboration or are outside of the city’s jurisdiction.   

Priority corridor assessment 

More people using public transport means fewer private vehicles on our roads. This results in lower 
congestion, emissions, and better place, environmental and economic outcomes for our city. To support 
an increasing public transport mode share within the city, it is essential to undertake a priority corridor 
assessment within the CBD to determine: 

• Opportunities for dedicated public transport routes. 

• Modal (bus, motorbike, bicycle) priority on selected routes. 

• Opportunities for efficiency gains. 

Undertaking a priority corridor assessment will support the below key moves:  

Improve public transport infrastructure 

Upgrade infrastructure to prioritise public transport efficiency, interchange experience and pedestrian 
amenity along key public transport corridors within the City. This may include provision of more 
comfortable and weather protected stops and interchanges, formalised and safer crossings and 
prioritisation of public transport movements over general traffic (e.g. dedicated bus lanes and traffic 
signal priority). 

Wellington, New Zealand has very similar characteristics to Adelaide’s bus network – high 
accessibility, but low uptake. About 97% of Wellingtonians live within easy walking distance of a bus 
stop, but only 37% of people use the bus when travelling to the central city in the morning peak. This 
results in around 70,000 bus trips per day, with nearly a third for education. 

It was identified that travel time reliability within the city centre was becoming less predictable and 
that improving travel time reliability would support uptake, and make buses more attractive than 

Page 154



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

85 AECOM

  

driving. The Bus Priority Action Plan84 will make bus trips more reliable and faster on the busiest 
routes in Wellington. A range of measures were recommended in the Plan including:  

• Bus lanes, clearways and transit lanes 

• Traffic light timing changes to prioritise buses 

• In-lane bus stops (the bus stops in the traffic lane to pick up/drop off passengers, rather than 
pulling off to the side) 

• On-street car parking adjustments 

• The spacing and quantity of bus stops. 

 

Source: Wellington City Council 

 
Enhance public transport customer experience  

Create safe, comfortable and attractive urban environments along key public transport corridors and 
better integrate active transport and micro mobility trips with public transport to support a multi-modal 
network with great door-to-door user experience.  

Personal safety on public transport is a key consideration of the public. The city will work with the State 
government and operators to improve perceptions of public safety through targeted changes. In 
addition, by investigating and implementing infrastructure improvements at stops and upgrades to 
lighting around key transport precincts, the appeal of public transport will improve for all users.  

Improve public transport frequencies 

Travel time reliability was a consistent topic of feedback during consultation. The city will work with state 
government, surrounding councils and operators to improve frequencies of existing high-demand 
services, and support reliability upgrades for all. This includes consideration of night-time frequencies, 
and an expansion of night-buses to Friday nights and special events (such as Adelaide Fringe Festival).  

Advocacy and partnerships with State Government 

Working collaboratively with the state government is critical to the success of this strategy, and for the 
success of the above improvements to the Public Transport network. Opportunities exist for the city to 
advocate for and partner with State Government to:  

• Investigate improving existing public transport corridors (e.g. Currie-Grenfell bus corridor). 

• Support a reduction in public transport fares to improve appeal.  

• Create new public transport connections within the City and adjoining inner suburbs 

• Improve network-wide integration between transport modes (e.g. Bus to train, bus to bike). 

Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to public transport 
within the City of Adelaide.  

 

84 City of Wellington (2019) Bus Priority Action Plan https://wellington.govt.nz/-/media/parking-roads-and-transport/parking-and-
roads/bus-priority/files/wellington-bus-priority-action-plan-draft.pdf  

Page 155

https://wellington.govt.nz/-/media/parking-roads-and-transport/parking-and-roads/bus-priority/files/wellington-bus-priority-action-plan-draft.pdf
https://wellington.govt.nz/-/media/parking-roads-and-transport/parking-and-roads/bus-priority/files/wellington-bus-priority-action-plan-draft.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

86 AECOM

  

5.3.5 Motor Vehicles & Parking 

The City of Adelaide faces significant challenges related to high levels of car use, including traffic 
congestion, car dependency, and the health and environmental impacts of vehicle emissions. Many of 
our streets are dominated by cars, making people less likely to walk/wheel, cycle, or spend time 
enjoying public spaces. 

Motor vehicle and parking policies in Adelaide need to address the city's overreliance on private cars, 
focusing on reducing congestion, lowering emissions, and optimising the use of urban space. Key 
strategies include encouraging the transition to low-emission vehicles, enhancing parking management 
through dynamic kerbside allocation, and promoting shared mobility solutions. These initiatives aim to 
ensure that parking spaces are used efficiently while accommodating freight, public transport, and 
active travel. Aligning transport policy with the city's climate goals is vital for reducing emissions and 
improving liveability. The City of Adelaide Integrated Climate Strategy emphasises the need for 
sustainable transport options to support emissions reduction targets. Additionally, reports from 
Engineers Australia85 and Austroads86 highlight the importance of reducing car dependency and 
implementing demand management strategies, such as parking pricing and vehicle access restrictions, 
to achieve sustainable outcomes. 

As cities around the world adapt to modern transport challenges, it has become increasingly clear that 
Adelaide must move beyond its historical focus on car-centric infrastructure. The reliance on private 
vehicles has contributed to not only congestion and environmental degradation but also to a diminished 
quality of life for those who walk/wheel or cycle. Reliance on private cars contributes also to increased 
living costs. In addition, as other transport choices are limited by the amount of network capacity 
allocated to car traffic and parking, the necessity of car ownership grows, further intensifying cost of 
living pressures. To create a more sustainable, liveable, and equitable city, it is important to prioritise a 
broader range of transport options that reduce car dependency and promote healthier, more efficient 
modes of travel.  

A shift towards greater use of public and active transport would help alleviate the significant impact of 
road congestion across the metropolitan network, particularly in the Adelaide Central Business District 
(CBD), thereby enhancing liveability87. According to Infrastructure Australia, the cost of road congestion 
in Adelaide is projected to rise to $7.6 million per weekday by 2031, highlighting the importance of 
encouraging active and public transport modes to mitigate future congestion. 

Adelaide’s transport policies have evolved over the decades. Historically policies have focused on 
expanding road networks and providing ample parking to accommodate the increasing number of 
private vehicles. This approach led to significant congestion, environmental concerns, and inefficient 
land use. Recently this has started shifting to an integrated mode approach. 

Adelaide faces ongoing challenges in road safety related to motor vehicles and parking. The high 
reliance on private vehicles has not only contributed to congestion but also led to an increased risk of 
road accidents and fatalities. Road fatalities in Australia remain significantly higher than in other 
comparable countries88, with a stagnation in improvements despite national road safety strategies. The 
City of Adelaide has experienced a similar plateau, with motor vehicles being a dominant factor in road 
crashes. Vulnerable road users, such as pedestrians and cyclists, are particularly at risk in car-
dominated environments, especially in areas with inadequate parking management and infrastructure 
that prioritises vehicles over active transport modes. 

Furthermore, poorly managed parking can contribute to unsafe conditions for all road users. When 
parking is not efficiently planned or monitored, it can result in dangerous behaviours such as illegal 
parking in pedestrian zones or at crossings, creating additional hazards for pedestrians and cyclists. 
Efforts to improve road safety in Adelaide need to address these factors, emphasising better parking 
management, speed reductions in critical areas, and improvements in infrastructure to protect 
vulnerable road users. 

In Adelaide, high car dependency leads to significant traffic congestion and greenhouse gas emissions, 
particularly during peak hours. Barriers include the entrenched use of private vehicles, which are often 
more convenient than other transport options, leading to persistent congestion and environmental 

 

85 Engineers Australia. (2023). Urban transport systems: Policy and planning advice. Engineers Australia. 
86 Austroads. (2024). Prioritising active transport. Austroads. 
87 Infrastructure SA. (n.d.). South Australia’s 20-year State Infrastructure Strategy: Discussion paper (p. 24). 
88 Engineers Australia. (2024). Road safety: Policy advice paper. Transport Australia Society. 

Page 156



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

87 AECOM

  

impacts. Additionally, existing infrastructure heavily favours car use, making it challenging to shift 
towards more sustainable modes of transport. 

Motor vehicle use and car dependency present a range of interconnected challenges that impact the 
liveability, accessibility, and sustainability of Adelaide. High rates of car ownership contribute to 
significant traffic congestion, particularly during peak hours, and are a major source of greenhouse gas 
emissions. Limited transport options exacerbate dependency on private vehicles, excluding vulnerable 
populations and reducing equitable access to the city. Issues such as traffic congestion, through traffic, 
and parking inefficiencies further strain the transport network, creating barriers to active and public 
transport options. Urban heat islands, emissions, and noise pollution from vehicles negatively affect the 
environment and public health, while the increasing size and mass of vehicles pose additional risks to 
pedestrians and cyclists. Addressing these issues requires a shift towards a more balanced transport 
system that prioritises sustainable options, integrates new technologies responsibly, and ensures 
accessibility and equity for all residents and visitors. 

Community Engagement outcomes 

Community concerns around congestion, parking accessibility, and the dominance of motor vehicles 
in the city include balancing parking supply and demand, discouraging through traffic, and prioritising 
sustainable transport options. Feedback from the community strongly supports a shift towards a more 
liveable, accessible, and environmentally sustainable city. Stakeholders also highlighted challenges 
related to equity in transport options, the environmental impacts of car dependency, and the need for 
innovative parking management strategies. By addressing these shared concerns, the framework 
provides a pathway to respond to community aspirations while navigating stakeholder challenges, 
ensuring that transport and parking strategies support a more equitable and liveable urban 
environment. 

 

 

Page 157



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

88 AECOM

  

Issue Summary 

Motor Vehicle Usage • High car ownership. 

• Significant traffic congestion during peak hours. 

• Major source of greenhouse gas emissions. 

Transport Choice 

Mode Shift • Reduce incentives for driving. 

• Improve public and active transport options. 

• Reallocate road space and adjust parking fees. 

Unequal Transport 
Choices 

• Limited transport options lead to higher car dependency. 

• Vulnerable populations excluded. 

• Diverse transport modes increase accessibility. 

Equity • Lack of equitable transport options excludes vulnerable groups. 

• Policies must ensure inclusivity for all residents. 

Vehicle Access & Equity • Balance car access and multi-modal transport fairly. 

• Avoid subsidising driving disproportionately. 

• Support vulnerable groups effectively. 

Environmental Impacts 

Climate Change Risk • Transport contributes 45% of emissions. 

• Urban heat islands worsen liveability. 

• Promote electric vehicles and sustainable transport. 

Traffic Noise • High traffic noise impacts health and liveability. 

• Northern CBD experiences the highest discomfort. 

Traffic Congestion • Increasing vehicle numbers exacerbate congestion. 

• Induced demand worsens traffic. 

• Vision-led planning can improve accessibility. 

Through Traffic • Passing vehicles add to congestion. 

• Reduces liveability. 

• Detracts from central city economy. 

Traffic Signals • Long delays deter sustainable travel. 

• Optimising signal timing improves walkability, safety, and public 
transport efficiency. 

• Poor understanding about how traffic signal operate on a strategic 
level in the general community. 

Road Safety 

Road Safety • Safe System approach ensures safer roads, vehicles, speeds, and 
behaviours. 

• Responsibility lies with road authorities and designers. 

Speed Limits • Urban speed limits exceed international standards. 

• Lowering to 30 km/h improves safety and liveability. 

Vehicle Size & Mass • Larger vehicles transfer the safety burden to other road users 
especially non car-occupants such as pedestrians and bicycle riders. 

• Speed management and road design can mitigate risks. 

Parking 

Parking Supply & 
Demand 

• Misaligned parking supply causes inefficiency. 

• Cheap parking incentivises driving and congestion. 

Parking Infrastructure • Imbalances in parking availability waste land use. 

• U-Park invests in parking technology to improve management. 

Accessible Parking • Accessible parking bays must be strategically located. 

• Community consultation and data-driven processes improve 
compliance and accessibility. 

Car Parking & 
Congestion 

• Excessive parking availability encourages car use. 

• Pricing and management strategies promote transport choice. 

Page 158



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

89 AECOM

  

 

Through traffic contributes to congestion and pollution levels in the City, offers limited 
economic benefits, and reduces the overall performance of the transport network. 

Impacts of through traffic on urban transport 

Through traffic affects multiple aspects of city transport, contributing to congestion and conflicts with 
freight deliveries, public transport, people walking, wheeling or riding bicycles. High levels of through 
traffic consume city network capacity and increase emissions and noise pollution while reducing the 
efficiency of key logistics and public transport routes. It also presents challenges for managing kerbside 
spaces, particularly in areas with dynamic demand for loading bays, cycle lanes, and parking. 

Effectively addressing through traffic involves optimising road use and encouraging through trips to use 
bypass arterial roads. Measures such as mandated off-peak delivery times, promoting micromobility for 
last-mile deliveries, and dynamic signal timing adjustments, can also reduce levels of through traffic 
while supporting local accessibility. 

Through traffic is a significant concern for cities seeking to balance efficient vehicle movement with 
liveability, sustainability, and safety. 

Potential solutions to reduce through traffic in the City of Adelaide are outlined in the table below.  

Table 5-2 Through traffic solutions  

Solution Explanation 

Integrated Land Use 
& Transport Planning 

Integrating transport planning with higher-density developments near public 
transport hubs can reduce dependency on cars and through traffic. Adelaide’s 
strategy focuses on reducing car reliance by promoting public transport and 
active modes. 

Dynamic Kerbside 
Management 

Allocating kerbside spaces based on time-of-day requirements (e.g., delivery 
zones during off-peak hours) can optimise freight and reduce conflicts with 
through traffic, improving overall transport efficiency. 

Bypass Infrastructure 
and Strategic 
Network Planning 

Bypass projects divert traffic from the central city, accompanied by road 
design changes within bypassed areas to prevent increased vehicle capacity 
from being reabsorbed. 

Traffic Calming and 
Restrictions 

Traffic calming measures, such as narrower lanes and shared zones, can 
reduce vehicle speeds and increase pedestrian priority, making the city more 
attractive for walking, cycling, and public transport users. 

Speed Limit 
Reductions 

Reducing speed limits on key through-traffic routes can discourage drivers 
from using inner-city streets as shortcuts. This reduces the travel time benefit 
of through traffic while still allowing local trips to access destinations. 

Reduced Traffic 
Capacity 

Limiting vehicle capacity on major roads within the LGA, reallocating space to 
space-efficient modes such as bus and cycle lanes, can reduce car 
dominance and encourage sustainable transport modes. 

Issue Summary 

Parking User 
Experience 

• Frustration with parking costs and availability. 

• Better education on fees and fines can improve user experiences. 

Other motor vehicles 

Taxi & Rideshare 
Services 

• Rideshare decentralisation changes vehicle access patterns. 

• Opportunity to optimise pick-up/drop-off zones. 

Transport Technology • Electric/autonomous vehicles must align with sustainable goals. 

• Avoid congestion and prioritise public and active transport. 

Motorcycles & Scooters • Support efficient transport but need safer road surfaces and visibility. 

• Electric options require charging infrastructure development. 

Page 159



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

90 AECOM

  

Solution Explanation 

A Traffic Circulation 
Plan 

Designing a comprehensive traffic circulation plan involves planning traffic 
routes to ensure through traffic is directed away from the central city while 
preserving access for local trips, deliveries, and public transport. 
Strategies may include: 

• Creating vehicle-restricted zones within key areas of the city. 

• Designating specific streets for local access only and bypass routes for 
through traffic. 

• Incorporating one-way systems or road closures to limit non-essential 
vehicle movement. 

• Implementing modal filters that allow only space-efficient modes of 
transport such as pedestrians, bicycles, and public transport to pass 
through while restricting private motor vehicle movements to reduce the 
appeal of certain routes. 

 

Traffic Signals 

Traffic signals in Australian cities are designed to manage the movement of different transport modes, 
balancing efficiency, safety, and accessibility. While they play a key role in controlling vehicle flow, they 
are not simply about maximising the number of cars that pass through an intersection. Signals can be 
adjusted to prioritise different users—pedestrians can be given longer crossing times, public transport 
can be given priority to reduce delays, and cyclists can be accommodated with dedicated phases. 
These decisions shape how people move through the city and influence transport choices. 

Traffic signals in the City of Adelaide are primarily operated by the Department for Infrastructure and 
Transport (DIT), which is responsible for the planning, installation, and maintenance of traffic signals 
across South Australia, including those within the Adelaide CBD. The City of Adelaide owns all the 
roads within its boundaries. This means that while DIT manages the broader road network, the city has 
unique needs that must be considered. A central capital city area functions differently from suburban or 
regional road networks—it has high pedestrian activity, more public transport, and greater demand for 
safe, efficient street space for all users. Traffic signals in Adelaide should not only focus on throughput 
but also on minimising delay for all modes and supporting the city’s transport objectives. 

Consideration Description 

Balancing Different Users Traffic signals are not just about vehicle throughput. Pedestrian crossing 
times, public transport priority, and local access can all be adjusted 
through signal timing. 

Impact on Through 
Traffic 

Signal priority can either attract or discourage through traffic. Longer 
green phases for vehicles encourage through movement, while priority 
for pedestrians and local access discourages unnecessary car trips in 
the city centre. 

Integration with a Traffic 
Circulation Plan 

Signal timing plays a key role in directing traffic flow according to the 
city’s strategic transport objectives, influencing where vehicles travel and 
how different modes interact. 

Network Coordination Achieving the right balance between movement efficiency and city 
accessibility requires close coordination between the City of Adelaide 
and DIT. 

Supporting Liveability 
and Access 

Traffic signals can be optimised not just for efficiency but also to 
enhance safety, improve public transport reliability, and create a more 
walkable city. 

 

The way signals are timed and prioritised can also play a role in encouraging or discouraging through 
traffic. Longer green phases for vehicles can attract more through traffic, increasing congestion and 
reducing the city’s walkability, while signal timing that prioritises local access and pedestrian 
movements can discourage through traffic and improve conditions for active and public transport users. 
Managing this balance is an important tool in supporting broader transport goals, including reducing 
congestion and improving safety in the city centre. 

Page 160



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

91 AECOM

  

The City of Adelaide Council has a role in advocating for changes, requesting modifications, or 
coordinating signal timings to align with local transport strategies, particularly in collaboration with DIT 
and SAPTA (South Australian Public Transport Authority) for public transport priority at intersections. 
Traffic signals are also closely linked to a traffic circulation plan, which defines how vehicles move 
through the city and where priority should be given to different transport modes. Well-planned signal 
timing can reinforce circulation objectives by directing through traffic to preferred routes while 
enhancing access to key destinations for local users. 

Achieving the right balance requires ongoing coordination between the City of Adelaide and DIT. 
Signals can be optimised not just for vehicle efficiency but to enhance safety, improve public transport 
reliability, and create a more walkable city. This means that adjustments to signal timing and priority 
should reflect the city's broader strategic goals, ensuring that Adelaide’s streets remain accessible and 
liveable while still allowing necessary vehicle movement. 

High traffic volumes passing through the City of Adelaide affects the overall city experience. 

Through traffic—vehicles that pass through a city without stopping or contributing to the local 
economy—is a recognised concern raised during community engagement. This issue significantly 
impacts the City of Adelaide by exacerbating congestion, increasing travel times, and detracting from 
the liveability and vibrancy of the central city. Community feedback highlights the need to limit or 
discourage through traffic to prioritise accessibility for transport that directly benefits the city, while 
reducing its negative effects on urban quality of life. Discouraging through traffic through strategic 
interventions, such as traffic circulation plans and modal filters, can create safer, more accessible 
spaces for walking, cycling, and public transport, aligning with the community's vision for a more 
liveable and sustainable city. 

Adelaide's vehicle and parking policies can evolve to address the growing challenges of traffic 
congestion, environmental impact, and a frustrating user experience. By exploring new approaches, 
Adelaide can reduce car dependency and improve liveability. Learning from global best practices, will 
be fundamental to develop a transport system that meets the needs of all residents and supports 
Adelaide's growth and development. 

In addressing motor vehicle and car parking challenges in the City of Adelaide, several key directions 
can be drawn from existing policies and frameworks. A central theme across various cities, including 
Melbourne and Hobart, is the increasing emphasis on reducing car dependency and promoting more 
sustainable forms of transport. The City of Melbourne has adopted a Strategy including policy89 that 
advocates prioritising reducing traffic congestion through road pricing and investing in public and active 
transport options. Engineers Australia has highlighted the need for less focus on road expansion and 
more on integrating different modes of transport to reduce congestion90. These directions point towards 
a balanced approach where cars remain part of the transport mix but are managed more effectively in 
conjunction with active transport and public transit. 

Austroads' supports this shift, advocating for more walkable and cycle-friendly cities. In Adelaide, active 
transport can be prioritised through the development of cycling infrastructure and safer pedestrian 
routes, especially in areas of high vehicle congestion91. This approach aligns with Engineers Australia’s 
call for a sustainable mobility management system that encourages walking and cycling over car use, 
thereby reducing emissions and improving public health. In implementing such strategies, Adelaide 
could consider reallocating road space to create dedicated bike lanes and pedestrian-friendly streets, 
as seen in cities like Portland and London92. 

Adelaide’s motor vehicle and parking strategy approach could focus on managing car use through 
pricing mechanisms, reallocating road space for sustainable transport modes, and improving public 
transport connectivity. Drawing on successful examples from Melbourne, Hobart, and international 
cities, these strategies can deliver long-term economic, environmental, and social benefits. 

Enhancing Parking Data for Informed Transport Planning 

While there is a wealth of parking data available, significant gaps remain, particularly in private off-street 
parking, which is likely the largest single category of parking supply within the City of Adelaide. A more 

 

89 City of Melbourne. (2019). Transport strategy 2030. City of Melbourne. 
90 Engineers Australia. (2023). Urban transport systems: Policy and planning advice. Engineers Australia. 
91 Austroads. (2024). Prioritising active transport. Austroads. 
92 City of Melbourne. (2018). Reducing traffic for better streets: Transport strategy discussion paper. City of Melbourne. 

Page 161



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

92 AECOM

  

comprehensive understanding of the entire parking network, including private facilities, is essential for 
future planning. Without accurate data on private off-street parking, it is difficult to assess overall 
capacity, demand patterns, and the potential for optimising parking supply. Improving data collection 
and organisation will allow for a more robust evaluation of the Integrated Transport Strategy’s 
implementation and effectiveness. Although this requires an initial investment of effort and resources, 
the long-term benefits—such as more efficient parking management, better integration with sustainable 
transport initiatives, and improved decision-making—make it a valuable and necessary undertaking. 

Table 5-3 Parking and Vehicle Management Opportunities 

Opportunity Summary 

Demonstrations, 
Trials, and Pilots 

• Small-scale implementations to test and showcase city changes like 
cycling lanes or pedestrian zones. 

• Build public and political support with tangible evidence. 

• Adjust initiatives based on feedback for informed long-term investments. 

Carshare • Short-term car rental services reduce car ownership and driving. 

• Shared cars can replace up to 10 private cars, decreasing congestion 
and environmental impacts. 

• City’s role includes providing parking spaces, regulatory frameworks, 
and integration into behaviour change programs. 

Performance-
Based Fees 

• Differential pricing based on emissions, vehicle size, or safety ratings. 

• Examples include emissions-based parking fees, congestion taxes, and 
low-emission zones. 

• Aligns pricing mechanisms with environmental and policy objectives. 

Parking reform to 
improve parking 
efficiency 

• Reducing parking duration by 10-20% can have the same effect as 
creating hundreds of new parking spaces in a neighbourhood, while 
improving traffic flow.93 

• Increased parking fees during peak demand periods can result in 20% 
decrease in average parking duration, 18% more unique visitors found 
parking and 7% reduction in traffic volumes which means less time spent 
searching for parking93. 

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 
Infrastructure 

• Electric vehicle (EV): Electric vehicle is often used to refer to an electric 
private car exclusively. However there are many types of electric 
vehicles including buses, trucks, trams, vans, bicycles and scooters. 

• Establish a comprehensive EV charging network for on-street and off-
street solutions. Noted that the City of Adelaide recently endorsed the 
roadmap to support the transition to EVs, which identified priority 
charging locations across the city as shown in Figure 5-5 and immediate 
actions for delivery in the short-term (three years). 

• Focus on public-private partnerships and key locations. 

• Support infrastructure for non-private EVs, including buses and scooters. 

Traffic Circulation 
Plan 

• Strategic framework to manage traffic flow, reduce through traffic, and 
enhance liveability. 

• Promotes walking, cycling, and public transport with pedestrian zones 
and dedicated bike lanes. 

• Reduces congestion and pollution, improving urban quality of life. 

Modal Filters • Restrict access for motor vehicles while allowing pedestrians and 
bicycles. 

• Create low-traffic neighbourhoods using barriers like bollards or planters. 

• Enhance active transport safety and attractiveness. 

Car Parking Policy 
in Planning and 
Design Code 

• Address parking challenges with guidelines for residential, scooter, 
bicycle parking, and car stacking. 

• Promote accessibility and active transport infrastructure. 

• Integrate parking policies into broader strategic transport plans. 

 

93 New York City Department of Transportation. (2012). Measuring the street: New metrics for 21st century streets. 

Page 162



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

93 AECOM

  

 

Figure 5-5 Recommended priority locations for EV charging infrastructure in Adelaide 

Source: Arup, CoA EV charging infrastructure transition roadmap, 2023 

 

Key strategic moves for the City of Adelaide to implement to support sustainable future growth of the 
city include adopting the Healthy Streets approach, implementing innovative policies like dynamic 
parking pricing and considering a shift towards road pricing, expanding electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure, creating low emission zones, and investing in extensive cycling and pedestrian 
infrastructure. 

Despite objectives to increase the number of people walking, wheeling, and cycling, transport data 
shows that mode shift has not been occurring as desired.  

To increase levels of walking, wheeling and cycling and public transport use, in line with strategic 
objectives of the City of Adelaide and other levels of government, it is vital to consider both stronger 
incentives related to those modes, and disincentives for car use. Governments globally have 
implemented or started to consider measures such as car parking management and road use pricing. 

The following three key strategic moves have been identified based on the objectives for our city: 

  

Page 163



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

94 AECOM

  

Consider the environmental impact of transport 

• Considering the environmental impact of transport modes and prioritising space efficient and low-
emission transport, by expanding electric vehicle charging infrastructure, creating low emission 
zones, and investing in connected cycling and pedestrian networks. 

Strategic parking and traffic circulation 

• Being strategic about how we manage our parking and traffic circulation through dynamic parking 
pricing, parking management and permits, developing a comprehensive traffic circulation plan, 
implementing modal filters, reducing speed limits, and enhancing road safety measures. 

Healthy Streets 

• Optimising the road space of our streets to create appealing corridors for movement, rest, and to 
improve safety for all users using Healthy Streets principles. 

Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to motor vehicles and 
parking within the City of Adelaide.  

San Francisco, USA  

San Fransisco has introduced dynamic parking 
pricing through its SF Park program. This 
system adjusts parking prices based on 
demand, ensuring that one or two spaces are 
always available on each block. The approach 
helps reduce the time drivers spend searching 
for parking; lowering congestion and emissions. 

 

Figure 5-6 San Francisco Smart Parking meter 

Source: SFTMA 

Ghent, Belgium  

Ghent's Traffic Circulation Plan divides the city 
into six sectors, including the city centre, to 
restrict motorised vehicles from crossing 
between them, thereby directing through traffic 
to the inner ring road. Several streets have been 
closed to motorised traffic, with changes to travel 
directions in 77 streets, allowing only vehicles 
with special permits, such as emergency 
services, public transport, and taxis, in restricted 
areas. The plan also creates extensive 
pedestrian zones and significantly expands 
cycling infrastructure, including dedicated bike 
lanes and secure bike parking. Additionally, it 
promotes the use of public transport by 
prioritising buses and trams in the city centre.94 

 

Figure 5-7 Interactive digital map of the circulation plan 

Source: City of Ghent 

 

 

94 European Commission. "Gent's Traffic Circulation Plan (Belgium)." EU Urban Mobility Observatory, 19 Oct. 2017 

Page 164



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

95 AECOM

  

Melbourne, Australia 

In some newer Australian car-free 
developments, such as Nightingale Housing 
projects in Melbourne95, new residents are 
required to certify that they do not own a car and 
agree not to use on-street parking spaces. 
These developments focus on sustainable living, 
with excellent access to public transport and 
cycling infrastructure, encouraging residents to 
adopt car-free lifestyles. This approach is part of 
a broader trend in cities aimed at reducing car 
dependency and promoting sustainable urban 
transport options. 

 

Sydney, Australia 

The City of Sydney has implemented a 
differential residential parking permit fee 
structure based on vehicle emissions to 
encourage the use of greener vehicles96. This 
scheme divides vehicles into categories based 
on their CO2 emissions, with lower emissions 
vehicles paying less for their permits. For 
instance, vehicles emitting less CO2 per 
kilometre pay lower fees than those with higher 
emissions, which are subject to higher charges. 
The scaled annual permit fees are based on the 
star rating of the vehicle in the federal 
government's green vehicle guide. This 
approach aims to reduce the environmental 
impact of vehicle use to demonstrate 
environmental leadership and to address climate 
change by encouraging residents to choose 
more sustainable transportation options. 

5.3.6 Shared Micromobility 

Shared micromobility is a key mode that people can move around within the City of Adelaide and 
between adjacent suburbs by. The need for shared micromobility in the future is likely to grow as more 
people live and work within the City of Adelaide97 98 and we focus on efficient and sustainable 
development. Shared micromobility provides people with greater transport choice: offering a 
sustainable, space efficient and active alternative to driving. It has a role to play in supporting the 
reduction of use of private motor vehicles to help maintain liveability of our city in the future99.  

What is shared micromobility? Shared micromobility includes rentable small, fully or partially human 
powered or electric devices, including e-bikes, bikes and e-scooters. The vehicles can be rented 
through a mobile phone app and are collected and dropped off in the public realm. 

What benefits does shared micromobility bring to our city?  

The provision of and effective management of shared micromobility allows more people to have greater 
choice in how they travel and reduces the dependence on motor vehicles for journeys. Shared 
micromobility improves the accessibility of our city; increasing the choices available to people for first 
and last mile travel and expands the catchments of connectivity to key destinations. There is a strong 
relationship between shared micromobility and public transport, with the integration of these two modes 
enabling efficient and convenient door-to-door experiences.  

A note on terminology: first and last mile access is the first and final leg of a journey. It is often the 
connection between your origin / destination and public transport. For example, the walk from home to 
the bus stop and then the walk from the bus stop to your office.  

By improving connectivity, shared scooters and cycles contribute to social connection and community 
cohesion, greater physical activity and wellbeing through the use of active travel modes (improving 
public health), and increasing urban liveability.  

 

95 The Fifth Estate. (2015, June 4). No car parking: The hot new trend. The Fifth Estate. 
96 City of Sydney. (n.d.). How to apply for a residential parking permit. City of Sydney. https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 
97 Greater Adelaide Regional Plan (Draft), SA Department for Housing and Urban Development, 2024 
98 City Plan, City of Adelaide, 2024 
99 Kailai Wang, Xiaodong Qian, Dillon Taylor Fitch, Yongsung Lee, Jai Malik & Giovanni Circella (2023) What travel modes do 
shared e-scooters displace? A review of recent research findings, Transport Reviews, 43:1, 5-31, DOI: 
10.1080/01441647.2021.2015639 

Page 165

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

96 AECOM

  

Ultimately, shared micromobility supports the benefits a city experiences through shifting travel away 
from private motor vehicles: improvement in places and amenity, reduced emissions and noise 
pollution, better health and wellbeing outcomes, and economic return.  

Data from Melbourne indicates that e-scooters assist in the growth of active transport mode share, 
offering a gateway to using shared cycles and undertaking more trips by riding100.  

Shared micromobility, especially e-scooters, remains a dynamic space with ongoing changes to 
optimise the management of the programs. A number of challenges can be noted within the City of 
Adelaide context for balancing the success of shared mobility with other city users.  

With existing speed limits within the City of Adelaide, current legislation prohibits e-scooters from 
travelling on roads, resulting in majority of e-scooter use being on footpaths. This can make people 
walking or wheeling feel uncomfortable. The State Government may change legislation allowing e-
scooters on roads with speed limits up to and including 50km/h, however this would not be considered a 
safe outcome and research suggests many people would still choose to use the footpath because they 
would be too scared on-road101. Research indicates that mixing driving and scootering at 50km/h will 
increase serious injuries on our streets102.  

The appeal of using cycle share is limited by the quality of supporting infrastructure. With few protected 
cycle lanes / cycle paths, people are often required to cycle on road, mixing with motor vehicles 
travelling at relatively high speeds. Without a comfortable environment for cycling, few people may 
choose to use cycle share, and it may not be financially viable.  

While some streets have designated parking spaces allocated for shared micromobility or restrict them 
entirely, on most streets parking is ‘free floating’ or unrestricted. This results in shared micromobility 
devices being left on footpaths, taking up valuable walking / wheeling space in busy urban 
environments. Poorly parked devices can also become trip hazards, especially for older adults and 
people with disability.  

However, there is a need to balance the management of parking with maintaining flexibility of the mode. 
The appeal of shared micromobility has often been the convenience and flexibility that ‘free floating’ 
parking allows for. That is, being able to book a device via the app on your phone and use one in close 
proximity to your current location. These locations are therefore dispersed throughout the trial areas 
and are not fixed, such as a bus stop or train station. They allow you to get closer to a destination.  

Footpath clutter and unsafe perception it generates was a key concern for the community. 

 
Investing in a micromobility network and better parking management will mean more people can choose 
to cycle and use shared micromobility, while creating better outcomes for people walking and wheeling. 
This strategy provides a blueprint for achieving this through the following key enablers:   

• Optimise our streets to create safe corridors for people to use micromobility devices (shared and 
personal) with managed parking provisions on busy streets to ensure there are comfortable spaces 
for people walking and wheeling.  

• Manage parking through designated parking bays or docks in busier areas. Provide some 
designated parking in quieter residential areas but have allowances for ‘free floating’ parking for 
safety and inclusion.  

• Establish micromobility networks to improve connections with key destinations (including public 
transport). Identify ‘no go zones’ (streets and paths where scootering and/or cycling are to be 
excluded).  

• Lower speed limits to promote and enable safer on-road micromobility conditions and minimise 
potential conflicts on footpaths with people walking and wheeling.  

 

100 City of Melbourne Shared E-Scooter Trial Scheme Advice, AECOM, 2023 
101 The e-scooter gender gap – Jennifer Dill, Ph.D. 
102 Cloud, C., Heß S. & Kasinger, J. (2023). Shared e-scooter services and road safety: Evidence from six European countries, 
European Economic Review, 160 

Page 166



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

97 AECOM

  

• Integrate shared micromobility with public transport through creating micromobility hubs at public 
transport interchanges and stations. Joint promotion and pricing structures could also be explored 
with State Government and micromobility operators.  

• Have operators deploy more inclusive devices such as e-scooters with seats to improve 
accessibility and enable longer journeys for more people. Investigate schemes for different pricing 
models to promote shared micromobility as a viable transport option for people with limited existing 
transport means.  

• Make improvements to recreational trails within the Park Lands to promote shared micromobility as 
a tourism activity that enables visitors to explore the Park Lands and adjacent city destinations. 

Shared Micromobility Parking in London 

Wandsworth Council in South London supports shared e-bikes as a ‘convenient travel option’, 
recognising them as a clean and sustainable way of getting around. However, they do acknowledge 
the importance of managing end-of-trip parking, as devices left on footpaths in busier areas can 
significant impact people walking or wheeling.  

The Council utilise a hybrid system for shared e-bike 
parking, with it being mandatory to park devices in a 
designated bay in busier town centre areas. In quieter 
parts of the council area, there will be designated parking 
bays which people are encouraged to use but ‘free 
floating’ parking is still allowed. One of the reasons cited 
for this decision is to enable people, especially women, to 
feel safer and park close to home at night. The Council 
have installed over 100 parking bats for shared 
micromobility across the 34km2 council area.                       Image Source: Wandsworth Council 

 
Refer to Section 8.0 for the Implementation Plan which provides an overview of the governance and 
delivery mechanisms to implement the recommended policies and actions related to shared 
micromobility within the City of Adelaide.  

 

  

Page 167



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

98 AECOM

  

6.0 Integrated Transport Framework 

Three key transport planning frameworks have been adopted throughout this Strategy: Movement and 
Place, Safe Systems Approach and Healthy Streets. Each of these frameworks bring a specific lens to 
understanding how people use our city and transport network and help to inform our aspirations. The 
following sections provide an overview of the respective frameworks.  

We have subsequently integrated the principles of these three frameworks to develop a City of Adelaide 
specific framework for the assessment of our streets (see Section 6.4). This framework has also been 
used to inform the mapping of our future transport networks (see Section 7.2). 

6.1 Movement and Place Framework 

Movement and Place is a framework for planning, designing and managing transport networks. The 
approach recognises that streets are not just for moving people and goods, but that they are also 
places for people to live, work and spend time. Streets are key areas of people’s activity and support 
economic, social and cultural value.  

The framework highlights the importance of ‘Place’ in the decision-making process and the need for a 
collaborative planning, design and engineering approach. The delivery of a high-quality transport 
network provides a great opportunity to not only improve conditions for people travelling, but to create 
more liveable streets that deliver better outcomes for all. 

Movement and Place provides a cohesive approach to aligning integrated and efficient movement of 
people and goods with amenity and quality of places. It can be utilised to get the right mix of transport in 
the right locations.  

There are varying approaches to Movement and Place that are being implemented around the world, 
with no one framework in place for Australia. They all include the recognition of different road or street 
environments typologies depending on the combination of movement function and place value.  

The approach adopted by the South Australian Department for Infrastructure and Transport is outlined 
in the SA Active Travel Design Guide; utilising a 5x5 matrix where a number ‘1’ on each axis indicates 
that the Movement or Place function is of strategic priority, and ‘5’ is of local priority. Each cell in the 
matrix represents one of 25 street types, labelled from M1P1 in the top left corner and M5P5 in the 
bottom right corner. 

     

Figure 6-1 Movement and Place frameworks utilised in Australia: left – South Australia and right – New South Wales 

Source: SA Department for Infrastructure & Transport, 2024 and Transport for NSW, 2020 

 

By recognising the different types of street environments that arise from the combination of Movement 
and Place functions, we can make more informed decisions to support a variety of users and uses of a 
particular section of road or street. We can identify corridors that have a high movement function and 
cater for private and freight vehicle movement. We can identify places where lingering should be 
encouraged to support the economic, social and cultural function of our city. We acknowledge that not 
every street can serve every function for every user.  

Page 168



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

99 AECOM

  

6.2 Safe System Approach 

The City of Adelaide supports South Australia’s Road Safety Strategy to 2031103. The strategy outlines 
a short-term target of reducing the number of annual fatalities on South Australian roads to fewer than 
43 by the year 2031 (50% reduction) and serious injuries to fewer than 474 (30% reduction). To achieve 
this goal and to move towards the ultimate vision of zero serious injuries and fatalities on South 
Australian roads by 2050, the Safe Systems Approach to road safety is used. 

The Safe Systems Approach is a belief that all road related serious injuries and deaths are preventable 
and therefore no loss of life is acceptable. It views human life and health paramount to all else and is 
the first and foremost consideration when designing a road network. People are at the centre of this 
approach, so that mistakes don’t cost lives. 

The following principles underpin Safe Systems: we will make mistakes, our bodies are fragile, we need 
to create a more forgiving road system and road safety is everybody’s responsibility. 

The Safe System Approach has four essential and intersecting elements: 

• Safe road user behaviour 

• Safe road infrastructure 

• Safe speeds at which people travel 

• Safe vehicles. 

•  

The approach views human life and 
health as paramount to all else and 
should be the first and foremost 
consideration when designing a 
transport network 

How can we implement the Safe 
Systems Approach?   

The key role that the Safe Systems 
Approach brings to the planning of our 
streets as part of this Strategy is the 
reallocation of space to people walking / 
wheeling and cycling. Returning more 
space to people supports the reduction 
of speeds and introduction of traffic 
calming measures to lower likelihood. 
The adjustment of space and speeds 
improves accessibility for people of all 
ages and abilities in our city.   

Figure 6-2 Overview of the Safe Systems Approach  

Source: National Road Safety Strategy 2021-30, 2021 

  

 

103 South Australia’s Road Safety Strategy to 2031, Government of South Australia 

Page 169



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

100 AECOM

  

6.3 Healthy Streets  

Healthy Streets is a framework developed by Lucy Saunders which is not just about changing the whole 
street but the whole system. A healthy street is one where people feel welcome, relaxed and safe, 
where people can choose to walk and ride their bike and spend time.  

There are ten Healthy Street Indicators to assess streets as being 
inclusive and healthy environments (refer to diagram). The key 
principles around healthy streets are: 

• Address the big health impacts of urban transport by striving for 
‘clean air’, ‘not too noisy’ and safety by making it ‘easy to cross’ and 
‘people feel safe’.  

• Everyone needs an accessible environment to be active every 
day by designing our streets so ‘everyone feels welcome’ and 
‘people choose to walk and cycle’.  

• The environment needs to be pleasant by addressing the 
indicators of ‘people feel relaxed’, ‘things to see and do’, ‘shade and 
shelter’ and ‘places to stop and rest’. 

How can we implement Healthy Streets?  

Street space optimisation  

Street space within the City of Adelaide is limited, and therefore requires strategic management. One 
strategy for this is reallocating street space to provide more space for walking / wheeling and cycling 
infrastructure and street greening. Both of these land uses bring a number of benefits to the city for 
residents, businesses and visitors, as outlined in the following sections.  

Street greening  

Street greening is a way to deliver Healthy Streets in Adelaide. Street greening aligns with the 
opportunities identified in the City of Adelaide Integrated Climate Strategy 2023, 2020-2024 Strategic 
Plan and City Plan. We know that there are a number of benefits in strategically placing trees and 
vegetation along streets throughout the city: 

• Improved amenity of streets creates more enjoyable environments for people to spend time in  

• Enhanced plant diversity, urban biodiversity and air quality within the City of Adelaide 

• Increased shade and shelter from street trees supports the cooling of the environment 

• Reallocating space to urban greening contributes to climate resilience and enhances the city's 
environmental quality; helping to mitigate the effects of climate change. 

More walking / wheeling and cycling infrastructure  

A key component to delivering healthy streets is providing more space for people to walk, wheel and 
cycle, with the type of active transport infrastructure corresponding to how safe people feel104105. 
Feelings of confidence and safety contributes to more people walking, wheeling and cycling, and we 
know that there are a number of benefits to that:  

• Greater amenity calms traffic and leads to increased walking and cycling activity along streets 
generating greater economic activity and a safer space 

• Increased walking and cycling supports improved physical and mental wellbeing  

• Improve accessibility for people of all ages and abilities, for inclusion and independent movement 

• Prioritising active transport reduces vehicle emissions and noise, contributing to better air quality  

• More space for people creates lively neighbourhoods, helping to stimulate local businesses and 
create lively neighbourhoods.  

 

104 City of Melbourne (2017), Bicycle User Confidence Study 
105 Department of Infrastructure & Transport (2022), Cycling Strategy for South Australia 

Page 170



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

101 AECOM

  

6.4 City of Adelaide Framework 

A transport framework has been developed for the City of Adelaide to guide integrated and sustainable 
transport planning efforts. This framework draws on recognised principles and established approaches 
from three key sources: the Movement and Place Framework, the Safe System Approach, and Healthy 
Streets.  

By combining elements from these influential frameworks, Adelaide seeks to balance the safe 
movement of people and goods with the quality and liveability of its public spaces. This process 
involves understanding the diverse functions of streets, prioritising safety and accessibility, and 
fostering healthy, sustainable environments for residents, workers, and visitors.  

This new framework is intended to bring together key components of each of the above frameworks in a 
manner that allows the City to effectively asses and make decisions regarding what interventions or 
changes are most appropriate for a given location as part of a particular project. This can be based on 
key metrics and indicators of how a street or road is currently functioning compared to what function is 
needs to serve in the future as guided by the network maps, considering four themes:  

1. Accessibility 

2. Experience and Place 

3. Health and Sustainability 

4. Safety and Comfort.  

Within the framework, each theme itself includes a set of key indicators and metrics informed by 
existing data or site observations. In this way we will quantify how a particular location should function, 
look, or feel, based on these discrete metrics when developing options for a project. A series of metric 
scores have been developed in line with network classifications and resulting street typologies. 

Table 6-1 Themes and metrics for assessment as part of the framework  

 

By assessing current performance of the street against these same metrics, we can understand what 
and where the shortfall may be between the street as it currently stands, and it needs to be to meet our 
vision. This is the performance gap. This in turn, allows for a more targeted approach to future 
upgrades to ensure that treatments to the street meet our vision – the network mapping and design 
guidance.  

  

Page 171



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

102 AECOM

  

Our City of Adelaide practitioners will utilise this framework in the development of project options.  

 

 
Figure 6-3 Layers to the framework assessment to support achieving the vision for streets in this Strategy  

 

 

  

Page 172



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

103 AECOM

  

7.0 Network Integration and Mapping  

This section outlines the approach taken to identify the proposed future-state of the City of Adelaide’s 
street network as captured in the network mapping. A series of principles were developed to guide the 
direction of the network, then supported by classifications and associated mapping rules to inform the 
design response for infrastructure solutions with a particular focus on walking / wheeling and cycling.  

A note on terminology: This Strategy uses the terms ‘walking’ which includes all people moving on the 
footpath including walking, running or jogging, people using a cane / walker or pram / pusher; and 
‘wheeling’ which includes all people using wheelchairs and motorised scooters. It is noted that the SA 
Active Travel Design Guide refers to ‘wheeling’ in a cycling context. 

This section has been informed by the Movement & Place framework (Victoria and New South Wales), 
Healthy Streets and Safe System approaches, Adelaide Design Manual Street Types, best practice 
documentation as well as key findings from the discussion papers and community / stakeholder 
engagement process.  

7.1 Mapping Principles 

Four overarching themes and corresponding mapping principles have been developed to inform the 
future direction of the City of Adelaide transport network. The principles align to the overarching 
Strategy vision and objectives, key opportunities noted during engagement, the integrated transport 
frameworks including Healthy Streets and best practice guidance.  

Refer to the table below for the overarching themes and mapping principles.  

Table 7-1 Themes and mapping principles for the overarching City of Adelaide network  

Overarching Themes & Mapping Principles 

Movement & Access 

• An inclusive and accessible network for people of all ages and abilities  

• Reducing the impact of motorised traffic to the city (e.g. through traffic) 

• Prioritising movement of people rather than vehicles  

• Improving the quality of cycling conditions (safe, convenient and connected infrastructure with 
resilient route options)  

• Making walking and wheeling comfortable and accessible for all people  

• Supporting improved public transport service quality  

• Managing and balancing the provision of parking to support ongoing access to businesses, and 
maintaining access to off-street parking 

• Managing traffic circulation with modal filters and one-way streets  

Experience & Place 

• Responding to future population growth in the city  

• Supporting social infrastructure elements for greater street activity and community experience  

• Supporting safe, creative and joyful spaces for use by people of all ages  

Health & Sustainability  

• Making streets heat and climate resilient places 

• Supporting improved physical and mental health outcomes through active transport use 

Safety & Comfort 

• Creating a network where people feel comfortable on the street: safe, healthy and connected 
streets for all users  

• Making networks gender accessible and inclusive 

 

7.1.1 Classifications  

To support the assessment of streets within the City of Adelaide, a series of practical network 
classifications have been developed. Classifications have been used to understand the strategic 
function of a connection by respective mode: what purpose the street serves for different users.  

Page 173



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

104 AECOM

  

Noting the need for alignment with the Department for Infrastructure & Transport and their ongoing 
State Transport Strategy development process, the existing classifications from the SA Active Travel 
Design Guide were used as a starting point. Some changes were made to ensure classifications were 
applicable to the City of Adelaide context. These include:  

• Adding walking and wheeling classifications as the SA Active Travel Design Guide does not 
separate these uses from Place.  

• Adding a Capital City classification for cycling to denote primary cycling routes within the City of 
Adelaide that connect to places of significance.  

• Adding a Capital City classification for general traffic to denote routes that serve a strategic function 
within the Greater Adelaide network, however, are not declared arterial roads.  

• Bringing in elements of Healthy Streets and Safe Systems Approach for this classification update 
for use within the City of Adelaide.  

• Adding locations which are of strategic value to City of Adelaide including community facilities, open 
space and schools to Place classifications, to ensure alignment with walking and wheeling 
classifications.  

• Expanding public transport corridors to include light rail services.  

No changes were made to the classifications for freight.  

7.1.1.1 Movement Classifications 

The following tables denote the Movement classifications for respective modes active transport and 
vehicle-based modes. The considerations for these transport modes are diverse, and so too are the 
needs of the people using them. The following tables provides guidance on establishing hierarchy 
status for streets for perspectives of all modes of travel. This has been used to inform the development 
of the network mapping (Section 7.2). It is noted that the relative priority for Movement along streets can 
be conflict with other modes. Therefore, the network maps present a strategic approach across the City 
of Adelaide by balancing these considerations and identifying key corridors t support such functions.  

Active Transport  

Table 7-2 Movement classifications for walking / wheeling modes 

# Walking / Wheeling  

A 
Capital city street / square  
Primary pedestrian areas of the City of Adelaide with a high concentration of activity; areas 
which are of State significance.  

1 
Main street – very high activity  
Regionally significant walking links near key high street and transport node activity generators 
with existing and/or potential demand. 

2 
Main street – high activity  
Regionally significant walking links near key activity generators such as education facilities with 
existing and/or potential demand. 

3 

Village street / local street  
Municipal level significance to support pedestrian movements to and around activity generators 
such as activity centres, schools and transport interchanges. These routes support ‘local living’ 
principles. 

4 

Local footpath / neighbourhood connections  
Providing connections to the key walking / wheeling locations (W-A to W-3), supporting the 
complete walking journey. These links are mainly residential streets, providing connections to 
local destinations like parks, shops and bus stops.  

R 

Recreational paths 
Routes usually located beside rivers, creeks and rail lines – often shared  
facilities with cycling. These routes can serve a health / recreational purpose for use by people 
running / jogging. Example: Park Lands. 

 

Page 174



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

105 AECOM

  

Table 7-3 Movement classifications for cycling / micromobility modes 

# Cycling & Micromobility 

A 

Capital city cycling routes  
Primary routes within the capital city area. Provide a core network of highest use routes that 
connect places of State significance, such as public transport interchanges, the Adelaide Oval 
and the CBD. Generally designed for first / last mile access to key destinations, connected via 
C-1 routes for longer cycling journeys. 

1 
Regional cycling routes  
High priority cycling routes that connect the capital city with Urban Activity Centres and other 
significant destinations. 

2 

District cycling routes  
Routes that connect major activity centres with each other and with C-1 routes, creating a 
comprehensive high-quality network linking important destinations. Recreational trails of district 
significance are also part of C-2 level route network. 

3 

Local cycling routes  
Routes that connect local activity centres and residential areas with each other and link to the C-
1 and C-2 networks. Designated trails of mainly local or recreational significance are also 
included in the C-3 network. 

R 

Recreational paths  
Provide a quieter cycling environment for recreation and tourism. Routes usually run beside 
rivers, creeks and rail lines. Often shared with people walking / wheeling. Noted that some 
routes such as the Park Lands and River Torrens Linear Trail also serve a dual purpose for 
commuting and other transport tasks. 

 
Vehicles  

Table 7-4 Movement classifications for vehicle based modes: public transport  

# Public Transport (PT) 

 
1 

Priority PT corridors 
Core backbone corridors with dedicated infrastructure that connect major hubs of activity along 
primary corridors of demand at higher frequency. Minimum infrastructure requirement is a 
dedicated corridor or lane from 7am to 7pm. Additional improvements for priority PT corridors 
include signal priority at key intersections to reduce delays, upgraded station and stop facilities 
with real-time information and accessibility features, stricter enforcement of dedicated lanes, 
improved active transport connections for first and last-mile access, increased service frequency 
and operating hours, and the introduction of express services or enhanced bus rapid transit 
where demand supports it. 

 
2 

Frequent PT corridors 
Secondary backbone corridors that connect major hubs of activity with high frequency along 
corridors of strong demand. Strong integration with the priority network. Frequent PT corridors 
should include seamless transfers between transport modes, improved reliability through transit 
signal priority at key intersections, enhanced stop facilities with shelters and real-time service 
information, and expanded off-peak and weekend services to support travel demand beyond 
traditional commuting hours. 

3 
Connector PT corridors  
Connector corridors that connect residential areas and secondary centres to the priority or 
frequent networks. 

 

  

Page 175



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

106 AECOM

  

Table 7-5 Movement classifications for vehicle based modes: general traffic 

# General Traffic (GT) 106 

A 

Capital city strategic streets 
Streets that provide for localised movement within the City of Adelaide on strategic corridors. 
Multi-modal movement (balanced with active transport and public transport) is at low speeds 
and volumes, supporting place intensity. Streets do not cater for an arterial road function but 
allow for access within the LGA. They are not State roads. Includes street typologies of 
Boulevard and Terrace.  

4 

Collector streets  
Streets that collect and channel traffic from local streets to higher-order streets. Movement is at 
low speeds and volumes and allows access between precincts of the City of Adelaide. 
Typically includes street typologies of Terrace, Park Lands and Street.  

5 

Local streets / access streets  
Streets used only for local movements. These streets usually have low traffic volumes and 
mainly provide first and last-mile connections. Typically includes street typologies of Street, 
Retail Street and Small Streets & Laneways. 

 

Table 7-6 Movement classifications for vehicle based modes: freight 

# Freight (F) 

1 
Principal freight routes  
Roads that offer high connectivity and efficiency for nationally significant freight movements 
between the capital, major cities, strategic economic regions, and major logistics centres. 

2 

Major freight routes  
Roads that support the movement of high productivity freight to and from principal freight routes 
and between them. These routes are well-established and handle regular daily freight 
movements. 

3 
Local freight routes  
Roads that facilitate the movement of high productivity freight to and from key nodes, depots 
and delivery destinations, and connect to higher-order (F1 and F2) freight roads. 

 

 

 

106 The GT-1 to GT-3 classifications do not apply to the City of Adelaide as there are no arterial roads within the LGA. Streets 
within LGA are owned and operated / managed by the Council, and not DIT. 

Page 176



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

107 AECOM

  

 

7.1.1.2 Place Classifications  

The following table outlines the guidance to be used to determine the Place function of a street within the City of Adelaide. Five levels of Place have been 
identified, with the hierarchy aligned with the level of pedestrian activity along the street network, generated by local destinations. Place status ranges from 
P-1 (strategic: places of State significance) to P-5 (local). 

When evaluating the Place function of a street, a number of factors need to be considered including the type of activation of frontages (for example, 
commercial shopfronts, eateries and cultural venues that attract significant pedestrian traffic will have a higher Place status), the land use designation and 
the relative significance of the destination / attraction to visitors. The Place function can vary throughout a network and even along a street, with different 
classifications for residential areas, centres, mixed-use or commercial zones, and sometimes by time of day or year. This variability in activation can result in 
distinct Place-based considerations along the same road. 

The classification components below have been informed by the SA Active Travel Design Guide.  

Table 7-7 Guidance to determine Place classifications  

Place (P) 

1 

Places of National or State significance  

• Street frontages (extending over 750 metres on both sides) that form part of state significant tourist precincts or are premier destinations for 
dining, entertainment, and/or high-density retail activities. Street frontages are visible and permeable 

• Cultural, entertainment or concert venues with a capacity of 1,500+ people, and sporting venues that host national games 

2 

Places of metropolitan or city/town significance  

• Street frontages (extending over 500 metres on any side of a street) that are popular and well-known destinations with visitors from metropolitan-
wide or city/town-wide catchments including locations such as dining (on-street dining), entertainment and/or high-density retail, tertiary education 
activities. Street frontages are visible and permeable 

• City squares  

• Cultural, entertainment or concert venues with for 500-1,500 people 

3 

Places of local government (council) significance 

• Street frontages (extending over 500 metres on any side of a street) that are popular and well-known destinations with visitors from immediate 
and adjoining council catchments including locations such as commercial, dining (on-street dining), entertainment and/ or high-density retail, 
secondary education activities. Street frontages are visible and permeable 

• Community and civic uses such as libraries, town halls, and open spaces / parks / local sporting grounds 

• Cultural, entertainment or concert venues with a capacity 

4 

Places of neighbourhood significance  

• Street frontages (extending over 200 metres on any side of a street) that act as neighbourhood activity precincts with commercial, education, 
dining, entertainment and/or retail activities. Street frontages are visible and permeable 

• Presence of large schools with 300+ student enrolments with frontages or key active travel access routes along the street 

P
age 177



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

108 AECOM

  

Place (P) 

5 

Places of local significance  

• Local places of residence 

• Commercial destinations with small numbers of customers arriving mainly by appointment 

• Presence of schools with more localised school catchments  

 

7.1.2 Mapping Rules: Active Transport  

The following tables denote the mapping rules for active transport modes to support the identification of connections within the City of Adelaide and then the 
corresponding classifications. The elements noted within these tables help to determine which classification a street best sits within. For example, being 
within 100m of Adelaide Railway Station indicates that the street best aligns with the W-1 classification.   

Should there be two locations of the same classification separated by less than 200m, then the entire length will be classified the same.   

Table 7-8 Mapping rules for walking and wheeling classifications  

Walking / Wheeling (W) 

A • Paths within an area assigned as P-1 – state significance  

1 
• Paths within a block of P-1 and P-2 – state and metropolitan significance  

• Public transport function with routes located within 200m radius of railway stations, tram stops and bus interchanges. 

2 

• Paths within two blocks of P-1 and P-2 – state / metropolitan significance where linked by active frontages and AT / PT infrastructure / services  

• Paths adjacent to retail (active frontages)  

• Paths within 100m of a significant public transport node  

• Paths within 200m of educational facilities  

3 

• Paths within a block of P-3 and P-4 – local government and neighbourhood significance  

• Paths within 1km of educational facilities  

• Paths within 400m of community and civic land uses including parks, health facilities, public transport nodes   

4 

• Paths within two blocks of P-3 and P-4 – local government and neighbourhood significance 

• Paths within a block of P-5 – local significance  

• Streets with public transport access via a bus stop 

• Streets assigned as local roads / GT-5 and located within 2km of P-1 to P-5 classifications (if not assigned otherwise).  

R • Only W-R if it is not another W classification with higher LoS requirements.  

 
  

P
age 178



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

109 AECOM

  

Table 7-9 Mapping rules for cycling classifications 

Cycling (C) 

A 
• Routes for access to key City of Adelaide land uses / destinations – regional significance  

• Routes form the core network of the City of Adelaide (north-south and east-west corridors)  

1 
• Routes for access to key district-level destinations  

• Strategic cycling network (C-1 and C-2) routes should be spaced at maximum 500m (preferred) to 750m 

2 
• Routes for access to educational facilities (secondary and tertiary), public transport nodes, health and community / civic facilities  

• Strategic cycling network (C-1 and C-2) routes should be spaced at maximum 500m (preferred) to 750m 

3 
• Routes for access to neighbourhood destinations  

• A route which has been identified as GT-4 / GT-5 (if not already assigned a C classification)  

R • Routes which are primarily for use for recreation / tourism  

 
 

P
age 179



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

110 AECOM

  

7.1.3 Design Guidance: Active Transport  

Everyone should be able to travel safely. But our perceptions of safety also influence where, when, and 
how we travel, and can impact the amount of time a journey will take and our enjoyment of place.  

Improving the design of our streets will encourage greater use of sustainable transport by people of all 
abilities; a key vision for this Strategy. Street space will be allocated fairly and safely to create safe 
streets and intersections and to prioritise walking / wheeling, cycling and public transport. 

With the aspirational network both classified and mapped as per the earlier sections, design guidance 
can be used to understand the respective typologies of the infrastructure provided. This guidance 
should be used to inform the allocation of existing space to support the strategic aims and objectives of 
the City of Adelaide.  

Noting the City of Adelaide’s strategic role within Greater Adelaide and the greater demand for and use 
of pedestrian facilities, best practice documentation has been referred to for the design width guidance 
for walking / wheeling paths. The table below has been informed by the Transport for NSW Walking 
Space Guide. The Guide outlines an assessment of minimum target of Level of Service (LoS) for 
footpaths by function to ensure pedestrian comfort within the space allocated for walking / wheeling. 
The design width guidance for walking / wheeling classifications has been informed by considerations 
for walking space. 

 

Figure 7-1 Walking space 107 

What is walking space?  

Walking space is the area available on a footpath for people walking / 
wheeling to use. We know that there’s a number of obstructions on 
footpaths, with many of these needed to support people and city 
operations. The walking space on a footpath is the area minus such 
street elements. These include:  

• Kerbside buffer – the space adjacent to the street and moving 
vehicles which people walking and wheeling do not feel comfortable 
to use. This buffer increases in width as the speed of travel for 
vehicles increases. For example, a street with a speed limit of 
40km/h has a kerbside buffer zone of 1.2m.  

• Street elements like poles, outdoor dining / street furniture, street 
greening like trees, bus stops, on-street advertising boards,  

This is shown in yellow in Figure 7-1, indicating the space available for 
people walking / wheeling to use comfortably on a street between street 
elements.  

 

 
The inclusion of street elements such as greening, facilities for people walking / wheeling like street 
furniture, and wayfinding help to support a greater volume and diversity of users noting the strategic 
function of the street. The recommended street elements from the SA Active Travel Design Guide can 
be applied by practitioners to the local design response for the highest LoS (appropriate to the context 
of the street). 

  

 

107 Transport for NSW Walking Space Guide, 2020 

Page 180



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

111 AECOM

  

Table 7-10 Walking and wheeling design width guidance  

Walking / Wheeling Classification  
Design Width Guidance: Walking Space 108 

Desirable Width (m) Minimum Width (m) 

A 4.5 4 

1 4 3.7 

2 3.2 3 

3 3 2.7 

4 2.3 2 

R 3 2 

 
The table below outlines the possible infrastructure typologies which can be utilised in the design 
response to respective streets with classifications from A to R. There are a number of typologies 
identified for classifications as the design considerations for cycling infrastructure needs to be tailored to 
best suit the context of the street while ensuring that it is safe, direct, connected, comfortable and 
adaptable. This includes the Movement (general traffic) and Place classifications.  

The cycling link types noted in the table below have been informed by the SA Active Travel Design 
Guide.  

Table 7-11 Cycling design typology guidance  

Cycling Classification Cycling Link Types  109 

A • One-way or two-way protected cycle lanes 

1 
• One-way protected cycle lanes, one-way cycle paths 

• Two-way cycle paths, two-way on-road cycle paths 

2 
• One-way protected cycle lanes, one-way cycle paths 

• Two-way cycle paths, two-way on-road cycle paths 

3 

• One-way protected cycle lanes, one-way cycle paths 

• Two-way cycle paths, two-way on-road cycle paths 

• Shared paths 

• One-way cycle lanes 

• Two-way local streets with sharrow marking 

• One-way local streets with contra-flow cycle movement  

R • Shared paths 

 
The SA Active Travel Design Guide guidance is to be used on the mapping of movement corridors 
(public transport, general traffic and freight) and supported by the DIT Functional Hierarchy, and to 
inform the desirable / minimum width and connection types. However, it does not provide design 
guidance for infrastructure solutions.  

 

 

 

108 Informed by the Transport for NSW Walking Space Guide. Refer to Page 24 for the suggested kerbside buffer widths informed 
by speed limit of adjacent streets.  
109 Informed by Section 8.2 to Section 8.5 (Cycling Facilities: Cycling Link Types, Page 44 – 65) of the South Australia Active 
Travel Design Guide. Best practice protection space available in Figure 4.1 of the UK’s Department of Transport Cycle 
Infrastructure Design. 

Page 181



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

112 AECOM

  

7.2 Future Transport Network Maps 

This section of the Strategy presents the network maps that have been developed for the aspirational 
future-state of the City of Adelaide transport network.  

Throughout the development of the network maps the following questions were considered:  

• What do we want our city to look like in the future? What do we need to change to get there?  

• What function do our streets need to perform to meet our vision and objectives of this Strategy?  

• What did the community and stakeholders tell us is important to them during engagement?  

• What opportunities have been identified for the City of Adelaide and how do they integrate with our 
transport network? What challenges do we need to address in our future network?  

• What do our streets, and ultimately our transport network, need to look like in the future to support 
informing strategies and targets from both the City of Adelaide and State Government?   

• How do the themes of this Strategy inform what the future of our city looks like?  

The mapping principles outlined in Section 7.1 formed the foundation of the network mapping. They 
have informed what type of transport system we want to see for the future of the City of Adelaide.  

The transport network was then assessed by mode to understand what each street needs to support in 
the future and the strategic importance of the connection by mode. This then informed the classification; 
guided by the mapping rules.  

Locations of current Place functionality were identified, with the City of Adelaide’s City Plan informing 
the areas with likely uplift in Place value; aligned to the proposed development and growth of the city.   

Vision: Create a connected, sustainable, and inclusive transport system that enhances the liveability of 
the City of Adelaide.  

Objectives:  

• Reduce car dependency and promote the adoption of sustainable transport modes, such as public 
transport, walking, and cycling. 

• Create safe, efficient, and connected networks for active transport, ensuring that all users—
regardless of age or ability—can move freely and comfortably throughout the city. 

• Integrate transport with urban development to enhance the liveability of the city and support its 
economic and cultural vitality. 

• Optimise the use of public space, focusing on shared mobility and multifunctional streets that serve 
both transport and community needs. 

• Reduce transport-related greenhouse gas emissions and mitigate climate change impacts through 
the promotion of low-emission vehicles and sustainable transport infrastructure. 

• Improve road safety, particularly for vulnerable road users, and ensure that public transport, cycling, 
and pedestrian infrastructure are safe and accessible. 

• Enhance transport resilience, especially in light of growing city demand and ongoing construction 
and events, ensuring that Adelaide's transport system can adapt to changing needs. 

 

 

  

Page 182



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

113 AECOM

  

7.3 Cycling  

7.3.1 Future Cycling Network  

There are five internationally recognised design principles110 that cycle-friendly networks need to meet:  

 

Connected: Routes meet with other strategic and local routes to form a resilient cycling 
network that allows people cycling to access their destinations across the City of Adelaide 
and neighbouring suburbs 

 
Safe: Ensure people cycling and other street users are provided with safe facilities  

 
Direct: Provide people cycling the most efficient route that is easy to navigate 

 
Attractive: Cycleway surroundings help to deliver well designed public spaces 

 
Comfortable: Designed to be accessible for use by people of all ages and abilities  

 
The future cycling network for the City of Adelaide, shown in Figure 7-3, has been designed to consider 
these principles, ensuring resilience with multiple north-south and east-west routes. Outcomes from the 
community and stakeholder engagement process has also been captured.  

The map identifies streets by their future classification, noting 
the different types of routes required within a network. 
Strategic corridors serve the capital city and regional function 
(C-A to C-1) while the local bike network supports access to 
this and neighbourhood destinations (C-2 to C-R). This is 
connected network approach is represented in the figure 
adjacent. 111  

The strategic cycling corridors within the City of Adelaide are 
proposed to be:  

• North – south routes: Morphett Street, King William Street, 
Pulteney Street, Montefiore Road, Jeffcott Street 

• East – west routes: Finniss Street / MacKinnon Parade, 
Glover Avenue / Waymouth Street, Grote – Wakefield Street, 
Sturt – Halifax Street 

Some of these connections have already been established. 
Filling the gaps to connect the cycling network is a key action 
from this Strategy.   

The network has been developed to consider the role of 
emerging mobility and how it can support the growth of micromobility within Greater Adelaide. The 
cycling network has the potential to be well suited for micromobility to share safe and connected 
networks with cycling.  

The Park Lands are a unique part of the City of Adelaide and have been captured as key cycling routes. 
These connections serve as key access routes both to and from the City of Adelaide with neighbouring 
suburbs. More broadly, cycling networks have an influence on the walking / wheeling and Healthy 
Streets networks and the Place function of our streets.   

How will we deliver this network? Street space reallocation is a key strategy to support the delivery of 
more cycleways across the City of Adelaide. We know that street space is limited, and that our city 

 

110 These principles were first identified by the Dutch Design Manual for Bicycle Traffic (CROW, 2006). They have since been 
updated and/or incorporated in many other cycling infrastructure design standards and guidance publications throughout the 
world.  
111 Active Transport Strategy, Transport for NSW, 2022 

Figure 7-2 Cycling network route types 

Page 183



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

114 AECOM

  

benefits most when this space is allocated to people. The use of space for people to cycle supports the 
liveability of our city and directly aligns with the vision of this Strategy. 

7.3.2 Future Cycling Network Map 

 
 

Figure 7-3 Future cycling network map 

  

Page 184



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

115 AECOM

  

7.3.3 Existing Level of Service Map 

Figure 7-4 presents the existing cycling network for the City of Adelaide, informed by Figure 4-2 and an 
analysis of the infrastructure compared to the classifications and design guidance in Section 7.1.1.  

 

Figure 7-4 Existing cycling network map 

 

  

Page 185



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

116 AECOM

  

7.3.4 Operating Gap Analysis Map 

Figure 7-5 presents the gap analysis for the cycling network: comparing the existing infrastructure to the 
future network in line with the classifications from Section 7.1.1. The map identifies locations where 
infrastructure it to be upgraded in order to deliver the future cycling network and meet the goals of the 
Strategy.   

 

Figure 7-5 Review of existing cycling infrastructure against future classifications: operating gap map 

 

 

Page 186



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

117 AECOM

  

7.4 Walking & Wheeling  

7.4.1 Future Walking and Wheeling Network  

Best practice principles for pedestrian network design112 were considered in the development of the 
future walking / wheeling network map for the City of Adelaide, shown in Figure 7-6.  

 

Safe: The public realm should be safe to use at all times of day and for people to feel safe 
to spend time in.  

 

Inclusive: All walking environments should adhere to the principles of inclusive design by 
ensuring that they are accessible to, and useable by, as many people as reasonably 
possible without the need for special adaptation of specialised design.  

 

Comfortable: Designated walking areas should allow unhindered movement for 
pedestrians by providing sufficient space.  

 

Direct: Facilities should be positioned to provide convenient links between major walking 
trip attractors.  

 

Legible: Features should be consistent and east to understand for all pedestrians to know 
intuitively how to navigate within a space.  

 

Connected: Walking networks should have a high density of route options to suit 
pedestrians’ needs.  

 

Attractive: Walking environments should be inviting for pedestrians to pass through or 
spend time in.  

 
The network map for walking / wheeling aims to:  

• Connect people to key destinations within the City of Adelaide. It is important that our places and 
destinations within are well connected.  

When creating Healthy Neighbourhoods, the Heart Foundation surveyed people across Australia 
including Adelaide and found that more than 50% of people indicated that having a footpath on 
every street is extremely important, and 64% of people said that being within easy walking distance 
to a range of local services would be extremely or very important when finding a place to live. 

• Walking is the primary means of accessing public transport, therefore providing high quality walking 
environments can support walking and increase use of public transport services.  

• Build on Adelaide’s grid network. It is important to provide density of routes so people can get to 
their varied destination as fast as possible, as well as provide route choice for resilience.  

• Respond to people’s differing needs. For example, walking / wheeling from public transport to work 
may be fast and direct but the walk at lunch time to get food may be longer and more interesting for 
relaxation.  

• Create attractive and interesting routes so people will walk longer distances to more places. By 
interesting places, more stickiness is created in our city.113 This means that people walking / 
wheeling will stay longer in places that are more attractive, have lots to see and do and are varied. 

• Boost the economy. We know that more people walking / wheeling brings increased business and 
vitality to our city. Various studies see Section 4.1.7) found that more people spend money when 
they come via active transport modes compared to travelling by car.  

• Take advantage of links through green spaces such as our unique Park Lands and Squares and 
laneways for shorter mid block connections.  

  

 

112 Planning for Walking Toolkit Transport for London, 2020 
113 Brent Toderian, Let’s make sticky streets for people, 2014: https://www.planetizen.com/node/69454 

Page 187

https://www.planetizen.com/node/69454


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

118 AECOM

  

7.4.2 Future Walking and Wheeling Network Map 

 

Figure 7-6 Future walking / wheeling network map  

  

Page 188



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

119 AECOM

  

7.4.3 Existing Level of Service Map 

Figure 7-7 presents the existing walking / wheeling network for the City of Adelaide, informed a desktop 
assessment of the current infrastructure, priority and demand / activity, by the classifications and design 
guidance in Section 7.1.1.  

 

Figure 7-7 Existing walking / wheeling network map  

 

Page 189



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

120 AECOM

  

7.4.4 Operating Gap Analysis Map 

Figure 7-8 presents the gap analysis for the walking / wheeling network: comparing the existing 
infrastructure to the future network in line with the classifications from Section 7.1.1.  

The map identifies locations where streetscapes and pedestrian upgrades are to be upgraded in order 
to meet the vision of the Strategy and deliver the future network for people walking / wheeling. Street 
space optimisation is going to be a key approach to allow for the return of space to people as proposed.  

 

Figure 7-8 Review of existing walking / wheeling infrastructure against future classifications: operating gap map 

  

Page 190



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

121 AECOM

  

7.5 Public Transport  

7.5.1 Future Public Transport Network  

The public transport network map has been developed to consider the alignment to the Department for 
Infrastructure & Transport’s State Transport Strategy and the vision for the future of services. Improved 
connectivity of public transport to and within the CBD is a key opportunity, to be realised through:  

• An underground rail connection  

• The growth of high capacity on-road public transport to connect with neighbouring suburbs.  

A focus for the future of public transport within the City of Adelaide is integrating walking / wheeling and 
cycling with services. The journey to a public transport stop must be safe, comfortable, convenient, and 
reliable for people to choose to walk / wheel or ride. By improving the connections to public transport 
stop, the effective reach of the public transport network expands.  

Figure 7-9 presents the future public transport network map for the City of Adelaide. The map shows 
which public transport corridors, and therefore streets within the City of Adelaide, are of the highest 
strategic priority for both buses and light rail. These include Glover Avenue / Currie – Grenfell Street, 
West Terrace, North Terrace / Botanic Road / Port Road, King William Street / O’Connell Street, Anzac 
Highway, Goodwood Road and Glen Osmond Road and Pulteney Street.  

While these corridors may also support general traffic movement, the priority is for public transport. As 
such, street space will be allocated towards on road public transport as well as walking / wheeling and 
cycling to support access to these services.  

An assessment has been undertaken of the current public transport network in the City of Adelaide 
against the classifications noted in Section 7.1.1. Elements such as on-road and signal priority, stop 
facilities, active transport connections, service frequency and operating hours, and operations such as 
travel speeds were considered. This is presented in Figure 7-10.  

Figure 7-11 illustrates gaps in the aspirational classification of public transport corridors. Many of the 
streets identified do not yet operate to the level defined in the corresponding framework. In some cases, 
trams may operate in a dedicated right-of-way but still lack signal priority, limiting service efficiency. 
Similarly, bus services on designated corridors may not meet expectations for service frequency, 
reliability, stop quality, or operational hours. This map reflects locations where the aspirational network 
design is not being met, highlighting opportunities for improvements to align existing services and 
infrastructure with the proposed public transport corridor hierarchy.  

 

 

 

  

Page 191



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

122 AECOM

  

7.5.2 Future Public Transport Network Map 

114 

Figure 7-9 Future public transport network map 

  

 

114 Note that City Connector buses are listed as PT1 

Page 192



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

123 AECOM

  

7.5.3 Existing Level of Service Map 

 

Figure 7-10 Existing public transport network map   

Page 193



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

124 AECOM

  

7.5.4 Operating Gap Analysis Map  

 

Figure 7-11 Review of existing public transport network against future classifications: operating gap map   

Page 194



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

125 AECOM

  

7.6 General Traffic  

7.6.1 Future GT Network  

Informed by the assessment of priority vehicle routes within the City of Adelaide and through traffic 
travel, this network map (Figure 7-12) has been developed to identify future corridors for access by 
general traffic.  

Corridors including Port Road / North Terrace, Anzac Highway / West Terrace, Grote – Wakefield 
Street, King William Street / O’Connell Street, Jeffcott Street / Montefiore Road and Pulteney Street 
serve a strategic function to our city. In most instances, these routes need to consider the needs of 
walking / wheeling, cycling, public transport, place and the role of general traffic. Section 10.0 presents 
an overview of what this Boulevard type street may look like in the future.  

Travelling along these corridors by private motor vehicle through our city does not support the vision 
and objectives of this Strategy. As a result, the future general traffic network has been focused on 
catering for localised access to the CBD and North Adelaide and key off-street parking locations. A 
number of delivery strategies support this including the use of modal filters, traffic calming design and 
speed limit reduction. Instead, roads such as Princes Highway, Greenhill Road and South Road serve 
the function to cross Greater Adelaide without travelling through the Adelaide CBD / North Adelaide.  

Access by freight vehicles supporting city servicing and economic functions will be maintained.  

To meet the goals of this Strategy and the City of Adelaide and ensure the liveability of our city, street 
space will need to be optimised. This means that some of this space will be reallocated to people 
walking / wheeling, cycling and using public transport.  

Vehicle volumes and through traffic analysis have been used to support an assessment of the existing 
general traffic conditions on the network. This is represented in Figure 7-14.  

Page 195



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

126 AECOM

  

 

Figure 7-15 presents the gap analysis showing the existing network compared to the future network. It 
is noted that on some corridors, the network is performing above the classifications noted for the future 
of general traffic; more in line with arterial roads than City of Adelaide roads. A key approach to deliver 
the vision of the Strategy is to apply street space optimisation and return space to people. Such 
corridors noted as performing above the future network classifications present an opportunity to be 
optimised, allowing for greater space for people walking / wheeling and cycling, public transport, Place 
and street operations like greening and outdoor economic activity.  

  

Page 196



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

127 AECOM

  

7.6.2 Future GT Network Map 

 

Figure 7-12 General traffic network map 

  

Page 197



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

128 AECOM

  

7.6.3 Traffic Circulation  

Traffic circulation plans are a strategy used for cities to manage vehicle traffic and associated 
congestion, particularly to limit the negative impacts of through traffic. Such plans look to manage 
vehicles travelling through the city centre in order to create more space for pedestrians, cyclists, buses, 
trams, and green space. They maintain access to properties and help to ensure that essential deliveries 
and servicing are not impacted by vehicle congestion. 

As noted in Section 5.3.5, the city of Ghent in Belgium has implemented a traffic circulation plan to 
address the pressure of motorised traffic and to ensure Ghent’s accessibility and liveability in the future.  

A traffic circulation plan has been developed to outline the future approach to the management of 
streets within the City of Adelaide, understanding the limitations of street space and the need to balance 
respective users and uses in line with the future growth of the city and its population.  

Implementing the interventions from the traffic circulation plan ensures that pedestrians, cyclists and 
public transport will benefit from improved access and connectivity through greater space and reduced 
congestion, while vehicles that need to access the city centre can still reach key destinations. Essential 
vehicle movements (such as deliveries, health care providers), or people with mobility restrictions will 
also be able to access and find car parking and loading spaces more easily.  

The plan overleaf has been informed by a suite of information from this report including:  

• The future network maps for walking/wheeling, cycling, public transport and general traffic 
understanding which locations support street space reallocation  

• The through traffic analysis for the City of Adelaide street network and UPark locations 

• Opportunities for locations to increase in Place function and Healthy Streets characteristics 
supporting key interfacing land uses such as schools and community facilities  

• Outcomes of the community and stakeholder engagement process in Stage 1  

• Best practice approaches to balancing users within a network and making streets safe and 
sustainable places for people.  

The map denotes locations where one-way streets can be implemented (black dashed line), as well as 
interventions to reprioritise the function of the street for people (yellow lines / dots) to deliver better 
transport, environmental, health, equity and economic outcomes for the people of Adelaide.  

One-way streets 

One-way streets can be a valuable tool in supporting a well-structured traffic circulation plan, 
particularly when implemented at a finer grain within a city's transport network. Small, narrow one-way 
streets—such as Melbourne’s "Little Streets"—can create safer and more efficient environments by 
reducing conflicts between vehicles, cyclists, and pedestrians. These streets can enhance public 
transport reliability by minimising congestion, improve pedestrian safety by reallocating space for 
walking / wheeling, and support modal hierarchy by prioritising active and public transport modes. 
Additionally, they allow for modal filters or contraflow cycling, ensuring that the street remains 
accessible for people on bikes. When carefully planned, one-way streets can improve permeability and 
accessibility while maintaining a balanced and people-friendly urban environment.115 

However, large, high-speed one-way street networks, as seen in cities like Brisbane, Sydney, and 
Hobart116, can have unintended consequences. Wide, multi-lane one-way streets encourage fast-
moving traffic, often making them hostile environments for pedestrians and cyclists, limiting local 
accessibility, and increasing the risk of collisions. Such configurations can also lengthen travel 
distances, leading to increased vehicle kilometres travelled and reducing urban permeability. Instead of 
prioritising car throughput, an effective traffic circulation plan should use a combination of small-scale 
and one-way streets strategically to create safer, more liveable urban spaces. The focus should be on 

 

115 Austroads. (2016). Guide to Traffic Management Part 8: Local Area Traffic Management. Retrieved from 
https://austroads.gov.au/publications/traffic-management/agtm22/media/AGTM08-16_Guide-to-Traffic-Management-Part-8-Local-
Area_Traffic_Management.pdf 
116 MRCagney Pty Ltd. (2017). Greater Hobart Traffic Congestion: Submission to Legislative Council Government Administration 
Committee 'A' Inquiry. Retrieved from https://www.parliament.tas.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/51297/3620mrcagney.pdf 

Page 198

https://austroads.gov.au/publications/traffic-management/agtm22/media/AGTM08-16_Guide-to-Traffic-Management-Part-8-Local-Area_Traffic_Management.pdf
https://austroads.gov.au/publications/traffic-management/agtm22/media/AGTM08-16_Guide-to-Traffic-Management-Part-8-Local-Area_Traffic_Management.pdf
https://www.parliament.tas.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/51297/3620mrcagney.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

129 AECOM

  

integrating them within a broader network that prioritises public transport, walking, and cycling, ensuring 
that street space serves a diverse range of users rather than simply facilitating vehicle movement.117 118 

The traffic circulation plan identifies opportunities for Gilbert Street / Gilles Street, Wright Street / 
Carrington Street, Angas Street, Franklin Street / Flinders Street, Waymouth Street / Pirie Street and 
Hindley Street to be converted to one-way streets, in conjunction with street space reallocation to return 
space to people walking/wheeling, cycling and using public transport as well as key city functions. 

Access to education: encouraging active travel  

As noted in Section 5.3.2, open streets present an opportunity to manage access to and from school 
locations in order to improve safety, mental and physical health of children and to create public spaces 
which encourage active travel to school.  

The location of schools have been considered in the traffic circulation plan, with opportunities denoted 
for the introduction of open streets during the start and end of the school day where motor vehicle traffic 
cannot use them, and where some streets are permanently pedestrianised. This includes:  

• Grover Street – North Adelaide Primary School  

• Molesworth Street – St Dominic's Priory College 

• Gray Street – St Mary’s College Adelaide  

• Chancery Lane – St Aloysius College and Chancery Lane Montessori Preschool.  

Merri-bek City Council in Victoria ran trials for their respective open streets program119. There is an 
opportunity for the City of Adelaide to adopt a similar tactic in the delivery of this intervention. A trial or 
pilot location allows for the focused implementation at one location and to understand both the 
successes and any learnings / areas for improvement. Through a pilot, changes to the program can be 
made based on this feedback prior to a broader roll out within the LGA.  

Noting that a number of schools are located on key public transport and general traffic streets which 
present challenges for closures, there is an opportunity to change the signal timings at signalised 
intersections on the approach to schools during the morning / afternoon travel times. The changes to 
the signalisation can increase the time allocated to pedestrians to walk / wheel across the road on a red 
light for general traffic (catering for various walking / wheeling abilities) and to shorten the cycles for 
general traffic. Such changes help to improve the permeability of the street for pedestrians.  

Access to car parking locations  

The location of the UPark off-street car parking locations have been considered in this traffic circulation 
plan. The plan and interventions allows for access to these car parks, with some changes to approach 
for locations such as Topham and Pirie Flinders via Waymouth Street / Pirie Street.  

This has been assessed noting that a key strategy to meet the future vision for transport in the City of 
Adelaide is street space reallocation – optimising efficiency of city space from general traffic to people 
walking / wheeling, cycling and using public transport as well as Place, city functions and greening.  

Traffic calming interventions  

A series of traffic calming interventions can be introduced across the City of Adelaide as part of this 
traffic circulation plan. Locations have been identified in this map for further review as to the most 
appropriate infrastructure treatment to prioritise people walking / wheeling, cycling and public transport.  

The locations identified consist of two types with different preferred interventions:  

• Intersections (signalised and unsignalised) – modal filters (allowing only space-efficient modes such 
as pedestrians, bicycles, and public transport to pass through while restricting private) and signal 
phasing changes to prioritise active transport and public transport  

• Streets – lower speed limits, quiet streets, traffic calming measures through road space 
reallocation, open streets at school access locations.  

 

117 Spooner, R. (2024, August 2). New transport plan for Hobart aims to improve cycling infrastructure and reduce car use. ABC 
News. Retrieved from https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-08-02/hobart-council-bicycle-city-plans-reducing-car-
transport/104135502 
118 Viney, L. (2024, September 17). Collins Street plan gets green light from council. The Mercury. 
119 Open Streets Trials 2022, Bicycle Network & Merri-bek City Council  

Page 199

https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-08-02/hobart-council-bicycle-city-plans-reducing-car-transport/104135502
https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-08-02/hobart-council-bicycle-city-plans-reducing-car-transport/104135502


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

130 AECOM

  

 

Figure 7-13 Traffic circulation plan 

  

Page 200



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

131 AECOM

  

7.6.4 Existing Level of Service Map 

 

Figure 7-14 Existing general traffic network map  

 

  

Page 201



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

132 AECOM

  

7.6.5 Gap Analysis Map 

 

Figure 7-15 Review of existing general traffic network against future classifications: operating gap map   

Page 202



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

133 AECOM

  

7.7 Place  

7.7.1 Place Classifications 

City Plan’s City Wide Strategies and Local Area Zones mapping has been used to inform the Places 
network map for the City of Adelaide. City Plan responds to the future residential and employment 
population growth within the LGA and considers the role that Place plays within this including locations 
such as “strategic sites and places” and “place anchors” at both a city-wide and a neighbourhood scale.  

The classifications of Place from Section 7.1 have been utilised to identify locations of high significance 
and activity. This includes locations like Rundle Mall, King William Street, the Squares and the West 
and East Ends. The role that both events and the night-time economy play in defining Places has been 
considered.  

This directly interfaces with the Healthy Streets principles and mapping of the healthy corridors within 
our city (Figure 7-19). Locations with more street greening, higher active transport use, closer proximity 
to amenities such as community facilities, retail and local services leads to higher Place function. But 
also, areas of higher Place function then supports more people walking / wheeling and cycling, higher 
activity and the activation of frontages.  

A qualitative review of the existing Place values across the City of Adelaide (Figure 7-17) has informed 
gap analysis mapping in Figure 7-18. This map denotes the locations where there is an opportunity to 
introduce such amenities as outlined above to support the creation of Place functions.  

  

Page 203



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

134 AECOM

  

7.7.2 Place Classification Map 

 

Figure 7-16 Place network map 

  

Page 204



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

135 AECOM

  

7.7.3 Existing Level of Service Map 

 

Figure 7-17 Existing Place network map  

  

  

Page 205



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

136 AECOM

  

7.7.4 Gap Analysis Map 

 

Figure 7-18 Review of existing Place value against future classifications: operating gap map 

  

Page 206



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

137 AECOM

  

7.8 Healthy Corridors  

A Healthy Corridor network map has been developed by 
incorporating City Plan principles and priorities. City Plan 
has a vision to create a sustainable, liveable, and 
connected city, and in doing so has identified a number of 
actions for implementation, which align with Healthy 
Streets principles.  

The Healthy Streets map has incorporated the relevant 
City Plan maps that achieve key Healthy Streets 
principles and combined the priority links to define high 
priority healthy corridors.  

The high priority healthy corridors combined the following: 

• City Plan’s Green City Grid map– high priority 
greening corridors and City-wide green infrastructure 
and open space map – green connections to achieve 
Healthy Streets principles of shade and shelter, clean 
air, and people feel relaxed. Links through Park Lands into surrounding suburbs and interfaces with 
educational facilities have also been included, aligning with the strategic cycle network.   

• City Plan’s east west street enhancement corridors map to achieve Healthy Streets principles of 
people choose to walk and cycle. 

• City Plan’s neighbourhood index (high-medium) which considers proximity to services such as 
community facilities, retail amenity and local services to achieve Healthy Streets principles of things 
to see and do and people feel safe. 

• City Plan’s proposed overall proximity to amenity (high-medium) to achieve Healthy Streets 
principles of everyone feels welcome and people feel relaxed. 

To achieve the aspirations of Healthy Streets on these corridors, in addition to the above actions, 
Council should aim to implement other complementary actions: 

• Reducing overall street reserve allocation to traffic and making it easier and safer to cross to 
achieve principles of clean air, not too noisy, easy to cross, people feel relaxed, people feel safe 
and people choose to walk / wheel and cycle 

• Increasing active frontages and density to achieve principles of everyone feels welcome, and things 
to see and do and people feel safe 

• Improve connectivity to achieve principles of people choose to walk / wheel and cycle 

• Upgrade walk / wheel and cycle facilities including incorporating universal design principles and 
improved crossings to achieve principles of people choose to walk / wheel and cycle, easy to cross 
and everyone feels welcome and safe 

• Low traffic speeds to achieve principles of everyone feels safe, easy to cross, clean air and not too 
noisy. 

  

Page 207



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

138 AECOM

  

7.8.1 Healthy Corridors Map 

 

Figure 7-19 Healthy corridors network map   

Page 208



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

139 AECOM

  

8.0 Implementation Plan 

A well-defined Implementation Plan is essential for guiding the City of Adelaide toward a sustainable 
and efficient transport. The Plan includes a delivery framework to align objectives, resources, and 
decision-making across council and stakeholders. This framework enhances efforts to enhance 
transport infrastructure and ensures they are coordinated and efficient, enabling long-term progress. 

The Implementation Plan will guide transport decision-making and investment to 2036.  

The framework structure to support successful implementation of the Strategy recommendations 
includes:  

• Supporting governance structures 

• Aligned funding strategies and delivery timelines 

• Clear policy directions 

• Defined delivery approaches and mechanisms 

• Tested project assessment tools 

8.1 Governance Structures 

An established governance structure and supporting processes ensure that the Strategy is implemented 
effectively by defining clear accountability, transparency, and oversight. It ensures decisions are well-
coordinated and data-driven, fostering collaboration between the city, businesses, transport operators, 
and the community. Effective governance will translate the vision into measurable outcomes. 

Strong governance structures to support successful action implementation include: 

• Clear oversight: Assign leadership to track milestones and address challenges. 

• Targeted resource allocation: Assign financial, human, and technical resources strategically. 

• Accountable responsibilities: Linked to allocated funding and timelines. 

• Stakeholder collaboration: Align with businesses, transport operators, and residents. 

• Milestone tracking: Define measurable objectives, such as mode shifts or reduced congestion. 

• Risk management: Embed mitigation plans for potential obstacles. 

• Continuous refinement: Improve initiatives based on community feedback and monitoring. 

Integration of these key components will ensure the Strategy outcomes foster long-term, sustainable 
improvements while maintaining flexibility to address evolving challenges. 

Without structured governance, projects risk delays, inefficiencies, and misalignment with strategic 
goals. The City of Adelaide will establish internal leadership roles for the ongoing development and 
delivery of each action, assigning responsibility to a relevant council officer or department. This ensures 
that every action has a designated leader overseeing progress, coordination, and stakeholder 
engagement. Leadership roles can be transitioned across departments as actions progress through the 
delivery process.  

  

Page 209



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

140 AECOM

  

8.2 Funding Strategies and Delivery Timelines 

Effective implementation planning requires clear alignment of responsibilities, funding and delivery 
timelines to ensure that strategic goals are translated into actionable outcomes.  

Successful strategies link project funding and responsibilities back to broader council corporate plans, 
ensuring that strategic initiatives are embedded within the city’s long-term objectives. This alignment 
supports continuity across annual budgets, departmental plans, and community outcomes. 
Implementation planning should differentiate between operational funding (used for day-to-day 
activities, maintenance, and service delivery) and capital funding cycles (allocated to infrastructure 
investments, long-term assets, and major upgrades).  

Timeframes for Implementation 

Effective transport action implementation requires defined timeframes to ensure accountability and 
timely delivery. To support efficient implementation, the City will adopt defined timeframes for short-, 
medium-, and long-term initiative delivery (Table 8-1). 

Aligning these timeframes within the council’s corporate planning cycles ensures projects remain linked 
with funding allocations and broader city objectives. Regular performance monitoring through internal 
review processes and cross-departmental coordination meetings will help track progress, address risks, 
and ensure timely delivery of transport initiatives (see Section 9.0). 

Table 8-1 Implementation Timeframes  

Timeframe Description 

Short-term (0-3 years) Quick wins and pilot programs that can demonstrate immediate benefits, 
such as trialling dynamic kerbside management or revising parking 
revenue reinvestment policies. 

Medium-term (4-7 years) Larger infrastructure projects and policy shifts, such as implementing 
shared mobility cost recovery frameworks or integrating freight 
consolidation hubs. 

Long-term (8+ years) Strategic city-wide transformations, including major public transport 
infrastructure upgrades and comprehensive sustainable transport plans. 

 

Capital projects typically span multiple budget periods, requiring robust coordination across 
departments to secure resources and track progress. Shared responsibilities between council units, 
project teams, and external stakeholders further enable accountability, while linking funding allocations 
to performance metrics helps monitor the effectiveness of investments. By embedding transport 
projects within corporate planning cycles and ensuring balanced use of operational and capital funds, 
cities can enhance project sustainability and long-term strategic success. 

Funding  

The successful delivery of projects, programs, policies, and trials requires a clear understanding of their 
implementation timeframes and interdependencies. The Plan will outline priority actions and the steps 
required to progress them, acknowledging that some initiatives will require longer-term commitment due 
to funding constraints or coordination with other agencies. Where projects or policies are delayed, the 
pace of change in the transport network may be affected, and some strategic objectives may take 
longer to achieve. By providing a structured approach to implementation, the Plan will support decision-
making that balances short-term practicalities with the long-term vision for a connected, accessible, and 
sustainable city. 

Funding 

The Integrated Transport Strategy provides a framework to guide budget allocation, ensuring that 
investment is directed towards prioritised transport projects that align with strategic goals. A coordinated 
funding approach will be essential to delivering an integrated and sustainable transport network. 
Opportunities exist to secure funding through partnerships with local, state, and federal government 
agencies, as well as Infrastructure Australia and other national funding bodies. Collaboration with 
neighbouring councils can also support cross-boundary transport initiatives, ensuring a seamless and 
effective transport network. 

Page 210



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

141 AECOM

  

Many of the implementation actions outlined in this strategy are affordable and can be undertaken 
within the Council’s normal operating budget. However, some initiatives, particularly those involving 
significant infrastructure upgrades, policy changes, and network improvements, require substantial 
investment. Where actions exceed the available operating budget, capital funding will be required. 
Identifying external funding opportunities and aligning with state and federal investment priorities will be 
essential to delivering these projects at scale. 

Table 8-2 Funding prioritisation criteria  

Prioritisation Criteria Description 

City of Adelaide Budget Allocating funding within Council’s capital works and operational 
budgets. 

State Government Grants Securing funding from agencies such as the Department for 
Infrastructure and Transport (DIT) for infrastructure projects that align 
with state priorities. 

Federal Government 
Programs 

Applying for Commonwealth transport funding, including grants under 
initiatives like the Urban Congestion Fund and the National Road Safety 
Strategy. 

Infrastructure Australia Seeking support for projects identified as national infrastructure 
priorities, ensuring alignment with broader economic and transport 
outcomes. 

Public-Private 
Partnerships (PPPs) 

Exploring investment from private sector stakeholders for high-impact 
projects, particularly in precinct development and smart mobility. 

Neighbouring Councils Partnering on transport improvements that benefit multiple local 
government areas, including cycling and pedestrian connections and 
shared mobility initiatives. 

8.3 Policy Directions 

Policy integration is essential to ensure transport initiatives align with existing legislative and planning 
frameworks. The Integrated Transport Strategy will reference and align with the Planning and Design 
Code, which sets out land-use regulations that influence street design and movement priorities. 
Additionally, the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act will be leveraged to facilitate developer 
contributions to public realm and transport infrastructure improvements. The integration of spatial data, 
including network gap assessments, will provide an evidence-based approach to track performance and 
inform policy adjustments over time. 

The prioritisation of policy recommendations is essential to ensure the effective allocation of resources 
and the achievement of strategic objectives, particularly in the context of transport planning.  

According to Austroads, policy recommendations should be prioritised based on their ability to deliver 
measurable outcomes across key dimensions, including economic benefits, environmental 
sustainability, social equity, and safety improvements. By weighting these criteria according to 
stakeholder input and strategic goals, decision-makers can assess the relative importance of each 
policy and its potential impact.  

High-priority recommendations typically address urgent issues, such as reducing emissions, improving 
safety for vulnerable road users, and enhancing transport reliability that are objectives of existing policy. 
Where supporting policy does not exist, development of policy becomes a priority Strategy action.  

This evidence-based approach ensures that recommended projects contributing to broader policy 
outcomes, such as accessibility and decarbonisation, are given precedence, supporting the long-term 
liveability and resilience of the City of Adelaide. 

Key policy recommendations are included in the Recommended Action list in Section 8.8. 

8.4 Delivery Approaches 

To successfully implement the Strategy, the City of Adelaide will take three key approaches: Deliver, 
Partner, and Advocate.  

Page 211



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

142 AECOM

  

These approaches ensure that transport projects, programs, and policies are effectively implemented, 
whether through direct action, collaboration with other stakeholders, or advocacy for broader changes. 

Deliver 

The City of Adelaide will take direct responsibility for delivering key transport initiatives. This includes 
infrastructure projects, ongoing programs, policy development, and strategic planning to enhance the 
city’s transport network. 

Actions under this category involve planning, funding, and execution of transport improvements. 

Partner 

The City of Adelaide will work with state government agencies, businesses, and key stakeholders to 
deliver transport initiatives that require shared responsibility. These actions often rely on external 
funding, cross-agency coordination, or collaboration with industry groups. 

Examples: 

• State partnerships: Collaborating with the Department for Infrastructure and Transport (DIT) on 
major public transport projects. 

• Industry collaboration: Partnering with freight and logistics providers to trial sustainable last-mile 
delivery solutions. 

• Local government coordination: Aligning transport policies with neighbouring councils to ensure 
consistency across the region. 

Advocate 

The City of Adelaide will advocate for policies and funding from higher levels of government and 
industry to align with its transport objectives. Advocacy is essential for transport initiatives that fall 
outside the City’s direct control but impact its transport system. 

Examples: 

• Funding advocacy: Lobbying for state and federal investment in public transport improvements. 

• Regulatory change: Advocating for legislative changes to improve e-scooter regulation and safety 
measures. 

• Community representation: Supporting residents and businesses in voicing transport concerns to 
higher government levels. 

8.5 Delivery Mechanisms 

The successful delivery of recommended Strategy actions requires a mix of delivery mechanisms, each 
serving a different function in shaping a liveable, sustainable, and efficient transport network depending 
on the recommended action.  

To ensure cost-effective and efficient implementation, the selection of delivery mechanisms will 
consider the scale, urgency, and long-term viability of proposed transport initiatives. The 
Implementation Plan will distinguish between quick-build interventions—such as temporary street 
changes and tactical urbanism trials—and permanent infrastructure upgrades. Quick-build projects will 
use adaptable materials and lower-cost treatments to test concepts before committing to full-scale 
investment, while permanent projects will be designed with durable materials that provide long-term 
benefits. This approach ensures that the City of Adelaide maximises value for investment while 
maintaining flexibility to refine projects based on community feedback and observed outcomes. 

Mechanisms to deliver actions are: projects, programs, policies, plans, and pilots.  

Table 8-3 Types of delivery mechanisms  

Mechanism Description Examples in the City of Adelaide Context 

Projects Projects are typically one-time 
investments with defined scopes and 
timeframes. They can include 
physical infrastructure upgrades, new 
construction, or technology 

• Expanding the city’s walking/wheeling 
and cycling network with new protected 
bikeways and widened footpaths. 

Page 212



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

143 AECOM

  

Mechanism Description Examples in the City of Adelaide Context 

implementations that result in 
tangible improvements to the 
transport network. 

• Implementing dynamic kerbside 
management to optimise freight and 
parking space allocation. 

• Constructing a new public transport 
interchange to improve network 
efficiency. 

Programs Programs are ongoing initiatives that 
occur regularly over a more 
prolonged period of time, often over 
multiple years, or indefinitely. 
Programs can drive behavioural 
change, capacity building, or 
operational improvements. 
Programs can also support 
infrastructure by ensuring that people 
know how to use it or that it is 
maintained effectively. 

• Running safe cycling and public 
transport awareness programs to 
encourage sustainable travel choices. 

• Delivering a freight consolidation pilot to 
reduce vehicle congestion in the city 
centre. 

• Implementing real-time disruption 
communication strategies to assist 
commuters during events and works. 

Policies Policies are regulatory and 
procedural frameworks that establish 
rules or a council position that can 
apply to future scenarios or 
situations. Policies can set standards 
and expectations for how transport 
infrastructure and services should 
operate. 

• Establishing lower speed limits in high-
pedestrian areas to improve safety. 

• Updating event road closure and detour 
policies to ensure active travel networks 
remain functional during disruptions. 

• Introducing sustainable freight delivery 
incentives, such as promoting cargo 
bikes for last-mile deliveries. 

Plans Plans are more specific or 
documents. They can sit underneath 
strategies and provide more attention 
or detail to specific geographic areas 
or subjects such as a mode of 
transport. They can be more specific 
and targeted than strategies but 
should always align with the broader 
objectives of the overarching 
strategy. 

• Developing a City of Adelaide Parking 
and Kerbside Management Plan to guide 
the allocation of street space. 

• Creating a Green Transport Action Plan 
that integrates climate change objectives 
with transport priorities. 

• Preparing a Public Transport Service 
Improvement Strategy to advocate for 
better frequency, reliability, and 
accessibility. 

Pilots  
(Trials) 

Pilots are short-term experimental 
projects designed to test new ideas, 
policies, or technologies before wider 
implementation. These initiatives 
allow for real-world evaluation, 
stakeholder feedback, and 
refinement before committing to full-
scale investments. 

• Trialling temporary pedestrian-only 
streets in high-activity areas to assess 
feasibility and impact. 

• Testing dynamic kerbside allocation 
using real-time data to prioritise different 
uses throughout the day. 

• Running an e-bike trial to evaluate their 
role in first- and last-mile transport 
solutions. 

• Adjusting traffic signals to give greater 
priority to improve public transport 
efficiency and pedestrian prioritisation. 

• Pop-up projects which introduce an 
infrastructure solution through a quick 
and perhaps temporary build to trial the 
treatment / tailor final and permanent 
design based on any initial learnings.  

  

Page 213



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

144 AECOM

  

Case Studies 

  

8.6 Project Assessment Tools 

Project investment assessment and prioritisation is essential for ensuring that the City of Adelaide’s 
transport strategy is implemented efficiently, with projects selected based on their alignment with 
strategic goals and community needs.  

Project Assessment, Prioritisation and Planning  

To support consistent and evidence-based decision-making, an assessment and prioritisation 
framework has been developed including key criteria. Prioritisation reflects the hierarchy of modes and 
streets established within the Strategy, identifying gaps between current service levels and target 
outcomes.  

Strategic outcomes, such as social equity, gender impact, decarbonisation, greening initiatives, and 
climate resilience, must be embedded in project evaluation. Additionally, alignment with other State and 
local strategies will help ensure coherence and maximise the broader benefits of transport investments. 

The process will consider the Infrastructure South Australia multi-criteria analysis as a reference, which 
evaluates projects based on their economic, environmental, and social impacts. This will allow for a 
balanced and comprehensive assessment of proposed initiatives, ensuring that investment decisions 
contribute to reducing emissions, promoting accessibility, and supporting equity. By embedding this 
structure, the City of Adelaide can deliver on its vision for a sustainable and connected transport 
network. 

Investment Logic Mapping 

Investment logic mapping and needs assessments is central to this process. This enables the Council 
to evaluate the benefits of both renewal and capital projects objectively. This approach ensures that 
funding is allocated to projects that deliver the greatest value to the city’s residents, businesses, and 
visitors while contributing to long-term sustainability and liveability. 

  

PROGRAM: Behaviour Change Initiatives in 
Transport Strategy Implementation 

Behaviour change initiatives can play an 
important role in shaping how people interact 
with the transport network, influencing travel 
choices, and encouraging sustainable and 
efficient mobility. Rather than relying solely on 
infrastructure improvements, these initiatives 
target the social and psychological aspects of 
transport behaviour, making it easier and more 
appealing for individuals to walk, cycle, use 
public transport, or adopt shared mobility 
options. By promoting independent mobility for 
children, integrating sustainable transport into 
major events, and encouraging businesses to 
develop Green Travel Plans, behaviour change 
programs help shift ingrained travel habits 
towards more sustainable choices. These 
initiatives also support broader transport 
objectives, such as reducing congestion, 
improving safety, and making streets more 
people-friendly. Importantly, they require 
collaboration between councils, businesses, 
schools, and event organisers to create an 
environment where sustainable transport is the 
preferred and most convenient option. 

PILOT: Quick-Build and Pop-Up 
Transport Projects 

Quick-build and pop-up transport projects 
offer a flexible, low-cost way to test 
transport improvements and evaluate their 
effectiveness before making permanent 
changes. Quick-build pilot projects help 
cities align transport infrastructure with 
strategic goals, such as improving safety, 
reducing vehicle dominance, and 
enhancing public space. In Adelaide, these 
projects can support broader transport 
objectives by reimagining how streets 
function, testing new mobility options, and 
ensuring that changes are effective before 
committing to permanent investment. 
These initiatives, which include temporary 
car-free street pilots, protected bike lanes, 
and pop-up public spaces, allow cities to 
trial new ideas with minimal disruption 
while gathering real-world data on their 
impact. By implementing these trials on a 
short-term basis, decision-makers can 
assess community response, refine 
designs, and determine whether long-term 
adoption is feasible.  

Page 214



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

145 AECOM

  

Multi Criteria Analysis 

The multi-criteria analysis (MCA) method is a decision-making tool designed to evaluate complex 
projects, policies, or alternatives based on multiple criteria. It is commonly applied when trade-offs 
between different objectives need to be assessed, particularly when quantifiable outcomes are 
insufficient to capture the overall impact. The method integrates qualitative and quantitative data, 
allowing decision-makers to systematically compare alternatives by assigning scores or weights to 
criteria, ensuring balanced evaluation. This structured approach ensures transparency and consistency 
in the decision-making process, and is utilised by agencies like Infrastructure South Australia120. 

MCA typically involves several key steps, beginning with the identification of objectives and the criteria 
that will be used to measure success. Criteria should reflect both the desired outcomes and any 
constraints or considerations related to the project. These criteria can include factors such as economic, 
environmental, and social impacts as well as deliverability and strategic considerations, depending on 
the nature of the project. After defining the criteria, alternatives are identified and assessed relative to 
each criterion using scoring systems or performance measures. 

Table 8-4 Multi-Criteria Analysis (MCA) decision-making process 

Step Description 

Define Objectives Identify the goals or outcomes the decision seeks to achieve. 

Establish Criteria Develop criteria that reflect performance measures (e.g., strategic, 
economic, environmental, social and deliverability121). 

Weight Criteria Assign relative importance to each criterion based on priorities. 

Evaluate Alternatives Score each option relative to the criteria using 
quantitative/qualitative methods. 

Aggregate Scores Combine weighted scores to determine overall performance of 
each alternative. 

Conduct Sensitivity Analysis Assess how changes in weights or assumptions affect results. 

 

Weighting is another critical component of MCA, where relative importance is assigned to each criterion 
to reflect its significance in the context of the decision. Weighting can be derived from expert judgment, 
stakeholder input, or mathematical models. This step is essential in ensuring that more important 
factors have a proportionate influence on the overall evaluation, thus reflecting the priorities of the 
organization or community involved. Sensitivity analysis may also be applied to test how changes in 
weights affect the decision outcomes. 

Once the alternatives have been evaluated and weighted, an aggregate score is calculated for each 
option. Aggregation methods involve summing the weighted scores across all criteria, providing an 
overall performance measure for each alternative. This step simplifies complex information into a single 
metric, allowing easy comparison of options. However, results should be interpreted carefully, 
considering qualitative insights and contextual factors beyond the raw scores. 

A key strength of the MCA approach is its flexibility, as it can be tailored to different contexts and 
stakeholder preferences. It facilitates stakeholder engagement by providing a clear framework for 
discussion, where diverse perspectives can be integrated into the decision-making process. Moreover, 
its systematic nature enhances transparency and accountability, making it suitable for large-scale 
infrastructure, urban planning, or environmental management projects where competing interests and 
complex trade-offs are common. 

Prioritisation Framework 

The City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy sets out a vision for a connected, sustainable, and 
accessible transport network that prioritises active and public transport while supporting economic 
vibrancy and liveability. To ensure that investments in transport infrastructure and policy changes 
deliver maximum benefits, a prioritisation framework has been developed. This framework guides 

 

120 Infrastructure SA (2022). Impact Analysis Guide. Retrieved from https://www.infrastructure.sa.gov.au/our-work/project-
assurance/business-case-templates/Impact-Analysis-Guide.pdf  
121 Infrastructure SA (2022). Capital Intentions Statement: Framework. Retrieved from 
https://www.infrastructure.sa.gov.au/resources/CIS-Framework-2022.pdf  

Page 215

https://www.infrastructure.sa.gov.au/our-work/project-assurance/business-case-templates/Impact-Analysis-Guide.pdf
https://www.infrastructure.sa.gov.au/our-work/project-assurance/business-case-templates/Impact-Analysis-Guide.pdf
https://www.infrastructure.sa.gov.au/resources/CIS-Framework-2022.pdf


City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

146 AECOM

  

decision-making by assessing transport projects and initiatives against key strategic goals and 
measurable criteria. 

1. Objectives of the Prioritisation Framework 

The framework assesses projects against the strategic objectives of the Transport Strategy to ensure 
alignment with: 

Objective Description 

Mode shift goals 
Supporting walking, wheeling, cycling, and public transport to 
reduce car dependency. 

Sustainability targets Reducing transport emissions and supporting climate resilience. 

Safety outcomes Applying the Safe System approach to minimise road trauma. 

Equity and accessibility 
Ensuring transport solutions serve all users, including vulnerable 
groups. 

Network efficiency Supporting street space allocation based on high-value uses. 

Economic and social benefits Enhancing business access, city vibrancy, and freight efficiency. 

 

2. Prioritisation Criteria 

Each transport intervention was scored out of 100 based on weighted criteria outlined below. 

Prioritisation 
Criteria 

Description Weighting 

Alignment with 
Strategic Goals 

Does the project contribute to achieving the Integrated 
Transport Strategy’s objectives? 

10% 

Impact on Mode 
Shift 

How effectively does the project reduce car dependency and 
increase walking, wheeling, cycling, or public transport use? 

25% 

Safety and Risk 
Reduction 

Does the project address high-risk locations and contribute to 
reducing serious injuries and fatalities? 

15% 

Economic Benefits Will the project support business activity, retail access, and 
freight movement? 

15% 

Environmental 
Benefits 

Does the project contribute to emissions reduction and green 
infrastructure improvements? 

10% 

Community 
Support and 
Equity 

Has the project received strong support through community 
engagement, and does it serve a diverse range of users? 15% 

Network 
Integration & 
Mapping 

How well does the project support a connected transport 
system that enhances multimodal integration and aligns with 
broader citywide and regional transport networks? 

10% 

 

3. Implementation Considerations 

Governance for the Integrated Transport Strategy will be overseen by a cross-disciplinary internal group 
coordinated by the City of Adelaide. This group will include representatives from relevant teams such as 
transport planning, sustainability, operations, urban design, economic development, and community 
engagement. The group will meet regularly to coordinate project delivery, monitor progress against 
strategic objectives, and ensure alignment with broader city priorities. Formal collaboration channels will 
be maintained with the Department for Infrastructure and Transport and other external partners to 
support integrated planning and co-investment opportunities. 
Decisions on project priorities and funding allocation will be made using the Strategy’s prioritisation 
framework and performance criteria. Each proposed action or project will be assessed based on its 
contribution to mode shift, safety, equity, environmental sustainability, and place outcomes. Progress 
will be tracked through regular reporting and evaluation using measurable indicators. Transport 
decisions will be coordinated with land use planning and public realm initiatives to ensure that all city 
projects contribute to a more accessible, liveable, and sustainable Adelaide. 

Page 216



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

147 AECOM

  

8.7 Performance Measures and Targets 

To measure the success of the Strategy’s action plan in achieving the overall Strategy objectives, a series of performance measures have been developed. 
The performance measures are aligned to one or more Strategy themes and have been developed from the current network challenges, network performance 
analysis, and other aligned strategic documents.  

Baseline data has been defined (where possible) and improvement targets set for +5 and +10 years in line with the lifespan of the Strategy. Where baseline 
data does not exist, data collection is identified as a priority recommended action of the implementation plan.  

Table 8-5 Performance measures and targets 

Theme 
Performance measure Baseline Targets Data source 

M&A E&P H&S S&C 

    
Reduction in through car travel on 

key identified CBD routes 

2025 levels  

See Table 4-1 

-10% (2030) 

-20% (2035) 
Compass IoT data analysis 

    
Improved overall public transport 

mode share (peak and non-peak) 
2025 levels  

+10% (2030) 

+20% (2035) 

Data collection required. e.g. 

VISTA 

    
Improved overall active travel mode 

share (peak and non-peak) 
2025 levels  

+5% (2030) 

+8% (2035) 

Data collection required. e.g. 

VISTA 

    
Increase in residents usually 

walking to work 
24% (2022) 

48% (2030) 

60% (2035) 

Integrated Change Strategy 2030 

Wellbeing Dashboard 

    
Increase in residents usually  

cycling to work 
2.6% (2022) 

10% (2030) 

20% (2035) 

Integrated Change Strategy 2030 

Wellbeing Dashboard 

    
Increased proportion of cycling 

gender diversity  
8.6% female (2023) 

+20% female (2030) 

+40% female (2035) 

South Australia | National Walking 

and Cycling Participation Survey 

    
Increased number of children 

walking and cycling to school  
Current* 

+10% (2030) 

+20% (2035) 
Data collection required 

    
Increase in protected on road 

cycling network  
Current* 

+7 km (2030) 

- 1 x E-W & N-S 

+15 km (2035) 

- 2 x E-W & N-S 

GIS assess management data 

    
Increase in street space allocated to 

public use in P1-P3 places 
Current* 

+5% (2030) 

+10% (2035) 

GIS data collection required.   

Economic Development Strategy 

P
age 217



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

148 AECOM

  

Theme 
Performance measure Baseline Targets Data source 

M&A E&P H&S S&C 

    
Decrease in average peak hour wait 

times for pedestrians at traffic lights  
60+sec LoS E (2025) 

40sec (2030) LoS D 

30sec (2035) LoS C 
Traffic Signal Review 2025  

    
Decrease in average wait times for 

public transport services 
12mins (2022) 

10mins (2030) 

8mins (2035) 

Global Public Transport Report 

(Moovit) 

    
Increase street tree canopy 

coverage 
33% (2025) 

+36% (2030) 

+40% (2035) 
Wellbeing Dashboard 

    
Decrease in overall vehicle 

emissions  
2025 levels 

75% reduction (2030) 

100% reduction (2035) 
 

   
Transition City corporate fleet 

vehicles to ZEVs 
65% (2022) 100% (2030) Integrated Change Strategy 2030 

    
Increase in public low emission 

vehicle charging infrastructure 

54 electric car charging 

stations (2025) 

+150 (2030) 

+300 (2035) 
Integrated Change Strategy 2030 

    Decrease in road crash rates  2025 levels 

50% reduction lives 

lost = <43 (2031) 

30% reduction serious 

injuries = <474 (2031) 

SA National Road Safety Strategy 

2021-2030 (DIT) 

    
Increase in lighting to standard on 

Park Lands active transport routes 
Current* 

+50% (2030) 

+100% (2035) 
Data collection required. 

    Increase in life satisfaction  73% (2022) 
+5% (2030) 

+10% (2035) 
Wellbeing Dashboard 

   Decrease in psychological distress 17% (2022) 
-5% (2030)  

-10% (2035) 
Wellbeing Dashboard 

    Increase in Park Lands usage 79% (2022) 
+3% (2030) 

+5% (2035) 
Wellbeing Dashboard 

   

Increase in residents meeting the 

recommended weekly physical 

activity requirements 

49% (2022) 
+10% (2030) 

+15% (2035) 
Wellbeing Dashboard 

   
Increase in the perception of safety 

in public spaces 
82% (2022) 

+5% (2030)  

+7% (2035) 
Wellbeing Dashboard 

P
age 218



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

149 AECOM

  

Theme 
Performance measure Baseline Targets Data source 

M&A E&P H&S S&C 

    

Council-led public space and 

streetscape upgrades incorporate 

universal design principles. 

Current* 100% (2028) 
Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan 2024-2028 

    
Improve lighting for paths of travel, 

transport and parking areas. 
Current* +50% (2028) 

Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan 2024-2028 

    

Increase paths leading to bus stops 

and in the Adelaide Park Lands that 

meet accessibility standards. 

Current* 50% (2028) 
Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan 2024-2028 

    

Improve the accessibility of the 

Adelaide Park Lands through the 

installation of rest stops and 

accessible crossings. 

Current* 

+20 rest stops (2028) 

+20 accessible 

crossings (2028) 

Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan 2024-2028 

   

Increase accessible car parking 

bays and the proportion of existing 

bays that meet accessibility 

standards. 

47# (2025) 

Current* 

+10 accessible car 

parking bays (2028) 

+40% (2028) 

Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan 2024-2028 

 

* Baseline and ongoing data collection required 

# City of Adelaide data indicates 47 on-street accessible parking spaces in locations which have both controls and sensors  

 

P
age 219



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

150 AECOM

  

8.8 Recommended Actions  

The table below highlights the suite of actions for implementation to achieve the vision and objectives of this Report, informed by the earlier sections of this 
report and ongoing engagement with stakeholders and the community.  

The actions have been tabulated below and outline the delivery approach, mechanism, timeframes for delivery, and indicative cost estimates based on the 
following scale: X = as part of internal business processes, $ = <$50K, $$ = $50K-$250K, $$$ = $250K-$1M, $$$$ = $1M+. 

Table 8-6 Recommended Action Plan 

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

1. Movement and Access 

1.1 Multi-Modal Transport      

1.1.1 

Work with state government to undertake a priority corridor assessment 

within the CBD to determine:  

• Opportunities for dedicated public transport routes. 

• Modal (bus, motorbike, bicycle) priority on selected routes.  

• Opportunities for efficiency gains. 

• Improve network-wide integration between transport modes (e.g. 

Bus to train, bus to bike).  

Partner Plan Medium $$ S4.1.4, 7.2 

1.1.2 

Implement a network of multimodal transport hubs to improve seamless 

connections between public transport, walking, wheeling, and 

micromobility, and encourage mode shift.  

Deliver Program Long $$ S4.1.4 

1.2 Walkable City      

1.2.1 

Implement pedestrian-priority signal timing, reducing wait times and 

prioritising pedestrian crossings at major intersections as identified in 

the Traffic Signal Review 2025. 

Advocate Policy Ongoing $$ S4.1.2 

1.2.2 
Trial temporary closures and pop-up pedestrian zones on selected 

streets to evaluate feasibility of permanent closure.  
Deliver Pilot Short $ S4.1.2 

1.2.3 
Create safe, connected and inclusive walking and wheeling 

environments by: 
Deliver Projects Long $$ S4.1.2 

P
age 220



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

151 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

• Implementing the walking/wheeling networks and their associated 

infrastructure requirements, based on place value and proximity to 

destinations such as schools, supermarkets and public transport. 

• Create safer pedestrian crossings which aim to slow down motor 

vehicles, reduce pedestrian wait times at new and existing sites, 

and align sequencing; prioritising people walking and wheeling. 

• Improve the maintenance of footpaths. 

• Enhance and promote walking/wheeling routes to increase tourist 

and visitor potential and community enjoyment of our streets and 

places. 

• Increase greening, wayfinding and points of interest/public art. 

• Increase pedestrian-only streets to enable vibrant public space 

1.3 Cycling and Micromobility Friendly City      

1.3.1 
Implement temporary, low-cost protected bike lanes using bollards, 

planters, and barriers along priority corridors 
Deliver Pilot Short $ S4.1.3, 4.2.8 

1.3.2 

Create pop-up micromobility hubs integrating shared e-scooters, e-

bikes, and public transport facilities. Locations should be based on 

proximity to key destinations, transport hubs, and high demand areas. 

Deliver Pilot Short $ S4.1.3, 4.2.8 

1.3.3 
Implement protected intersections for intersecting protected cycling 

routes as part of overall streetscape improvements. 
Deliver Projects Medium $$ S4.1.3, 4.2.8 

1.3.4 

Create safe corridors for people to use micromobility devices (shared 

and personal) with managed parking provisions on busy streets to 

ensure there are comfortable spaces for people walking and wheeling 

by: 

• Manage parking through designated parking bays or docks in 

busier areas. Provide some designated parking in quieter 

residential areas but have allowances for ‘free floating’ parking for 

safety and inclusion. 

Deliver Plan Medium $$ S4.1.6 

P
age 221



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

152 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

• Implement micromobility networks to improve connections with key 

destinations (including public transport). Identify ‘no go zones’ 

(streets and paths where scootering and/or cycling are to be 

excluded). 

• Integrate shared micromobility with public transport through 

creating micromobility hubs at public transport interchanges and 

stations. Joint promotion and pricing structures could also be 

explored with State Government and micromobility operators. 

• Have operators deploy more inclusive devices such as e-scooters 

with seats to improve accessibility and enable longer journeys for 

more people. Investigate schemes for different pricing 

models to promote shared micromobility as a viable transport 

option for people with limited existing transport means. 

• Make improvements to recreational trails within the Park Lands to 

promote shared micromobility as a tourism activity that enables 

visitors to explore the Park Lands and adjacent city 

destinations. 

• Ensure e-scooter fee structures and permit charges are linked to 

mutually beneficial aims for the City and Operators to support 

micromobility services that meet the objectives of this strategy. 

Including ensuring cost recovery for public realm management and 

community needs.  

1.3.5 

Create dedicated East-West cycle routes, integrating cycling paths with 

Park Lands and train lines, and enhancing and expanding the existing 

high-quality routes along Frome Road by: 

• Reduce vehicle dominance by converting road space into protected 

bike lanes 

• Improved end-of-trip facilities including secure bike parking, shaded 

parking areas with CCTV, and bike cages near public transport 

hubs. 

Deliver 
Plan and 

Projects 
Long $$$ S4.1.3, 4.2.6 

P
age 222



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

153 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

• Improved signage, water stations, and lighting along cycling routes. 

1.4 Public Transport Experience      

1.4.1 

Advocate for and partner with State Government to: 

• Investigate improving existing public transport corridors (e.g. 

Currie-Grenfell bus corridor). 

• Support a reduction in public transport fares to improve appeal. 

• Create new light-rail connections within the City and to adjoining 

inner suburbs (e.g. Prospect, inner East and the Airport) 

• Improve network-wide integration between transport modes (e.g. 

Bus to train, bus to bike). 

Advocate Policy Ongoing $ S4.1.4 

1.4.2 

Work with the State government and operators to improve perceptions 

of public safety at PT stops through targeted changes. This should 

include investigating and implementing infrastructure improvements at 

stops and upgrades to lighting around key transport precincts so the 

appeal of public transport will improve for all users. 

Partner Projects Medium $$ S4.1.4 

1.4.3 

Implement a program of targeted upgrades along key public transport 

corridors to create safe, comfortable and attractive urban environments 

and better integrate active transport and micro mobility trips with public 

transport 

Partner Programs Medium $$ S4.1.4 

1.4.4 

Improve public transport frequencies by working with state government, 

surrounding councils and operators to improve frequencies of existing 

high-demand services, and support reliability upgrades for all. This 

includes consideration of night-time frequencies, and an expansion of 

night-buses to Friday nights and during special events (such as 

Adelaide Fringe Festival) 

Partner Plan Long $$$ S4.1.4 

1.5 Vehicles and Parking      

P
age 223



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

154 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

1.5.1 

Undertake regular community and stakeholder engagement to ensure 

the kerbside space allocation on our streets considers the evolving 

needs of residents, businesses and the city visitors. 

Deliver Program Ongoing $ S4.1.5 

1.5.2 

Implement a comprehensive traffic circulation plan, implementing modal 

filters, reducing speed limits, and enhancing road safety measures. 

Maintain access to properties while discouraging through traffic so that 

through traffic is discouraged and essential deliveries and servicing are 

not impacted by vehicle congestion. 

Deliver Plan Short $$$ 
S4.1.5, S4.2.3, 

S4.2.7 

1.5.3 

Develop a City of Adelaide Parking and Kerbside Management Plan 

and guidelines to define the allocation of kerb space. The plan should: 

• Establish a hierarchy of kerbside uses based on key outcomes 

(accessibility, decarbonisation, greening) using multi-criteria 

assessment (MCA): Prioritise kerbside space allocation for different 

street types utilising a hierarchy that considers space efficiency and 

sustainable transport modes as well as CoA's strategic objectives 

which include greening, activation, accessibility (e.g. accessible car 

parking) and transport decarbonisation 

• Demand-based flexible kerbside management systems: Manage 

kerbside space efficiently, adjusting allocation in real time based on 

day and/or time of day demand. 

• Reallocate kerbside space for high-value uses: Shift kerbside 

space from low-value uses, like free or low-cost parking, to more 

productive activities such as loading, city servicing, public transport, 

street activation, pedestrian and cycling space 

• Prevent and reduce footpath clutter: Prevent and reduce visual and 

physical obstacles on footpaths to protect and improve 

accessibility, user safety, and the overall experience of urban 

areas. 

Deliver Plan Short $$$ S4.1.5 

1.5.4 Increase the adoption of carshare services by encouraging residents 

and business to join services, and growing the footprint of carshare 
Deliver Project Short $ S4.1.5 

P
age 224



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

155 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

networks including in a small number of highly visible locations to 

enhance awareness. 

1.5.5 

Deploy pilot of real-time adjustments to kerbside zones (e.g., 

loading/unloading zones) based on user demand using MCA for site 

selection. Identify pilot sites based on user demand using MCA, 

demand analysis, pedestrian/bicycle flow, and community feedback. 

Deliver Pilot Medium $$ S4.1.5 

1.5.6 

Foster partnerships among local businesses to create collaborative 

delivery systems that share resources, optimise vehicle / freight hubs 

use, and enhance stakeholder engagement by organising 

regular forums and workshops with key stakeholders to foster a 

collaborative approach towards logistics improvements. This could 

include: 

• Develop and apply flexible kerbside management systems that 

adjust loading zones and parking based on real-time demand to 

optimise space usage and reduce congestion. 

• Trailing green logistics zones and advanced waste systems in high-

demand areas can serve as a model for broader implementation. 

Partnering with private sectors to test technologies like autonomous 

vehicles will further advance Adelaide’s logistics capabilities. 

Partner Project Medium $ S4.1.5, S4.1.8 

1.6 Travel Behaviour Change      

1.6.1 

Develop and roll out travel behaviour change programs for schools and 

for new residents, and business to establish and maintain active and 

sustainable travel habits. Plan and design a targeted program of 

campaigns around transport hubs, schools, and high-potential modal 

shift areas. 

Partner Program Ongoing $ S4.2.11 

1.6.2 

Deliver a walking campaign through media, signage, and community 

events focusing on benefits of walking  Partner with schools, local 

businesses, and event organisers to maximise reach. 

Partner Program Ongoing $$ S4.1.2 

P
age 225



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

156 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

1.6.3 

Partner and support business districts and employment hubs to reduce 

car dependency, improve accessibility, and encourage active and 

public transport use by: 

• Develop sustainable transport strategies for workplace commuting 

and travel. 

• Promoting end-of-trip facilities, including bike parking and showers, 

to support cycling uptake. 

• Encouraging flexible work arrangements and remote work policies 

to reduce peak-hour congestion. 

• Support with behavioural insights to design workplace travel 

incentives. 

• Financial incentives such as subsidised public transport or shared 

mobility schemes. 

• Employee engagement programs promoting carpooling, cycling, 

and telecommuting options. 

Advocate / 

Partner 
Program Medium $ S4.2.3 

1.6.4 

Deliver a cycling campaign through media, signage, and community 

events focusing to promote cycling and humanise people who cycle. 

Promote shared road responsibilities and improving relationships 

between riders, drivers, and pedestrians. 

Deliver Programs Medium $$ S4.1.3 

2. Safety and Comfort      

2.1 
Conduct local area Accessibility Audits across the transport network, 

identifying barriers to mobility. 
Deliver Program Ongoing $ S4.3 

2.2 
Establish a tactile wayfinding network for visually impaired users in key 

city streets. 
Deliver Project Short $$ S4.3 

2.3 
Create a more gender-responsive and age-inclusive transport system 

by: 
Deliver Projects Medium $$ S4.3, S0 

P
age 226



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

157 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

• Implementing lighting and security measures along frequently used 

active and public transport routes, particularly in areas identified as 

higher risk for harassment 

• Undertake a disability assessment to identify improvements to 

ensure access for those of all abilities and families with young 

children 

• Undertake a gender assessment to identify improvements, 

including lighting on the walking and cycling map links proposed 

through the Park Lands. 

2.4 

Implement safer speed limits throughout the city with Safe System 

alignment to make streets more comfortable and enjoyable for people 

walking/wheeling, riding and catching public transport as well as quieter 

with reduced vehicle emissions.   

Deliver Project Medium $$ S4.2.7 

3. Health and Sustainability       

3.1 

Consider the environmental impact of transport modes and prioritise 

space efficient and low-emission transport by expanding off-street 

electric vehicle charging infrastructure, creating low emission zones, 

and investing in connected cycling and pedestrian networks. 

Deliver Projects Short $ S4.2.4 

3.2 

Create healthier, child-friendly streets around schools and adjacent 

residential areas to support local walkability and active travel to school 

by improving local infrastructure including: 

• Optimising the road space to create appealing corridors for 

movement, rest, and improved safety for all users 

• Implement City Plan strategies to increasing active frontages and 

density, increase city greening, and improve neighbourhood 

proximity to services and amenity. 

Deliver Program Medium $$ S4.2.11S 

3.3 Implement transport oriented urban heat island heat mitigation 

measures, integrating green roofs, street trees, and permeable 
Deliver Program Medium $$$ S4.2.12 

P
age 227



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

158 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

surfaces. Expand the network of shade trees and pedestrian shelters 

along key walking routes. 

4. Place and Experience 

4.1 
Convert underutilised parking spaces into temporary public spaces or 

parklets. Focus on high-footfall areas like retail districts and markets. 
Deliver Pilot Short $ S4.1.5 

4.2 

Redesign streets post-closure for improved urban planning: 

• Use prolonged road closures as opportunities to reimagine 

streetscapes. 

• Focus on designs that prioritise pedestrian and cycling safety, 

reduce car dominance, and improve public spaces with street 

improvements like more trees, wider sidewalks and protected 

cycling lanes. 

• Establish clear guidelines and revenue structures for permits and 

fees: 

• Review and standardise permit processes and fee structures for 

occupying public spaces. 

• Ensure fees are fair and contribute to public space maintenance 

and improvement, inspired by New York City's "Street Works 

Manual." 

• Coordinate with the delivery of the permanent, high-quality network 

of walking, wheeling, and cycling routes. 

Deliver Plan Long $$$ S4.2.5, S4.2.6 

5. City Operations 

5.1 Managing Freight      

5.1.1 
Introduce sustainable freight delivery incentives, such as promoting 

cargo bikes for last-mile deliveries. 
Deliver Program Short $ S4.2.4 

P
age 228



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

159 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

5.1.2 

Promote the adoption of low-emission delivery vehicles within the urban 

logistics network and integrate Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) to 

enhance the efficiency and coordination of urban freight movements. 

Advocate Policy Medium $ S4.2.4 

5.1.3 

Plan for the development of Freight and Delivery Hubs 

• Evaluate location-based logistics needs for establishing freight 

hubs near major business areas and corridors. 

• Locations identified based on proximity to retail/commercial zones 

and e-commerce density hotspots. 

Deliver Plan Medum $$ S4.1.8 

5.1.4 

Pilot the establishment of micro-freight hubs near major business areas 

and corridors. Locations identified should be based on proximity to 

retail/commercial zones and e-commerce density hotspots. 

Deliver Pilot Medium $$ S4.1.8 

5.2 Managing Disruptions      

5.2.1 

Leverage major events and disruptions for sustainable transport 

promotion: 

• Use events to encourage public transport use, enhance cycling 

infrastructure, and create pedestrian-friendly zones. 

• Implement community engagement and education campaigns to 

foster long-term shifts toward sustainable travel. 

Deliver Program Ongoing $$ S0 

5.2.2 

Implement comprehensive Communication Strategies for major events 

and transport disruptions including: 

• Develop extensive communication plans for all major events and 

construction activities. 

• Include detailed information provided well in advance, real-time 

updates through social media and apps, and public awareness 

campaigns. 

• Establish Community Liaison Panels to engage with the public, 

address concerns, and provide timely information. 

Deliver Program Ongoing $$ S0 

P
age 229



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

160 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

• Use communication materials to promote travel behaviour change 

during disruptions. 

• Collaborate with event organisers, venue managers, and public 

transport operators to ensure: 

o Integrated public transport and event ticketing to encourage 

uptake. 

o Expanded shuttle bus and bicycle parking facilities for 

large-scale events. 

o Clear communication on temporary road closures and 

alternative transport options for event attendees. 

5.2.3 

Partner with Adelaide Fringe, Tour Down Under, and other major 

events to promote active and public transport use during disruptions. 

Pilot shuttle services, free bicycle rentals, and expanded public 

transport schedules during these large events. 

Advocate / 

Partner 
Program Short $$ S0 

5.2.4 

Develop and enforce tailored Detour Guidelines: 

• Create guidelines that prioritise pedestrian and cycling safety and 

maintain accessibility for people with disabilities 

• Ensure detours are well-signposted, with clear signage and regular 

reviews to adapt and improve based on feedback. 

• Enhance resilience by ensuring continuity of these networks during 

major events and disruptions, reducing reliance on inaccessible 

areas like the Park Lands during such periods. 

Deliver Plan Medium $$ S4.1.9 

6.  Ongoing Strategy Implementation and Organisational Alignment      

6.1 

Redirect dynamic parking revenue toward sustainable transport 

infrastructure projects. Establish annual reinvestment goals to fund 

pedestrian/cycling upgrades and transport enhancements. 

Deliver Policy Ongoing $$ S4.2.10 

P
age 230



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

161 AECOM

  

ID Action Approach Mechanism Timeframe Cost Addresses 

6.2 

Ensure the Implementation of the Integrated Transport Strategy 

remains aligned with delivery of supporting actions in City of Adelaide’s 

City Plan, Strategic Plan, Integrated Climate Strategy 

Deliver Plan Ongoing $  

6.3 
Implement and align relevant Council supporting plans and policies in 

line with this strategy's objectives and recommendations. 
Deliver Policy Short $  

6.4 
Adopt the modal maps, classifications, applicable standards for delivery 

of the Integrated Transport Strategy 
Deliver Policy Short $  

6.5 

Apply for federal/state funding related to decarbonisation, gender 

equity, and cycling infrastructure development. Map available grants 

and align projects with eligibility criteria. 

Deliver Plan Short $  

6.6 

Investment logic mapping: Develop investment proposals incorporating 

strategic goals of the ITS and Infrastructure SA recommendations, 

including criteria for gender impact, emissions reduction, and equity for 

street upgrades and transport interventions and extend to Project 

assessment. 

Deliver Plan Medium $$ S4.4 

6.7 
Undertake planning and feasibility of infrastructure treatments of a 

program of works to deliver modal maps  
Deliver Plan Medium $$ S7.2 

6.8 

Develop an integrated transport data system to monitor congestion, 

accessibility, and network efficiency. This will also inform future 

evaluation and planning. 

Deliver Plan Medium $$  

6.9 

Develop public-private partnerships for shared micromobility hubs, EV 

charging stations, and freight consolidation. Define funding 

mechanisms and private sector contributions through memorandums of 

understanding (MoUs). 

Partner Plan Medium $ 
S4.1.6, S4.1.8, 

S4.2.4 

6.10 

Ensure e-scooter fee structures and permit charges are linked to 

mutually beneficial aims for the City and Operators to support 

micromobility services that meet the objectives of this strategy. 

Including ensuring cost recovery for public realm management and 

community needs.  

Deliver Policy Medium $ S4.1.6 

P
age 231



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

162 AECOM

  

8.9 Prioritising Actions 

While each of the actions outlined in Section 8.8 are important to deliver on the key findings of this strategy, additional work has been done to prioritise these 
actions to allow for an understanding of which actions should ideally be pursued first. This has been based on an assessment of each action against the 
Prioritisation Framework outlined in Section 8.6.  

Additionally, actions have been categorised based on their deliverability as either category one (standalone) or two (packages of works) as outlined below.  

Table 8-7 Categorisation of actions based on deliverability  

Category 1 Key standalone transport initiatives to be delivered as unique projects 

Category 2 122 
Interventions which could be delivered at appropriate intervention points such as existing asset renewals, planning processes, or 
management processes. 

 

Table 8-8 Summary of prioritised actions for implementation  

Priority Theme ID Action 

1 

Strategy 
Implementation 

6.3 
Implement and align relevant Council supporting plans and policies in line with this strategy's objectives and 
recommendations. 

2 6.8 
Develop an integrated transport data system to monitor congestion, accessibility, and network efficiency. This will 
also inform future evaluation and planning. 

3 6.4 Adopt the modal maps, classifications, applicable standards for delivery of the Integrated Transport Strategy 

4 
Movement and 
Access - Cycling 

1.3.5 

Create dedicated East-West cycle routes, integrating cycling paths with Park Lands and train lines, and enhancing 
and expanding the existing high-quality routes along Frome Road by: 

• Reduce vehicle dominance by converting road space into protected bike lanes 

• Improved end-of-trip facilities including secure bike parking, shaded parking areas with CCTV, and bike cages 
near public transport hubs. 

• Improved signage, water stations, and lighting along cycling routes. 

5 
Strategy 
Implementation 

6.7 
Undertake planning and feasibility of infrastructure treatments of a program of works to deliver modal maps  

 

122 The above categorisation is indicative only and represents an initial assessment of deliverability. As there are a variety of ways for projects to be delivered – as either stand alone or as part of 
future renewals / packaged together. The City of Adelaide will need to assess these actions against their broader asset management pipeline of works, procurement processes,and management 
approaches.  

P
age 232



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

163 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

6 
Movement and 
Access - Public 
Transport 

1.4.4 

Improve public transport frequencies by working with state government, surrounding councils and operators to 
improve frequencies of existing high-demand services, and support reliability upgrades for all. This includes 
consideration of night-time frequencies, and an expansion of night-buses to Friday nights and during special 
events (such as Adelaide Fringe Festival) 

7 
Safety and 
Comfort 

2.4 
Implement safer speed limits throughout the city with Safe System alignment to make streets more comfortable 
and enjoyable for people walking/wheeling, riding and catching public transport as well as quieter with reduced 
vehicle emissions.   

8 
Movement and 
Access - Walking 
/ Wheeling 

1.2.3 

Create safe, connected and inclusive walking and wheeling environments by: 

• Implementing the walking/wheeling networks and their associated infrastructure requirements, based on place 
value and proximity to destinations such as schools, supermarkets and public transport. 

• Create safer pedestrian crossings which aim to slow down motor vehicles, reduce pedestrian wait times at 
new and existing sites, and align sequencing; prioritising people walking and wheeling. 

• Improve the maintenance of footpaths. 

• Enhance and promote walking/wheeling routes to increase tourist and visitor potential and community 
enjoyment of our streets and places. 

• Increase greening, wayfinding and points of interest/public art. 

• Increase pedestrian-only streets to enable vibrant public space 

9 
Health and 
Sustainability 

3.3 
Implement transport oriented urban heat island heat mitigation measures, integrating green roofs, street trees, 
and permeable surfaces. Expand the network of shade trees and pedestrian shelters along key walking routes. 

10 
Strategy 
Implementation 

6.1 
Redirect dynamic parking revenue toward sustainable transport infrastructure projects. Establish annual 
reinvestment goals to fund pedestrian/cycling upgrades and transport enhancements. 

11 
Movement and 
Access - Travel 
Behaviour 

1.6.1 
Develop and roll out travel behaviour change programs for schools and for new residents, and business to 
establish and maintain active and sustainable travel habits. Plan and design a targeted program of campaigns 
around transport hubs, schools, and high-potential modal shift areas. 

12 
Movement and 
Access - Public 
Transport 

1.4.1 

Advocate for and partner with State Government to: 

• Investigate improving existing public transport corridors (e.g. Currie-Grenfell bus corridor). 

• Support a reduction in public transport fares to improve appeal. 

P
age 233



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

164 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

• Create new light-rail connections within the City and to adjoining inner suburbs (e.g. Prospect, inner East and 
the Airport) 

• Improve network-wide integration between transport modes (e.g. Bus to train, bus to bike). 

13 
Movement and 
Access - Travel 
Behaviour 

1.6.3 

Partner and support business districts and employment hubs to reduce car dependency, improve accessibility, 
and encourage active and public transport use by: 

• Develop sustainable transport strategies for workplace commuting and travel. 

• Promoting end-of-trip facilities, including bike parking and showers, to support cycling uptake. 

• Encouraging flexible work arrangements and remote work policies to reduce peak-hour congestion. 

• Support with behavioural insights to design workplace travel incentives. 

• Financial incentives such as subsidised public transport or shared mobility schemes. 

• Employee engagement programs promoting carpooling, cycling, and telecommuting options.. 

14 
Movement and 
Access - Vehicles 
and Parking 

1.5.4 Increase the adoption of carshare services by encouraging residents and business to join services, and growing 
the footprint of carshare networks including in a small number of highly visible locations to enhance awareness. 

15 

Movement and 
Access - Multi-
Modal 

1.1.2 
Implement a network of multimodal transport hubs to improve seamless connections between public transport, 
walking, wheeling, and micromobility, and encourage mode shift.  

16 1.1.1 

Work with state government to undertake a priority corridor assessment within the CBD to determine:  

• Opportunities for dedicated public transport routes. 

• Modal (bus, motorbike, bicycle) priority on selected routes.  

• Opportunities for efficiency gains. 

• Improve network-wide integration between transport modes (e.g. Bus to train, bus to bike). 

17 
Movement and 
Access - Vehicles 
and Parking 

1.5.3 

Develop a City of Adelaide Parking and Kerbside Management Plan and guidelines to define the allocation of kerb 
space. The plan should: 

• Establish a hierarchy of kerbside uses based on key outcomes (accessibility, decarbonisation, greening) using 
multi-criteria assessment (MCA): Prioritise kerbside space allocation for different street types utilising a 
hierarchy that considers space efficiency and sustainable transport modes as well as CoA's strategic 

P
age 234



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

165 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

objectives which include greening, activation, accessibility (e.g. accessible car parking) and transport 
decarbonisation 

• Demand-based flexible kerbside management systems: Manage kerbside space efficiently, adjusting 
allocation in real time based on day and/or time of day demand. 

• Reallocate kerbside space for high-value uses: Shift kerbside space from low-value uses, like free or low-cost 
parking, to more productive activities such as loading, city servicing, public transport, street activation, 
pedestrian and cycling space 

• Prevent and reduce footpath clutter: Prevent and reduce visual and physical obstacles on footpaths to protect 
and improve accessibility, user safety, and the overall experience of urban areas. 

18 
Movement and 
Access - Cycling 

1.3.3 
Implement protected intersections for intersecting protected cycling routes as part of overall streetscape 
improvements. 

19 
Movement and 
Access - Walking 
/ Wheeling 

1.2.1 Implement pedestrian-priority signal timing, reducing wait times and prioritising pedestrian crossings at major 
intersections as identified in the Traffic Signal Review 2025. 

20 
Place and 
Experience 

4.2 

Redesign streets post-closure for improved urban planning: 

• Use prolonged road closures as opportunities to reimagine streetscapes. 

• Focus on designs that prioritise pedestrian and cycling safety, reduce car dominance, and improve public 
spaces with street improvements like more trees, wider sidewalks and protected cycling lanes. 

• Establish clear guidelines and revenue structures for permits and fees: 

• Review and standardise permit processes and fee structures for occupying public spaces. 

• Ensure fees are fair and contribute to public space maintenance and improvement, inspired by New York 
City's "Street Works Manual." 

Coordinate with the delivery of the permanent, high-quality network of walking, wheeling, and cycling routes. 

21 
Movement and 
Access - Cycling 

1.3.1 
Implement temporary, low-cost protected bike lanes using bollards, planters, and barriers along priority corridors 

22 
Movement and 
Access - Public 
Transport 

1.4.2 
Work with the State government and operators to improve perceptions of public safety at PT stops through 
targeted changes. This should include investigating and implementing infrastructure improvements at stops and 
upgrades to lighting around key transport precincts so the appeal of public transport will improve for all users. 

P
age 235



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

166 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

23 
Movement and 
Access - Freight 

5.1.1 
Introduce sustainable freight delivery incentives, such as promoting cargo bikes for last-mile deliveries. 

24 
Movement and 
Access - Walking 
/ Wheeling 

1.2.2 
Trial temporary closures and pop-up pedestrian zones on selected streets to evaluate feasibility of permanent 
closure.  

25 
Movement and 
Access - Cycling 

1.3.4 

Create safe corridors for people to use micromobility devices (shared and personal) with managed parking 
provisions on busy streets to ensure there are comfortable spaces for people walking and wheeling by: 

• Manage parking through designated parking bays or docks in busier areas. Provide some designated parking 
in quieter residential areas but have allowances for ‘free floating’ parking for safety and inclusion. 

• Implement micromobility networks to improve connections with key destinations (including public transport). 
Identify ‘no go zones’ (streets and paths where scootering and/or cycling are to be excluded). 

• Integrate shared micromobility with public transport through creating micromobility hubs at public transport 
interchanges and stations. Joint promotion and pricing structures could also be explored with State 
Government and micromobility operators. 

• Have operators deploy more inclusive devices such as e-scooters with seats to improve accessibility and 
enable longer journeys for more people. Investigate schemes for different pricing 
models to promote shared micromobility as a viable transport option for people with limited existing transport 
means. 

• Make improvements to recreational trails within the Park Lands to promote shared micromobility as a tourism 
activity that enables visitors to explore the Park Lands and adjacent city 
destinations. 

• Ensure e-scooter fee structures and permit charges are linked to mutually beneficial aims for the City and 
Operators to support micromobility services that meet the objectives of this strategy. Including ensuring cost 
recovery for public realm management and community needs.  

26 
Movement and 
Access - 
Disruptions 

5.2.2 

Implement comprehensive Communication Strategies for major events and transport disruptions including: 

• Develop extensive communication plans for all major events and construction activities. 

• Include detailed information provided well in advance, real-time updates through social media and apps, and 
public awareness campaigns. 

• Establish Community Liaison Panels to engage with the public, address concerns, and provide timely 
information. 

P
age 236



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

167 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

• Use communication materials to promote travel behaviour change during disruptions. 

• Collaborate with event organisers, venue managers, and public transport operators to ensure: 

o Integrated public transport and event ticketing to encourage uptake. 

o Expanded shuttle bus and bicycle parking facilities for large-scale events. 

o Clear communication on temporary road closures and alternative transport options for event 
attendees. 

27 
Place and 
Experience 

4.1 
Convert underutilised parking spaces into temporary public spaces or parklets. Focus on high-footfall areas like 
retail districts and markets. 

28 
Movement and 
Access - 
Disruptions 

5.2.4 

Develop and enforce tailored Detour Guidelines: 

• Create guidelines that prioritise pedestrian and cycling safety and maintain accessibility for people with 
disabilities 

• Ensure detours are well-signposted, with clear signage and regular reviews to adapt and improve based on 
feedback. 

• Enhance resilience by ensuring continuity of these networks during major events and disruptions, reducing 
reliance on inaccessible areas like the Park Lands during such periods. 

29 
Strategy 
Implementation 

6.9 
Develop public-private partnerships for shared micromobility hubs, EV charging stations, and freight consolidation. 
Define funding mechanisms and private sector contributions through memorandums of understanding (MoUs). 

30 
Movement and 
Access - Cycling 

1.3.2 
Create pop-up micromobility hubs integrating shared e-scooters, e-bikes, and public transport facilities. Locations 
should be based on proximity to key destinations, transport hubs, and high demand areas. 

31 
Health and 
Sustainability 

3.2 

Create healthier, child-friendly streets around schools and adjacent residential areas to support local walkability 
and active travel to school by improving local infrastructure including: 

• Optimising the road space to create appealing corridors for movement, rest, and improved safety for all users 

• Implement City Plan strategies to increasing active frontages and density, increase city greening, and improve 
neighbourhood proximity to services and amenity. 

32 
Movement and 
Access - Travel 
Behaviour 

1.6.2 Deliver a walking campaign through media, signage, and community events focusing on benefits of walking  
Partner with schools, local businesses, and event organisers to maximise reach. 

P
age 237



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

168 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

33 
Movement and 
Access - Public 
Transport 

1.4.3 Implement a program of targeted upgrades along key public transport corridors to create safe, comfortable and 
attractive urban environments and better integrate active transport and micro mobility trips with public transport 

34 
Safety and 
Comfort 

2.1 
Conduct local area Accessibility Audits across the transport network, identifying barriers to mobility. 

35 
Movement and 
Access - 
Disruptions 

5.2.1 

Leverage major events and disruptions for sustainable transport promotion: 

• Use events to encourage public transport use, enhance cycling infrastructure, and create pedestrian-friendly 
zones. 

• Implement community engagement and education campaigns to foster long-term shifts toward sustainable 
travel. 

36 
Safety and 
Comfort 

2.3 

Create a more gender-responsive and age-inclusive transport system by: 

• Implementing lighting and security measures along frequently used active and public transport routes, 
particularly in areas identified as higher risk for harassment 

• Undertake a disability assessment to identify improvements to ensure access for those of all abilities and 
families with young children 

• Undertake a gender assessment to identify improvements, including lighting on the walking and cycling map 
links proposed through the Park Lands. 

37 
Movement and 
Access - Freight 

5.1.2 
Promote the adoption of low-emission delivery vehicles within the urban logistics network, and integrate Intelligent 
Transport Systems (ITS) to enhance the efficiency and coordination of urban freight movements. 

38 
Movement and 
Access - Travel 
Behaviour 

1.6.4 
Deliver a cycling campaign through media, signage, and community events focusing to promote cycling and 
humanise people who cycle. Promote shared road responsibilities and improving relationships between riders, 
drivers, and pedestrians. 

39 
Movement and 
Access - 
Disruptions 

5.2.3 
Partner with Adelaide Fringe, Tour Down Under, and other major events to promote active and public transport 
use during disruptions. Pilot shuttle services, free bicycle rentals, and expanded public transport schedules during 
these large events. 

40 
Strategy 
Implementation 

6.5 
Apply for federal/state funding related to decarbonisation, gender equity, and cycling infrastructure development. 
Map available grants and align projects with eligibility criteria. 

P
age 238



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

169 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

41 
Movement and 
Access - Vehicles 
and Parking 

1.5.1 Undertake regular community and stakeholder engagement to ensure the kerbside space allocation on our streets 
considers the evolving needs of residents, businesses and the city visitors. 

42 
Health and 
Sustainability 

3.1 
Consider the environmental impact of transport modes and prioritise space efficient and low-emission transport by 
expanding off-street electric vehicle charging infrastructure, creating low emission zones, and investing in 
connected cycling and pedestrian networks. 

43 
Safety and 
Comfort 

2.2 
Establish a tactile wayfinding network for visually impaired users in key city streets. 

44 
Movement and 
Access - Freight 

5.1.3 

Plan for the development of Freight and Delivery Hubs 

• Evaluate location-based logistics needs for establishing freight hubs near major business areas and corridors. 

• Locations identified based on proximity to retail/commercial zones and e-commerce density hotspots. 

45 
Movement and 
Access - Vehicles 
and Parking 

1.5.6 

Foster partnerships among local businesses to create collaborative delivery systems that share resources, 
optimise vehicle / freight hubs use, and enhance stakeholder engagement by organising 
regular forums and workshops with key stakeholders to foster a collaborative approach towards logistics 
improvements. This could include: 

• Develop and apply flexible kerbside management systems that adjust loading zones and parking based on 
real-time demand to optimise space usage and reduce congestion. 

• Trailing green logistics zones and advanced waste systems in high-demand areas can serve as a model for 
broader implementation. Partnering with private sectors to test technologies like autonomous vehicles will 
further advance Adelaide’s logistics capabilities. 

46 
Strategy 
Implementation 

6.2 
Ensure the Implementation of the Integrated Transport Strategy remains aligned with delivery of supporting 
actions in City of Adelaide’s City Plan, Strategic Plan, Integrated Climate Strategy 

47 
Movement and 
Access - Freight 

5.1.4 
Pilot the establishment of micro-freight hubs near major business areas and corridors. Locations identified should 
be based on proximity to retail/commercial zones and e-commerce density hotspots. 

48 
Strategy 
Implementation 

6.6 
Investment logic mapping: Develop investment proposals incorporating strategic goals of the ITS and 
Infrastructure SA recommendations, including criteria for gender impact, emissions reduction, and equity for street 
upgrades and transport interventions and extend to Project assessment. 

P
age 239



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

170 AECOM

  

Priority Theme ID Action 

49 
Movement and 
Access - Vehicles 
and Parking 

1.5.5 
Deploy pilot of real-time adjustments to kerbside zones (e.g., loading/unloading zones) based on user demand 
using MCA for site selection. Identify pilot sites based on user demand using MCA, demand analysis, 
pedestrian/bicycle flow, and community feedback. 

50 1.5.2 
Implement a comprehensive traffic circulation plan, implementing modal filters, reducing speed limits, and 
enhancing road safety measures. Maintain access to properties while discouraging through traffic so that through 
traffic is discouraged and essential deliveries and servicing are not impacted by vehicle congestion. 

51 
Strategy 
Implementation 

6.1 
Ensure e-scooter fee structures and permit charges are linked to mutually beneficial aims for the City and 
Operators to support micromobility services that meet the objectives of this strategy. Including ensuring cost 
recovery for public realm management and community needs.  

 

P
age 240



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

171 AECOM

  

8.9.1 Recommended Projects Map 

Figure 8-1 below outlines the locations of prioritised actions proposed for implementation to achieve the 
vision and objectives of this Report/  

It is noted that not all actions captured in Section 8.8 and Section 8.9 can be plotted on a map, as some 
are for city-wide delivery while others are, for example, policy focused. This map should be used in 
conjunction with the maps from Sections 7.3 to 7.8 to understand the future network for transport 
modes and Place within the City of Adelaide.  

 

Figure 8-1 Map of prioritised actions   

Page 241



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

172 AECOM

  

9.0 Monitoring, Evaluation, Reporting and Review 

9.1 Monitoring and Evaluation 

Monitoring the success and delivery of the Strategy will enable the City of Adelaide and the community 
to be confident that it is delivering the intended outcomes. Performance monitoring requires the City of 
Adelaide to track and measure progress against the strategy performance measure targets outlined in 
Table 8-5. 

The collection of data is crucial to support this process. The City of Adelaide will be required to gather 
baseline data where not currently available, and complete regular data collection to track performance 
against target objectives. This will provide insight as to whether the defined actions and investment are 
working effectively or if changes should be made. Tracking performance enables City of Adelaide to be 
confident they are spending budgets and resources in the most useful way for the community. 

The progress of the Strategy and its actions will require internal governance mechanisms to be put in 
place to track the implementation of the strategy.  

Data for monitoring and evaluation 

Existing data sources, such as the Census journey to work dataset, have significant limitations when 
assessing active transport modes like walking and wheeling. The Census only captures work-based 
trips and omits education, recreational, or other non-work travel purposes. It also records only the mode 
used for the longest distance travelled, ignoring multi-modal trips, and is conducted in winter, which 
typically under-represents walking and cycling activity. As a result, the Census does not provide an 
accurate or complete picture of integrated transport behaviour in the City of Adelaide. 

There are other supplementary data sources that can support a more detailed understanding of 
transport trends in Adelaide. These include Council-led initiatives such as bicycle and pedestrian 
cordon counts, Super Tuesday bicycle counts, and parking sensor data. These datasets can provide 
valuable annual trend information and geographic coverage where household surveys may not be 
feasible. There is currently a gap in understanding off-street parking supply and utilisation, particularly 
in private facilities. Investment in expanding parking data collection would help the City of Adelaide 
assess the true spatial demands of vehicle storage and better prioritise public space in line with the 
goals of the Integrated Transport Strategy. 

South Australia currently does not undertake a regular, state-wide household travel survey that would 
provide a comprehensive understanding of all household travel across trip purposes and modes. In 
contrast, other jurisdictions have established robust survey methods to support strategic planning. The 
Greater Hobart Household Travel Survey collects detailed data on daily travel patterns across all trip 
types and transport modes, offering a valuable evidence base for transport investment and behaviour 
change initiatives. Victoria’s Integrated Survey of Travel and Activity (VISTA) is conducted annually and 
captures data across weekdays and seasons, helping to monitor travel behaviours over time and inform 
the development of infrastructure and services that meet user needs. 

To strengthen transport planning in Adelaide, the City User Survey should continue but be reviewed to 
ensure it captures trip frequency and a balanced representation of mode choice. Previous surveys that 
sample metropolitan visitation to the CBD have been found to over-represent car travel, in part due to 
the frequency and method of sampling. Establishing a modern household travel survey, aligned with 
national best practice and inclusive of walking, wheeling, and multi-modal trips, would fill key data gaps 
and support evidence-based monitoring and evaluation. This improved data would also enhance the 
City of Adelaide’s ability to build business cases and secure funding by demonstrating clear, 
measurable needs and benefits. 

Table 9-1 Overview of key data sources 

Data Source Description 

Census Journey to 
Work 

National dataset recording primary mode of travel to work; excludes 
education and non-work trips, underrepresents walking/wheeling, and only 
captures one mode per journey. 

City User Survey City of Adelaide survey of visitors and commuters; may over-represent car 
trips and should be reviewed to align with the Integrated Transport Strategy 
and better capture mode share and trip frequency. 

Page 242



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

173 AECOM

  

Data Source Description 

Super Tuesday Bicycle 
Counts 

Annual volunteer-based counts of cyclists at intersections during morning 
peak; provides trend data for cycling activity, including gender. 

Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Cordon Counts 

Manual or automated counts across screen lines into and within the city, 
used to monitor walking and cycling volumes. 

Parking Sensor Data Real-time occupancy data from on-street sensors, used to analyse parking 
behaviour and duration. 

Compass IoT Data 
(Through Traffic) 

Telematics data from connected vehicles used to estimate through trips via 
GPS trace analysis across the city; skewed to newer / commercial vehicles. 

Off-Street Parking 
Supply Estimates 

Currently incomplete; additional data collection needed to quantify public 
and private parking supply and use. 

9.2 Reporting 

Reporting of progress against the performance measure targets should occur annually to the Executive 
Management Team by the responsible Council divisions. This reporting should occur before the annual 
budget review process so funding for the following year’s actions can be incorporated/confirmed in the 
budget process. 

Reporting should outline the impacts to achieving performance targets if key recommendations in the 
action plan are not delivered within the prescribed timeframes. Likely consequences could include: 
ongoing poor transport network performance, damaging road safety outcomes, continued sub-standard 
heath and sustainability outcomes, and community dissatisfaction with performance.  

9.3 Review and Update Mechanism 

The Implementation Plan will include a structured process for reviewing policies and other components 
of the Integrated Transport Strategy to ensure ongoing relevance and alignment with evolving transport 
needs and strategic priorities. The Strategy will be updated every four years, allowing for a refresh that: 

• Reviews strategic objectives and directions 

• Reviews / updates priorities based on planning updates, emerging trends, and budget availability 

• Assesses progress against actions 

• Assesses progress against benchmark outcomes 

• Reviews pilot projects or trials to inform permanent implementation 

• Identifies barriers and opportunities for ongoing implementation. 

Table 9-2 Proposed processes for reviews  

Review Component Process 

Periodic Policy Review Policies will be assessed against performance data, legislative changes, 
and emerging transport trends to determine if updates or refinements are 
required. 

Council Transition 
Review 

Each time a new Council is elected, a briefing on the Integrated Transport 
Strategy and its implementation progress will be conducted to inform 
decision-making and maintain strategic continuity. 

Stakeholder and 
Community Feedback 
Integration 

Ongoing engagement with residents, businesses, and transport 
stakeholders will ensure that the strategy remains responsive to community 
needs. 

Alignment with 
External Strategies 

Reviews will consider broader government policies and funding 
opportunities at the state and federal levels, ensuring that transport 
priorities align with available resources and regulatory frameworks. 

Page 243



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

174 AECOM

  

10.0 Street Type Case Studies 

Indicative illustrations have been prepared for three street typologies to demonstrate the scale of 
change needed to improve movement, place and Healthy Street outcomes within the City of Adelaide, 
and to support desirable network performance outcomes as part of Strategy implementation.  

The three street types selected are: 

• Local Activity Retail Streets – Places to shop  

• City Streets – Places for business  

• Transit Boulevards – Places to stroll  

Before and after sketches of each street type showcase the potential changes and highlight the design 
treatments that would improve the movement, place and Healthy Street outcomes for each scenario. 
Corresponding cross-sections show indicative land use allocations. 

The future state illustrations demonstrate the potential to achieve the vision and objectives of this 
Strategy, enabled by the delivery of actions in the Implementation Plan. They show the redistribution of 
land required to allow for greater space for walking / wheeling, cycling, and public transport, while also 
supporting improved place outcomes through street greening, safety interventions, and on-street 
activation.  

The case studies present an indicative interface with future land uses. Additional higher-density and 
mixed-use land use is needed to cater for the growing population of the City of Adelaide, as guided by 
City Plan. While the case studies below present active frontages and higher density buildings, it is 
understood that this won’t be the reality for every street within the City of Adelaide. Therefore, this is 
only indicative and the interfacing land use will differ site to site, street to street being dependent on 
what plans are proposed and approved for future development by the City of Adelaide.  

Importantly, a variety of trade-offs need to be considered regarding how the on-road and kerbside 
space is allocated to align with the vision for each street type:  

• Allocation of more street space to walking and wheeling, cycling, dedicated public transport and 
street greening means less space for on-street parking and, in some cases, general traffic lanes. 
However, in practice localised decisions will require an assessment of the availability and proximity 
of off-street parking, and the provision of nearby general traffic routes.  

• Allocation of more kerb space to high value operations including public transport, cycling, loading / 
city servicing, street dining, and street greening, rather than on-street parking.  

• Allocation of more space for people walking / wheeling and associated amenities like street 
greening, furniture, wayfinding to support higher order places.  

• What does servicing look like for this part of the street. On-street loading zones will be maintained, 
however there may be less on-street parking available through street space reallocation. Are there 
off-street locations available for servicing within close proximity? Could there be an opportunity for 
the use of distribution hubs and last mile via active transport within this precinct? Can servicing 
occur during specific hours such as the arrangements for locations like Rundle Mall, Pitt Street Mall 
and Bourke Street Mall across Australian cities?  

• Noting that modes such as buses and trams require different space allocations, what type of public 
transport mode is best suited or required for the corridor and the broader network? The allocation of 
space along the corridor would then need to respond to this and required amenities such as stops.  

Not all of the streets which will have public transport services in the future are as wide as the case 
study shown below for the transit boulevard. As such, there is likely to be more significant 
challenges to manage during the project development and optioneering phase regarding street 
space and required trade-offs.  

• The case studies below present street greening within flexi-zones, however this space can be used 
for other city functions such as bus stops, cycle parking and outdoor dining.  

The frameworks and mapping noted in Section 6.4 and Section 7.0 can guide this consideration of 
necessary trade-offs and support localised decision-making for relevant projects. For instance, while the 

Page 244



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

175 AECOM

  

below drawings are indicative, they represent a potential outcome of the utilisation of the City of 
Adelaide Framework and processes. 

While this process is intended to be reflective of localised visions and expectations for an area, 
commonalities for key street typologies exist such as the importance of improving pedestrian space and 
crossings along retail streets, or greater shade along transit boulevards. As such the existing conditions 
of these examples would have scored relatively low on key indicators, suggesting key areas for 
improvements in footpath widths, crossing conditions, and street trees, which are incorporated into the 
updated street layouts. 

Street layouts such as these prioritise ongoing liveability and sustainability for the City of Adelaide, 
noting future growth expectations. The illustrations reflect changes to the indicative Movement and 
Place classifications for each typology, and demonstrate necessary greening improvements required for 
a street to meet Healthy Street objectives (Section 7.2). 

As outlined in the Implementation Plan (Section 8.0), there is the opportunity for the City of Adelaide to 
undertake street upgrades across the LGA, utilising strategies such as street space reallocation to 
deliver better outcomes for people and meet the objectives of this Strategy.  

The illustrations provided are only concept examples of possible change. Localised assessments for 
upgrades are required during respective project design and optioneering, along with the application of 
detailed design principle. 

 

Page 245



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

176 AECOM

  

Local Activity Retail Streets 

  

   

Figure 10-1 Artist’s impression and accompanying cross section of an existing retail street within the City of Adelaide and future state with interventions  

  

Retail Streets provide a direct connection to diverse street uses such modern 
retail and hospitality. These connections make them dynamic in nature with 
various types of social and commercial exchange, but they can also be intimate 
in scale, varied, busy and active. 

Retail Streets provide a low-speed environment to support greater place 
function through lower emissions and noise pollution, and a reduced kerbside 
traffic buffer zone.  

Traffic calming interventions, street greening and furniture make them attractive 
and inclusive places for people and economically successful.  

A variety of transport modes are accommodated including separated bike lanes, 
however, pedestrian movement and comfort is a priority. Safe, convenient and 
easy crossing points bring the two sides of the street together catering for the 
variety of functions / land uses which retail Streets support.  

Flexi zones cater for kerbside uses including load zones and bike parking.  

P
age 246



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

177 AECOM

  

City Streets  

  

    

Figure 10-2 Artist’s impression and accompanying cross section of an existing street within the City of Adelaide and future state interventions  

Streets form the primary typology within the City of Adelaide, making up most of 
the movement network.  

A variety of transport modes are accommodated along Streets. There is a high 
to moderate movement function for pedestrians and cyclists, however the 
movement function for vehicles is lower through strategies such as reduced 
speeds and traffic calming interventions. They cater for localised traffic 
circulation but do not serve a through traffic function.  

City Street design strategies support a variety of place functions and cater to the 
adjacent land uses which can vary from commercial, retail to residential.  

Limited parking is provided to allow for localised access, however the majority of 
the flexi-use kerbside is dedicated to people (pedestrians / cyclists), including 
dedicated pedestrian infrastructure and bike parking, and street greening.   

City Streets should create a welcoming space for people to interact and 
participate in the street experience.  

P
age 247



City of Adelaide Integrated Transport Strategy 

Draft Integrated Transport Network Report 

 

D R A F T 

Revision 1 – 04-Apr-2025 
Prepared for – City of Adelaide – ABN: 20 903 762 572 

178 AECOM

  

Transit Boulevards  

  

   

Figure 10-3 Artist’s impression and accompanying cross section of an existing boulevard within the City of Adelaide and future state with intervention

Boulevards are key gateways to the City of Adelaide. They are corridors that 
cater for both high functions of movement and place; balancing the needs of 
various users within and functions that support our city.  

Transit Boulevards within our City include greater space for movement of people 
by all modes. Street space for public transport is optimised with priority 
measures included. They cater for localised traffic circulation but do not serve a 
through traffic function.  

Transit Boulevards provide convenient connections between cultural and 
educational institutions, shopping destinations and businesses.  

Street greening and footpath activity are encouraged to increase the place 
function and associated environmental, health and economic outcomes.  

Kerbside use is flexible and varies across the street, with it being allocated for 
city functions such as bus stops and aligned to local land use priorities.  

P
age 248



Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

 

Tuesday, 15 April 2025 
Infrastructure and Public 
Works Committee 

Capital Works Monthly Project Update - 
March 2025 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Corporation 
Program Contact:  
Mark Goudge, Associate Director 
Infrastructure 

Public Approving Officer:  
Tom McCready, Director City 
Infrastructure 

 
 

 

This report provides a summary view of the Capital Works Program delivery and financial performance as of 31 
March 2025 including a snapshot of headline projects either complete or in progress, future procurement activities 
and upcoming community consultation and engagement activities. 

The Infrastructure Program will present a monthly report to the Infrastructure & Public Works Committee reflecting 
the previous monthly performance. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL: 

1. Notes the Capital Works Program Update for March 2025 as contained within this report and Attachment 
A to Item 7.3 on the Agenda for the meeting of the Infrastructure & Public Works Committee held on 15 
April 2025. 

 

 

 

 

Page 249

Agenda Item 7.3



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2024-2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Corporation  

Strategy, Value and Efficiency - Strategic and Capital Projects are delivered on 

time and on budget (target 75%) 

Policy Not as a result of this report 

Consultation Consultation and / or engagement to various levels as required for the delivery of each 
project has or will be undertaken. 

Resource Projects delivered through a combination of Council resources, contract staff and external 
contractors and suppliers. 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative Not as a result of this report 

Opportunities Not as a result of this report 

24/25 Budget 
Allocation 

This report tracks capital works performance against the 2024/25 Capital Works budget of 
$121.043m. 

Proposed 25/26 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report. 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Life expectancy of assets varies by asset class. 

24/25 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report. 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Ongoing costs for the maintenance of new and/or renewed assets will be factored into 
future Asset Management and Maintenance Plans, Business Plans and Budgets. 

Other Funding 
Sources 

Projects reported on are primarily funded from Council’s Capital Budget, however various 
State and Federal grant funding opportunities have been leveraged against a number of 
projects. 

 

Page 250



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

 
DISCUSSION 
1. The total revised Capital Expenditure Budget for 2024/25 approved by Council is $121.043m. 

2. The Capital Works Program is itemised as follows. 

2.1. New and Upgrade Projects are identified through Council’s Strategies and Plans and defined as 
complex in nature, installation of new infrastructure and upgrades to existing infrastructure. The 
funding allocated within 2024/25 financial period totals $64.747m. 

2.2. Renewal Projects are grouped against multiple asset categories and are directly aligned to 
maintenance service levels contained within Council’s Asset Management Plans. The funding 
allocated within 2024/25 financial period totals $56.296m. 

3. The monthly Capital Works Update provides the status of these two capital programs as at the end of each 
calendar month. 

New and Upgrade 

4. New and Upgrade Projects as of 31 March 2025 reflects $36.895m in spend and a further $6.937m in 
contracted works.  

 

 
 

5. New and Upgrade Summary:  

5.1. The large focus for March has been community engagement campaigns for Main Streets - O’Connell 
Street and Hutt Street. These engagements have required significant coordination to socialise design 
options and to engage and listen to community feedback.    

5.2. Preparation has begun on two smaller Streetscape upgrades – Vincent Street and Royal Avenue, with 
contracts awarded and builds commencing in April 2025.   

5.3. The following two new and upgrade projects achieved practical completion over March 2025. 

5.3.1. Frome Street – Footpath Upgrades. 

5.3.2. Teams Room Equipment. 

6. New and Upgrade projects in focus: 

6.1. Central Market Arcade Redevelopment is progressing well, with construction of the podium having 
advanced significantly. This includes structural construction between lower basement level two and 
podium top at level four.  Within this are the two major tower cores (office and residential) progressing 
above to levels six and seven. 

Page 251



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

6.2. Main Streets Revitalisation update: 

6.2.1. Hutt Street: following a highly successful community engagement campaign which saw more than 
1,000 responses to the design options survey, plus multiple interactions with street traders and 
local residents, the project team have commenced the analyses of the feedback with a view to 
preparing a paper for consideration by Council in June 2025. 

6.2.2. O’Connell Street: consultation on concept design opened 21 February 2025. One-on-one 
meetings with key stakeholders on the street are taking place. The team have also held two 
community sessions and responded to multiple email and phone queries. The project team are 
receiving community feedback around the paver selection which is being demonstrated in-situ, 
(as referenced in Attachment A) with responses closing 14 April 2025.   

6.2.3. Melbourne Street: in advance of the broader Melbourne Street upgrade, the State Government 
funded improvements have included installation of temporary footpath extensions at two street 
locations, and other works including the rationalisation of street furniture and new planter boxes, 
as well as the installation of entry statement banners. Project scope has included incentives for 
decorative (festoon) lighting to private properties and suspended flower baskets for light poles 
now ordered and anticipated to be installed in June 2025. Signage to display vehicle counts for 
the Dunn St Car Park is intended and currently being assessed for development approval.  

6.2.4. Hindley Street: a proposal is forming for delivery of select early scope elements. Discussions with 
State Government and third-party utilities are still ongoing regarding design, opportunities and 
coordination of delivery to meet a tight schedule. Importantly, a comprehensive community 
engagement plan is being developed in parallel, for the next stage of design/delivery. The project 
team are navigating multiple internal and external requirements to fast-track delivery.  

6.2.5. Gouger Street: detail design is progressing well through our external contractor and following a 
comprehensive stakeholder engagement effort. The design will likely lead to refinement of the 
plan, with some new elements up for consideration. The detailed design completion is forecast 
June 2025 with a construction contractor engaged September-October.  

Renewal Projects 

7. Renewal Projects as of 31 March 2025 reflects $31.257m in spend and a further $14.144m in contracted 
works. 

 

 

8. Renewals Summary: 

8.1. Major civil renewals are underway in the South-East city precinct delivering scaled and improved storm 
water infrastructure. Complementing the civil infrastructure is a large program of stormwater pit 
inspections and mapping which is contributing valuable data toward an updated Stormwater 
Management Plan (SMP) for the Adelaide CBD.  

Page 252



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

8.2. The roads reseal program is again meeting its targets, with March’s resealing works focused on War 
Memorial Drive adjacent Adelaide Oval. Reseals have been completed on MacKinnon Parade and the 
Bentham / Waymouth Intersection works have been finalised. The renewals team are preparing for 
Grenfell Street footpath upgrades, commencing April 2025. The team are also progressing with delivery 
of a new irrigation system in Rymill Park, commencing May 2025.    

8.3. The following eight renewal projects have achieved practical completion over March. 

8.3.1. Road Resurfacing – MacKinnon Parade – Finniss Street to Jerningham Street 

8.3.2. 2024/25 - Traffic Signal Cables and Conduits Replacement – Pulteney Street / Wakefield Street 

8.3.3. Central Bus Station – Mimic FIP  

8.3.4. ICT renewals – PC Laptop replacement (2024/25) 

8.3.5. ICT Renewals – Server & Cloud Infrastructure (2024/25) 

8.3.6. Reeces Lane – Sturt Street entry 

8.3.7. RFID renewal for library collection materials  

8.3.8. Road Resurfacing – War Memorial Drive – Montefiore Road to King William Road.  

9. Renewal Projects in focus: 

9.1. Unley Road Stormwater culvert renewal of concrete and headwalls is a major civil project with traffic 
and Park Land interfaces. Works are progressing well, with culverts nearly through to the eastern side 
of Unley Road. April will see the installation of the headwalls and scour protection to the adjacent creek. 
Landscaping is expected to follow in May. The outcome will contribute to better management of flooding 
and overland water flows in the Park Lands.  

9.2. Victoria Square Flag Poles were constructed in 1999 and relocated in 2013 onto new footings as part 
of Reconciliation Plaza. The flag poles have shown significant corrosion and deterioration, which has 
exposed heightened safety risk to public. Recent repairs have been undertaken as an emergency 
measure however full replacement of the poles is required. Geotech investigation involving pilot bore 
holes is now underway for the (two) 30 metre replacement steel poles. The new poles are fabricated 
locally; old poles are expected to be removed at the end of April 2025 and new installations commenced.  

9.3. Hutt Street and South Terrace stormwater project involves critical works to increase flood protection for 
properties located adjacent the Hutt Street and South Terrace intersection. Works are progressing well 
and include modifying road, kerb, water table and footpath levels, in conjunction with installing new 
stormwater infrastructure to ensure catchment runoff is more effectively managed. The project team are 
providing regular progress updates to businesses in proximity. Works are anticipated to be completed 
by end June 2025. 

9.4. Adelaide Town Hall, works are progressing with specialist lantern stone construction on the Albert Tower 
well underway. Restoration works to the Finial are also underway and gilding is being undertaken this 
week off site; a crane lift is being organised mid-April to lift the Finial in place on Albert Tower. Prince 
Alfred Lane works are well underway, with access to the laneway being maintained due to the design 
of the scaffold. Practical completion for the King William Street façade is late July and for the Prince 
Alfred Laneway is late August 2025. 

Greening Adelaide Streets 

10. There are now 58 streets in different stages of design and delivery.  

11.  By the end of March, the breakdown of street designs is as follows: 

11.1. 26 streets are complete. 

11.2. 12 are over 50% complete and nearing completion. 

11.3. 14 streets are less than 50% complete. 

11.4. Six streets require further detailed investigations and will be pushed out to next year. 

Page 253



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

12. Two delivery contractors were appointed in March 2025, and more are being considered for appointment. 

13. Construction is underway for tree pits in various locations. 

14. 37 streets have been consulted with community, 16 consultations during March. 

Forward Tree Planting Schedule  

15. With the completion of most street designs, the number of trees that will be planted has increased. 

16. By the end of March 2025, there are 182 confirmed trees that have been ‘Issued for Construction’ (IFT) and 
have been ordered.  

17. However, with the remaining street designs nearing completion, some of those trees have also been ordered 
meaning that there a now a total of 239 trees that have been ordered. These trees have been ordered to 
ensure a continuous supply. 

18. When all street designs are completed in April 2025, it is anticipated that the total number of trees will increase. 

19. The planting schedule outlined below shows current anticipated numbers for the end of June 2025 being  
239. 

 

20. As previously reported, tree planting will begin in early April along West Terrace and those trees have been 
included in the above table. Expectation is that additional plantings over May - June will be delivered through 
contracts being currently negotiated and awarded.  

Capital Works Program 

21. There are 448 projects within the approved program in the 2024/25 financial year. 

22. Within the 2024/25 Capital Works Program there are currently 177 projects within the Initiate, Concept and 
Design phase. 

23. The total value of projects within the Initiate, Concept and Design Phase is $9.812m. 

24. There are 271 projects in the Delivery Phase with a total value of $111.231m. Of these projects, Practical 
Completion has been achieved on 23 New and Upgrade, 54 Renewals and 6 combined New and Upgrade 
and Renewals projects – 83 projects in total. 

25. The total expenditure against the Capital Works Program to the end of March 2025 is $68.152m spent with a 
further $21.081m contracted, totalling $89.233m in the first nine months. 

 

 

Page 254



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

 

 

Summary of commitments and expenditure by asset class for Month.  

 

 

26. Examples of those works completed or in progress are reflected in Attachment A - Capital Works. 

27. Works in Progress (WIP) is the capitalisation of projects within 10 weeks following Practical Completion. WIP 
currently sits at 81%. WIP KPI - 70%. 

 

Page 255



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

 
 

Capital Works Year on Year Spend Profile 

28. The spend profile for March 2025 reflects a capital spend of $68.152m year to date, compared to $60.156m 
in March 2024. This represents a 13% increase on the same period last year. 

 

Future Procurement Activities 

29. The following procurement activities are currently being undertaken or will commence shortly: 

29.1. South Terrace Improvements – tender assessment underway.  

29.2. Greening Adelaide Streets – formation of a greening panel. 

29.3. Rymill Park Irrigation – contract award memorandum.  

Future Community Consultation and Engagement Activities 

30. The following are some of the community consultation activities and engagements that are ongoing or 
planned: 

30.1. Royal Avenue: pre-construction update to residents. 

30.2. Vincent Street: pre-construction update to residents. 

Page 256



 
 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

30.3. Greening Adelaide Streets: various channels – Our Adelaide, letter drops and postcards.   

31. The information provided reflects the first nine months of the 2024/25 financial year. For further details on the 
2024/25 Capital Program, the Council Member Corporate Dashboard has a dedicated Capital Works section. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Capital Works Projects in Focus – March 2025 

 
- END OF REPORT -  

 

 

Page 257



Capital Works 
March Update 
Infrastructure & Public Works Committee 

This report provides an overview of Capital Projects either complete or 

progressing for the month of March 2025. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 258

Attachment A



2 Capital Works – March 2025 Update  

North-South Bikeways 

 

New/Upgrade 

City of Adelaide have listened to feedback from the 

public and will implement additional traffic controls 

to make the road safer for all road users 

The designs are almost complete and will require 

endorsement from the Department for Infrastructure 

and Transport prior to implementation. 

Delivery is anticipated to commence mid-April.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Charles Street  

New/Upgrade 

 

 

Charles Street works are complete. The project team 

are focusing on closing out any defects and upgrading 

the David Jones driveway on North Terrace. 

The methodology will involve using precast panels as 

a substitution to in-situ concrete to reduce curing 

times to minimise impacts to stakeholders. 

 

Page 259



3  

Central Market Arcade 

Redevelopment 

New/Upgrade 

 

 

 

There are currently 220 personnel on site. 

Construction of the podium is in full swing. This 

includes structural construction between lower 

basement level two and podium top at level 4.  

Within this are the two major tower cores (office and 

residential) progressing above to levels 6-7. 

Programmed works include the structure suspended 

slab construction of Level 4, ‘Tower’ commencement 

– level 5 and up, ongoing precast panel installation, 

construction of core Jumpform (North and South) for 

the towers and stripping of formwork at ground. 

In addition, programmed fitout works include 

basement services rough in, basement blockwork 

walls continuing to be built and secondary supporting 

steel installation. 

The overhead protection systems along the Market 

boundary have been completed and there are no 

further exclusion zones required affecting Market or 

car park operation. 

 

 

O’Connell Street Main Streets 

Revitalisation  

New/Upgrade 

 

Installation of the paver trial for public consultation. 

Paver options for the O’Connell Street upgrade. 

Consultation to conclude Easter with final decision on 

paver selection made post-trial. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 260



4 Capital Works – March 2025 Update  

Hutt Street Revitalisation Upgrade 

New/Upgrade 

Concept Development Options consultation delivered 

21 February and 28 March 2025 including delivery of 

6 engagement events. 

Road Pavement Assessment and Materials 

Classification Report completed by PAS. 

Cost Consultant (RLB) in final stage of preparing 

estimates for the 5 options, with work ongoing to 

provide direction on scope and assumptions for 

estimates.  Assessments by Arup continue on the 

Stormwater Works. 

Economic Analyst engaged (Hudson Howell) to 

prepare economic analysis report for the 

revitalisation of Hutt Street talking to economic 

benefits of the options. 

We are now preparing a report and project update for 

Council in May / June 2025. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Unley Road Culvert Replacement  

Renewal 

 

The project involves the replacement of the existing 

twin cell culvert beneath Unley Road that facilitates 

the flow of Park Lands Creek from Park 19 into Park 

20. The existing culvert is in poor condition with walls 

being held up by props at the western end. 

Works have commenced on site, with the demolition 

now completed and approximately 80% of the new 

culverts installed. During April we will complete 

headwalls and scour protection, with May allocated 

for landscaping and project completion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 261



5  

Botanic Creek  

Renewal 

Renewal works in the Botanic Creek between Parks 

16, 15, 14 & 13. 

CoA will also undertake a community engagement 

event in Park 14.  

Objectives are to clean the water quality, minimise 

erosion and slow the velocity of water.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Street Tree Planting 

Renewal 

 

 

Ten new trees were planted between Currie Street 

and Franklin Street. This work was completed by the 

City Operations Team coordinated to align with 

broader renewal activities in the area. 

Service location and potholing are scheduled for early 

April, covering the section from Grote Street to South 

Terrace and the Northwest Quadrant. These 

investigations will inform the extent of works possible 

within the footpath and median areas and support 

detailed planning and design. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 262



6 Capital Works – March 2025 Update  

Shared use path at Mistletoe Park / 

Tainmuntilla (Park 11) 

Renewal 

 

  

 

Works recently reached completion and the path has 

been re-opened to the public. This includes new 

surfacing, improved gradients, and optimisation of 

path widths where conditions allowed.  

In addition, with funding support from the 

Government of South Australia’s State Bike Fund, 

infrastructure has been installed to enable the 

possible lighting of the path at some point in the 

future. 

 

 

 

Page 263



Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

 

Tuesday, 15 April 2025 
Infrastructure and Public 
Works Committee 

Exclusion of the Public 
 

Program Contact:  
Anthony Spartalis, Chief 
Operating Officer  

 
Public 

 

Approving Officer:  
Michael Sedgman, Chief 
Executive Officer 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Section 90(2) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the Act), states that a Council may order that the public be 
excluded from attendance at a meeting if the Council considers it to be necessary and appropriate to act in a 
meeting closed to the public to receive, discuss or consider in confidence any information or matter listed in section 
90(3) of the Act.  

It is the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer that the public be excluded from this Infrastructure and 
Public Works Committee meeting for the consideration of information and matters contained in the Agenda. 

For the following Workshop seeking consideration in confidence 
10.1 Assignment of Lease and Sublease [section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act] 

 
The Order to Exclude for Item 10.1: 

1. Identifies the information and matters (grounds) from section 90(3) of the Act utilised to request 
consideration in confidence. 

2. Identifies the basis – how the information falls within the grounds identified and why it is necessary and 
appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public. 

3. In addition, identifies for the following grounds – section 90(3) (b), (d) or (j) of the Act - how information 
open to the public would be contrary to the public interest. 

 

 

ORDER TO EXCLUDE FOR ITEM 10.1 
THAT THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE: 

1. Having taken into account the relevant consideration contained in section 90(3) (b) & (d) and section 90(2) & 
(7) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA), this meeting of the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee 
dated 15 April 2025 resolves that it is necessary and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public as 
the consideration of Item 10.1 [Assignment of Lease and Sublease] listed on the Agenda in a meeting open 
to the public would on balance be contrary to the public interest. 

Grounds and Basis 

This Item contains certain information of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) the disclosure of 
which could reasonably be expected to confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the Council 
is conducting business, prejudice the commercial position of the council and prejudice the commercial 
position of the person who supplied the information and confer a commercial advantage to a third party.  

The disclosure of information in this report could reasonably prejudice the commercial position of the Council 
including its future commercial dealings given that it contains financial information and future direction with 
regard to Council assets and strategic land holdings. 

  

Page 264

Agenda Item 9



Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

Public Interest 

The Committee is satisfied that the principle that the meeting be conducted in a place open to the public has 
been outweighed in the circumstances because the disclosure of this information prior to a determination of 
the Council as it may prejudice Council’s further commercial dealing regarding these assets.  On this basis, 
the disclosure of such information may severely prejudice Council’s ability to influence the proposal for the 
benefit of the Council and the community.  

2. Pursuant to section 90(2) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the Act), this meeting of the Infrastructure 
and Public Works Committee dated 15 April 2025 orders that the public (with the exception of members of 
Corporation staff and any person permitted to remain) be excluded from this meeting to enable this meeting 
to receive, discuss or consider in confidence Item 10.1 [Assignment of Lease and Sublease] listed in the 
Agenda, on the grounds that such item of business, contains information and matters of a kind referred to in 
section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act.  

 

 

 

Page 265



Infrastructure and Public Works Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 15 April 2025 

DISCUSSION 
1. Section 90(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the Act) directs that a meeting of Council must be 

conducted in a place open to the public. 

2. Section 90(2) of the Act, states that a Council may order that the public be excluded from attendance at a 
meeting if Council considers it to be necessary and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public to 
receive, discuss or consider in confidence any information or matter listed in section 90(3) of the Act.  

3. Section 90(3) of the Act prescribes the information and matters that a Council may order that the public be 
excluded from. 

4. Section 90(4) of the Act, advises that in considering whether an order should be made to exclude the public 
under section 90(2) of the Act, it is irrelevant that discussion of a matter in public may - 

‘(a) cause embarrassment to the council or council committee concerned, or to members or employees 
of the council; or  

(b) cause a loss of confidence in the council or council committee; or 

(c) involve discussion of a matter that is controversial within the council area; or  

(d) make the council susceptible to adverse criticism.’ 

5. Section 90(7) of the Act requires that an order to exclude the public: 

5.1 Identify the information and matters (grounds) from section 90(3) of the Act utilised to request 
consideration in confidence. 

5.2 Identify the basis – how the information falls within the grounds identified and why it is necessary 
and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public. 

5.3 In addition identify for the following grounds – section 90(3) (b), (d) or (j) of the Act - how information 
open to the public would be contrary to the public interest. 

6. Section 83(5) of the Act has been utilised to identify in the Agenda and on the Report for the meeting, that 
the following report is submitted seeking consideration in confidence. 

6.1 Information contained in Item 10.1 – Assignment of Lease and Sublease 

6.1.1 Is not subject to an existing Confidentiality Order. 

6.1.2 The grounds utilised to request consideration in confidence is section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act 

(b) information the disclosure of which— 
(i) could reasonably be expected to confer a commercial advantage on a person 

with whom the council is conducting, or proposing to conduct, business, or to 
prejudice the commercial position of the council; and 

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest 
(d) commercial information of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) the 

disclosure of which— 
(i) could reasonably be expected to prejudice the commercial position of the 

person who supplied the information, or to confer a commercial advantage on a 
third party; and 

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
Nil  
 

- END OF REPORT -  

Page 266



Document is Restricted

Page 267

Agenda Item 10.1
Pursuant to the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) - Section 90(3) (b), (d)



Document is Restricted

Page 273

Attachment A
Pursuant to the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) - Section 90(3) (b),(d)


	Agenda
	7.1 E-Scooter Trial Extension and State Government Review update
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	ATTACHMENTS

	7.2 Integrated Transport Strategy - Draft Strategy for Public Engagement (Stage 2)
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A - Draft Integrated Transport STRATEGY
	Kaurna Acknowledgement
	Contents
	Our Vision
	Our City
	Our Opportunity
	Our Commitments
	Our Plan
	Movement & Access
	Experience & Place
	Health & Sustainability
	Safety & Comfort
	Our Street Network
	Our Implementation and Delivery
	Footnotes and References

	Attachment B - Draft Integrated Transport Network REPORT

	7.3 Capital Works Monthly Project Update - March 2025
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A for Capital Works Monthly Project Update - March 2025

	9 Exclusion of the Public
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	ORDER TO EXCLUDE FOR ITEM 10.1
	DISCUSSION
	ATTACHMENTS

	10.1 Assignment of Lease and Sublease
	Attachment A for Assignment of Lease and Sublease




